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About us

Spectris is a leading supplier of productivity-enhancing
instrumentation and controls. Qur businesses are
leaders in the markets they serve, with recognised
brands and award-winning products.

We provide solutions combining hardware,
software and related services for some of the most
technically-demanding industrial applications.

Our innovative solutions are designed to enhance
customers’ productivity, yielding clear benefits

by helping them to work better, faster and

more efficiently.
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2018 highlights

Sales +5%

£1,604.2m _ .

(2017 £1,525 6my)

Adjusted operating profit'

£248.3m

(2017 £239 3m)

+4%

LFL +7%

Adjusted operating margin®

15.5%

{2017 15 7%)

-0.2pp
LFL +0.3pp

Adjusted earnings per share'

164.9p

(2017 154 6p)

+7%

Adjusted operating
cash flow conversion'

59%

(2017 77%)

-18pp

§ Alternatve perfarmance measures {APMS’) are used consistently throughout
thrs Annual Report and are referred to as ‘adjusted’ or hke-for-kke” (L)
These ate defined in full and reconailed 1o the statutory reasures in Note 2
1o the Financial Statemants

voday xbalens

Dividend per share

61.0p

(2017 56 5p)

+8%

Statutory operating profit

£176.4m

(2017 £1824m)

-3%

Statutory operating margin

11.0%

(2017 12 0%)

-1.0pp

Statutory earnings per share

157.6p

{2017 197 Op)

-20%

~

Sales of £1,604 2 million, reflecing a 5% Iike-for-ike
sales increase, bullding on the progress made in 2017
Adjusted aperating profit of £248 3 million, adjusted
operating margin up Q 3pp on a hke-for-hke basis
Adjusted earnings per share up 7%, dividend

per share increase of 8%

New profit /improvement programme anticipated to
deliver annualised benefits of more than £30 mullion,
of which £15-20 million 1s expected to be realised
during 2019

Strateqic rewiew initial conclusions presented

» Group would benefit from becoming a more
focused and simplified business

» Assessing which operating companies can drive
the greater shareholder value

» Scalable, v attractive hugh-growth markets, with strongest
capabilitres and greatest performance potential

» Identified three platform businesses so far -
Malvern Panalytical, HBK, Omega - equating to more than
60% of Group sales and adjusted operating profit

~

~

-

-
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SPECTRIS AT A GLANCE

A GLOBAL BUSINESS

in attractive markets

Group sales

Group sales
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TEST AND ME
Spectris compnses four business segments which reflect Sales by destination {%)

the apphcations and end-user industnes we serve Dur
businesses are united by the same values and corporate
strategy They all work according to a strang commaon
framework of cantrols, management key performance
indwcators, financat discipline and rigorous operating
principles, but each business is focused on its awn
markets, customers and technologies

North America
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Materials Analysis
prowdes products and
services that epable
custorners to determing
structure, composttion,
quantity and quakly

of particles and materials
during ther research and
product development
processes, when
assessing matenals before
production or during the
manufacturing process

Test and Measurement
supplies test, measurement
and analysis equiprment,
software and services

for product design
optimisation and
validation, manufacturing
control, mcraseismic
montonng and
environmental

noise Momtoring

In-line Instrumentation
provides process

analytical ineasurement,
asset monitoring and
online controls, as well

as associated consumables
and services for both
primary processing and
the converting industries

industrial Controls
provides products and
solutions that measure,
monitor, control and
connect dunng the
production process

Notes
Segmental dala relates to 2018

1 Acquired january 2018
2 Merging from Janary 2019 1o form HBK [Hotuinger, Bruel & Kuen
3 Acquired August 2018

Adjusted
Sales aperating protfit
£541.1m £95.4m
Adjusted
LFL sales operating margin
+8% 17.6%

Operating companies

» Malvern Panalytical

v Particle Measuring Systems
> Concept Life Soences!

S'tatutory
operating profit
£72.1m

Statutory
operating margin
13.3%

Industries

» Pharmaceuticals
& fine chemicals

> Metals, minerals
& mining

» Academic
research

» Semiconductors

woday nbajens

Adjusted Statutory
Sales operating profit  operating profit
£522.6m £67.2m £42.8m
- Adjusted Statutory
LFL sales operating margin operating margin
+6% 12.9% 8.2%
Operating comparties industries
> Bruel & Kjer Sound & vibration? 3 Automotive
» ESG Solutions » Aerospace
» HEM? > Electronics
v Millbrook » Energy
+ Vi-grade® » Academic
research
Adjusted Statutory
Sales operating profit  operating profit
£312.2m £42.6m £32.2m
Adjusted Statutory
LFL sales operating margin  operating margin
+1% 13.6% 10.3%
Operating companies Industries
v Bruet & Kyaer Vibro v Process industnes
» BTG s Pulp, paper
» NDC Technologies & hissue
» Servomex » Energy & utdities
» Fdm extrusson
& conwerting
Adjusted Statutory
Sales operating profit  operating profit
£228.3m £43.1m £29.3m
Adjusted Statutory
LFL sales operating margin  operating margin
+3% 18.9% 12.8%
Operating companies Industries
v Omega Engineering » Manufacturing
» Red Lion Contralg v Process
industries
» Energy

+ Electronics

Spectris plc 3



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

CREATING

long-term sustainable value

Results overview

in 2018, the Group dehvered a 5% increase in ke-for-like (LFL)
sales, driving @ 7% LFL ncrease 1n ad)usted operating profit to
£248 3 rilhan. Sales increased 5% to £1,604 2 milhon and
statutory operating profit was £176 4 rullion, resulting in operating
margins of 11 0%, 15 5% on an adjusted basis Our aperating cash
flow conversion rate was 59%, down on the prewious year as we
continued with matenal capex to support the growth of Milibrook,
Adjusted earnings per share ('EPS') increased by 7% to 164 9 pence
with statutory baskc EPS at 157 6 pence

Duning the year, the Group made three acquisiions, the largest
being Concept Lfe Sciences, which provides integrated drug
discovery, development, analytical testing and envircnmental
consultancy senaces, and we completed a £100 rillion share
buyback We maintain a healthy balance sheet, with year-end
net debt of £297 1 million, towards the bottorn end of our
leverage guidance

The Board 15 proposing to pay a final didend of 40 S pence

per share which, when comimned with the intenm dvdend

of 20 5 pence, gives a total of 61 0 pence per share for the year,
an mcrease of 8% This 15 consistent with our policy of making
progressive dividend payments based upon affordabibty and
sustanability Thus s the 29th consecutive year that we have
increased our dvidend since becoming a publkly quoted company
n 1988, at a compound annual growth rate of just over 10%
The dividend will be paid on 28 June 2019 1o shareholders on the
register at the close of business on 24 May 2019 The ex-dwdend
date 15 23 May 2019

Strategic review underway

Spectris has 2 diverse partfolio of businesses with strong brands,
supported by leading technologies and talented people The last
Wi years has seen the Graug return to delvering organc growth,
but the sales growth has not yet converted into improved operating
margins Gross margins remain impressively tugh, but operating
leverage has been disapponting However, we are conwnced that
there are significant opportunities to improve operational
performance by taking a more focused approach, reducing
complexity and targeting higher growth markets where we have

2 competitive advantage

n November, we launched a strategic review wath the expirait
objectve to develop and execute owr strategy for sustainable,
profitable growth, as the basis for deivenng a signficant and
sustainable increase in shareholder value At the heart of our
offering are cur highly-speaialised measunng Instruments We have
been adding software and services to provide further monitonng,
testing and analytical capabdities, to delver graater inuights and
solutions focused on our customers’ spechc needs Prowding that
combination of hardware plus associated software and senvices will
remain key to our strategy

The review has inihally identified a number of platform businesses
which are scalable, are aligned to target growth markets and
which will offer the greatest value creation potenual to both our
customers and 10 our shareholders During 2019, we will complete
the assessment of the portfolio composition, providing the
necessary clarity an capital allocation and asset optimisation in the

L) Annual Report and Accounts 2018

process Additionally, 3 new profit mnprovement programme has
been instigated to improve efficiency and effectiveness within our
operating companies, ensurihg we achieve appropnate operating
leverage as we graw We expect to delver savings in 2019 of
£15-20 million and this will help to offset inflanonary pressures
10 our cost base We will continue to make nvestments in tuigher
growth areas and operational improvements The ¢ost 1o achieve
these savings will be approximately £35 milkon {for further
information see the Chief £xecutive’s Review on pages 8to 11}

Our people

Integral 10 the success of Spectrs are the skills, experience and
technical capability of our employees 1 would ke 10 thank all cur
employees for thewr hard work and dedication duning the year and
for their commutrnent to drving the business forward. As we head
into 2019, there will contnue to be change within the orgamsation
as we implement our profit improvernent programme and
complete the strategic feview We are comimitied 1o supporing
our people through this change As part of this commitment,

| am pleased that Russell King has agreed to take on the role

of Workforce Engagement Diector to pravide the Board

with a mechanism for receming and responding 10 the views

of emplayees {(see page 50)

Absolute integnity 15 at the heart of Spectns’ values, guiding our
decsion-making and ensunng that we always operate to the
rughest standards In 2018, the Board undertook a comprehensive
review of the Group ethics and compliance programme We were
pleased to see the strong cormmutment to this across the Group

To keep the programme fresh, further enhancements will be
implemented in 2019 acress the Group to improve our ethics,
ant-bribery and corruption and export controls compliance
programmes We are also improving our processes in relation 1o
environmental factors, for example in monitonng GHG emissions
and coilecting data on waste We have also standardised how we
record health and safety dats These impravements will help us
better assess and therefore reet our sustainability objectives {for
further infarmation see the Sustainability Report on pages 38 1o 43)

Board update

There have been some imparant changes to the Board in 2018
john Q'tiggins retired from the Board i September, hawng

hat a very successful 12 years as Chief Executve of Spectris

We were delighted to recruit Andrew Heath as his successor
Andrew previously served as CEO of imagination Technologies
Group ple and CEO of Alent ple and prior to that had a 30-year
career with Rolis-Royce plc where he held severai international and
senwor management roles Since joiming, he has extensively visited
the Group's operahons and has been working tlosely with the
Board on initating the strategic review and new profit
mprovement programme

After 12 years as Group Finance Director, Clve Watson has also
decided to retire and will step down from the Board We are very
pleased that Derek Harding will be joining the Board to succeed
Clive, as Chief Financial Officer Designate, on 1 March 2019, before
formally becorming Chref Ainancial Officer foliowang a month's
handaver Derek brings a wide range of financa! leadership and
ndustnal expertise 1o Spectns, having been most recently group



28 We delivered good

organic growth in 2018,
building on the progress
made in 2017. With a
new management team
in place and with a
tighter strategic focus
and emphasis on cost
effectiveness, the Board
is confident that the
Group is well placed for
the future. I

hnance director at Shop Direct and previously
Senior plc, following 11 years in varous finance
and strategy roles at Wolseley plc

Jo Haltas, Business Group Director, left the
Company in February 2019 to become chref
executive officer at Tyman plc To replace her,
Mark Fleiner joined in January 2019 Mark has
nearly 30 years” experience in the energy,
chermical and metals industaes

On behalf of the Board, | would hke to thank
John, Clive and Jo for their matenal contnbution
to developing the Group and driving Its success
durng their tenures and express our best wishes
for ther futures

Summary

We delivered good organic growth in 2018,
buitding on the progress made in 2017

Our aint 1s to continue 1o giow, however, we
must focus on our core strengths and become
more efficient, so that we grow more profitably,
alf while maintaining a robust finanaal position
with a new management team tn place and
with a tighter strategic focus and emphasis on
cost effectiveness, the Board is confident that
the Group 15 well placed for the future

Mark Williamson
Chairman
19 February 2019

Sales

+5%

n 2018

ul

Adjusted EPS

+7%

In 2018

Dwidend per share

+8%

n 2018

Spectns plc
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OUR BUSINESS MODGEL

CREATING VALUE

for stakeholders

o

What
we do

We provide hardware, software
and services for some of the
maost technically-demanding
industrial applications.

@l

We invest around 6-7% of sales
each year in R&D to maintain our
market positions.

R&D expenditure

6%

of sales in 2018

il

We provide value-enhancing
solutions for our customers
which enable them to shorten

development cycles, increase
yield and streamline processes.

Y

We buifd ong-term refationships
with our customers and seek to
develop a deep understanding
of their business and processes.

Number of acquisitions

40

since 2008

OO

L&J

We employ highly-skilled people
with deep application expertise,
wha play an essential role in the
development of new products
and services.

We offer a broad range of
aftermarket services and support,
including training, technical
support, spare parts, calibration
and maintenance.

Dwvidend growth

+10%

CAGR since 1988




N

XD

How
we do it

Key
drivers
for
growth

Creating
value
for
stake-
holders

Operating model

» Our sales mode! I based predominantly
an direct routes to market through a
worldwide network of sales, marketing
and support offices, so that we are
close to our customers wherever they
are located

» We are structured in a way that enables
our businesses to respond quickly to any
change in the rading environment

» Qur businesses are predominantly
asset-light, focusing on the invesiment
where we can build market-leading
expertise and competiive advantage,
such as R&D

» Strong customes refationships,
combined with our iInnovative products,
services and significant sales footprint,
help sustain high barreers to entry, which,
In turn, lead to pnang power, fetention
of market share and high gross margins

Improving productivity

in an increasingly competitive
marketplace, customers are continually
seeking to bring new products to market
more quickly and cast-effectively

-

Increasing regulation 1n markets such as
pharmaceuticalsMfe soences, automotve
and process industrres brings greater
emphasis on comphance, quahty control
and data integrty

Customers are increasingly seeking
greater insights into their processes,
increasing the requirements and
sophistication for test and measurement
eqguipmert and associated software

and sennces

Shareholders

» Qur asset-hght manufacturing mode!
ensures high gross margins and low
capitaf requirermnents

» Balance sheet strength enables a

progressive dindend policy - 10%

CAGR since flotation in 1988

Strong cash canversion and

balance sheet ensure flexibibty to

fund acquisitions

Our strategy for profitable growth
ts aimed al improving our operating
margins through asset optimisation
and capitai allocation, prownding
dependable dvidend ancoine

Customers

v Long-terrn refavonships with our
customers bring high levels of repeat
business, around 80% of sales are from
customers who have purchased from us
In the preceding two years

High-quality businesses

+ We have a portfolio of businesses with
high-quality technologies and strong
market positions

Acquisitions

» Qrgamic growth 1s supplemented
by selective acquisitions to access
new or complementary products and
technologies, and exploit disruptive
growth themes

Culture

v Our businesses are uruted by the same
values and corporate strategy, which
shape out culture across the Group

People

+ Qur people play an essential role
in our success and we seek to attract
and retain the best tatent Many of our
employees are highly qualfied and have
in-depth product, apphcation and
ndustry experfise

Increasing connectivity

v Custormers are ncreasingly looking
10 access and exploit valable
manufactunng data to drive productinty
and operatonal efficencies

Focus on attractive markets

» The fundamentals of our core
addressable markets are attractive,
with many displayng GDP+
grawth charactenstcs, i parucutar,
the pharmaceutical, automotive,
electronwy/ semiconductor, metalsy/
minerals/mining and technology-led
industrial markets Each of these end
rmarkets 5 witnessing sigrificant trends
that are favourable for our businesses

» Around 40% of sales come from
customer operating expenditure budgets
o aftermarket. prowiding more resiience
to revenues

Pecple

» We work hard to buitd 2 creative working
environment for our people, with scope
for indwidual responsibiity and personal
achievernent Our trarng prograrmnmes
help our employees to develop both
personally and professionally to reach
thewr full potential

» We beleve that maintaining a srong
and consistent corporate culture supporis
tong-term performance and that running
our busimness in an ethical way makes
us successful

Suppliers

» We work with our supply chain and
endeavows to build a collaborative
working environment with a strang
emphass on team work

Spectnis plc 1
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REVIEW

LFL sales growth

+5%

n 2018

1FL adjusted
operating profit

+7%

n 2018

LFL adjusted
operating margin

+0.3pp

n 2018

8 Annual Report and Accounts 2018

A8 We were able to build
on the increased
momentum across
our end markets
and delivered good
like-for-like sales
growth. We expect
sales growth to
moderate in 2019,
Consequently, we are
focusing on what we
can control; increasing
productivity and
operational efficiency,
while driving sales. I



Focusing on

PRO FITAB LE GROWTH

2018 results overview

In 2018, we delvered good organic sales growth, building on
the progress made in 2017 Sales for the year increased by 5%
10 £1,604 2 millon (2017 £1,525 6 milhon), reflecing a 5%
increase on an organic, constant currency (hke-for-hke, 'LFL’) basis,
helped by a suppcrtve macroeconomic environment m a number
of geographies and a strong demand backdrop in many of aur key
end markets Acquisitions, net of disposals, contributed 2% 1o sales
growth, which was offset by & 2% negative impact from foreign
currency exchange moverments
Ad|usted operating profit increased by 4% to £248 3 muliton
(2017 £239 3 miflign), which reflected a LFL increase of 7%
Adjusted operating margin improved O 3pp on a LFL basis to
15 5% as overheads receved greater foCus in the second half

LFL sales change

Sales by segment W
Matenals Analysis 11% 6% 8%
Test and Measurement 6% 6% 6%
In-line Instrumentation {(3%) 5% 1%
Industrial Controls 4% 1% 3%
Group 5% 5% 5%
LFL sales change
Saies by destinatior, H1 H2 FY
North Amenca 5% 2% 4%
Europe 6% 1% 3%
Asea 6% 14% 10%
Resl of the world 1% 1% 1%
Group 5% S% 5%

The LFL sales growth was achieved in all geographic regions,

wath particulary good growth in Asia, led by strong demand

n China In North Amenca, the pharmaceutical and acadernic
research end markets saw good growth while furope was helped
by a strong contrebution from the UK, particularly in the first half
of the year Good demand was seen in many of our end markets,
and there was notable LFL sales growth across the pharmaceutical,
automotive, semicenductor, electronics and acadernic

research sectors

Matenals Analysis and Test and Measurement both reported
strong.LFL growth of 8% and 6%, respectvely Matenals Analysis
saw strong demand in the sermconductor and pharmaceutical
industries, with a rebound n academic research activity also
underpinning the performance In Test and Measurement,

the automotive sector was the key driver behind the growth
In-hre Instrumentation achieved a 1% increase in LFL sales,
despite a weaker performance year-on-year in the converting
and fdm extrusion industnes, and a tough comparator in the
wind energy sector which had large one-off sales n 2017.
Industnal Controls achieved 3% LFL growth, benefiting from
impraved North Amencan industaat spenging, although growth
was constrained given a product refresh underway at Ormega

Statutory operating profit was £176 4 milhan, compared wath
£182 4 rulhon recorded in 2017 A 4% wmprovement in adjusted
operating profit was more than offset by ligher acquisiion-related

uoday nbajens

costs and other adjusting stems, which were up £15 0 mikon
Statutory operating margms of 11 0% were 1 Opp lower than the
prior year Adyusted operating profrt, after costs of £10 8 million n
relation to Project Uphft, was £237 5 milhon {2017 £223 5 mdhon)
The Group ailso recorded restructunng costs of £4 8 millian in
relabion 10 s new profit improvement programme, which have
been excluded from the adjusted measures

The Group’s adjusted operating cash conversion rate was 59%
Thrs was befow the 77% recorded in 2017, a similar levei to
which we expect to return 1o n 2019 The year-on-year

reduction resulted from hugher working capntal, due to higher
recevables, dnven by sales growth and recent acquisitions,
together with increased project completion mventory, and an
increase In capital expenditure Average trade working capital,
expressed as a percentage of sales, decreased by 0 5pp to 11 4%
Capital expenditure, net of grants, during the year totalled

£94 1 million: (2017 £73 1 midlon), of which £43 1 midlion

related to spend by Millbrook, principally on capacity expansion,
as the business invested to access high-growth opportunities in
support of customer project demand In addition, there was spend
of £207 2 milon (2017 £39 3 mubon} in relation to acquisitions
and the Group completed a £100 milhon share buyback
prograrmme dunng the year After allowing for a net cash inflow
of £41 & rmilion from the dvestment of EMS Briel & Kjeer mto a
ot venture, net debt stood at £297 1 mitlion (2017 £50 S midlion)
at the year end. 1 0 times the full-year adjusted EBITDA

Positioning Spectris to deliver profitable growth

Spectris serves a diversa set of end markets wath @ number of
high-quairty businesses, which have stirongly recognised brands
1n the target markets they serve

As set out in our November 2018 trading statement, we belteve
there are significant oppartunities to improve the operatonal
performance of the Group and to drive shareholder vatue creation
through increasing our operating marqin and by taking a rmore
focused approach to portfolio compasition, asset optimisation
and capiial allocation

In November, we announced a profit improvemnent programme and
a strategic rewew of our operations We have progressed this work
with vigour - we are i the process of focusing the business on its
tughest growth areas and where we are or can be competitive, In
conpunchion with reducing cost to deliver profitable growth While
there has already been a sigmficant amount of work undertaken,
we still have further work to do o complete our assessment
Accordingly, we plan to provide a comprehensive update on the
outcomes of the strategwc review and on our strategy to maximise
long-term shareholder value at a Capital Markets Day in june 2019

Profit improvement programme

The implementation of Phase 1 of Project Uphft continued as
planned, with sawngs derved predominantly from improvements
n procurement (both direct and indirect), as well as benefits from
smphfying our property portfolio In 2018, the gross recurnng
benefit achieved from Project Uplift was £17 3 millon

(2017 £2 8 mihon) and the one-off costs ncurred were

£10 8 mifion {2017 £15 8 milon) We remamn confident in

Spectris pic 9



CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REVIEW continued

our objective of Project Uplift delvenng £25 million of annualised
qross recurning savings by the end of 2019, wath a total cost 1o
actueve of £35 million

Alongside the decision taken iast November nat to proceed
with the global shared services centre model, we iniiiated

a new, comprehensive programme focused on achieving profit
wnprovement through further cost reductions and targeted
growth witidtves across the Group

To date, this programme has 1dentified more than £ 30 milfion

of annualised benefits, of which £15-20 millon are planned to be
reahsed during 2019, with the full benefit 10 be delvered in 2020
and will help to offset inflationary pressures 16 our cost base

At the same time, we continue 1o make mnvestments in highey
growth areas and operational improvements  Delivering these
ongoing savings wall resut in one-off restructunng costs during
2019 of around £35 millon Benefuts and savings are anung from
improving the safes muwx, product profitabiiity, site rationalisation,
wmproving orgamsauonal etectiveness and driving Lean through
our operations  The merger of Bruel & Ky&r Sound & Vibration
with HBM has also been invtiated In addition, the size of the
centre 15 being reduced and it will be focused on Group-level
governance, managing financial perfarmance and caprtal afocation
across the Group, driving strategy execution, Lean and organisation
and talent development

Spectns has strong gross margin businesses, but our operating
rmargin performance has been below our histong hrghs and
operational gearng has disappornited over the past few years

Our iniatives, which are focused on improving gross margin and
constraining overheads to drive future operating margin expansion
as we grow, will continue threughout 2019 Our aim s to return
our operating margin to at least our previous tughs

Strategic review

Spectris has a portfolio of businesses with high-quahty technologies,

strong market posiions and tafented people The fundamentals
of Spectns’ core addressable markets are altractive, with many
displaying GDP+ growth charactenstcs, in partcular, the
pharmaceutical, automotive, electronics/sermiconductor,
metalvminerals/miring and technology-led industrial markets
Each of these end markets is witnessing signiicant trends that
are favourable for Spectris’ businesses

» Pharmaceutical Drug discavery and development s facing
a number of complex challenges More stringent expectations
around efficacy impravements, complex disease pathways
requiring more sophisticated therapies, personalised medicine
and a desire to shorten development tmelines are increasing
requirements for more precise testing 10 better predict success,
ensure safety and reduce time 1o market,

Autornotive The growing prohferation of car platiorms,

the shortening of platform lifecycles and the mitroduction

of new technologies (e g electnfication and autonomous
vehicles) 15 increasing the overall volume, complexty and
pace of change m research and development, testing

and measurement,

Elactronics and sermconductors Electromic components are
becoming increasingly complex and advances in semiconductor
technology are enabling more chips to be embedded n

a broader range of products, requinng more sophisticated
quality control and testing equipment and techriques at the
chip tabrication level as well as at the system level (e.g full
vehicle testing, phone performance testing),

Metalsiminerals/mining Alongside an increasing health and
safety as well as emaronmental awareness, our customers are

-

-
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focusing on delivenng improved yields, productivity, product
qualty and cost reduction in the extraction and processing
of raw and bulk materigis whach are fundarnenta! 1o the
manufacturing ndustry, and

» Technology-led industrials The increased focus on optirmising
production processes i real time, enabled by embedding more
sensors on the production hne 16 undespm lloT and drive further
umprovernents to aperational etficiency, 1 increasing demand
for smart sensors, testing hardware, control systems and
software solutions

Technology-led differentiation of mstrumentaton hardware
continues o progress, parbcularly withun offiine applications
There remams significant room for drfferentiaion on vanaus
hardware dimensions, to prowde greater preasion and reliabihty
of high-quality data Equally, opportunities exist for many of our
operating companies 10 expand across the technology stack,
wncluding software and applcation inteligence, to provide greater
vaive-adehing soiutions for customers Consequently, the prowision
of technology-enabled solutions, based on cur high-quality
nstruments, deep appkcation capability, domaw expertise and
associated software and service offerings, remains at the core

of our strategy

To deliver the full potential of the Group, it 1s dear that Spectns
would benefit from becoming a more focused and simplified
business As such, work is ongoing to identify a group of operating
companies which can deliver greater sharehalder value creation,
with sales growth, margin expansion and working capital effioency
as the key goals, underpinning growth in operating cashflow
These principal operating businesses wall include a number

of platform businesses which are scalabie, afigned to attractive
high-growth markets, with the strongest capabibtes and

greatest performance potental Future capital investment,

and, n partcular, acqursition-led growth, wall be focused

on these platform businesses

3o far, the strategic rewiew process has identified Malvern
Panalyical, HBK and Omega, which together account for
more than 60% of Group sales and adjusted operating profit,
as businesses that have this platiorm potential

The remaining portioho 1s made up of a number of high-quality
operating tompantes Work 13 undenway 1o determine which

of these businesses will remain key to the Group and thase where
Spectns will not be the best future owner Operating compames
wath strong market positions, good growth prospects and margins
waill receve targeted investment where we are confident that such
investment wall yield a strong return Potentialiy, these businesses
may become platforms in thew own rnight They wall be managed
to dehver at least market growth with leading margins withun thew
segments The remaning businesses will be managed to optimise
thew performance under the Group’s ownership and for value
These businesses may be divested over tme and the proceeds etther
reanvested in the development of the Group's platform operations
or, «f attractive re-investment opportunities are not ennfied,
returned to sharehoiders

As well as reviewing the Group's operauing company portfolio,
the strategic review has also focused on capitat allocation and
returns The existing capital expenditure plans of the Group have
been reviewed to ensure capiiat s being invested efficently and
effectvely to create profitable growth and value

Going forward, the Group wall adopt an even more rigorous capital
aflocation approach and 15 in the pracess of establishing a new
wwvestment framework to ensure that future spend drives stronger
economic profit growth and value creabon



Corporate development

Dunng 2018, we made three acquisiions of businesses which
added further services and software capability to our portfolio
Concept Life Sciences {'CLS"), which was acquired in January,
provides integrated drug discovery, development, analytical
testing and environmental consultancy services, mainly in the
phammaceutical, biotechnology, agrochemical and environmental
sectors, which complement the activities of Malvern Panalytical
Addrtrionally, 1t carnes out development and analytical services

for the food, consumer and emvironmental industnes Although
performance has been below expectations due to both mternal
and external faciors, the outlook for outsourcing of R&D remains
robust To further leverage the collaboration already started
between Malvern Panalytical and CLS, and to further drive growth
and profit improvement, CLS will become part of the Malvern
Panaiytical platform.

Since the merger of Malvern Instruments and Panalytical, sales of
the joint company have continued 1o benefit from the re-orgarvsed
sales and marketing functions and the cross-selhng of Malvern-
and Panalytical-branded product hnes A number of new products
have been launched this year which provide our customers with
significant improverments o the quality and speed of the
charactensation of matenals, provide greater understanding

of matenal properties or help increase productmty in ther
mwvestigations, ultimately sawing them development time and cost

Following the success of the merger which formed Malvern
Panalytical, m 2018 we deaded $o merge Bruel & Kjar Sound

& Vibration and HBM in our Test and Measurement segment

n 2019 Thas merger will bring together two leaders in precsion
measurement, creating a broader offening of high-quality
instruments and simulation and modeting software to better
deliver more integrated solutions 1o align with customers’
requirements As our customers undergo a digital transformation
of therr industnes, we can dehver greater value te them and help
them get therr products to market faster The new jont business
has been renamed HBK (Hottinger, Bruel & Kger) An integrated
go-to-market model for the joint sales organisation has been
established and the development of yoit HBK products and
solutions has commenced

in Test and Measurement, our offenng to automotive customers
hias been broadened by the acquisition of fevolutionary
£ngineenng, Inc in the USA, which complemenits the existing test
capabihties of Millbrook and extends its reach into North Amenca
Miltbrook has also added further capacity and test capability at its
existing UK and Finnish sites

We also acquired Vi-grade Group ('Vl-grade’). a teading global
prowder of vehucle simuylatian software, systems and services,
primarily to automotve cusiomers, which complements HBK's
automoative offenng and as such t will become part of the
HBK platform

Al Omega, there has been a focus on introduaing newer,
faster-growng products to supplement 1S traditional thermacouple
business In additon, to strengthen market presence and increase
growth prospects, a new e-commerce platform is being introduced
1o enhance the digital expenence for customers This was initially
launched in North America and will be progressively rolled out
globally during 2019 Omega s well-positioned 1o take advantage
of the continuing trend by process engineers to change the buying
processes Lo online purchasing Together with Omega’s existing
strong apphcation knowledge and technical support, the new
website will delver precisely-targeted digstal markeling campaigns
and enhanced search engmne optirisation performance, that we
fully expect wall see a higher conversion of website traffic to sales

Our people deliver the strategy

Great products and sennaces are only as good as the people
standing behind them As | have travelied arourd Spectrs,

since | started in September last year, | have conunued to be
impressed by the breadth and depth of capability and talent we
have acrass the business The openness, passion and enthustasm
are evident in the way | have seen our people go about their work
We wll retain and promote these attributes that have driven our
success, preserving the entrepreneunal and dynamic nature of the
Group, as well as continuing 1o uphold our strong ethical cuiture
and values

Following new leadership appontments in Lean, supply

chain, software and dignal, we are better able to drnve further
performance enhancement across the Group, consistent with our
renewed focus on profiable growth This wall be further supported
via our talent management and orgarisational capabihty
programmes, which in 2018 have focused on senior succession

as well as the developrment of high potentral employees

After 12 years as Group Finance Director, Clive Watson has deaded
to retire and will skep down from the Board We are very pleased
that Derek Harding will be jenning the Board to succeed Chive,

as Chief Finanaial Officer Designate, on 1+ March, before Tarmatly
becorming Chief Financial Officer following a monith's handover
Derek brngs a wide range of financial leadership and industrial
expertise to Spectns, having been most recently group finance
dwector at Shop Direct and previously Seriar plc, following

11 years in vanous finance and strategy roles at Wolseley plc

Vwould hke to thank Clive for his matenal contribution to
developing the Group and drving us success dunng his tenure and
personally express my gratrtude for the support he has prowsded
since | started, as well as wash um the best for the future

Summary and outlook

1 am pleased that our performance n 2018 was shightly ahead of
expectations, reftecting the quality of our businesses We were able
to build on the increased momentum across our end markets and
delivered good LFL sales growth We expect sales growth to
moderate in 2019, given the more cautious Macroeconomic
outicok Consequently, we are focusing on what we can control,
increasing productivity and operational efficiency, while drving
sales Our profit improverment programme 15 expected to deliver
benefits of £15-20 million dunng 2019, helping drive margin
expansion With thss focus on improwing profitabiiity, we anticipate
operating profit to grow ahead of sales, growing our margin 114
the process

Since | joned the Group last autumn, we have taken decisive action
to improve Spectns performance Thus will continue through 2019
as we complete the strategic review and execute our strategy for
profitabie growth, as the basis far deiivenng a significant and
sustainable increase i shareholder value

| am convinced that there s significant value creation opportunity
here for our custgmers, shareholders and people |1ook forward 1o
setting out in more detail the resuits of the review and our wision
for the Group at our Capital Markets Day in June 2019

Andrew Heath
Chief Executive
19 February 2019
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MARKET REVIEW

Understanding our

MARKETS

We serve a broad spectrum of blue-chip customers across key manufactunng industries
around the worid We are seeing a number of specific demand dnvers and growth
themes across these industnes, which are summarnsed betow

2018 LFL
End-user sales trend
market vs 2017 Demand drivers 2018 developments

s R&D ivestment, particufarly in biopharmas, with » Continued rise in spending on global
ncreasing drug complexty, more soptusticated pharmaceuucal RAD

therapes and personakised medicine » New regulations (e g China FDA guidance

» Rising demand for bealthcare and drive to on genencs) to ensure product integnty
enhance quality as well as avadabity of latest |, new environmentalicomtamination monitoning
drugs n emerging markets requiations in force

Increasing demands for regulatory comphance
and sterlity assurance

Dewre 10 reduce development time and cost
Desire to derisk drug development by outsourang
discovery ang development services

Innovatian in matenals and technology together
with advanced data analytics

+7%
Pharmaceuticals
& fine chemicals

-

> New product development, particularly hybed, Increased investment in hybrnd/Ev
electric and connected and autonomous vetndes  development, a nse in the number of Ev/hybnd
@ Increasing demand for noisembirationvharshness  models and EV start-up companies
analysss and associated simulation and software »  New regulations, € g compuisary £V targets in
+ a b lyss and 3 d softw. New regul g isary €V targ
+ Increasing requlatory camphance, especially in Ching, WLTP {emissions testing) rules in the EU

-

Automotive relation ta environmental, emissions and safety  » Downturn in global new vehicle sales but rapid
» Desire to reduce new model tme to market growth in EV/HEV platiorms, espeaally China
+ Continued advances in sericonductor > Record semuconductor spending on both
manufactunng ang testing technology, smaller greenfield construction and equipment
(@) chips with more powerful performance » Continued demand for faster, smaller and
A » Semiconductor investment growth dnven by higher-functioning dewices
+7 0/ fisng presence of eleCtromc COMPAnents aCioss , Fawer new telecoms product launches versus
Semicon 0 multple producty/apphications, e g Al 2017 by major market participants
N autonomous vehicles, digral consumer
telecoms + Developments i new Iithium-ion

etectronics, oT dewvices and mfrastructure
& electronics battery production

R f globat tass creating deman
! f;epimnal (;:;('d::; 458 roric:gr oduclsd » ADAS subsystems becormmg standard n cars

» Commodity exploration and production, » Hgher commaodity prices versus 2037
)‘ brownfieid and greentield capex projgects supported an expansion in capex budgets
& o Increasing analysis of matenals for mare efficent » Lower demand from China for metals
+2 / 0 tonversion of matenals increased demand for rare earths and precious
Focus on safety and productvity enhancements runerals, e g for battery production
In¢reased enironmental regulatory reguirerments

Metals, minerals
& mining

12 Annual Report and Actounts 2018



Cur principal aim is 10 enhance our customers’
productivity, whether by shortening development
cycles, increasing yietd, improving quality and
consistency or streamhning processes

Further commentary on our end markets can
be found wathin the Operating Review on
pages 18to 25

2018 LFL
End-user sales trend
market vs 2017 Demand drivers

Sales by end-user industry {%)

Pharmaceuticals &
fine chernicals

Aergspace &
defence

Automaotive

Academic
research

Semucon,
Pulp, paper & tissue telecorns &
electronics

Machine butiding
Metals,

Energy & utilies minerais & miming

2018 developments

Energy & utilities

+6%

Commodity exploration and production,
brownfield and greenfield capex projects

focus on safety, productanty and
emaronmental Issues

Investment in unconventionalsirenewables

Life cycie enhancements in rotating machinery
drive demand for predictive maintenance

» Higher o price versus 2017 supported
an expansion n capex budgets

» US ol production at record Tevels

» Chmate change reduction initiatives led 1o rise
In investrent in renewable technologies

Pulp, paper
& tissue

+3 °/o

Shift to digital media simpacing demand
for coated {graphuc) paper

Growth in consumption of tissue and other
hygiene products

Expansion in online shopping driving
packaging demand

» Overalt growing global market for pulp

v Increased demand for process solutions for
automation and real-time process momntonng

» Changing mix in our portfolio from graphi
paper 1o tissue, pulp, packaging

Academic
research

+13%

Government funding
Policies to promote technology and innovation

Balance of R&D undertaken in-house versus
outsourced to universities/research centres

+ Better funding backdrop

v New government imtiatwes, e g wn Cihina
to develop technology and pharmaceutcat
industries, in lapan increased spending on
science and technology

» Increased focus on research in higher
education, e g China

Aerospace
& defence

-5%

New product develcpment

increased demand for engineenng software
Regulation, safety, environmental ssues
High-value asset monitonng

Desire 10 reduce ume to market and cost

» Lower inwvestment and fewer new products/
lasge progects than » prior years

+ Commercal aerospace industry growth
in Asia

Spectrnis plc 13
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STRATEGY

Our evolving

STRATE

Our strategy

Strategic priorities

Description

Our strategy has continued to evolve
from being a supplier of hardware
products towards the provision

of solutions to our customers -

a combination of our high-quality
instruments alongside assocated
software and/or services

In Novermnber, a strategiC review was
initiated by our new Chief Executive
to explore the potential to reduce
complexity and establish 2 more
focused orgarusation The initial
findings of that review are set out
in the Chief Executive’s Review on
pages 8 to 11 and further appraisal
work will continue dunng 2015,
We will report our progress on this
at our Capital Markets Day in June
and in the 2019 Annuat Report

and Accounts

For 2018, we have continued to
report our progress and our key
performance indicators {'KPis’)
aganst the strategic priorities detailed
opposite as they are the ones relevant
to our performance in the year.

14 Annual Repart and Accounts 2018

Focus on innovative
customer solutions

o)

()

As custamer requirements evoive, so 100
does the offening that Spectns prowides to
them Our long-term customer refationstups
angd technical know-how mean we can
enhance our offening to them, whether that
involves the supply of improved equipment
or a packaged solution combining hardware,
software and/or serices

Increase presence
in key strategic
markets

il

We build leadership postions in atteactive
markets where we believe there are opportunities
for technology-led productmity enhangement
These markets currently inclugde segments

wathin the Iife sciences and pharmaceuticals,
autamotve, electromics and semiconductor,
metats/rmunerals/mining and technology-fed
ndustnals sectors, but we also rewew and
actively pursue opportunities in few markets

Expand business
globally

In response 10 a customer base that 5 extending
s international operations and becoming
increasingly sophisticated, we seek to expand our
business glubally, with emphasis on markets such
as Asia, particularly China

Accelerate operational
excellence

We stnve for continuous improvement n all
aspects of our business operahons, both 1o
enhance customer expenence and to generate
effinency and productivity gams In addition,

we seek 1o improve performance and profitability
by driving synergistic oppotunities wathin and
between our pperating (ompanies, ang across
the Group as a whole

Deploy capital
for both platform
and bolt-on M&A

©

We acquire businesses which matenally
strengthen our operating comparies through
broadening their customer offenng, reaching
new customer segments or expanding their
geographical presence These are typucally
bolt-on in nature, re integrated nto one of our
aperating companies In addition, we invest in
new platform or stand-alone businesses In order
to establish a presence in strategic markets or
complementary capabiities

Project Uplift

Project Uphft was our productmity enhancement
programme which was seeing increased
coflaboration and common processes being
adopted across the Group to simplify the
business, ncrease efficency and productvity and
drive continuous improvement and growth



Progress in 2018

uoday nbaens

Qur KPis

irvested £103 4 mihon in R&D {6% of sales)
New product launches: Malvern Panalytical’s
particle charactensation products - the
Zetasizer Ulira/Pro systems and Morphologt
static iImaging systems, PMS' Quahty
Assurance data management system ang
new software products from BKSV and HBM
terger of BKSV and HBM to better deliver
integrated data solutions to our customers
Launch of our digitat solutions brand,

Spectris Advance, showcasing our lioT
capabilities in specific end markets,
combining our INstrumentation, connectivily
and analytics expertise 10 provide more
cross-group sotutions

Acquisition of Concept Life Stiences whose
activities 10 integrated drug discovery.
development and analytrcal testing
complement our existing instrumentation

Acquisition of Concept Life Sciences,
which provides integrated drug discovery,
development and analytical testing in

the pharma and biotechnology sectors
which complement the activities of
Malvern Panalyticat

Acguisition of Revolutionary Engineerning,
an automotive 185t system and sensce
provider in the USA, specialising in driveling
test services and solutions Revolutionary
Engineening has been integrated into

Miflbrook, expanding bath Millbrook's
offering to customers and presence in North
Amerca, a key growth market Millbrogk
also expanded its automonve testing senvice
capaqity and capabity at both s finland
and UK sites

Acquisition of Vi-grade, a leading globa!
provider of vehicle simulauon software,
systems and senvices which complements the
software and simulation capability of the
automotive segment within HBK

Delivered strong LFL sales growth in Asia
{+10%}, partcularty in China and in India
Acquisttion of Revolutionary Engineerning adds
US-based autometive testing and services

-

Merger of BKSV and HBM to defver
integrated test, measurement and data
solutions to our customers and Imarove

cost efficiencies

focus on Lean manufactunng ymtiabives with
Kaizen events held across our businesses 1o
improve on-time delivery, guakty and
operational efficiency

-

Launched new profit improvement
pragramme Lo deliver enhanced operational
gearing from 2019

-

Acquisitton of Concept Life Sciences,

which prowdes integrated drug discovery,
development, analytical tesung and
environmental consultancy services, as well as
development and analytica! services for the
food, consumer and enwironmentat industrnes

Acquisition of Revelutionary Engineenng and
Vi-grade expands automotive offering with

a US presence and in software simulation,
respectively

-

Project Uplift programeme iitiatives resulted in
gross recurring savings of £17 3 million bemng
realised dunng 2018, an annuahsed run-rate
of £21 millkon and on track 1o at least meet
the £25 million total in 2019

Group-wide direct and indirect procurement
cantracts signed, such as freight provision,

to harmonise activities and leverage the
Group scale to enhance terms

Cornpleted study on shared service centre
project for Phase 2 and took decision not to
proceed, grven the cost of implementation
versus the speed of returns

LFL sales growth

+5%

Adjusted operating
margin

15.5%

Adjusted earnings
per share growth

+7%

Cash conversion

59%

Economic profit

£196.8m

Energy efficiency
per £Em revenue

66.5MWh

Reportable acudents
per 1,000 empioyees

2.9

m See pages 1610 17
for more nformation
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Measuring our

PERFORMANCE

We monitor progress against the delivery of our
strategic goals using five finanaia! and two
non-financial key performance indicators ('KPIs').
Fach KPi measures certain elements of the strategy,
as indicated by the relevant strategy icons

(see page 14) An element of Executive Drrectors’
remuneration is inked to two KPls: adjusted
earnings per share growth ang economic profit

A number of the KPls are adjusted operating metrics as we behieve
these are the pnmary indicator of the performance of the business
as they exclude foreign exchange movemnents and the impact

of acquisitions and disposals See Note 2 to the Finanaal
Statemnents, page 105, for a reconchiation between adjusted

and statutory tems

Our strategy focuses on profitable growth that is sustainable over
the medium to fong term and therefore we show the KPis for the
last five years Even in years where iike-for-itke safes growth has
been low, the Graup has mantained an adiusted operating margin
in the mid-teens and delvered good cash conversion of operating
profit The Group has also generated good economic profit
throughout the penod

As we undergo the strategic review, we will be reassessing our KPis
10 ensure they reman the best metncs to moniter our performance

Financial measures !
L.

Adjusted operating margin

@O

Adjusted operating margu 1§

a measure of Improving
profitability 1n our business and
15 defined as adjusted operating
profit as & percentage af

sales Adpsied operating

profit excludes certain iterms

Adjusted operaunyg
margin {%})

Performance

Adjusted operating margin

was 15 5%, a decrease of 0 2pp
over the prior year On a LRL
basis. adjusted operating margins
improved by 0 3pp, reflecting

a0 Tpp LFL gross margin increase
comtuned with 3 0 2pp decrease
i LFL overhead costs as

a percentage of sales

Objecuve

Our aim 15 10 achieve
a mid-teens adiusted
operatng maign, 35 a
minimurmm, on average
throughout the cyde

|

{ See pages 26-30 for

more nformanan

-

Like-for-like sales growth

Adjusted earnings per share growth

|

BOO®

LFL sates growth 15 3 measure
of how our R&D and other
nvestments help to grow
aur business orgarucatly,

1e excluding the effects

of currency translation and
acquisiigns or divestments

LFL sales growth (%)

Performance

Sales were £1,604 2 milon

in 2018, 3 S% ncrease on a

LFL. basis cormpared with 2017
LFL sales increased across al) four
segments, with particularly strong
growth in Matenals Analysis

All regions posted LFL sales
growth, with a notably strong
performance in Asia

Objective

Our airn 5 1o achieve
year-on-year growth
w1 LFL sales

See pages 26-30 for
maore wformaton

(
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®DOO®

Adjusted earrmngs per share
{'EPS") 15 the ratio of adjusted
earmings for the year to the
weighted average number

of ordinary shares outstanding
dunng the year, exciuding
certain items

Growth in adjusted
EPS (%)

Performance

Adjusted EPS mncreased 7% to
164 9p, reflecting 2 3% rse

i adjusted prohit before tax,

2 lower effective tax rate and a
decrease in the weighted average
number af shares following the
share buyback programme

Objective

Qur aim 15 10 achieve
year-on-year growth
Link to remuneration n adjusted £FS
EPS performance 1s one of the
cntena for the Perfarmance

Share Plan award See page 75
for more information

m See pages 26-30 for
mgre irformation



Strategic priorities:

Infcvatve sohulions
Operatonal excelience

Expanding globatly

uoday nbaens

Non-financial measures

[ Cash conversion

Energy efficiency

We use cash conversion as a KPI
25 we believe cash represents an
effective measure of the quahity
of pur earmings. Cash conversion
15 defined as adjusted operating
cash flow as & percentage of
adjusted operating profit

Performance

Cash conversion was 59%, down
from 77% 10 2017 This was due
to an mcrease In growth capital
expenditure and higher working
capital autflows

Cash conversion (%)

Objective
Our aim s to delwer high

cash conversion of operating

profit in each financial year

See pages 26-30 for
mavre informalion

(0

@ ®©®

£nergy effitency makes a
significant contnbution to
environmental sustainability
and helps us to reduce our
operating costs

Performance

Energy efficency. measured in
MWh per £m revenue, was 66 5
n 2018 This represents an
improvernent of 1% compared
with the pnor year

Objective

We monitor our use of key
sources of energy (electncty,
gas, aif and steam) with the

MWh per £m revenue

am of reducing our carbon
emussions and improving
energy efficiency

See page &2 for
maore nformation

(A8

Economic profit

Accident incidence rate

Economic profit 1s the anpual
result denved from deducting a

capnat charge (apphed 1o average

capital employed) from adjusted
operating profit, after Project
Uplift costs, aggregated over

a three-year penad

Performance

Three-year aggregated economic
profrt was £196 8 mithon,
representing an increase

on the pnor year

Link to remuneration
Economic profit 1s one of the
criteria for the Performance
Share Plan award See page 75
for more information

Three-year aggregate
economic profit (Em)

Objective

Our am is lo mantan

3 positive resull over the
three-year peniod

rq

See page 75 lor
maore informatien

o

We are committed (o ensunng
the heaith, safety and wellbeing
of qur people and momnitor how

we are performing by measuring

work-refated accidents or ill
heaith resulting n lost tme in
excess of one day {years pnor
to 2017, three days}

Performance

There were 2 9 reportable
accidents per 1,000 employees
in 2018 This s a significant
IMProvement over phor years,
following an increased focus
on heatth and safety acrass
the Group

Reportable accidents
per 1000 employees

Objective

Cur arm s (0 reduce
acadents ang inqunes al
oQur sItes 10 as low a lavel
as reasonably practical

(&

See page 42 for
more nformation
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QPERATING REVIEW

ATERIAL

Analysis

Sales increased 16%, reflecting an 8% wcrease m LFL sales,

2 10% comtnbution from acquisitions and a 2% negative impact
from foreign currency exchange movements Sales growth for the
year was driven by strong demand in Asia, particularly i Chuna,
South Korea and india, with a notably stronger performance in the
second half 1n North Amenca and Europe, LFL saies were also up,
with particularly strong first half performances in both regians

On a LEL bass, adusted operating profit increased 1% and
adjusted operating margins increased by 0 4pp, reflecting the
higher LFL sales, some mix effects and geod ovethead cost
cantra! The 1 2pp decline in adjusted operating margin reflected
the dilutrive impact of the acquisiion of Concept Life Saences m
the year Statutory operating profit increased 5% to £72 1 million

Sales al Malvern Panalytical have continued to benefit from the
re-organised sales and marketing functions foliowang the merger
and are besng ahgned with three market sectors advanced
matenals, pharma and food, and raw and bulk matenals. Alongside
3 key account structure, these are focused on value-based selfing

n order 10 benefil our customers and create differentiation from
the competition  We have continued to generate orders from
cross-seling the Malvern- and Panalytical-branded product hnes,
wath incremental sates nto various unversities and industnal
customers recagnising the benefits of the combined businesses

Severat new praducts were launched by Malvern Panalytical in
the year These included the Epsilon 4 XRF spectrometer, a new
high-performance benchitop analyncal too! for determuning the
chemical composition of different matenals It s applicable to
ndustries such as mining, pharmaceutcals and oisAuels which
need to comply with international regulations and test methods
A third generation Empyrean X-ray diffractameter wath the
newly-developed MultiCore Optics was introduced It aims at
ncreasing productivity in around-the-clock mvestigations and
offers unprecedented traceability of experiments in regulated
envronments For example, leading efectronics campanies
have been selecting Empyrean for optimising the performance
of ithium-ion batteries

Also launched were the Zetasizer Ultra and Pro systems, which
deliver significant impravements in the quahty and speed of the
characterisation of nanomaterials and proteins New capabilities,
including the use of machine learning techniques, signficantly
shorten sample preparation and measurement times, whilst
prowding more stable and retiable results

And lastly, the new Morpholog range of automated static imaging
systems for particle charactensaucn 1s designed to prowde deeper
understanding of process and/ar matenal properties, for example

in pharmaceuticals and battery matertals The systern's capability

n delivering prease particie charactensation data enables complex
genernic drug manufacturers to gain faster requiatory approval using
lah-based assessments mstead of relying on compilex climical studies

Particle Measuring Systems (' PMS') benefited from growth in the
sericonductor ingustry as welt as continued good dernand for both
its contarmination mantoring hardware and high-level consulting
services Mo the pharma industry Demand for these servies 1s
motwvated by regulatory compliance, which is becorning more
stnngent, ard PMS 15 well positioned In a growing market for
aseptic processing and stenlity assurance in thrs context, PMS

18 Annuat Report and Accounts 2018

released the next generation of FacdityPro products which deliver
enhanced flexibility to meet the latest environrnental monitoring
needs whilst ensuning data secunty and reliabiity Followang the
establishment of a global partnership with Novatek International
in 2017 to provide a fully-integrated software and hargware
solution for environmental monitonng, PMS launched the first
futly-integrated Quality Assurance dala management system for
pharmaceutical manufacturers, Pharmaintegnty, to securely meet
regulatory requirements and ensure product integrty Thus umquely
offers our customers a complete solution package, with advisory
services, particte and micromal monitors, cleanroom mondtoring
systems, training and educaton, and data management

Performance at Concept Life Sciences ('CLS") was below
expectauons due to a range of factors including a reduction

n project work from two major chents, delays in gaining new
iaboratory and manufacturing accreditations {GLP and GMP),

as well as a period of sub-optimal performance at one of its
analyucal laboratones These nternal issues largely reflected the
state of the business on acquisiion, which was in the process

of integrating previous acquisitions 1nto twa divisions, as well as
distraction and disruption caused to the commercial orgamisation
triggered by the acquistion Remedial action to improve operational
effectiveness is already having an 1impact, the preparatory work for
the manufactunag accreditations has progressed well and the
funnet of opportuniies across the business has developed strongly
Management! beheves that the end markets for CLS are sti very
strong as customers continue to lock to outsource analytical
services and pharmaceutical development work With a similar
end-market focus to Malvern Panalytical, the two companies

have been marketing coflaboratvely and, for example, a recent
sigrificant project was awarded to CtS as it cauld access Malvern
Panalytical's Morpholegt 4-1D parucle charactensation system and
offer a urmgue solution 1o 3 key chent

Sales to the pharmaceuticals and fine chemicals industries rose
nelably on a LFL basis, with North Amenca seeing parhcularly
strong growth LFL sales aiso increased in Europe and Asia, with
growth n the latter dnven by strong demand in China and India
as nising disposable incomes in these countres bring increased

Bringing new products to marke? faster

Sprint Broscience, a Swedish pharmaceutical company,

s performing ground-breaking work i immuno-oncology,
the study and development of treatments for cancer that
take advantage of the body's own immune system Two of
Malvern Panalytical’'s MicroCal biophysical charactensation
systems have played direct roles in Sprnt Bioscience's
development of new drugs to 1arget a specfic enzyme
involved in the growth and progression of human cancers
The mstrurments were used ta confum that the therapeutic
molecuies were stable and soluble and that they bound to
theur target correctly

Rapid dehivery of relable data has accelerated the
programme, which is currently in toxcology studies prior
to selection of a clinal candhdate and has demonstrated
efficacy in several different cancer rmodeis




demand for effective healthcare This has fed 10 greater
investment In generic pharmaceutical development and
manufactunng in both regions  Significant ¢ross-seiling
opportunities have been realised within the value chain

for traditional oral sold dose products, where Malvern
Panalytical’s morphology and structural analysis solutons
provide nsight nto drug product bioavailability and stability

The metals, minerals and mining sector saw an increase

n LFL sales, wath North Amenca and Europe broadly flat and
growth in other regions The improved investment cimate has
seen an increase In market acuvity as well as a focus on safety
and praductvity The sector has focused on delvenng improved
yelds, productvity, product quahty and cost minimisation in
the extraction and processing of raw matenals fundamental
to the manufacturing industry, and Makvern Panalyucal
instruments are critical in delivering these improvements

After a notably weak 2017, sales to academic research
customers were much improved in 2018, with good LFL
grawth across all key regions The year started slowly but
improved notably in the secand half wath a significant

pick-up In demand in North Amenca and Asia as improving
economic conditions and increased government funding led to
greater market actmty In China, for example, the government
has a number of tutiatives and investments underway to help
develop the country's technology and pharmaceutical
industries and establish world-class universities In North
Amenica, LFL sales benefited from an increase m universibes’
internal funding and our Impraving win-rate

Sales 1o the semiconductor and electronics mndustries
recorded another year of good LFL growth in 2018, particularly
in Asia where we have seen strong demand from battery and
electronics customers i Chuna, Tawan and Korea as Asian
demand for consumer electronics and HoT applications has
ncreased Semiconductor capital spending continues to rise
as new fabrication plants {fabs’) are developed. ahthough we
have seen a slower pace of growth in 2018 Notable customer
WINS 10 thes area include a well-known semiconductor
manufacturer and world-leading memory supplier, who have
mstalled muttiple UDI-20 units, an extremely sensitive hiquid
particle counter, 1n thew new fabs. In addition, one of the
word's most advanced foundnes has just built a leading-edge
chip facihty in which PMS particte counters have been instalied

Segment outlook

in the pharmaceutical sector, the global growth in disposable
incomes and consequent demand for effectve healthcare has
resulted in sustained vestment in R&D and we expect this
trend to continue Alongside this, an increasng awareness of
total Wfecycle cost s pushing custorners 1o reduce both
development costs and time to market for new products,
underpinning an increased need for new solutions and
services InCreasing regulatery comphance and steriiity
assurance for drug manufacturing processes will also

continue to dive growth of our hardware and services

We expect the steady growth in the mining and materials
sector to continue, where our focus Is on customers involved
in the research, development and manufactunng of novel
matenals and complex systers and devices.

with tts dependence on government funding, we expect
grawth «n the academic research market to be vanable,
aithough demand in Asia 15 benefiting from a number

of government inibiatives

Wwithin the semiconductor industry, after another year
of strong demand, we expect the pace of semiconducior
nvestment to be at more rnuted rates than in 2018

Segment performance

Sales

£541.1m

(2017 £464 9m)

Adjusted operating
profit

£95.4m

{2017 £87 3m)

Statutory operating
profit

£72.1m

(2017 €68 6m)

Sales by destination (%)

Sales by end-user market (%)
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OPERATING REVIEW continued

Test and

MEASUREMENT

Sales increased 7%, including @ 2% contrbution fram acquisttians,
net of disposals, and 3 1% negatve impact from forergn currency
exchange movements LFL sales increased by 6% By region,

North Amenca, Europe and Asia all delivered similar levels of LFL
sales growth, wath the UK, China and Japan being the key countnes
posting hugher growth

Adpusted operating profit decreased 9% on a LFL baswis and LR
operating margins decreased by 2 Opp Ths reflected the higher
LFL sales volumes, n particular at £5G and Miltbrook which

afe lower gross margin businesses, plus higher overheads

The overheads ncrease resulted from HBK-related merger costs,
tugher employee costs (reflecung an increase in headcount and
higher than expected wage inflation), as well as higher depreaaton
at Millbrook  Statutory operating profit decreased to £42 8 miflion
from the £55 6 milhon recorded in 2017 At the end of May, we
completed the disposal of the EMS Bruel & Kjaer erwironmental
monitonng business Into a joint venture with Macgquane Capitat

Buring 2018, preparatory work continued ahead of the merger

of Brilel & Kjaer Sound & Vibration {’BXSV') and HBM, the two
largest operating compantes within this segment The businesses
are being combined In order 1o leverage the strengths and
complementary experuse across the measurement chain to enhance
our customer proposition and the joint company 15 being renamed
HEBK (Hottinger. Bruel & Kj&r) An integrated go-to-market model
for the joint sales organisation has been established and the
development of joint HBK products and solutions has commenced
Ouning 2018, both companies launched new software products
which aim to streamiine and ssimphfy data acquistion and
monitorning HBM has launched EVIDAS, s next-generation data
acquisition and anatysis software with cloud integration, and BKSV
released BK Connect, a highly innovative sound and wibsation
software analybcs platform which has already received strong
customer feedback and generated a robust funnel of opportunities
These platfarms help integrate seamless data acquisition,
monitoring, multiple analysis, data viewing and reporting 0 the
same system HBM also faunched ChpX, a novel miniatunsed data
acquisition product for iIndustnal apphcations

Overall sales growth has been held back in 2018 by supply
shortages and constrants at HBM, by internal staffing issues at
BXSV which have now been resolved, and by some witerruption
from pre-merger related activity However, orders for their
tradiional hardware products have remained strong, particularly for
BKSV's shaker business and for HBM's core torque, load sensor/celi
and strain apphications and data acquisition products For example,
OEM sensors have seen sigruficant growth, both with existing and
new customers, in applications lke agneulture, medical devices,
textile machunes and spectrometry dewices HBM'S DAQ mstrument
business has grown significantly, a notable order being from ITER
for thew expenmental fusion reactor project Going forward, we see
a sohd proehne of opportunities for ground vetucles and airgraft

At Miffbrook, we continued to expand our testing capacity and
capability We mcreased our capaaty for testing advanced driver
assistance systems and connected and autonomous vehicle {'CAV')
technologies via modifications to existing track ifrastructce plus
investment i high-precision instrumentation and soft targets that
allow contact without damage A new battery test facility started
up 1 January 2019 and all 12 chambers wifl become operational
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throughout the first half of 2019 The refurbishrment of the
full-scale crash laboralory has increased efficrency and enabted
additional tests (o be offered At Test World in finland, adchtional
indoor tyre testing capacity has come into commercial use
successively through the year The acquisition of Revolutionary
Engineerng, Inc (naw Millbrook RE) in Detrost, USA, in Apnl extended
our postion INto a new regqion, market and servces offenng and we
have seen good demand for its senaces since acquisiion

In August, we acquired Vi-grade, a leading glabal prowder

of vehide simulation software, systerns and serwces, pnimandy to
automotwve customers, which complements our existing hardware
and services offenng Into this sector Vi-grade helps chents shorten
development cycles, enhance innovahon and decrease risk by
providing real-time wrtual prototype smulation capabilities
Performance since acquisition has been in hine with expectations
and Vi-grade wall be collaborating with other operating companies
to expand our solutions for our automotve custormers

Within the automative sector, LFL Sales grew strongly durng

the year with the UK, China and Japan being the main contnbutors
to the growth Growth reflects robust demand for electric ang
hybnd vehictes globally and policy changes in certain markets such
as China {compulsory EV 1argets for vehucle manufacturers) and
Europe (emissions testing for new cars) We ako had anather year
of strong growth in our eDrive applications

In machine manufacturing, a significant portion of which
represents safes into the automative supply chain, LFL sales rose
year-on-year in the two key regions, Europe and Asia The two
main markets, Germany and China, both saw good growth with
a contnued increase in exports from Germany Sales of our
weighing sensors benefted from strong machine maker demand
globally and customer wins

In the aerospace and defendce sector, LFL sales declined in all
regions, though this s tymically a project business and sales can be
lumpy In addition, 2017 was 3 tough comparator due o a sizeable
ane-off order and we have seen some prgjects being delayed by
customers inta 2019 However, we continue to see good R&D

Improving quality and safety

Volva Car Corporation invests a sigrnehcant amaount of time
and cost mproving the demang experience of (ts cars The
company has installed vi-grade’s dynarmic driving simulator,
sM150, 1o fine tune the next generauon of vetcles nght
from the start of the development process The DiM platform:
enables Vol to undertake simulation models using human
test drvers 10 test and opurmise the handling and ride
behaviour of new vehucles w1 3 realistic environment,

as weli as to test new algonthms for active safety systems

The simulator 15 used in conunction with Briel & Kjaer
Sound & Vibration's SimSound software, which enables
hughly authentic and dynamic vehicle scund Simulation o
be generated Using the simufator early in the new vehicle
development process has helped Volvo imprave the
performance of new cars and reduced development

tune and cost




investment in the industry and have been bwilding our pipeline
of opporturities, for example wathin hulf vibration monitoring
systerns for naval apphicahons Our key account programme
has delivered new sales opportunities with a number of
notable contracts signed For example, we have been working
wath Mitsubishy Regional Jet on Japan’s first commercial jet
arcraft dunng s certfication phase to ensure extertor take-oft
and landing noise meets requirements BKSV's array acoustic
products were utilised 10 perform noise source Wentfication
to help identiy areas of the aircraft that need continued
analysss or further design enhancements In addition, HBM has
secured vanious projects for tests of electnc arcraft

LFL sales to our consumer electronics and telecoms
customers were shghtly ligher in 2018, wath growth thrs year
lower than i prior years, primanly reflecting fewer new
product launches by customers Sales of our high-frequency
head and torso simulator, which was launched in 2017 and

15 designed for in-situ electro-acoustics tests on smartphones,
headsets and microphones, have been above expectations,
parhcularly into consumer electronics companies, and we have
a strang pipeline Underlying demand for our electro-acoustics
products s stll good as manufacturers stive to dekver the
higher sound quality that customers row dernand from thesr
mobile dewices and speakers

LFL sales into academic research institutes were flat
year-on-year, with lower sales in Europe and North America
LFL sales were strong n Asia drniven by very good growth in
Ching, reflecung the increased government funding and
continuing investment 1o move China towards being a
technotogy- rather than manufaciuring-driven economy

Improved conditons in il and gas and mining markets
continued 1nto 2018 and LFL sales growth was again strong,
particularly in North America A rising ng count and the launch
of new oil and gas and mining projects saw demand for E5G’s
ficrosetsmic monitonng salutions iIncrease notably In
particular, we saw a higher leve! of activity for our downhole
hydrauhc fracture mapping and monnoring activities Sales of
our new MICFOSeISTC data acquisition, processing and analysis
product, FRACMAP Cianty, which was launched dunng the
year, have been very good as it brings greater insight for our
ot and gas customers on the productive fracture network
resutting from well completion operations This enables more
strategic well planming, better stage placement and reservor
coverage and an wnproved estimate of recoverable resource

Segment outiook

As the development of electric and hybnid vehicles continues
to grow rapidly, and stricter ermissions 1esung, battery
devefopment and the growth of CAV continue apace, we
expect the demand in the automotive sector 10 continue 1o
graow, especially driven by the associated R&D New capaarty
coming onstream at Milibrook waill also enable us 10 better
access these hugh-growth sectors

in aerospace, overalt demand will be driven by new
development programmes and while our pipeline remains
strong, the abiity 10 convert these mto ordess will be key

The underlying trends in the consumer electronics and
telecoms market remamn healthy in our view, with continued
consumer demand for srartphones wath high-quality audio
and innovative features The prevalence of new product
launches will help drive demand for our apphications

Market conditions in the oil and gas industry are harder

to prechct, with continued volaulity in oil and gas prices
However, our new product offerings continue 1o postion
us strongly with increased nstrument capabiity and anakaic
solutions in the MICro-sessmic segment

Segment performance

Sales

£522.6m

{2017 £487 3m)

Adjusted operating
profit

£f67.2m

{2017 £74 2m)

Statutory operating
profit

£42.8m

(2017 £55 6m)

Sales by destination (%}

Sales by end-user market (%}
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OPERATING REVIEW continued

in-line

INSTRUMENTATION

Sales were broadly flat year-on-year, with a LFL sales increase

of 1% Servomex and BTG performed well, with sales at NDC
Technologies (NDCY} contracting and Bruet & Kjaer Vibro having
a tough companson against high one-aff sales n 2017 A 1%
negative impact from foreign currency exchange movernents
was compensated by a 1% contnbution from acquisitions On a
regional basis, LFL sales rose strongly v Asta, particularly in China,
but this was mostly offset by the lower LFL sales recorded n
North Amenca and Europe

LFL adjusted operating prohit mcreased 17% and LFL adjusted
operating margins inCreased 1 8pp year-on-year Tiws resulted
from tugher gross margins at BTG and Servomex, the segment’s
larger two operating companies, plus lower overheads year-on-
year, with the 2017 results reflecting certain one-off restructuning
costs which were not repeated this year There was aiso a nse in
statutory operating profit, from £29 5 mullion to £32 2 millon

i the pulp and paper markets, LFL sales increased compared with
2017, wath similar growth i all the key regicns and notably strong
growth in China driven by robust capital project actimty BTG's
Process Solutions husiness urut, established in 2017, has continued
to gather momentum wath several customers placing orders fat
integrated solutions Orders were placed in the Amencas and
Europe for pulping solutions, including instrumentation and MACS
advanced process control content These sofutions are designed to
delver sustainable gains in business performance for our customers,
includng cost savings and productvty enhancements Solutions
talored to drive gaing in efficiency continue to be aligned with
many of the projects that the pulp and paper industry 15 seeking,
including a more widespread use of automation and real-tme
monitorng of process condions

The Capstone dataPARC analytics offering also continues to be
deployed in several process industries, ndluding power generation,
chemwal, wastewater and ethanol As an example, a feading
Korean utihty company s replacing thewr exisung data historian with
dataPARC across all therr generation sites, as described in the case
study below

In the energy and utilities marke1, LFL sales rose, with notably
strong growth in Asia more than offsetting lower LFL sales In

North America and Europe, with the higher year-on-year of

pnce supporting steady project investrment i1 both upstream and
downsueam projects in addition, waste-io-energy projects i the
Amencas and combustion control in power plants in Asia contmued
to drive opportunities

with our strengthened safes and marketing organisation at
Servomex, we have Continued (0 capritalise on this improved
backdrop in the industnal gas and hydrocarbon processing seclors
and benefited from sales of new products launched in recent years,
where we have seen substantial growth in orders For example, we
have had notable sales of our Laser 3 Pius, partiularly to the Asian
power sector as well as for hydrocarbon processing in both Europe
and the Ameuncas Since their launch last year, the new ManoExact
and MultiExact gas analysers have been experanang significant
growth, with sales to major industrial gas companies globally,

and sales of the newdy-aunched 4300 Multigas are already notably

22 Annua! Report and Accounts 2018

above target These products measure multiple gases, which further
ophimises processes, improves product yields, ensures huigh product
qualty and heips meet regulatory and safety requirements for our
customers Gas monitonng applications are equally in demand in
other indusines outside of energy, for example, sales of our
analysers into the semiconductor market, (o ensure gas purity
during the manufactunng process, have been huoyant as actwity
here remains strong We had a notable order in the year from

& mayr player in advanced semicanductor technology to delver
135 analysers for thew new semiconductor fabancauon fachity

in South Korea

in the wind energy sector, atthough the market continues 10 see
growih, we have seen lower LFL sales at Brivel & Kjaer Vibro due
to a tough comparator in 2017 when we had exceptionally high
sdles {0 wind turbine manufacturer Vestas Ounng the year,

we delvered our 20,000th wind turbine condiion monitoning
systern and have further expanded the number of wing farm
owners and operatars 1o whom we prowde remote turbine
monitonng and diagnostic servces Dunng the year, we launched
our new state-of-the-art condition moenitonng umt, DDAU3, that s
set to prowde further opportunities in 2019 and beyond Early sales
included the selectron 3s a preferred condiian mantonng system
suppher with a large wing turbine manufacturer based in China

for both the DDAU3 hardware as well as our rernote monitoning
senices for one of ther LatAm wind farms for a multi-year penod
New and existing customers are also showing keen mnterest m our
new thwd-generation product

Al NDCT, (FL sales to web and converting industries were
down notably across all key regons In the film extrusion and
converting segment, we have seen demand softness in all

regions, in particular i the Amencas where we have seen fewer
upgrades compared with last year, dnven by industry consoldation
and customers delaying projects 1o focus on consohdating
production hines. -

An impottant development and opportunity has been our waork on
Ithium-ion battenes and NDCT continues to progress activities to
further penetrate this market W has developed a new generation
of sensor products for the continuous measurement and nspection
of the ithium-ion battery efectrode manufacturing process its new
Photan Sensor pravides a new level of performance i coat werght

improving operational efficiency

A leading Korean utility company 1s using BIG's
dataPARC software acrass all their generation sites,
creating a centrat monitoring and Pragnoses céntre at
their head office and a comman wisuahsation platiorm
at thew sites The real-time data and nformation
gathered through dataPARC 15 also integrated with
the customer’s predictive modelling infrastructure

The customer now has the ability to monitor their
operations centralty, contributing to greater efficiency




measurement accuracy and fine detail of the coating
flatness and its new micro-caliper thickness sensor enables
manufacturers 1o get a true picture of product quality,
enabling them to make impravements to their production
processes We had a notable order with a battery
manufacturer in Tanwan and are Currently working on
projects with Ameaican, Chinese, Japanese and Tha battery
manufacturers n the foed and bulk materials segment,
manufacturers continued to seek higher parforming
measurement solutions to meet more stnngent food safety
and consurmer requirements For example, n 2018, NOCT's
infralab product introduced a degree of roast measurement
that allows coffee manufacturers to perform moisture and
degree of roast measurements at a single station

Segment outlook

We continue to drive the mix shift .n our pulp and paper
business to be less dependent on graphic paper, a long-term
dechring market, intc the higher growth areas of tissue,
packaging and pulp markets Tissue growth s dnven by
ncreasing consumer penetration in emerging markets and
packaging from the rise in online shopping We also expect
to continue to capture new opportunities with our Process
Sotutions business, incluchng reliablity sennces

The market environment in global o and gas markets 15
difficult 10 predsct, given current contrary macroeconomic
signais However, in the wind energy sector, mvestment

15 expected 16 contnue 10 grow and we continue to ook at
expanding our offering mto new wind farm owners and
operators as well as OEMs In the medwm term, there remains
the potential for additional capabilities beyond wbration to
encompass ather condtion monitorng technologies in order
to prowide rmore prechctive analysis and a more holistic
monitonng soluton

The demand softness we have seen in the film extrusion
and converting segment 15 hkely 10 persist into 2019 and we
waill continue to look at cost containment measures to offset
tiws, as weell as focus on key areas of growth such as the
hthium-on battery market In the food and bulk materials
market, actwity 15 expected to reman robust Over the
medium term, we belleve opportunities across these markets
are expected [0 ncrease 83 (ustomers develop new products
which require advanced in-hne measurement solutions

Segment performance

yoday nbajens

Sales

£312.2m

{2017 £3109m}

Adjusted operating
profit

£42.6m

(2017 £36 Orn)

Statutory operating
profit

£32.2m

{2017 £29 5m)

Sates by destination (%)

Sales by end-user market

(%)
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OPERATING REVIEW continued

INDUSTRIA

Controls

LFL sales increased by 3%, there was a negatwve mpact of 3% from
foreign currency exchange movemnents and 3% from the disposal
of Microscan, resulting in sales being 13% lower year-on-year

This segment has g high exposure 1o North Amenca (72%), where
we recorded sold sales growth Asia recorded good growth in LFL
sales, particularly at Omega in Europe, overall segment sales were
fower on a LFL basts due to a tough comparatve from good project
sales in 2017

Adjusted operating profit {LFL) increased by 19% and LFL operating
margins improved by 2 6pp. following the continued improvement
n gross margin at Omega, from both efficiency improvements and
pnang, and at Red Lion Controls ('Red Lion’} The results reflect
reorganisation costs of £0 7 milhon at Omega (2017 £2 1 million)
Statutory operating profit increased 1o £29 3 mihon,

from £28 7 million

LFL sales growth was good i Asia, dnven in paricular by demand
from the Ctunese market In Europe, LFL sates for both comparies
were lower, with Omega reflecting a tough comparator given the
strong profect work in 2017 The better year-on-year results reflect
the impact of hugher LFL sales and the continuing operational
wnprovernents at Omega and, hkewise, imnprovernent at Red Lion
was primarty driven by operational improvemnents, coupled with
sohd growth in its main market of North Amenca

Operational performance impraved at Omega, with both higher
gross margins and operating margins This has been achieved by a
contmued focus on Lean operations, tighter inventory management
plus featpnnt rationahsation by consolidating its global distnbuuon
centres Dunng 2018, Omega has expenenced some product
availability and lead time 1ssues, impacted pnmarily by the tght US
labour market as well as raw matenal avalabiity Omega’s focused
operational improvement inmatives should help further on this fromt
going inta 2019

In addion, Omega has been focusing on intreducing newer,
faster-growing products to offset the tower growth of its
wadtional thermocouple business As an example, dunng the year,
Omega launched the 2W-Senies wireless sensor system for
web-based monitonng of temperature, hurmidity, barometrsc
pressure and a wade range of process-related devices in diverse
industnial, laboratory, commercial and agricultural apphcations

The ZW-Senes 1 supported by the Omegs Emterpnse Gateway,
which provides a set of web-based data visuafisation, monrtoring,
alarming, data histonan and email services Omega’s hrst cloud-
capable Bluetooth wireless thermometers were alsa released With
their searmfess conneciivity, they aflow the user to collect, transrmut
and store accurate termperature data for analysss or comphance
reporting without any addmonal or third-party software Omega
has also created differentiation i its new senies of custom pressure
transducers for industnal apphcations that can be quickly and eastly
configured oniine and shipped to the customer wittun 48 hours,
beating the competiion’s delvery of similar custom products

by weeks
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In December, to strengthen market presence and increase growth
prospects, @ new e-commerce platform was introduced to enhance
the digital experience for customers This was iihially launched

in Canada and the platform will be pragresavely colled out

globally during 2019 Omega has supplemented this with mare
precisely-targeted digital markeung campatgns as well as enhanced
arganic search engine optimisation performance and. together,
these are expected 1o translate into higher conversion of websie
trathe 1o sales

The increasing emphasis on industnal connectvity and lioT from
our customers 15 generating opportunities for bath Red Lion and
Omega Red Lion added cloud connectmty to its Cnmson software
platform, allowang the data collected from industnal devices to be
pushed to platforms that include Amazon AWS or Microsott Azure
This further broadens the appeal of Red Lion's equipment beyond
their traditaonal core taCtory automation market, and has enabled
new wans in several key verticals, including energy exploration and
alternative energy  The company also added OPC LA functionaity,
a machine-to-machine communication protocol for industnal
automation, allowing access 10 data wa a standard that is
becorming the common language of the industnal controls world

The connectivity capabiity of Omega’s portfolio was similarly
expanded wath the laurkh of four product plattorms wath wireless,
ethernet and/or remote connectty, while also extending the ability
of exsing platforms to utikse new types of measurerment inputs
and send data through waretess connections Omega and Red Lion
have begun collaborating to find ways to leverage their digital
infrastructure to enhance their praduct affenng to customers

Protecting high-value assets

Cardinal Glass, a leading US glass manufaCiurer, produces
around 8 milllon square feet of high-value speciality glass
each manth, half of which s stored for upcoming orders
However, if the stored glass is exposed to humidity swings
for too long, the coatng will begin to oxidise, causing
catasiropimc damage and considerable financial cost

To manitor the temperature and relative hurmadity of the
storage environment, Carginal has installed six Omega
temperature and hurmidity monitors across two buildings
The data from these sensors is integrated inla therr
monitorng and controf systerms via Omega’s Enterprise
Gateway for seamiess integrabion with other plant processes
Thus allows Cardinal to morwtor humidiy levels alongside
other plant measurements in real time and will help the
companty not only better protect therr assets, but also
improve their manufactunng processes and envirpnment




Red Lion has also been refreshing its product ines

For example, 1t launched the DA10D and DA30D protocol
conversion and data acquisition devices, providing customers
with a cost-effective way of uniocking the value of data
contained in legacy equipment Via easy-to-use software,
customers can quickly configure communicatians knks 1o

over 300 types of industnal controllers, altiowing them to
cost-effectively monitor and manage machines that might
otherwise have been left solated from thewr data collection
strategy The company also launched a range of additional
communications modules for their CR300G series touchscreen
operator panels, agamn allowing easier integration with a
broad range of equpment The requwement for industnal
companies to dive productivity and operational efficencies by
enabling effortless and secure access to ther manufacturing
information is ncreasing demand for these types of products

Segment outlook

Gven the predominance of sales In the North American
market, the performance of this segment will be influenced
by industnal markets in that region, where growth in 2019

15 lkely to be more subdued than in 2018 However, our
enhanced digital eccommerce platform, m combination with
a refresh of our product portfolio, are expected to drive
enhanced medium-term growth at Omega, and we will alsa
benefit from improved operating leverage from the contirued
restructunng actntees and Lean focus

In the mediumn term, the demand from industnal companies
wishing to drive productwity and operational efficiencies, by
having effortless and secure access 1o thewr manufactunng
data, 15 expected to increase Our abnity 10 prowvide connected
devices, dgital monitonng and optimisation solutions enables
our customers to benefit from our deep applications
knowledge, as we apply our process applications and products
expertise 10 address thewr industnal optimisation requirements

Segment performance

Sales

£228.3m

(2017 £262 5m)

Adjusted operating
profit

£43.1m

(2017 £4] 8m}

Statutory operating
profit

£29.3m

(2017 £28 7m}

Sales by destination {%)

Sales by end-user market (%)

Spectris plc

25

uoday nbajens



FINANCIAL REVIEW

IMPROVING

our operational performance

Operating performance

Like-for-ike

018 a7 Change change’
Adjusted
Sales (£m) 1,604.2 15256 5% 5%
Operatng prohit (Em) 2483 2393 4%, 7%
Operating margin (%) 15 5% 15 7% (0.2pp) 0 3pp
Statutory
Sales (£m) 1,604 2 1,525 6 5%
Ogperating profit {(£m) 176 4 1824 {3%)
Operaung margin (%) 11.0% 12 0% {1.0pp}

1 At constant exchange rates, and including the impact of acquisitons and disposals an a comparable basss

Spectns uses aliernatve performance measures in addition to

those reported under IFRS, as management believes these measures
enable them to better assess the underlying trading performance

of the businesses Alternative measures exclude certan
non-gperational mems which management has defined n Note 2 to
the financeat Statements A reconclation af statutory and adjusted
rmeasures 15 provided in Note 2 to the Financal Statements

Adjusled measures exciude restructunng costs winch include Project
Uphtt costs and the one-off costs of implermenting the Group's profit
improvement programme that was announced in November 2018

Sates increased by 5% to £1,604 2 mulkon {2017 £1.525 6 mithon)
Growth from acquisitions, net of disposals, contributed

£23 6 rulhon (2%} and LFL sales ncreased by £77 5 muthon (5%)
Adverse foregn exchange movements reduced sales by

£22 5 rmullion (2%)

An improvement in adjusted operating profit of £9 0 mihon (4%)
was mare than offset by wgher acquisiion-reiated costs which
were up £11 8 mikon and other adjustng rems, up £3 2 million,
which resulted in statutory operating profit decreasing by 3%

to £176 4 miilon from £182 4 mifion n the comparable year
Statutory eperating margmns of 11 0% were ! Opp lower than
the prior year

Adjusted operating profit increased by £9.0 milon {4%) to

£248 3 rmilion i 2018 LFL adpusted operating profit (before
restructunng costsy ncreased by £16 & miliion {7%) Acquisiions,
net of disposals, and foreign exchange moverments reduced adjusted
operaung profit by £7 5 milhon and £0 1 milion, respectivaly

Safes
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Adjusted aperating margins dechned by 0 2pp, whilst LFL adjusted
operating margqins improved by G 3pp compared with 2017,

with the difference being explained mainly by the dilutve effects
of acquisikions and foreign exchange The improvement in the LFL
operating margi consists of a 0 Tpp LFL grass margin increase to
57 0% w 2018 {2017 56 9%, combuned with a O 2pp decrease
n LFL overhead costs as a percentage of sales The ymprovement

N pperatng margin was driven by industnal Controls, up 2 6pp,
which benefried from positive prcing as well as positive
regrganisation IMpacts and In-hne Instrumentabion, up ¥ 8pp,
mainly due to favourable pnang and mix with overheads
constrained to pnor year fevels Matenals Analysis operating margn
was up 0 4pp, drven by higher volumes These improvements were
partly offset by the Test and Measurement segment, down 2 Opp,
principally due to higher overhead casts, including those associated
with the merqer of BKSV with HBM, and hugher depreciation due
10 the ramp up n capital expenduture in this segment in the last
three years tFL overheads grew by 4 7% (2017 up 5 2%),
reflecting annualisation of new heagcount costs from the prior
year as well as addwional headcount in 2018, together with cost
inflation, igher depreciation charges and recrganisation costs,
particularly tn the Test and Measurement segment

We continued 1o invest in cur RED programmes, with total RRD
spend {(including capralised development costs) of £103 4 rmilhon
or 6 4% of sales {2017 £105 1 mithon or 6 9% of sales) Totat RED
spend was up 1% compared with 2017 on a LA baus

Adjusted operating profit



A Like-for-like adjusted
operating margins
improved by 30 basis
points, reflecting
a like-for-like gross
margin increase to
57%, combined with
a 20 basis point
decrease in like-for-like
overhead costs as a
percentage of sales. F#

Adjusted operating
margin

15.5%

n 2018

Average working capital
as a percentage of sales

11.4%

n 2018

Net debt to EBITDA

1.0x

mn 2018

Spectns plc
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FINANCIAL REVIEW continued

Net finance costs increased by £9 0 million 10 £13 5 milkon

(2017 £4 S mlion), principally due to an increase of £8 5 milhon
n transfation losses on short-term US Dollar denominated
nier-company 1oan receivabies ansing from Steding’s strengthening
aganst the US Dollar Adjusted net finance costs for the year were
up £0.6 milion at £5 7 mullion {2017 £5 1 milbon) as higher
interest charges were driven by higher average borrowings after
the share buyback Statutory profit before tax decreased from
£278 4 mifhor in 2017 to £218 0 millian i 2018 Statutory profu
befare tax in 2018 and 2017 benefited from profits on disposal

of businesses of £56 3 million and £100 S rmilion, respeciively
Adjusted profit before tax increased by 3% to £241 4 miltiony

Restructuring costs

The Group has incurred costs of £15 & mdhon relating to
restructuring in 2018 {2017° £15 8 million) This ncludes

£10 8 million relatng to Project Uplft (2017 £15 8 miflion) and
£4 8 million relating to one-off costs of the profit improvement
programme announced in November 2018

One-off costs incurred under Praject Uplift ;n 2018 of £70 8 mullion
ncluded £7 7 mullon related to Phase 1 of the pragrameme {(which
focused on IT, procurement and footpnnt) resuling w curmulative
costs for Phase 1 of £26 7 millon, and £3 1 mulken relatng to
Phase 2, the shared services centre programme, where a decision
was taken not 1o proceed  Gross securnng savings of £17 3 million
were realised dunng 2018, an annuahsed run-rate of £21 milion
and we expect 1o at least meet the £25 milhon of cumulative
benefits n 2019 Additional spend and sawngs from the projects
started under the Project Uphft programme will be realised in 2019
and thereafter but, since the project stseif has now come ta a
natural end, the addiional savings will now be secured by the
aperatng companies as business as usual

The reconaihation of statutory to adjusted measures is shown
n the table below

The operating comparies wali also be secunng savings under

the new Group-wide profit improvernent programme which
commenced at the end of 2018 The programme 15 aimed at
delivering greater operational geanng i 2019 and beyond

The operating companies and the Group's head office have
nstigated a number of imtiatives o create sustanable cost savings
over the short to medium term, these indude a number of protects
such as site consohdation, headcount reductions, lower profitabiity
product retirements and improvedd operational performance using
Lean techmques

Acquisitions

The Group completed three acquisiions dunng the year The total
cost of acquisitions was £203 9 milhon (2017 £34 6 milfion),
including €8 2 mulhon (2017 £0 8 millon) for cash acquired and
£6 0 mihon 2017 £1 4 milion) atinbutable to the farr value of
deferred and contingent consideration which & expected to be paid
wn future years A net £6 7 mdhon (2017 £4 1 mulhon) was pad n
respect of prior year acquisitions, making the net cash outfiow in
the year £196 4 mithon (2017 £36 5 million) Furthecrnore, an
amount of £10 8 million (2017 £2.8 mithon) was spent on
acquisition-related costs, which makes the total acquisiuon-related
cash outflow for the year £207 2 milien (2017 £39 3 milion)
Acquisitions contributed £72 1 miflion of incremental sales and

£1 2 milhon of incremental operating profit dunng the year

In 2019, these acquisitions are expected to contnbute

£15-20 millon of nmcremental sales and up to £1 milhon

of incrementa! adjusted operating profit

Concept Life Sciences has not performed in hne with our
expectations Therefore, management has carefully considered
whethers the goodwill amount of £105 S milion 15 impared and
have concluded that this 1s not the case, but recogrise the

2018 2017
Statutory  Adjustments Adjusted Statutory Adjustments Adjusted
im £Em Em £m {m £m
Sales 1,604.2 - 1.604.2 1,5256 - 1,525 6
Gross profit 907 4 G3 907.7 867 5 - 867 5
Overheads and other operahng costs (731.0) 716 {659.4) (685 1) 569 {628 2)
Operating profit' 176.4 718 248.3 182 4 569 2393
Share of post-tax results of joint venture (12) - (1.2) - - -
Profit an disposal of businesses 56.3 {56 3} - 1005 (1005) -
Financial income 2.5 - 25 19 (13) 06
finance costs {16.0) 78 {8.2) (6.4) 0.7 [CX))
Profit before tax’ 218.0 234 241.4 278 4 (44 2) 2342
Taxation charge (32.8) (14.8) (47.6) (43.6) {6 3) {49 9)
Profit after tax® 185.2 8.6 1938 2348 (50 5) 1843

1 Further deiall on the réconciiation of statutory operating prolit, profit before tax and prafit atter tax to thew related adusied measures & provided in Note 2 to

the Finangal 51 Principal 15 10 statuiony op
of £43 3 millon (2017 £41 9 millian), restructunng costs of £15 6 midhon (2017 £
£12 2 muthon (2017 £Q 4 mullign)

"
i
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g peohit are 1o expiude amortisation and impairment of acquisiton-related witangible assets

5 8 routhon} and net acquison-retated costs and far value adjusiments of



continued operational improvements required, as set out in the
Materials Analysis segment performance review Further disclosures
around the sensitivities on reasanably possible changes in relation
10 key assumptions which would result in an impairment are set
out in Note 11 to the Financial Statements

Disposal and formation of joint venture

©n 31 May 2018, the Group completed the disposal of

EMS Bruel & Kjaer {'EMS B&K') Into a jont venture with Macquarne
Capitat which resulted in a net cash infiow of £41 8 million, after
paying cash taxes of £0 6 milion The post-tax profit on disposal
was £55 9 milkon Sales of £8 9 million and an operating loss of
£0 4 millon relaung to EMS B&K were included 1n the operating
results for the five-month period of ownership prior to its disposal
on 31 May 2018

Taxation

The effective tax rate on adyusied profit before tax was 19 7%
{2017 21 3%}, a decrease of 1 6pp, pnmanly due to reduction

n S tax rates in 2018 On a statutory basss, the weighted average
effective tax rate was 26 0% (2017 28 6%), a decrease of 2 6pp,
largely due 1o the reduction s US tax rates and the fact that the
2017 statutory results included significant profits on dispesal ansing
n the USA In 2019, the Group expects an increase in its effectve
tax rate of up to 2pp as a result of changes in tax laws The
Group's approach 1o tax matters 1s set out In (ts tax strategy which,
1n comphiance with the Finance Act 2017, has been rmade avadable
on our website, www spectris comisustamability/tax-strategy

Earnings per share

Adjusted earmings per share increased by 7% from 154 6 pence
to 164 9 pence, reflecting the net impact of the 3% increase In
adjusted profit before tax, the reduction n the effective tax rate
and the decrease in the weighted average number of shares from
119 2 miion 1n 2017 10 117 S million in 2018, followang the
share buyback

Statutory basic earnings per share decreased from 197 0 pence
to 157 & pence, with the difference between the two measures
shown in the following table

2018 2017

pence pence

Statutory basic earmings per share 1576 1970
Net acqguisiton-related costs and faw value

adjustrnents 104 03

Depreciation of acquisiion-related far value

adjustments to property. piant and

eguipment 0.7 06
Amorusation and smparment of acquision-

related ntangible assets 368 351

Bargawn purchase on acquisiton - (16}
Restructuring costs 133 133

Profit on disposal of business (47.9) (843
Net (gain¥loss on retranslation of short-term

inter-company foan batances 61 (rn
Unwinding of discount factor on delferred

and contingent consideration 0.5 06
Tax effect of the above and other

nen-recurring ems {12 6) (5 3)
Adjusted earnings per share 1649 1546

Cash flow @
Adjusted operating cash flow %
2018 617 a
£m fm Y
Adjusted operating profit 2483 2393 %
Adjusted depreciation and software A
amorisaton' 153 308
Working capital and other non-cash
maovements 428) (12 1)
Capital expenditure, net of grants (94.1) (73 1)
Adjusted operating cash flow 146.7 1846
Adjusted operating cash flow conversion 59% 77%

1 Adpusted deprecrabon and software amortisation represents depreqation
of progerty, planl and equipment and software amortsalign, adjusted 1o
exchude depreciation of acquisition-related far value adjustmens o property,
plant and equipment

Adjusted operating cash fiow generation of £146 7 mithon dunng
the year was impacted by higher than normal working caprtal
outflows and higher capital expenditure, resulting in an adjusted
cperating cash flow conversion rate of 59%, compared with 77%
in 2017 The higher working capital outflow was mainly
attnbutable to higher recenvables driven by sales growth and recent
acquisitions, together with increased inventory manly due to the
wrung of recogrutan of large projects and complex instaltations
for completion in 2019 and advance purchases of irited supply
companents The higher capital expenditure resulted from higher
nvestment at Millbrook, together with capitat expenditure from
acquisitions dunng 2018, aimed at secuning future growth

Capntal expenditure 5 expected to be at a similar level in 2019

Average trade working capital {the monthly average of the sum

of inventory, trade recevables, trade payables and other current
trading net assets), expressed as a percentage of sales, decreased
by 0 Spp to 11 4% (2017 11 9%) Excluding acquisitions, disposals
and foreign exchange, the LFL reduction in average trade working
caprtal was 0 dpp, wath iImprovements across all segments, aside
from Test and Measurement which experienced lower sales
Decreases were mast notable in the ndustnal Controls segment,
with improvements in mventory management at both Red bion and
Omega In the Matenals Analysis segment, higher sales drove the
reduction and in In-hne Instrurnentation, Servomex and BTG
contnbuted to the better performance The year-end trade working
capital to sales ratic increased by O 6pp from 14 0% m 2017 to

14 6% n 2018

Capital expenditure {net of grants} on property, ptant and
equipment and mntangible assets dunng the year of £94 1 mition
{2017 £73 1 mullon) equated to0 5 3% of sales (2017. 4 8%,

and was 267% of adjusted depreciation and software amortisation
(2017 240%)
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FINANCIAL REVIEW continued

Non-operating cash flow

2018 2017
£m £Em

Tax pad (377) @79
Net interest paid (8.8) ()]
Dividends paid (68.2) (632}
Acquisition of businesses, net of
cash acquired {196.4) (365)
Acquisition-related costs paid (10 8) (28
Praceeds from disposal of businesses, net of
tax pad of £0 6§ multhion (2017 £19 O mdhian} 43.8 g1 g
Loan to joint venture (0.9) -
Restructuring costs paid {86) (168)
Share buyback (100.5} -

Exercise of share options a7 Q5

Foreign exchange {5.9) (6 2)
Total non-operating cash fiow (393.3) (842
Adjusted operating cash flow 146.7 1846
(increase)decrease in net debt (246.6) 1004

Financing and treasury

The Group finances its operations from both retained earmings
and thwed-party barrowings, wath g broadly even spht aof the
year-end gross debt balance between fixed rate and floating
rate borrowings

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had £814 4 milon of
commtted facilities denomimated in different currencies, consisting
of a five-year $800 million (£625 & mithon} revolving credit facility
matunng m july 2023 {with two one-year extension options, subject
10 approval by the lenders, which, if exercised, would extend the
matunty 1o July 2025), a seven-year €94 8 million (£84 8 million)
term loan maturing n October 2020, and a seven-year

€116 2 milkion (£104.0 million) term loan maturing In September
2022 £467 9 million of the revolving credit faciity was undrawn

at the year end In addron, the Group had a year-end cash balance
of £73 1 milkon, bank overdrafis of £S5 8 milkon and vanous
uncommitted facilities available

At the year end, the Group’s gross borrowings amounted

to £370.2 million, 51% of which was at fixed mterest rates
(2017 99%) The ageing profile at the year end showed that 6%
(2017 1%} of year-end borrawings are due to mature within one
year, 23% (2017 nil} between one and bwo years, and 71%
between two and five years (2017: 99%)

Overall, net debt increased by £246 6 milhon (2017 decrease

of £100.4 mtion) from £50 5 milkon to £297.1 milbon Net bank
nterest costs were covered by adjusted operating profit 37 times
{2017. 56 times)

Currency

The Group has both translational and transactional currency
exposures Translagonal exposutes anse on the consoldation

of overseas company results into Sterling Transactional exposures
anse where the currency of sale or purchase invoices differs from
the functional currency in which each company prepares 1ts locat
accounts The transactional exposures include situations where
foreign currency denorminated trade recewables, trade payables
and cash balances are held

After matching the currency of revenue with the currency of costs
wherever practical, forward exchange contracts are used to hedge
a proportion of the remaining forecast net transaction flows where
there 15 reasonable certamty of an exposure At 31 December 2018,

30 Annual Report and Accounts 2018

approxmmately 59% of the estimeated net Euro, US Dollar and
lapanese Yen exposures for 2015 were hedged using forward
exchange contracts, mainly against the Swiss Franc, Sterling,
the Euro and the Danish Krane

The largest transiational exposures are to the US Dollar, Euro,
Danish Krone, Japanese Yen and Swiss Franc Transiatonal
exposures are not hedged The tables below show the average
and closing key exchange rates compared with Sterling

2018 2017
{average)  (average} Change
US Dotlar (USL) 134 i 29 4%
Eurg (EUR) 1.13 114 {1%)
lapanese Yen (JPY) LY 145 1%
Swiss Franc (CHF} 1.31 127 3%
2018 207
{tlosing) {doung} Change
Us Dollar {UsD) 1.28 1135 {(5%)
Euro (EUR) 112 113 (1 %)
Japanese Yen {JPY) 141 152 (79%)
Swass Frang (CHEF) 126 132 (5%}

During the year, currency translation effects resulted 1n operating
profit being £0 1 midiion fower (2017 £5 9 mithon higher) than

it would have been if calculated using pnor year exchange

rates Transactonal forergn exchange gans of £2 1 miion

(2017 £2 1 mithon koss) were induded in adrminmistrative expenses,
whilst sales include a loss of £1 4 milion (2017 £1 1 milkon loss)
ansing on farward exchange contracts taken out to hedge
transachional exposures in respect of sales.

Brexit

The Group operates in a range of end-user markets around the
world and may be affected by Brexit developments n the future
Mit:igating actions have been put in place through an enhanced
anafysis induding stress testing for Brexit to determine severe but
plausible potential scenanos and the Group 1s continuously
mondonng events as explained in the Pnncipai Risks section on
page 34 As part of this analysis, managernent has considered
the measurement impact on the Group's balance sheet
Although the outcome of Brexit 1s difficult ta quantidy,

we do not expect the direct consequences of Brexit to have

a matenal impact to the Group

Dividends

The Board 15 proposing to pay a final dimdend of 40 5 pence

per share (2017 37 § pence} which, combined with the intenm
dwidend of 20 5 pene per share (2017 19 0 pence), gwes a total
ddend of 61 0 pence per share for the year (2017 56 5 pence),
an increase of 8% The dwdend s covered 2 7 times by adjusted
earrungs and s consistent wath our policy of making progressive
dwdend payments, based upon affordability and sustainability

In deterrmining the level of dividend n any year, the Board
considers a number of factors that influence the proposed
dmdend, including the level of distributable reserves in the
Company, future cash commitments and investment needs to
sustan the long-term growth prospects of the Group and the
fevel of dividend caver

Clive Watson
Greup Finance Director
15 February 2019



RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk

MANAGEMENT

We recegnise that effective management of nsk is essental for
delivenng our strategic objectives As such, nisk management 1s built
Mo oW Jay-to-day management activities and forms an integral
part of haw we operate

Committed to managing risk effectively

The Group has a3 well-established process which delivers visibility
and accountabihty for nsk management across our businesses
This process forms part of the Group’s overall internal control
framework, as descnbed on page 57

Risk management process

Our appfoach to risk management incorporates both bettom-up
and top-down elements 1o the identification, evaluation and
managernent of nsks and all nsks are evaluated with reference to
the Group's actveverment of 1ts strategic objectives, as outhined on
pages 14 and 15

Our business units are required to undertake formal 11sk
managerment reviews at least twice a year This snvolves the use
of a conuistent framework for the assessment of significant risks
with respect to rmpact, bkelihood and the time frame in which
the nsk could matenalise Risks are assessed both before and after
the effect of controls and mitigating actions have been taken

e 3CCOunt

Overall ownerstup for each nsk, together wath responsibility

for miigating actions, 15 clearly assigned and communicated

The resuiting nisk registers are then subject 1o review on an
ongoing basis as part of regular operational rewews This ensures
that nsk management 1s embedded in day-to-day management
processes and decision-making as well as in our annual strategic
plarming cycle

]

Oversight

In addition, the Executive Committee and key functional

personnel In the Group consider those nsks to the Group's strategic
objectives winch are not addressed within the business units and
develop appropriate approaches to managing and mitigating these
These Group principal risks are anatysed against a ‘lines of defence’
framework, as illustrated below

The overali effectveness of the Group’s sk management and
mitigation processes 15 rewawed regularly by the Executive
Committee and twice yearly by the Audit and Risk Commuttee

Each principal nsk 1s assigned to @ member of the Executive
Comrmuttee as its owner The nisk owner 1§ accountable for the
assessment of the nisk, identthcation of the nsk scenaros,
development and momitonng of key nsk indicators and planning
or maintaining of resgective mitigations in assessing eacht poncipal
nisk, the nsk owner has also considered the nisk appetite, which
deterrmines the amount of nisk that the Group is wiling to take
on as a consequence of existing business activities and new
opportunities Each principal risk 15 given an overall assessment,
which regresents the combination of profit impact and likelihood
once all existing mitigations are taken Into account Both the nsk
appetite and overall assessment 15 prowded for each prnapal nsk
on pages 32 10 36

Recognising the complexity and importance of the prinaipal nisks, in
2018 the Group imbated a senes of focused nsk sessions to be held
wath either the Executive Commutiee, Audit and Risk Commuttee

or Board These sessions wilt continue throughout 2019

Overall responsibility: Audit and Risk Committee
» Determining the Group's nsk appetite

+ Oversight of the Group's mternal control and nsk
management framework

]

First line of defence: Business units
» Day-to-day ownership of nisk management

v Shaping policy and control framework

+ Monitonng and oversight of risk management
by business units

Second line of defence: Key Group functions/programmes and Executive Committee

» Evaluation of nisks impacting the Group as a whole

Third line of defence: independent assurance

v Assurance over the effectiveness of the internat controt
and nsk management {ramework

Spectris plc 3
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Managing our

PRINCIPAL RISKS

The effective management of risk 15 important for delivering our strategic
cbjectives As such, risk management i1s built into our day-to-day
management activities and forms an integral part of how we gperate

Acquisitions

Strategy execution

Risk appetite: Balanced
Assessment: Moderate

seole!

Risk appetite: Balanced
Assessment: Moderate

EECEEIT

Integration of the operations and personnel of acquired
businesses can be a complex process Potental risks therefore
exist that the planned benefits from the acguisition may not be
achieved as 3 result of problems encountered dunng integration
of the acquired business, incorrect assumptions made in the
business case, changing market candrtions, or 1ssues which
were not identified dunng the due diligerce process Further,
the Company could be exposed to past acts or omissions

of the acquired business

impact

v Failure to successfully delver the business plan

» Reduced profitabikty and cash flow

» Undoreseen liabyhilies

Mitigation

» Rigoraus hnancial, cormmercial and legal assessment

of target businesses invohling external consultants and
advisers as appropriate

Stnct authorty feveis which, subject to size, mvolve review
by the Board lor such transactions

v Comprehensive representations and warranties
in purchase agreements

Integration planning

> Regular review of the acquired businesses against
the bustness case

» Post-acquisition control reviews

2018 update

Our acquisttion activity durtng 2018 has included the expansion
of test serwice capabiies for Matenals Analysis and accessing new
markets via the acquistion of Concept Life Sciences We have
heen careful to maintain our financiai, commercial and fegal due
diligence and disciphines, which has meant that we have also
excluded ourselves from a number of potential acquisiions

We have tecently recruited an Integration Manager 10 strengthen
Qur capabilities with regard o integrating new acquisitions and
merging operating companies within our Matenals Analysis and
Test and Measurement segrments
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The Group 1s currently undertaking a strategic review Progress
and wwhal conclusions from the review are set out on page 10
The Group considers that there s inherent nsk assotiated with
the successful execution and delivery of the Group's strategic
prionties, and that managing this nisk 15 of increased 1mportance
dunng a penod of strategic rewew and transtion

Some of the specific nsks and mmgations assooated with the
Group's strategic pronties are managed wa thewr own prncipal
nsk, for example competitive activity, how we develop new
products and how we acquire other businesses Neveriheless,
the Group recognises the importance and value of managing
stratege execution risk n s own nght

impact

» Failure to realise the Group’s growth plans

+ Faiure to realise the Group's plans for enhanced profitability
> Reduced capital retumns and cash flow

Mitigation

Greater tocus on performance management, capial allocauon
and shareholder value creation

Simphfying the business to focus on scalable platform
businesses, strongly ahgred to attractive hugh growth end
markets with the strongesl capabrihes

Independent support and assurance m the development

of the strategy

Drrve profitabiity through the cycle via a strong focus

On MAgN expansion

> Profit improvement programme initiated

» Operating leverage from organic revenue growth

» Lean operaung model and system

» Developing a clear strategy activation programme - aligning
the organisaticn and cufture with the new strategy programme
Enabling the capabiines of our Jeaders and future leaders

to drive successful execution

2018 update

> Strategi revsew initiated i the fourth gquartes

> New profit improvernent programme witiated in the
fourth quarter

-




Key:

Link to strategy Risk appetite
innovatve solulions Highly cautious
1) Market presence Cautious

Assessment Change in risk level

Very low e Higher
Low @ Same

Expanding globally Balanced wModerate . e Loveer
Operabonal excellerce Opporturistic Hgh
Capital deployment Highky apponumstc Very high
L.
Eeople Compliance with laws and regulations J

0 Risk appetite: Cautious
Assessment: Moderate

EER

Assessment: High

e l Risk appetite: Highly cautious

Fhe Group needs to attract, develop, motivate and retain the nght
people to achieve our operational and strateqic targets Effective
1alent management 15 essential to successfully delivering our
current business requirements and strategic goals, and to reaksing
the full potential of cur businesses Therefore, failure to attract,
retain or deploy talent could signifrcantly impact the successful
execution of our strategy

impact

v Loss of knowledge/expertise

1 Business disrupton

» Lost investment in people

Mitigation

) Structured recrustment processes for senior and Group talent

v Organisational capability review processes in effect.

v Group executive-level succession planning

s Staff turncver reporting

2018 update

We recognise the heightened importance of managing people
sk duning a penod of strategic review and transformation

As a consequence, we have rased our assessed risk level and the
follownng addiuonal mitigations were planned and introduced in
2018 with further rollout durnng 2019

» Group HR information system

» Enhancements to Group approval/governance process covenng
all senicr bures

> Assurance over key implemented mitigations

We gperate n a large number of junsdictons and, consequently,
are subject to wide-ranging laws and regulations

Any failure by the Group or its representatives to comply wath
refevant laws and regulations could resutt i Cl of cirunal
habiites, ieading to significant fines and penalt:es or the
disqualification of the Group from participation in
government-related contracts for a peniod of time. in the
event of a falure to comply with expart control regulations,
the Group could alse be exposed to restrnictions being placed
upon its ability to trade

Impact
+ Reduced sales, proftability and cash flow.

» Reputational damage

» Daversion of management resources resulting
i lost opporturuties

» Penalties ansing from breach of laws and regulations

» inabilty to attract and retain talent

Mitigation

» Strong cuftural ahgnment to the Spectns value
of ‘Absolute integnty’

» Internal control framework and policies

» Ethics training provided to all employees

» Formal export controis comphance procedures in place,
including strict product dassdication and transaciion
screeming protocols

» Comprehensive insurance covers all standard categores
of insurable risk

» Contract review and approval processes mitigate exposure
10 contractual habiity

2018 update

Yhe comphance burden on the Group has heightened given our
geographical concentration i areas that have seen an increase
n regulatory risk duting 2618 An ethics and comphance
enhancement programme was endorsed by the Audit and Risk
Commuttee it October 2018 and 15 expected to deliver further
rmitigation strengthering over the next 24 months We continue
to be responsive to tssues raised through the Spectris hotline

For details of our ethics pragramme., see page 39

Spectns plo i3
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES continued

New product development

Political and economic risks S

@ Risk appetite: Balarced
Assessment. Moderate

@@

e Risk appetite: 8alanced
Assessment: Moderate

The development of new technoiogies and products necessanty
nvolves risk, including

» the product being more expensive or taking ionger 1o develop
than onigmally planned,

» the product faing to reach the commerciaisation phase, and

» not meenng market requirements or market
requirements changing

Impact
v Reduced profitabibity and cash fiow

+ Loss of market share

» Fallure 1O recoup investment i innovation

Mitigation

1 Regular strategic evaluations of product portfolios and the
markets in which we compete

1+ Project management disaplines are in place across our product
development programmes and audits provide assurance that
these disCiplines are appired consistently

» Regular monitonng of project pragress and performance
aganst plan

» Warking ciosety with custorners 10 ensure that we develop
salutions tadored to ther specific needs

2018 update

Dunng 2018, the Group has enhanced its focus on vajue-drivers
product design, product portfolic management and prajec
managerment The latter has resulted in the establishment of

a specal interest group comprised of operating company and
function representatives The Group has already made progress
in drving consistent and good practices in project Management
methodologies and tools

In addition, the Group has put 1n place a dashboard reporung
process designed to monitor key performance and nsk indicators,
such as return on iInnovation and speed of Innovation
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We operate in a range of end-user markets around the world
and may be atfected by poiltical, econarmc or regulatory
developments in any of these countries Matenal adverse changes
n the political and economic environments in the countnes in
which we operate have the potential to put at rsk our ability

10 execute our strategy

Impact

» Reduced sales, profitabiiny and cash flow

Mitigation

> Mantain a broad spread of markets, products and customers
to hrmut nisks associated with any given terntory

» Market monitoring so that we can respond quickly 1o changing
trading conditions

Ensure we mantan a sirong balance sheet and
financial positon

2018 update

While the Group's balanced geographical mix, with similar
exposure 10 North America, Europe and Asia, enables it to

benefit from an wnprovement 1n trading condmions in each region,
two particular nsk scenanos have increased i potential impact!
ikeihood

Uncertainty as to the outcome of Brexit and the prospect

of 'no-deal’ Duting 2018, the Group's focus has shifted
towards the ‘no-deal’ scenana. The Group has wdentihed an
extensive Iist of potential nsks Therr associated mitigations are
being conunuously monitored to ensure the effective
rmanagement of nsk dunng this dynamic perod Mitigations
include amending provissons within our commeroal contracts
andd seeking approvals from alternative regulatory authonties
to cantinue to operate in the EU/UK

Risk assoniated with the escalation of tanff measures between
the USA and China has also required focused moritonng and
mytigation Working with each of the Group’s businesses in
Chuna, an assessment has beert made as 10 the annualsed
impact of the proposed tanffs. In addhon, separate
assessments have been made with respect to the antCpated
impact of tantts on US imports from China Mitigations in place
include the use of alternatives for US-based businesses with
China-based supphers, as well as proactive fiing for exempuoens
from US tanfl increases on imports




Competitive activity

Supply chain dependencies and disruption

e Risk appetite; Balanced
Assessment: Moderate

@ @

@ Risk appetite: Cautious
Assessment: Low

uoday ybatens

The nature of the markets in which we operate means that ail
of aur businesses are exposed to risk from competitor activity

Impact
» Loss of market share

» Reduced financa! peformance
» Price and/or volume ercsion as a result of compettor activities
Mitigation
v Ongoing monitenng of compettor activity and trends
in the markets 1 which we compete

v Maintain market-leading positions through strong customer
relationships and sigrificant investment in R&D

» We have a diversified portfoho of products and markets that
fwmets the overall nsk from any single competitor

2018 update

We maintained high levels of smvestment in R&D {typically 6-7%
of sales), with our operating companies bringing new products
and solutions to market dunng the year to sustain and strengthen
our strong customer relatonships and competitive advantages
Whie our assessment of this risk for 2018 has shghtly increased,
planned enhancements 1o actmties In rew product development,
speafically in product management and the management of
speed and agihty of innovation, will further contribute to the
mivgation of this risk

Fluctuations in exchange rates

@ Risk appetite: Balanced
Assessment: Moderate

@ @

We have operations which selt and purchase goods in foreign
currencies and whose results we record n a vaniety of different
currencies We are therefore exposed to any sigrificant changes
i exchange rates

Impact
> Unexpected vanations in the Company's results

» Reduced profitabiily and cash flow

Mitigation

y Natural hedging strategy, matching nvoicng and purchasing
currencies where practical

v Forward foreign exchange contracts cover up to 75%
of forecast transachonal exposwes up to 18 months ahead

1+ Foreign currency Investments hedged with borrowings in the
same currency wherever posaible

> Reguiar momitanng, including sensitnaty analyses o
understand the impact of exchange rate movernents on
the Group’'s reporting

2018 update

» bmplerrentation of new treasury management system in 2019
will improve manitoring and complance with the Group's
uansactional hedging pohicy

We are exposed to the nsk that some of the components we
source, particularly for custom-built items or agemng products,
are provided by a single suppher and are therefare vulnerable
10 inteffuption of supply

Qur businesses also manufacture cormponents usng proprietary
technologies at a number of locations

Qur abifity 10 supply products to customers could be adversely
impacted by a significant disruptive event at any of these sites

Impact

r Inability to fulfit custormer orders, resulting in lost sales and
reputational damage

> Increased costs redduce profitability

s Loss of market share

Mitigation

v Strategic sourcing teams sowce cost-effective supplhers across
a range of markets whilst validating supplers’ business
processes, quabity and standards

»  Alternative sources of supply actively sought te reduce
dependency upon single-source suppliers

» Business interruption Insurance

» Strong contract review process

2018 update

We continued to identify and quakfy secondary sources of supply

where key dependencies have been identified The Group Vice

Pressdent Supply Chain (recruited in 201 7) continues to drive the

following

» Enhanced focus on the Group's cntical supphers based on
specialist independent spend analysis

s Streamhning of previously fragmented vendor relationships into

fewer, giobal, agreements

Onving benefits out of the existing procurement projects
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES continued

Intellectual property

[ Information security

Risk appetite: Cautious
Assessment: Very low

®@OO | ®

in support of the Group's business model to provide
technologically-advanced solutions 1o nts customers, the Group
has contmued to take a holistic approach towards inteilectual
property protecuion and managemert The Group owns and
registers patents and trademarks and maintans trade secrets,
configential infarmation and copyright as well as explorung
inteflectual property through licensing

The key nsks are that the Group may nadvenently infringe
third-party nghts and that the Group may not hoid sufficient
nghis to prevent competitors independently developing simitar
products There are also risks that inteliectual property may be
lost through falure to implemnent controls 1o safeguard
confidential information of actively manage registered
intellectual property tights

impact
» Reduced profitabiny and cash flow

» Loss of market share

+ Failure to recoup investment in innovation

Mitigation

» Pohioes and procedures in place requinng alt of our
businesses to

v mamtan a watching bnef on new third-party patent
applications and competitor actaty,

» ensure adequate protection for key inteliectual propenty,
including regisiration where appropnate,

undertake specific freedom-to-operate techrical reviews prior
to tommencing new product development, acquisitions of
hcences, and

register inteflactual property where appropriate

2018 update

The Group continues to undertake intellectual property
audits and facilitates operating company self-assessments
wath a view to monitonng miligation and key nsk indcators
n governance, software, internal and external

infarmaton protection

-
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Risk appetite: Cautious
Assessment: Moderate

®OO0 | @

As with mast organisations of & simidar size and complexity,

cur businesses face both internal and external information secunty
nsks, the nature and complexity of which are constantly changing,
becoming mose sophisticated and unpredictable In addition,

the introduction of reguiatory requirements, such as the General
Dala Protection Regulation {'GOPR', which came nfo force in
May 2018}, requires that we continue to develop our processes
and mitigations so that they remain effective and compliant

Impact

» Delay or impaq on decssion-raking through lack of avarlable
rehable data or disruption of service

v Loss of commerciafly-sensitive or personal information

» Reduced service to customers due to poor information handiing
or interruption of business

Mitigation

» Our businesses employ a number of phyucal and logical control
measures designed to reduce the risk of a breach in mformation
securty ansing

» Our systems are momitored aganst unauthonsed access

» A programme of continuowus improvement focusing
on information security risks evaluates whether the
Group's existing controls in this area would benefit from
additionat strengthening

» Employees recene onhine and face-to-face awareness training
of information secunty nsks and controls

Cyber nsk and secunty is reviewed regularly by the Board

10 address the evolving landscape

2018 update

The Group (T function continues o increase the matunty

at our pperating companies in respedct of data dassification,
patch management and vulnerability management A new Chief
infarmation Officer joned Specins n November 2018, who will
continue to refing and drve both the ongoing risk assessment
and the exising and planned mitigation actmty

During 2018, the Group Head of Infarmation Risk Gavernance
filled three new posinons in the Information Risk Governance
team o add further strength

A Group [T Assurance Manager has aiso joined the Internal Audit
function and will be a key third kne of defence in 2019, delvening
a plan of n-house assurance against the T general controls in
place across the Group and other nsks associated with business
systemns and information security



VIABILITY STATEMENT

Viability

STATEMEN

In accordance with prowision C.2.2 of the 2016 UK Corporate
Governance Code, the Directors have assessed the viability of the
Company over a three-year penod, taking into account the Group’s
current pasition and the assessment of the pnncaipal nsks and
untertanties as set out on pages 32 to 36

The Directors have determined that a three-year penod 1o

31 December 2021 constitutes an appropnate penod over which
to provide 1ts Viability Statement The selection of thss penod for
the assessment is supported by the following considerations

> The approach taken by our peers.

» The Group budgeting, forecasting and strategic planning cycles
The matunty of the Group's crecht facilities

» The assessment of our operating comparny and Group

principal nsks

The variety of industry cydes and geographies that our businesses
gperate within

-

In considering an assessment beyond three years, we have weighed
the benefits of such an extended projection against the decrease in
data avadabiity and the reliabiity of predcting events, both of
which decrease exponentially beyond three years

The Directors have considered the above and believe that this
supports the selection of a three-year penod over which the
Viabihity Statement 15 made, presenting users of the Annual Report
with a reasonable degree of confidence while sull prowding a
longer-term perspective

The Dectors carned out a robust assessment of the pnncipal risks
facing the Group, Including those that could threaten its business
model, future performance, solvency or hquidity This assessment
wag made with reference to the Group’s current position and
praspects, the Group's strategy and the Group's principal nisks,
Including how these are managed, as detailed on pages 31 to 36

In considering the Group's prospects, the Directors also noted the
broad spread of markets, products and customers mantaned by
the Group This natural dwersification prowvdes mitigation agamst
the rsk of a serious econamic downturn in a particular market or
the fnisks assoaated with dependence on a speafic sector or
Customer. At the samme time, the Directors noted the Group's strong
hinanciat position coupled wath its ability 10 react promptly in
adyusting our cast base i the event of a matenal change in the
trading envirenment

Simdarly, i making the assessment, the Directors also considered
the ability of the Group te raise finance and deploy capital in the
context of the prnaipal sources of facility for ¢redn, the maunty of
those facilines, the Group's ability to re-finance debt as nt falls due
ang the overall fevel of headroom available

While the review encompassed all of the principal nsks identified
by the Group, the following were focused on for enhanced analysis
(nchuding stress testing} pohtical and economie, comphance with
laws and regulations, and fluctuations in exchange rates

woday Jbajels

The following severe, but plausible, potential scenarnos were
analysed
> A ’‘no-deal’ Brexit outcome, gving nse to

> Weakening Sterling against the Euro and Dollar

> A decling i sales across the UK and Europe

» An extensve vanety of operationat and admunisirative
events that wpact our ndimdual operating companies and
have been documented through the work of our Brexit
Steenng Comrnittee

The impact of existing tanffs, and planned additional tanffs,
on trade between the USA and China, leading to a dechne
in sales across both markets

> The transtauonal foreign exchange impact of major movements
and volatiity n key Group currencies (Sterling vs the Euro and
the Doilar)

v A combination of all three of the above risk scenarnos and
a conseguential global recession simitar 1o 2009

v A marked economic siowdown or downturn in the
Chinese economy

» tegalfregulatory breaches — modelling a fall in sales volumes
ansing from a theoretical debarment from operating 1n cerlan
key markets

Mmigations considered as part of the stress testing included cost

reduction, a reduction in the Group's dradend, a reduction in

capiial expenditure and re-hnanaing of the Group's credit faaiities

The resuits of the above stress testing demonstrated that the Group
would be able to withstand the impact of each of these scenarios
matenalising over the course of the assessment penod This isin
part due to the Group's operating model and crgamsational
structure whuch gives it the ability 16 respond rapidiy i the event

of heightened risk in the external envronment, and also partly due
to the Group's hinancial posiion and access to additional funds

Based on thes assessment, the Directors confirm that they have
a reasonable expectation that the Group will contmue in
operation and meet #s habwhties as they fall due over the penod
t0 31 Decemnber 2021
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SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

GLOBAL

sustainable growth

I'm very pleased to see the focus being
given to ethics and integrity. We will
continue to ensure these foundationatl
elements underpin our day-to-day
behaviours as they are the bedrock

on which to build future success. I

Andrew Heath
Chiet Executive

Recognising our role in global industry

Thus report outlines how the Group's sustainability objectives help
us 1o be a responsible global business. managing our relationstups
and interactions with stakeholders to support our strategy

Al Specins, we recogmise the pnncipal stakeholders in our global
networks shareholders, our people, regulators, customess,
supplers and the commumities within which we operate These
prinapal stakeholders are presented in the graphic below, together
with the key issues they expect us 1o consider when setting strategy
and managtng its execunan Our belet s that by pasitively and
actively managing these elements we create value and the Board
considers all stakehalders n its decisioni-making
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Se¢ the following pages tor
mare information

Cuhure 7, 3%
Caprtal resurns 9, 16, 30
Shareholders 7

Qur business supports the improvement of the productinty

of our customers, 1o enable themn to work more efficently

Our monnonng solutions reduce waste in production ines, our
data analytics soluhons identify efficiency opporntunibies, and ouwr
use of predictive modeting supports the elimmaton of tnal and
error in research and development Ip this way, we dehver
enhanced value for our customers, consequently drving our Gwn
eCoRGMIC success, and support 8 poasitive mdirect reduction in the
erwironmental impact of manufacturing.

in the spirt of our vatue of restless innovation, we conunyously
review and nvest in ways o improve the Group's aperating
ethaency to ensure that we carry out business in an efficient,
sustainable way Being recognised as a responsible global business
15 important, 1o protect and enhance our reputation and 10 allow
us to buid strang, trusting refatonstups  Thes promotes the
long-term success of the Group

We are proud to have been a constituent of the FTSE4Good
index Senies since W was founded n 2001, FTSEAGood 15 an equity
index senes designed to measure the performance of companies
demonstratng strong environmentaf, social and governance
practices and faahtates investment in companies that meet
globally-recognised comorate responsibility standards

Specins was secently ranked n Corporate Kmights' *2019 Global
100 Most Sustainable Corporations in the World' index, achieving
20% clean revenue with lop quartile performance on waste,
wnavation capacty and employee retention

Board accountability

The Board has averal! responsibility for sustainability matters but
the day-to-day management of sustainabiity 1 led at an operating
cormpany level with the operating comgpany presdents respansible
for taking appropriate acton within their businesses to manage and
promaote sustainability considerations The Group Executive team

1s tasked with challenging and supparting intiatives and promoting
cross-operating company synergies, where appropnate

Developments rade by operating companies, including nsks and
opportumties, are reviewed on an ongoing basis by the Board
within the context of the overall Group strategy and the Board
also considers the Group's sustainabity framework at 2 hobstic
fevel on an annual basis 1n hight of these nsks and opportunities

In support of 1ts considetatron of stakeholders, the Board
acknowiledges its role in shaping, montonng and overseeing
culture, as well as ensunng afignment between our values, strategy
and business model Culture and ethics were a regular focus of
discussion for both the Board and the Audit and Risk Committee
during 2018, with key topics including modern slavery and human
trafficking, health and safety, whistieblowing and nvestigations
and the ethwey and compliance enhancement programme

A non-financal information statement summarising the nature and location of non-tinancial disclasures within the Strategic Report
15 provided on page BO, in comphance with sectians 414CA and 414CB of the Comparues Act 2006
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Ethics

Cultuee, athics and leadership

The way we do husiness and the way we treal aur colleagues
matters to us We recognise that continually nurtunng and
developing the ethical cullure of our organisatron, ard demanding
the same high standards from our partners and suppliers, helps

0 buuld trust with all our stakeholders and supports our business
model (see page 6) and the successful execulion of aur strategy

to realie long-1erm, sustainable growlh (see page 14)

Acquisitions and comphiance with laws and regulations are two
of our principat nisks for which promoting a srang cutture,
comphance programme and internal control framewsrk are key
mitigating {actors, Fult detals of our principal risks are set outon
pages 32-36 Our pre-acquisiion due diigence ncludes
consideration of ethics and compliance matiers, and the effectve
ntegration of operations and personnel requives careful planning
and the swift adoptien of our Code of Business Ethics. Foliowing
the acquisition of Concept Life Sciences in fanuary 2018, we
immediately conducted a nisk assessment and engaqed the semar
management leam 1 emphasise eatiership responsiodity and
estabhish workstreams for ethics and compliance imegration

Evolution of ethis and comphance

in 2018, we completad an assessmant of ethics and anti-bnbery
and corrupuion nsis Tos the Group The results were considered
by the Board and in suppert of the continuous refreshment of the
programme, an Ethics and Compliance Enhancement Programme
has been estabhished which wall include deployment of sevaral
actons in 2019, including

v Launch of revised Code of Business Ethics and raining
programme,

» Group-wide ethics survey
» Revised inodent management and reporting
v New all-employee certification process.

*Our ethical leaders

Since 2011, ethis officers have been selected from a vanety of
bysihess funclions ta champicn the ethics programme within their
respective businesses and 1o act a5 a pent of contact for employees
facing ethical diemmas

In Gctober 2018, we brought together our ethies officers for

7 global conference, where we discussed key successes and
challenges, the status of giobal reguiatory comphance, our
developing strategy and the evalutan of our ethics ang compiance
programme Each ethics officer, in coflaberaton with peers, areated
a personal action plan of prionties for 2019 to dosely suppon our
businesses (o stay ahead in a ¢hanging operaiing ermronment

Evolution of oversight and monitoring activity

Delivering on ourcommitment for 2018, we have revewed and
enhanged cur oversight and monstorng activty across the Group,
ncluding Impraving incident management reporting and migrabng
resporsibility for nvestgations management frem internat audit to
the Group's new Ethics and Complhance team

Wilh renewed ridour in this partular area, we are confident
that we are well posiioned 1o guard against, and swifily resohe,
any ethical problems facing cur business in the future

Culture of openness and support

We actively encourage a cuiture of openness, engagement and
communication by integrating messaging on elhics intg our
business rmeetings al ail Jevels This ensures that employees feet
they can discuss any issues that arse 1n the course of ther work and
taise any concerns wth thes managers We is0 train ous managers
50 they feel confident to discuss these concemns, with support from
aur ethics officers

voday mBaleiig

We are proud of out commitment 10 protect the careers and
reputations of employees who repert wiongdaing, as long as
Ihey do s0.n good faith We recogrise that speaking up can be

3 difficult thing to do Consequently, we reguiarly review the
effectiveness of our mechansms for wiistiebiowing and reporting
10 ensure this process is as effecuve as posuble

Te ensure gur emplkeyees never feel solated our Deosions Guide
mobile app s available for all employees to help them tackle
chalienging deasion-making styations, wherever they are in the
world We ako have an independent hothre (spectrshotine com)
prowding a 100! for cur colleagues, business panners and other
third parties e report concerns anonymously if they wish

Reports receved brom all sources are fully wivestigated and the
results are communicated to the Audit and Risk Commitiee at
teast every sk manths Any akegation s nvestigated and resolved
and addihonal guidance, traming and moxitoring made available
of disciplinary achion taken, as appropriate The total number

of reports receved n 2018 compered 16 pnor years 15

presented below Following a siight increase in reporting in.

2017 owmg 1o a one-off voluntary disclosure programme,

it s encouraging that the level of reporting remains constent
ang that our people sull feel confident 1o report concerns

Number of whistlebk

g reports dn 2018

Continuous training and education

We have a comprehensive traning programme n place across the
Group comansng group workthops and onhne learning modules
These training elements improve awareness of the Cade of Business
Ethics, anb-bribery and cormuption, export controls, fair competiuon
and prevention of the faciltation of tax evasion Employees
complete key traning elements relevant o ther role and function
on arval as new joiners. Periodically thereafter, further raining
and other interventions are made avaltable to enhance employee
awareness of laws and regulations and promote thought and
discussion of business challenges
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SUSTAINABILITY REPORT continued

People

Our people are key o the success of our business Spectns is

a specahsed and technical business and we rely on the skills and
expertise of our highly-qualified engineers and saentists o stay
ahead n a fast-mowving world We continue to drive operational
excellence and intelligent nnovation and recognrse that our
workforce thuves in an open, positive and respectiul working
environment where they can challenge the status guo, explore new
weas and take well-reasoned and measured risks Further details of
the Group’s approach 1o the management of the People pnnaipat
risk are el out on page 33

Diversity, equality and indusion

We reciuit, develop and promote our people based on therr talent,
commutment and achievement We make every effort to ensure
that everyane 1s treated equally and farly regardiess of race, colour,

reliqion, natianal angwn, gender, sexual orentaton, age or
background or disabifity, and we have a zero tolerance policy
towards discnmination or harassment i any form if an employee
becomes disabled every effort 1s made to retain them and,

if necessary, re-train them for appropriate roles or alter thew
working enviconment. We aim to improve our current gender
balance (see table on page 41) by promoting diverse recrutment
and development within the Group's tafent gipeline Qur full
employment pakcy s published at www spectns com

The Board continues to work to improve diversity and inclusion with
focus on Group-wide talent managerent and succession planning
Detaiis of the Board diversity policy and 1ts implementation can be
found on page 49 Russell King was appomted as Workforce
Engagement Director in December 2018 to prowde the Board with
a mechanism for receiving and responding to the views of
employees Further details are contaimed on pages 50 and 51

Gender pay gap reporting

Spectrss 15 a diversified group with 2 decentrahsed operating
campany structure, with four of its operating companies
headquartered in the UK Of these, Malvern Instruments
{now part of Malvern Panalytical), Millbrock and Concept Life
Sciences have 250 or more UK employees and are required
by UK legislation to publish ther gender pay gap figures on
therr websites

Spectris pic employs fewer than 250 people in the UK and

15 therefore exempt from statutory reporung requirements
However, for the purposes of transparency and good
governance we have chosen to voluntanly disclose combined
gender pay gap figures covering UK employees of Spectrs ple,
its other matenal UK subsidiaries with fewer than 250
employees, and Malvern Panalytical and Millbrook, but
excluding Concept Life Soences as it was not a member of the
Spectns Group at the reporting date  This data was reported
in 2018 but relates 1o the snapshot date of 5 April 2017, 1n line
wath UK statutory reporting The Group intends to report on

a voluntary bas:s going forward

UK employee gender split

Median pay gap - calculated by establishing the exact middie point between
the lkowest and highest pard femals employee ard the lowest and highest pad
male employee and comparng the two figures

Mean pay gap - calculated by drding the totaf hourfy pay of ail female
employees by the number of females, domg the same for the male employees
and comparmg the two figures

Medran bonus gap - calcuiated by establshing ihe exact muddie point
behween the lowest and highest bonus value pad 10 female employees who
recesved a bonus dunng the 12 months Lo 5 Apal 2017, estabbshing the same
iy respect of male employees who recenved a bonus dunng the same penod
and companng the two figures

Mean bonus gap - caliulated by dmding the 10124 bonuses paid 1o female
employees dunng the 12 months to 5 Apnt 2017 by the aumber ol femakes
who receved a bonus, dong the same for the male employees and companng
e two figures

Bonus proportions - calculated by () dvding the number of female employees
who were paxd @ borkss dunng the 1.2 months to 5 Apal 2017 wath the tatat
rumber of female employees, expressed as a parcentage and (i) dividing the
number of male employees who were pard 3 bonus dunng the same penod with
1he 1ot2} number of male ermployees, expressed as a percentage

Distinct from the concept of egual pay, the gender pay gap s
an average figure showing the difference between the average
hourly pay rates for UK femate employees compared to male
employees, expressed as a percentage of male employees’
average salary, irrespecuve of role or level in the organisation

The combined results for Spectnis plc and its UK companies were
based on 1,196 UK employees (of whom less than 20% were
fernale) and showed

AL S Apnl 2017 snapshot date

Median Mean
Hourly gender pay gap 9 49% 1352%
Gender bonus gap 15.41% 30 39%

Female Male
Bonus proportion 60 25% 48 02 %

We are confident thal men and women are pad equally for
doing equivalent jobs but the evaluation of the UK gender pay
Gap confirms that, rather than being driven by a pay ssue, our
gender pay gap s drven by the structure of our workforce and
an imbalance in the number of male and female employees in
senior roles. Although the results are below the 2017 UX
national gender pay gap median and mean figures of 18 4%
and 17 2%, respectively, and in iine with the sector in which we
operate, we are committed to improving our gender pay and
bonus gaps and have already implemented a number of actions
to address gender pay and wider diversity, summansed below

Actions implemented in 2018

v Family-friendly policies offering enhanced maternityfpaternity
pay, parental leave and flexble working policy are i place at
Maivern Panalytical, Milibrook and Concept Life Scrences
Further embedding of ngorous recruitment processes to
ensure bias-free recruitment with the rofiout of tooliots and
trairing for recruiting managers

Regular industry salary benchimarking and mortonng of pay
to identify pay differences and remedial acuons
Strengthened lnks with local colleges and schools to
encourage female students into science, technology,
engineenng and mathematics {'STEM') careers

Future actions

y In 2019, the remit of the Remuneration Committee wll
extend to overseeing remuneraton and dversity pohCes and
practices in respect of the wider workforce

» The Group has initiated a serwor women'’s network 1o
promate the interaction and development of women at
3 senior management level across the Group
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Management development at Servomex

Foliowing feedback from employee opinion surveys and
observations from the semior leadershup team, Servomex
crafted a bespoke Management Development Programme

tor its 63 managers globally The infention 15 to prowde
addonal professional development and build on existing
knowledge and skills identified as being cntcal for the delivery
of stralegy, and empower managers to deal effectively wath
day-to-day sssues and fead continuous improvement projects,
ultimatety becoming great people managers and future leaders

The first two modules were completed In 2018, with a further
two modules scheduled for 2019

Each module begins with a full day workshop i one of the
four key Servomex locations Shangha, Boston, Houston and
Crowborough After the session, each manager develops a set
of action steps to impiernent within their teams and finally
receves an individual coaching session where they can embed
learning 1n therr team This ensures all learring 1s relevant to the
actwvities of teams and builds critical competencies throughout
the organisaticn

Feedback from managers mvolved has been incredibly positive,
and they not only appreciate the support and development in
their role, but also recognise the benefits of building networks
across the business

Employees by gender and role as at 31 December 2018

Male Fernale Totat
Directors 7 2 g
Serior management 117 30 147
Other employees 6.543 2,996 9,539
Totat 6,667 3,028 9,695
% of total 69 N 100

Talent management

We have made sigrnificant progress in one of our key HR pnonties,
ensurng a robust succession far our most senior rofes across the
Group We have built on our existing talent management processes
to understand where we have the nght talent, idenufy key tafent
for pipeline roles and make informed career-planning decistons that
prepare our high-potential employees for executive positions at
Group and operating company level This approach has supported
several high-profile internal appointments durng 2018

Welibeing, development and incentives

We work hard to build a creative working environment for our
people, with scope for indvidual responsibiity and personal
achievement Our traning programmes help our employees

10 develop both personally and professionally to reach thew
full potential

We encourage our employees 1o maintain a healthy balance
between their working and personal lives and offer flexible
part-time and jcb-share opportunities to employees with family
cormmitments, wherever passible Appreciating the value of
having a happy and healthy workforce, Servomex has made
employee health and wellbeing a pronty, implementing
volunteenng and employee wellbeing policies, as well as a number
of intratrves to promote a healthwer workforce running wellbeing
weeks, completing pedometer challenges, trainmng mental health
first aiders, and promoting healthy eating and exercse to support
mental wellbeing A case study on management development at
Servomex s presented above

Ta maintan our skilled workforce, we are drving high-value,
cost-effectve tatent acquisition by wvesting in speciabist resources
and tools, enabbng us to attract, identsfy and hwe the night talent
nta the business, whilst delivenng significant efficences through
n-house recruiting methods

As part of our commitrnent to ensure fair, equrtable reward
structures and to enable transparency of career opportunities,

we have mplemented a Group-wide mitiative 1o create consistency
0 how we grade jobs across owr operating comparnes Partnenng
with Korn Ferry Hay Group, we have made significant progress i
implementing a uniform approach to job-s1zing and how this applies
to pay, organisational effectiveness and career management

Employee turnover

The table befow shows the percentage of employees leaving the
Group voluntanty A higher turnover of employees was expenenced
in 2018 a1 a ime of strategic and orgamsational evolution, but we
continue to ensure the right talent 1s maintained throughout the
Group As we head into 2019, there will continue to be change
within the crganisat:on as we implement our profit improvernent
programme and complete the strategic review We are commutted
1o supporting our people through this change

w018 2017 2016 2015 2014
14 2% 7 6% 7 2% 7 1% 59%
Human rights

Our human nghis pakcy s consistent with the Care Conventions

of the Internationat Labows Orgamization, and we comply with
nternationally-recogmsed human nghts standards at alf our sites
The policy mcludes our position on non-disciination, harassment,
pay and forced labour and all our employees are required to
complete online traiming on modern slavery and human tratficking
Human rights considerations are also inciuded in the due dilgence
process we underiake before any potential acquisiton This ensures
that before we acquire a business, we are fully informed of its
approach 0 areas such as non-discnsminabon, equal opportumities
and freedom of association Our full human nghts policy 15 available
on aur website at www Spectns com
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SUSTAINABIUTY REPORT continued

Health and safety

As a responsible employer, we take the health and safety of our
employees serously We are proud to have an excellent record

of safety in our workpfaces, but we continue to track our acaident
intidence rate as 3 key performance ndicator (see page 17 for
further details), with local health and safety managers conducting
regular audits and employee traimng and recommending
wnpravementts i warking practices to maintamm a safe waorkplace
A number of aur UK offices have achieved certfication to

OHSAS 18001

Patentat product-related heaith and safety ssues are considered
as part of the product design progess and CONtINUOUS IMprovement
programmes focused on health and safety aim 16 reduce acadents
and wunes at our sites to as low a level as reasonably practcal

in 2018, we standardised the recording of health and safety data
across the Group to conform with the gusdance of the UK Institute
of Occupanonal Satety and Health The number of reportable
accidents remains low, as shown below

Accident incidence rate
Number of reportable accidents per 1,000 employees

Environment

Our products and senvices help our custemers to reduce ther
impact on the environment We are also mindful 1o reduce our
direct impact on the environment by monoring the use of key
sources of energy {electncity, gas, ol and steam) in our continual
effort to reduce consumplion and save costs The table ta the nght
summanses our performance nr 2018 and we explore each of the
key saurces further below

Energy efficiency {energy use per £m revenue) s ane of cur key
performance indicators related 1o accelerating our operational
excellence, as detaled on page 17 This remains at a similar level
compared 16 2017, in spite of absolute energy consumption
ncreasing by 7% over the same penod due to inproved data
collechon and an expanding portiohio of business actwities The
energy cansumption table on the rnght shows that an increase

in glectricity consumption is pricnartly responsible for the increase
1n energy use, and it remains the single largest energy source for
our business

Qur carbon footpnat reduced overall due to siight iIncreases n
scope 2 and 3 emissions being offset by a large reduction in scope
1 enmissions Scope 1 emissions reduced by 34% compared to
2017, owing 1o a decrease in oil and refngerant usage and a
sgnificant drop in vehicle erissions, partly aded by our new
reporting systern which allows the mave accurate recording of
carbon footpnnt data across the Group Scope 7 emissions 1ose
shightly as a result of the increase m electniaity use described above,
although this was ritigated partfy by gnd decarborusation Scape 3
emissions increased as a resull of increased arr travel related 1o the
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EMS Bruel & Kyzer joint venture and divestrent of Micrgscan

For the Group as a whole, this results in a net 4% decrease in
greenhouse gas ('GHG'} emissions and therefore carbon emissions
per £m of revenue were brought down significantly by 11%

From 2018, the Group began to monior GHG ermissions related to
the transport of products to market Using a recognised emissions
conversion methodology, 'freight forwarding” ermssions data
captured will be used to infarm future analyss of the Group's
SCOPE 3 ermussions

ISC 14001 15 an international standard ('150°) setting out critena
for the formulation and mantenance of an enviranmenital
management system Certification to 1SO 14001 requires an
orgarisation 1o effectively manage sis environmental impacts
through commitments to pollution prevention, legal compliance
and continual improvement Approximately 60% of Spectris’ key
manufacturing operations by turniover are cerufied 10 150 14001
No enwironmental nisks have currently been assessed as being
materal to the business, however, we keep this under review
and take senously our respansibility to nunemise gur impact

and recogrise the opportuniies and nsks 1o the business of
chmate-related issues

Performance summary

Indicator 2018 2017 Change
Energy consumptton

{absolute) (MWh) 106,659 100,041 7%
Energy efficiency (MWh

per £m revenue) 66 S 672 (1%)
Greenhouse gas emissians

{tonnes CO,e) 78,280 81,604 {4%)
Tetal carbon ermissions

(tonnes CO,e per

£m revenue) 48.86 54 79 {11%)
Energy consumption

Unit of measurement - Mwh 2018 2017 Change
Electnaty 76.823 71,406 8%
Gas 10,312 10,591 (3%)
o]} 2,714 3,165 (14%}
Steam 16,613 14,168 7%
Other fuels 197 711 (72%)
Greenhouse gas emissions (tonnes COye)

Unit of measurement - tannes CO, equivakent 2018 2017
Scope 1 9,256 14,112
Scope 2 37,425 35,947
Scope 3 31,699 31,545
Total gross ermissions 78,380 81,604
Total carbon emissions per

£m revenue 48.86 5479

From 2018, we started to capture detailed waste data relaung

to our sites, imncluding landfill, incineration and recycing This will
providde us with a clearer picture of the physical waste that our
sites produce and the proportion of recyciing achieved by our
operatons We waill review this data penodically throughout 2019
to entfy opportumves for reducing waste

tn 2018, we launched a new online reporting tool to centralise
and streambine the caplure of all our corporate responsibility data
The tool wii enable us to conduct mare comprehansive analysis
and monitor progress against sustainability objectives at more
regular intervals throughout the year



Ricardo Energy & Enwronment { Ricarda’) has independently venfied
the data assoaated with energy consumption, GHG emissions,
company vehide and a1 miles and the accident mcidence rate

We are confident that we have appropriate systerns in place for
measunng, monitonng and reporting energy use

Following engagernent wath shareholders in 2018, we have deaded
to partipate in the Carbon Disclosure Project from 2019 onwards
We recogruse that our partiapation matters to shareholders and
wish to re-affirm our commutment to transparency and
accountability in our enviranmental reporting, including GHG
ernissions, energy, and ermissions reduction targets

Customers

We serve 3 broad spectrum of customers across a vanety of
markets QOur businesses work closely with ther customers 10
develop 3 deep understanding of thewr business, gnang us a unique
abibity 10 anuoipate and respond to therr changing needs and foster
strong long-tem refationships

The case study below descnbes a Group-wide inthiative 1in 2018
to use technology to better understand our customers and share
knowledge more effectively across the Group In addition to this,
we are developing a key account management structure wathin
aur operaung segments to further develop our solutions-selling
proposition Together, these initiatives help Spectns engage more
meaningfully with its customers to develop our relationships and
mprove gur value proposrtion, becoming and remaining the
partner of choice )

Understanding our customers

Ouw customers operate n a varety of complex, fast-paced
markets and our products and services are highly
speciabsed Really understanding our customers s critical to
the success of cur business as we work closely to develop
strong customer value propos:itians

To drve this, we are investing in sales-enablernent

100k to imprave our customners’ experience In 2018, we
continued to roll out and upgrade our Chent Relationship
Management tools to suppor our sales teams around the
world These tools enable data-drven sales and marketing
capabilities for the Group so we can identfy and respond
e Customer requrements and develop our key accounts
within and across operatng segments In 2019, we will
continue to develop our Customer engagement sirateqgy
10 build trusting, long-terrn relationships

Key external certifications and recognition

Made Sofas

Suppliers

Effective supply chamn managernent is important to gain a
competitive advantage through achieving operating eficiencies,
meeting stakeholder expectations, innovation, and compliance with
legal and regulaiory obhgations Supply chain dependencies and
disruption 15 one of our pnncipal nsks which we seek to actively
rmiugate {read our Pnncpal Risks and Uncentainties on page 35)

Cur suppler base s dwverse to reflect the operations of our vanous
businesses, which are spread around the globe Responsibiitty for
vetting and managing supphers is therefare devolved to iocal
management but must meet the Group's ethical standards
Followang the recrutment of a Group Vice President, Supply Chan,
we have initiated a detaded review of key suppher contracts and
opportunitres for standardisation across the Group Potential
opportunities for gainng efficiencies and cost savings will be
congidered in 2019

We know that our customers demand the highest standards from
us, incdluding how we manage our own suppliers. Our supply chain
management policy can be found at www spectns com We carry
out regular inspections at our suppher sites and use the SA 8000
Social Accourtability Standard to audit our key supphers against
specific criteria In 2018, we incorporated anti-slavery and conflict
minerals sections mto the SA 8000 Asia Pacdic supplier audit
process We comply fully with the rmodern slavery laws of the UK,
France and United States, and all relevant employees have the
opportunity to complete a modern siavery online training module
to ensure full understanding of our obligations and habiities

The SA 8000 standard addresses various aspects of quality
management and provides guidance and 1ools for companies to
ensure that their products and sernces consistently meet customer
reguirements, and that quality s continucusly improved Recently
updated, the new version of the standard requires that key quality
management pnnciples are embedded in the organisation All key
Spectnis global manufactuning operations are certified to 150 9001
We are very proud that we can reassure our customers of the ugh
guality of all our products

Community

We recognise that we are a major employer in many of the
locations where we are based and respect our social responsibilities
in all communities where we operate Community involvement and
decisions on chantable donations and sponsorship are undertaken
by local management teams and vary fram one company to
anothes, taking 1o account the speafic needs of the local
community

We seek 1o play 8 positive role by partipating 1n a range

of actvities and educational intiatives n schools and universities
to promote saience, technology and engineenng We alse run a
number of awards ang prograrmmes which help to support young
sCientsts starting ther careers

In line with our gifts and hospitality poiky. we do not give erther
cash or support in kind to political parties or campasgns

The Strateqic Report was a;l):oved by the Board on 19 February 2019
By order of the Board

Mark Serfbz6
Company Secretary
19 Febryary 2019

Spectris plc 43

uoday nBaeng



CHAIRMAN'S INTRODUCTION TO CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Good corporate governance 15 ¢ntical in helping to buid
a successtul business that can be sustained over the
longer term.

As Chairman, | am focused on ensynng that Spectrs has a Boarg
that works effectively and cohesively under my leadershup, with an
apprapniate balance of skills, expertise and attrbutes 1 am confident
that our governance processes, our culture of ntegnity and openness,
and a diversity of perspective promote the necessary degree of
constructve challenge The Board fully supports the Group's values
and 15 commtted o ensuning that tngh standards of ethical
behaviour and governance are mantained throughout the Group

The Corporate Governance sechion of the Annual Report follows
the format that was introduced last year and includes an At a
Glance section which sets out our compliance wath the 2016 UK
Lorporate Governance Code (the 'Code’) and a report on each
of the Comrmuttees introduced by the Commuttee Chatrmen

Appointment of Chief Executive

The Board spent significant time in 218, through the Nommation
Cormmitteg, on the search for a new Group Cheef Executive, which
resulted in the appointment of Andrew Heath The relationship
between the Chairman and the Chief Executve is a comerstane

of good gavernance, and | am delighted to have already deveioped
a positive and canstructive warking retationstip with Andrew in his
new role The search and selection process followed by the Board s
set out i detal on page 53 of this report and | would bke to thank
the members of the Nomination Commuttee and, particulardy,
Russell King, Martha Wyrsch and Bill Seeger for therr actve
participation in the process

Focus areas and activities

The Board has continued 10 focus on aeating long-term sustainable
value for pur shareholders, customers and the wider communities
n which we operate Foilowing the intiation of the Group's
strategic review and profit inprovement programme, as announced
to the market in November 2018, the Board has closely monnored
the development of the plans devised by the managerent team

A4 The Board is committed to
ensuring that high standards
of ethical behaviour and
governance are maintained
throughout the Group. #F

and we wll continue 1o work with management to review, support
and challenge the implementation of the strategy dunng 2019

In support of our review of the Group's strategy and performance,
the work of the Audit and Risk Committee continues to provide

a trn foundation from which the Board can review and assess the
effectiveness of internal controls, nsk management and compliance
processes This contributes to the success of the strategy and
informs the culture of the Group as a whole

Fallowing the publication of the 2018 UK Corparate Governance
Code. the Board has considered how the Group will comply with
the new obhigations With the suppert of the General Counsel and
Campany Secretary, the Board has developed a woskplan to meet
our new obligations and details of our planned approach are set
out on pages 5G and 51 of this report [ ook forward o updating
you on the outcomes of our workplan in the 2019 Annual Report
and Accounts

Board culture and composition

We reguiarly review the comnposition, diversity and size of the Board
10 ensure that we have the right talent to support our strategy We
recognise that diversity and inclusion are essential to our sUCCess

By ensunng that different genders, backgrounds, nationahties and
ages are represented throughout the Group, we ensure that
decsion-making is informed by a range of skillsets, experience and
cultural perspectives Details of our approach 1o succession planning
and diversity can be found on pages 49 and 52

With the exception of Clive Watson who will retire from the Board
n Aprd, all Directors will be standing far efection or re-efection at
the 2019 AGM and we ook forward t6 yaur continued support
The Board and | appreciate our nterachons with sharehaiders and
hsten carefully to all feedback | welcome your comments on this
Corporate Governance Report and on the 2018 Annual Repont
and Accounts mare generally

Mark Williamson
Chairman
19 February 2019

Corporate Govemnance Code § 't of Compliance

L

As a UK premium hsted campany, Specins plc is expected to comply, or explain any non-comphance, with the 2016 UK Corporate
Governance Code (the Code’) The Board considers that the Company comphed with the Code throughout the year ended
31 December 2018 and a fufl summary of compliance is set out on pages 58 and 59
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Board and Executive Committee structure

The governance of the Group s structured through the Board and a series of commuttees that approve, review, chalfenge and monitor the
strategies and policies under which the Group operates The structure and responsibilities of these Board and managerment committees,
and a summary of their responsibiinties, are llustrated in the dagram below

Board committees

| 1
Audit and Risk Nomination Remuneration
Responsibie for overseeing the Responsble for adwising on Responsibie for recommending
fmanaial repoarting process, succession matters and talent the policy for the remuneration
wgnificant accounting judgements management for the Board, of the Charman, Chief Executive,
and estimates, the Group’s ethies Group Executive and Group Finance Director and the
programme, tinancial and senior management Executive Commiitee
compliance controls and
nsk managemnent

Management committees

r 1
Executive Disclosure
Responsible for the day-to-day Responsible for the identfication
management of the and disclosure of inside
Group’s operations information and for ensunng that

announcements comply with
applcable regulatory requirements

Board and committee attendance
Board Board Audi and Rk Remurneration Nomnation

(scheduled) {ad hod) Commitise Cammites Commitlee AGM
Mark Williamson i 6/6 n/a n/a w7 Y
Andrew Heath  (appointed 3 September 2018) 212 3/3 n/a wa /a n/a
Chve Watson' ’ 17 5/6 na a nia ¥
Russell King 747 6/6 n/a 5/5 77 Y
Karim Bitar? 6/7 6/6 34 5/5 6/7 Y
UIf Quellmann’ 77 6/6 3/4 4/5 &7 Y
Bill Seeger 177 6/6 4/4 nfa 77 ¥
Kjarsti Wiklund 777 6/6 n/a 5/5 77 ¥
Martha Wyrsch 7 6/6 4/4 nfa 777 Y
John O'Higgins  (retired 28 September 2018} 5/5 33 n/a nfa n/a Y

1 An ad hoo meeting of the Board was held in December 20H8 1o drscuss succession planming for the role of Chief Financial Offices All Divectors attended the meetmg
with the excepron of Clive Walson who excused himsetf from the discussion

2 Kanm Bitar was unable to attend the October Audit and Risk Commuttee, Nomination Commutiee and Board meetngs due (o a competing engagement with

Genus pk where he 5 CEQ Mr Bitar provided his detailed comments on the matters to be discussed to the Chairman ahead of the meetings

Utf Quelimann was unable to attend the Janvary Remuneration Comrttee, Nomination Committee and Audit and Risk Committee meelings due to a competing

engagement with Rio Tinto where he halds an executive role Mr Quellmann prowided his detarled comments on the matters 1o be discussed to the Chavman

ahead of the meetings

[
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

T} Mark Williamson (61}
Chairman {appointed May 2017)
Nationality. British

g

Mark Wihamson  a guakdied aCCountant with 3 strong financial background combined vath considerable managenal expenence He was
drief finanoal officer of Intermational Powver pic untif 2012 and 1s axpenanced in Managng relatianships with the rwestor and finanaal
communines Pror {0 joeng irtematonal Power pik, Mark wits groug financial controler and group chuel accountant of Senan Group
He 15 also a fomner seruor ndependent non-executive dwector and charman of the awdt communtee of Alent pic

Mark s chaiman of impena! Brands pic and senor ndependent nor-executve dinector and chairman of the sudit comemuitee of Natonat
Grd pk. On 11 February 2019, Impenat Brandk pk announced that Mark would $1ep down 34 charman once 3 suitable sudcessor had
- been found

] Andrew Heath (S5}
Chief Executive (appointed Seplember 2018)
Natonality British

mmbmgsawderangeofex«utweandmwgmmmmhprwexpe«m  technology-enabled dusiesses
and a track record of sby served as CEQ of Imagmaton Technologees Group pi from 2016 10 2048

and betore that was CEQ of Akmpk Py to ws And-ew had 2 30year career with Rolls-Royce where he held a number of ntemational
and sersor Management ioles, lattery senvng a5 the president of energy from 2010 to 2015 Andrew has a BSc 1 engneenng from
Impenat College London and an MBA from Loughborough Unversity

T Clive Watson (61}
Group Finance Director (appointed October 2006)
Nationalrily- Bntish

®®

Cive Watson has conuderable finance oxpenence, having previously been dwef inancial olficer and executrve woe presidont for

business support a1 Boreals Pror 1o his, he was group finance dwector at Thom Lighting Group and group finance director Europe at
Black & Decker Clve 15 2 member of the Insutute of Chanered Accountants wn England and Wales and the Chartered nstiture of Taxation
Cn 15 January 2019 a was announced (hat Cive walf retore from the Boand no fater than | Apel 2015 followang 3 handover penod

wath Devek Harding

Ciwe i semor independent non-exeauive diector 2nd chawman of the audit commttee of Spirax-Sareo Engineering phc

T] RussellKing (61)
Senior Independent Director and Workforce Engagement Director (apponted Octeber 2010)
Nationality British

0®

Russell King has consich intermatonal expx 2 acquired Aross @ number of sectons. Mauding minesg 3nd chemicals, ogether wath
SITONg expanenca in siralegy dnd hurman resources He was reviously chuef stategy officer Of Anglo Amencan PLC and 4 non-gxectitive
duector of Anglo Matinuim Lid Pror to that, he spent more than 20 years in senor roles at IC1

Fussell s chamnan of Hummungbed Resources pic, seror ngependent non-executive direcior of intérsenve pic and an ndependent
non-executve at BDO LLP

—} Xarm Bitar (54)
Non-execuire Director {appointed July 2017)
Nationaity Amencan

@E®®

Karien Bilan has extensve expenence of teading mtematonal technology-focused organisabons He i currently cvel execulre of

Genus pi¢ Pror 1o Joimng Genus, Kanm worked for more Lhan 15 years for €1 Lilly and Company, where he was presdent of Lily Europe,
Canada and Austrakia An ex-McXisay and Company consullant, he ake heid 5 roles at Jehraon and johnson and the Dow
Chermecal Company

Kanm 1s a member of the Unversity of Michigan Ross School of Business Adwsory Board

Derek Harding, Chief Financial Officer Designate
O 15 January 2019. the Geoug anmounced Ihat Derek Harding would jorn the Board as Cief Fnancal Officer Desighate on ) March and veould succeed Clive Watson as
Cheel Financial Officer no later than 1 April 2019

Oerek bngs & wide range of financial leadership and indusiial expertise o Spectns. He most recently served 25 froup finance direcior 31 Shop Dwect Pror 10 that, Derel was group
finance director at Sensor pi from 2013 10 2017 ang before that, he was at Wiolseley pk: for 11 years, most recently as finance director of Wolseley UK He previously heid a numier
of guoup rales nduding group lnanaal contrmiler, dreciar of group strategy and investor relagons, and head of mergers and acquiskons, Derek qualiied a5 8 chartered accountant
wath PwC
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Hf Quelimann {53)
Non-executive Director {appointed January 2015)
Nationality: German

®O®

UH Crelimann has broad general rmanagement expinence and consderable knawiledge of the metals, minerals and minmng mdustry,
hawng worked in the sector for more than6 years He 15 currently the chue! executae officer of Turquosse Hel Resources Limited

{a company hsted an the Toromo and New York Stock Exchanges) Pror 10 that he was we president, stratege proects of the copper and
tharmonds grotkect group at Rio Tinto plc and, before that, cheef financul afficer of the copper and damonds product group He vvas a0
o treasurer from 2008 to 2016 He has hield seratr postions a1 Akan Inc inchuting vke presdent, svesior relabons and media
refatons, and chief pension svestment officer and aswstant treasurer, and seaiOr Management pasitans at General Motors, n bath the
usA and the UK

Bill Seeger (67)
Non-gxecutive Director {appointed January 2015}
Nationality Amencan

0®

Bill Seeger has signifacant corporate fmance and accounting expenence  hawng formeny been group finance director of GKN ple and,
prios to that. presdent and CEQ of the prapulkson systermns and speoat products dvision and CFO in the aerospace dnsion of GKN
He spent most of his career at TRW, lafterty in sern finance roles, induding as wee-presdent, financial planning and analysss, and
vice-president, finance, of TRW Autornotve

Bt 1s senior independent non-exacutve director and char of the remuneration commttee of Semiths Group pic and wsiting professor
at UCLA Anderson School of Management

Kjerstt Wiklund (56)
Non-executive Director (appointed January 2017)
Nationalhty Nonwvegian

®®

Kyerst Wiklund brings sgraficant knowledge of the international telecommuncations sector Kjerst has heid a seres, of senior global roles,
inchiding dvecior, group Technology operations at Vodafone, chue! operating officer af VimpelCom Rusua, deputy chuef exsutive offcer
and chief technalogy officer of Kyrestar 1 Ukrane, executive wee-presdent and chwe! technology officer of Digp Telecommunk ations in
Malaysa, and executve wee-presigent and chiel mtormation offices a1 Telenor i Norway Kjerst was previously 3 non -executre directon
of Lanrd ple m the UK, Crense ASA and Fast Search £ Transfer ASA in Norway and Telescrence 1nc in the USA

Kjersh 15 2 non-grecutve craqior of Babeodk ntemanonal Group ALC

Martha Wyrsch {61)
Non-executive Director (appointed june 2012)
Nationality Amencan

®O®

Martha Wyrsch has held a nummber of seniar exeeutive pasitions n the energy ndustry and has sgnificant experrence in North Amencan
markets. She cuntently holds the position of execulive vice-presudent and genveral counsel of Sempra Energy. a company quoted on the
New York Stock Exchange. Previously, she was president of Vestas Amencas, a subsidiary of Vestas Wind Systems &/5, and prar 1o that
she was president 2nd CEO of Spectra Energy Transnission. She wad pravousy a non-executre diector of SPX Corporatron

Martha is 3 direcior of the Cristo Rey Netwark (a US non-profhit educatona! foundawon), Enova, 5 A B (a Mexcan subsiiary of Sempra
Energy vath publicly-trraded shares) and a non-gxecutive director of Fest Amencan Fnancal Corporston Martha will reqre from Sempra
and will step clown from all assodated subisidiary boards on 1 March 2019

Mark Serfdz4
General Counsel and Company Secretary (appainted October 2017)

O

Mark paned Spectrs from Rols-Royce where he served a3 dvector of rsk for four years and before that ne spenl 18 years 2 BAE
Systerns plc where he held a number of senior legal posttons nduding, fattedy, the role of group dwe! counsel compliance and regulation
Mark quakfed as a sohditor in 1990 and 1$ 2 member of the Unersity College London Centre for Ethucs and Law Advasory Board

Committee membership key
@ Aucht and Resk @ Dwciosure

@ Narmnat.on @ Executive

® Rermmuneraton

. Chairman ol Committee

Membership as at 3t Decerrber 2018

Spectns plc 47

URUISACE



KEY AREAS OF BOARD ACTIMITY DURING THE YEAR

The Board 1s collectively responsible for the
long-term success of the Company. This s
achieved through the appropriate consideration
of strategic, operational, financial and risk matters
This page details the focus of the Board during
2018 n support of that responsiokty

Strategy
> Held a detailed annual strategy off-site
meeting for the Board and Executive

» Commenced a strategic rewiewy, 1o target
asset ophmisation, capital allocation and
portfoho compositron

s Rewewed the Group's operabing model,
to reduce complexity and support Lean
practices

Acquisitions, disposals and Jvs
Approved the acquisitions of Concept
Life Sciences, Revelutionary Engineenng
and Vi-grade.

-

Undertook 24-month post-acquisition
review of Miflbrook
+ Undertook a hugh-feve! review of the
Group's approach ta the mitigaton
of the acquisiton principal nsk
1 Rewiewed the Group's acquisttion
pipehne
» Oversaw the finahsation of the formation
of a joint venture with Macquane Capiral
through the divestment of 55% of the
Group's EMS Brugl & Kyzer business

Operations and risk

Recewed regular operational updates
from the Business Group Orwectors.
Atiended site wisits o Servormex and
Miflbrook facilies and recewed business
updates from the Presdents of Millbrook
and Servomex

Recewed presentations from members
of the teadership team responsibie for
Lean and Supply Chan Management.
Reviewed the Group’s principal risks and
systems for identification, management
and mitgaton

Reviewed the Group's approach to the
enthication and management of
pohtical and economic nsk

-

~
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Leadership and people

v Discussed the composition of the Board
and its Committees, including
succession planning

» Reviewed the Group’s talent pipeling and
undertook a deep dive review of diverse
candicates wathin that pipeline

» Reviewed the development of people
within the senor management
commumity, including succession
planning for sen:or leaders

Appointed a new Chief Executve

Deep dive review of the Group's pecple
prncipal nisk

Apponted Workforce Engagement
Director as Board lead for workforce
engagement

Finance

» Monitored progress against the 2018
financial plan and considered and
appraved the 2019 financral plan

» Reviewed and montored the impact and

progress of Project Uplift

Approved the Annual Report, interim

results and fullthalf-year results

presentations to analysts

Considered and approved the Group's

gong concern and vizbility siatements

Rewviewed the dwidend pohcy

and recommended the final and

ntenm dradends

> Rewviewed matenal capial expendiure
requests from operating companies

v
a
2
]
3

a

Governance and ethics

s Appontment and induction of the
new Chrel Executve

» Discussed the outcome of the 2017

wnternal Board evaluation and agreed

opportunibies for improvement

Completion of 2018 internal evaluation

of the Board, Remuneration Commuttee,

Nomination Comimittee and Audit and

Risk Commuttee, led, respectively, by the

Chairman and the Chainmen of the

Board Committees

Rewewed feedback from

mstitutional shareholders

Reviewed and approved the terms of

reference for the Board Committees

» Rewviewed and considered the Group's

response to the 2018 Hampton-

Alexander Review

Recewed updates fram the General

Counsel and Company Secretary on

developments in carporate governarice

and key legal and requlatory matters.

Regular review of ongoing

higatcn matters

Reviewed the Group's workplan to

support compliance with the 2018

UK Carporate Governance Code

Conducted regular meetings of the

Non-executive Directors without

management being present

» Undertook an annual detalled review
of the Group's ethics programme

-



BOARD ACTMITY

Board diversity policy
in 2018, the Board rewewed 11s approach 1o the promotion
of diversity and approved the following policy

“The Board 1s committed to further promoting diversity and
nclusweness of all kinds throughout the Group, regardless of
geography or postion The Board agrees that diversity, which
should be construed n its broadest sense and includes gender and
ethruc diversity, is an important factor in Board effectiveness and
the Group s a supportive participant of the Hampton-Alexander
Review which sets a target for the percentage of women on FTSE
boards and leadership tearrs to reach ane third by 2020

In support of this policy. the Company has only engaged search
firms during the year which have signed up to the Voluntary Code
of Conduct for Executive Search Fums on gender diversity and
best pracice

Dunng the year, the Nomination Committee has thoroughly
reviewed gender compositian at seniar management jevels within
the Group and also undertaok a deep dive review of diverse tatent
within the argansation and the approach of management to the
developrment of that tatent

Dunng 2019, the Nomination Committee will continue 10 review
the Group's progress aganst the Hampton-Alexander Review and
wil further consider the Group’s approach to talent management
and succession planning

Ongoing Boatd training and development

Board meetings are held regularly at our operating company sites,
giving the Board the opporturity to tour the sites, meet local
management and employees and gain an n-depth knowledge

of the Group's operations Further details of the Board's site wisits
during the year are set out below

In additon, dunng 2018 the Board received detaled overviews

of the Group's Lean prograrmme and Supply Chain Management
programme from the Group’s subject matter experts and technical
updates were also provided by the General Counsel and Company
Secretary and the Group's remuneration consultants

The Non-exetutive Directors have access to an externally-prowded
programme of raning to enable them to undenake therr own
programme of continuing professional development

Board evaluation

n accordance with current best practice and the Code, the Board
undertakes an annual formal evaluation of s performance and
effectiveness and that of each Director and its Commitiees, with
an external evaluation every three years The maost recent external
evaluation took place in 2016 and was led by Dr Tracy Long The
2017 and 2018 evaluations were yndertaken internally and were
led by the Charman The evaluations were supplemented by
indwidual evaluation exeraises for each Board Commuttee which
were managed by the relevant Committee charman A summary
of actwity undertaken by the Board duning the year in support of
the hindings of the 2017 evaluation process 15 set out below

adUeLIINOG

» Strategy and stakeholder considerations: The Board worked
closely with the new Chief Executive 1o moriutor and chalienge
the progress of the Group's strategic review and the impact of
the proposed strategy on the Group's key stakeholders,
particulariy employees, customers and shareholders

Risk management: The Board began a senes of deep dive
discusstons on each prncipal rsk during the year These deep
dive discussions wall continue as part of the ordinary Board
agendan 2019

+ Board meetings: A comprehensive Board planner was
ntroduced dunng the year to ensure that the structure and
planming of Board meetings supponed the effechive focus on key
rssues and allowed sufficient opportunites for open dialogue and
debate

» Succession planning: The Nomination Commuttee focused
heawly on executive and senior management success:on planning
duning the year, including the rewew of senior talent and diversity
in the talent pipeline The Nomunation Commuttee and the wider
Board also spent considerable time overseeng the search and
selection process for a new Chief Executive and Chief Financial
Otficer

+ Board continuing development: Site wisits to Servomex and
Miitrook supported the Board's deepening knowledge of both
businesses and gave the oard an additional opporturity to meet
wath key management below the Group Executive team

The 2018 evaluation took place in December 2018 and built on the

outcomes of the 2017 evaluation ahead of a formal, externally-ted

evaluation process being undertaken in 2019

During i1ts wisit to Servomex in Apni, the
Board receved a presentation from the new
president, Trevor Sands, which included an
overview of the business and s strategy
Trevor also led the Board i a tour of the
faciity, which highlighted the operating
company's approach to health and safety
and also the implementatron of the Lean
production system

in October, the Board visited Millbrook
Proving Ground (left) and toured recent
changes to the faciity, inciuding the recently
expanded equipment and facities for
testing low emission vehicle technology and
the wutk Millbrook 1s undertaking to
support Transport for London on its new Bus
Safety Standard

During both visits, the Board was able to
meet with the management tearm and key
employees outside of the formal meetings
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2018 UK CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

Activity to support the application of the
2018 UK Corporate Governance Code

»

Culture
and
Values

J

The new Code requires that the Board satisfies itself that
the Company’s purpose, values and strategy are aligned
with the Company's culture. Further, the Board should
assess and manitor the Company's culture on an ongoing
basis, lead by example and promote the desired culture.

»

Remuneration

Under the new Code, the Remuneration Committee is
required to review warkforce compensation and related
policies and the alignment of incentives and rewards with
culture, and to take this review into account in the setting
of the policy for Executive Director remuneration

»

Workforce
and
Stakeholder
Engagement

J

The new Code emphasises that the Board should
understand the views of key stakeholders and ensure that
the Annual Report includes an explanation af how their
interests have been considered in decision-making.
Stakeholder engagement mechanisms should be kept under
review and, in particular, the new Code prescribes how the
Board should engage with the workforce.

Workforce Engagement Director {"WED")

> Being available to the workforce i they have concerns which
escalation through the normal company channels has faled
to resoive, or for winch such contact 1 nappropnate
Attending, where appropnate, sufficent meetings viath
workforce representatives 1o abtain a balanced understanding
of the issues and concerns of the workforce

Reviewing employee engagement mechanisms annually with
the 8oard to ensure they remain effectve

Pencdically reviewing the channels avadable for the workforce
to raise concerns in confidence and - f they wish -
anonymously, to consider whether such arrangements are
proportionate and whether independent investigation of such

-

In Decermnber 2018, Russell King was appointed as the Board lead for workforce engagement, The role profile for the
Workforce Engagement Director was agreed by the Board and includes:

matiers, and any follow-up actions, are proportionate and
appropnately managed

Providing tmely and appropniately detailed feedback to the
Board as & whole on any workforce concerns or issues
rased, whilst abserving the confidentiaty of indnnduals who
have raised concerns, and supporting an appropriate focus
being placed on workforce considerations dunng refevant
Board deliberations

In completing these duties, the Workforce Engagement Orector
will be supported by the Group HR Director and the General
Counsel and Company Secretary
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In fate 2018, the Group Executve team began a review of the Group's cufture i support

of the wder Group strategic review annaunced in November 2018 During 2019, the Board

will oversee this review of the culture of the Group and assess progress agamst the Group's

agreed Strategy with culture beng included as a specific item of discussion on the Board's

annual agenda plan

> In support of thes new focus, the Board approved new Matters Reserved to the Board and

rewised extended terrns of reference for all key Board Cormmittees in Decernber 2018 to reflect .

the proposed focus on cufture Copies of each document are available at wiww spectris com The Board will
implement and
iterate their
approach to

applying the 2018
» Dunng 2018, the Remunerauon Commiliee reviewed the requirements of the new Code and devised an UK Corporate
extended work plan for 2019, which has now also been reflected in the Committee’s terms of reference Governance Code
Dunng 2019, the Committee wil rewiew wider workforce remuneraton, pension and reiated matters, during 2019 to

ncluding CEO average pay. and will also consider the Group’s gender pay gap in conjunclion with the
Narminaton Commuttee (further detauls are set out an page 49)

» As pant of the Board's ongong oversight of the culture of the Group, consideration will also be given 1o
how the Group rewards approprate behaviours and the Commuttee will review the best way 10 capture
culture and behaviour i the 2020 Remuneration Polcy

+ The Namnation Commuttee will begin the recrutment progess for the successer 10 Russell King as
Rernuneration Commuttee Chairman in 2019 and wall ensure the successful candidate has the pre-

ensure that the
approach to
implementation
provides optimal
support to the
Group’s strategic

appontment experience that the new Code now requires of any new Remureration Committee Chairman aims. A summary
of the application
of the new Code
+ In Decerber 2018, the Board appomted Russell King as Workforce Engagerment Nirector and will be detailed in
an agenta for workforce engagement in 2019 was agreed Further details are set out below the 2019 Annual
+ The Ethics and Comglance Enhancement Programme, together with the Spectns mdependent Report and
reportwg hotlineg, will support fusther in-depth reporting 1n 2019 on HR 15515 and non- Accounts.

financial matters, for rewew and consideration by the Audit and Risk Committee and the Board
» The Board has bult nto its reviews and decision-makang processes the consideration of
stakeholder interests which 1s now captured  all Board papers in 3 proportionate and
appropriate way relevant to the matter 1o be considered
» A proportonate shareholder engagerment programme will be launched dunng 2019 to support
the successful agreement of the Group's Remuneratian Policy by shareholders, in advance of
a binding shareholder vole at the 2020 AGM

Proposed Workforce Engagement activities for 2019
The Board has endorsed the following workplan for the Workforce Engagement Director for 201%:

» The Workfarce Engagement Director will aniend informal » A deep dive review of workforce remuneration wall
meelings with employee stakeholder groups which will include be undertaken with the supgort of the Group HR Director
a cross-section of roles and perspectives, including graduates, and the results of this review will be shared with the
apprentices and managers at key sites Remuneration Commuttee and be used as support for

v Adeep dive review of HR cases and themes ansing from the the Group’s Remuneration Policy review
Group's Speak Up process {detalled on page 39) will be » Detailed brefings will be prowded on key employee
undertaken with the support of the General Counse! engagement activity undertaken by management and the
and Campany Secretary key outcomes of this actvity

This plan will be subect to iteraucn and charige as the year
progresses 10 support the 8oard in achiewing etfective
waorkfarce engagement

Spectris pic
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE REPORT

The Nomination Committee recognises that ongong and
effecuve talent management is key to achieving the
Group's strategic objectives

During 2018, the Commuttee has continued (o take 2 keen interest
. the development of talent and capabidities below Board level,
chaflenging management to ensure that appropnate opportumties
are i place to develop high-performing indniduals and ta buld
dwversity in senior roles across the Group From thrs review we have
built greater clanty and a common understanding with
management of the key talent wathin the Group and this common
understanding will strengthen the Group's overall capabilities i the
near term The development of talent within the organisation will
be the subject of ongoing dialogue 10 2019

The Commttee also spent considerable ime selectng and
recommending the appointment of a new Chief Executrve The
process undertaken, which led to the appointment of Andrew
Heath, 15 set out in detail on the opposite page

Mark Wiltiamson
Chairman of the Nomination Committee
19 February 2019

Role of the Committes

The Commutiee leads the process for Board appointments and
makes recommendations 1o the Board in this regard In fulflling
this role, the Comimuttee evaluates the balance of skils, experence,
independgence and knowledge on the Board. The Board values
diversity and, when recruiting new Baard members, addresses

the issue of dwersity, with particular regard lo the percentage

of women on the Board

The key respansibihties of the Commuties are.

reviewng the size, structure and composiion of the Board,
recommending membership of Board Commuttees,

undertaking succession planning for the Chairman, Executive
Dircctors and senior managenent,

searching for candidates for the Board, and recommenting
Directors for appointment,

determining the independence of Directars,

assessing whether DireCtors are able 1o commit encugh time
10 discharge ther responsibiliies, and

reviewing the induction and traning needs of Directors
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41 The Committee has continued
to take a keen interest in the
development of talent and
capabilities below Board level. #F

Detailed terms of reference for the Committee can be found
at www Spectris com.

Membership and attendees

Throughout 2018, all Non-executive Directors were members of the
Committee Meetings of the Commuttee are normally attended by
the Chuef Executive and Group HR Cirector {except duning any
discussion of thetr own cole}

Activities of the Committee during 2018
During the year, the Commuttee’s key activihes included

» the search and selection process for a new Chief Executve which
culminated wn the recommendation of Andrew Heath's
appointment to the Board,

» the search and selection process for a new Chief Fnancal Officer
which culminated in the recormmendation of Derek Harding's
appontmem to the Board,

> rewiewing and challenging the Group’s talent management and
succession planning at a Group Executive and operating
company management level,

» undertaking a detalled revew of diverse candidates wathin the
Group’s talent pipefine, in support of the Board diversity poficy
{see page 29 far details),

» considenng the independence of each Non-executive Director
and their time commitments, and

providing tontnued oversight of 3 Group-wade orgamsational
capabiity review

The Committee's performance was assessed as part of the Board's
annual effectiveness review It was condluded that the Committee
had operated effectwvely

Durning 2019, the Comrmittee will continue to focus on succession
planning and supporting the derse composition of the Board,
Executve and senior management in support of the Board’s
diversity pohicy as set out on page 49

Focus will also be placed on non-executive succession planning, and
n particular succession for Russell King who will have served on the
Board far nine years i Octaber 2019 The Board has asked Mr King
to reman on the Board until the 2020 AGM to suppon both
succession planrung and the setting of the Group’s Remuneration
Policy in 2020 tn pfanning succession, the Committee will pay
particular attenton to the 2018 UK Corporate Gavernance Code's
crtena for Remuneration Commuttee Chairmen and the fact the
Company has yet 1o reach the 2020 target set out in the Mampton-
Alexander Review of 33% female representat:on on the Board



Board composition
As at 31 December 20718

Gender diversity

m See page 49 for detaits of the Company's
Board dversity polcy

Non-executive Director tenure

Appointment of the new Chief Executive

I May 2018, the Group announced that, after 12 years in the
role, John O'Higgins mtended to step down from the role of
Chief Executive once a replacement had been appointed to
the Board

The Board commenced a ngorous process 1o identfy and
appomnt a new Chief Executive A Selection Committee was
formed as a sub-set of the Nomination Committee which was
led by the Chairman and cornpnsed Russell King, Bill Seeger and
Martha Wyrsch

The key stages in the selection and appaintrnent process were,
as follows

» The Selection Committee had a numbper of discussions
10 scope the key skills, expenence, behaviours and style
of leadership that would be required to successfully lead
the Group as Chief Executive The specific qualities
dentified included

» astrong track record of leading strategic direction and
driving a growth agenda,

v broad knowledge and demonstrable expertise of operaung
in the industnal manufactuning and engineering sectors,

credible refauanships with relevant external stakehalders,
nchuding sIgnificant investor experience,

v proven understanding and apphcation of budding
orgamisational capabibity, and

1 leadershup experience within a strong values-based culture

» The Commitiee engaged Egon Zehnder 10 work with the
Committee to establish a long list of candidates (including
dwerse and mternal candidates) who were then considered
against the Selection Commuttee’s specfications for the role

for Executive Search Frms on gender diversity and best
practice and, aside trom assisting with the recrutment and
development of senior leaders, has no other links with the
Company Oue ta the public announcement made regarding
John O'Higgins’ departure, it was not consigered necessary
1o separately publicly advertsse the role

Egon Zehnder 15 a signatory to the Voluntary Code of Conduct

» The Selection Commuttee then deterruned a shorthst of
internal and external candidates based on the agreed criteria
and then underiook a8 two-stage In person INterew process
with each candidate

» The wider Nomunation Committee was briefed on progress
by the Selection Commuttee and Egon Zehnder The remaming
members of the Nominatton Committee then met with
preferred candidates ahead of a recommendation being made
to the Board to appoint Andrew Heath as Chief Executive

Followang the sdentification of Mr Meath as the preferred
candidate, the Remuneration Commuittee sought to agree

a competilive remuneration package to secure his appointment
This was actueved within the Group’s existing Remuneration
Policy and further details are set out on pages 60 to 78

What Andrew Heath beings to the rofe
» Education Bachelor of Saience, Impenial College London and
Masters of Business Admiistration, Loughborough Unversity.

» Expenence Two previous UK hsted CEQ roles and aimost
30 years' expenence at Rolls-Royce plc where he heid
significant and global leadership roles.

> Expertise strategy, mndustnal, financad, mergers and
acquisitions and investor

> Industry experience engineering, manufacturing, technology
and B28

*Our Cheet Executive search was conducted in a
colaborative and thoughtful manner, with keen focus
from all members of our Board of Directors, led by our
Chairman and the Selection Comnmittee The deliberate
pace resulted in a thorough review of a number of diverse
candidates and ensured that we selected a leader with the
skills and acumen to drive Spectris forward with
momentum and vitahty ”

Martha Wyrsch

Spectris plc
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AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE REPORT

| am pleased to present the report to shareholders on the actwities
of the Audit ang Risk Commuttee dunng 2018 This fepart sets out
how the Committee has assessed the integrity of the Group’s
financal reporting pracesses, the quality and effectiveness of
internal audit and the Group's systems of risk management and
internal control, and the quality and effectiveness of the

external audt

The Commuttee met four imes duning the year The meetings are
akgned to the Group's finanaid reporting timetabde, to atiow
sufficient time for full discussion of key topics and enable early
wentification and resolution of risks and ssues The Committee has
an annyal calendar of actwvities to ensure that all significant areas
of sk management are addressed The schegule is flexible to
ensure that the Commuttee’s actnahes allow for the rewew of
regulatory developments and emerging best practice

The Committee considers it unportant to interact wath members of
management beyond the Executve Committee The Committee
heid its meeting n Getober at Mifibrook Proving Ground and spent
bme with the Milibrook semor leadership team to discuss the
opportunities and nsks faced by the business As Charman of the
Commuttee, | alsg met regularly with management, intemal audit
and the external auditor between Commitiee meetings

Deloitte LLP was apponted as the Company’s auditor in 2016
following a competitve tender and they have now comgleted ther
second year as auditor The Comemuttee carned out an assessment
of the pertormance, independence and effectveness of Delowte
dunng the year and was satsfied that Deloitte remain effectve
 thew role

A4 The Committee will continue
to focus on risk management
and the Group's ongoing
enhancements to systems of
governance and internal control. IF

The UK Corporate Governance Code invites the Commuttee 1o
report on the significant matters considered duning the year | am
satisfied that our activitres have prowided the Committee with

3 good understanding of the key matters impacting the Group
dunng the year and detads are contained n this report From my
perspective, the most important matters were

+ the cansideration of changes n the presentation of alternatve
performance measures refated 10 the 2018 Financial Statements,

» the continued rewiew of the impact of IFRS 15 on the trming of
revenue recognition across the Group,

» the annual impairment review,

> the review of the financial reporting process, estimates

and judgements, and

the review of the Group Ethics and Compliance Enhancement

Programme which wall enhance the Group's approach 10

monitanng and mitigating of actions in respect of ethics,

ant-brbery and corrupbion and expert controls

As a Commitiee, we continue 1o fotus on nsk management and,

In particylar, the Group’s engoing enhancements to systems of

governance and internal control

I hope that this review, and the repont that follows, 15 useful in
understanding the work of the Committee during the year The
Commuttee encourages shareholder feedback and ! look farward 1o
meeting with shareholders at our Annua! General Meeting i May

Bill Seeger
Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee
19 February 2019

Membership and attendance

refevant to the sectors in which the Company operates

for part of this session

The Commuttee 1s comprised solely of independent Non-executive Directors Bill Seeger, Martha Wyrsch, UIf Quellmann and Kanm Bitar
were members of the Commutiee throughout 2018 Bill Seeger 1s determined by the Committee to have ‘recent and relevant inancal
experience’ as required by the Code ANl members of the Committee are considered 1o have competencies that the Baard deems

Meetings are normally attended by the Charrman, the Chief Execute, the Group Finance Direcior, the Head of Internal Audit,
the General Counsel and Company Secretary and representatives of the external auditor The Commitiee retaing time argund each
meeting to meet separately without management present and invetes the Head of Internal Audit and the external auditor 1o atteng

During the year, the Committee rewewed the annual forward agenda and its terms of reference and conduded that, for the coming
year, three Jonger meetings of the Commuttee would be scheduled i place of four, 1o allow for a more tacused review of avdit and
rsk management. The annual forward agenda and terms of reference were amended 10 accommodate this change
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Key areas of focus in relation to the Financial Statements

Issues and significance

? ‘The role of the Committee

> Comments and conclusions >

Change in the presentation of Alternative Performance Measures

In Novernber 2018, the Group announced the
implementation of a Group-wide profit
improvement programme The total costs of
implementauon of this programme are considered
te be sigrificant in both nature and amount Cn
this bagss, the costs of the umplementation of this
programme are excluded from adjusted operating
profit Adjusted operating profit (including on a
Iike-for-like basis) s therefare presented before the
impact of Praject Uplift and Group profit
Improvement programre costs, which have been
comtuned as restructunng for presentation
purpdses Adjusted operating profit after Progject
Uphft costs has been presented for ease of
comparabikty between 2017 and 2018

The Comrmuttee consdered the
preseniation of the Financial Statements
and the use of aiternative performance
measures and the presentation of
adjusted items, including the change m
the Group's dehnmion of adjusted
tems The Commitiee recewved a report
from management outhning the
iudgemenits appled in relation to the
disclosure of adjusted rtems and,
challenged by the external auditor,
considerag whether the performance
measures and use of adjusted 1tems
proposed by management prowided a
meaningful insight into the results of
the Compary for shareholders

The Committee cansidered the change
in defintion of adjusted measures and
reviewed the restated comparative
adjusted figures for 2017 With the
challenge of the external auditor, the
Commitiee agreed that the Financial
Statements included clear and
mearungful descriptions of the
alternative performance measures used,
meluding appropriate re-statement of
prior year figures it was also concluded
that the relationship between these
measures and the statutory IFRS
measures was clearly explained and
supported the understanding of the
Financial Statements

Revenue recognition

The Company has been required to comply with
IFRS 15 throughout 2018 Under IERS 15, a2n entity
15 required to recognise revenue when it transfers
goodsisenaces 1o the custamer in an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the entity
expects (o be entitled n exchange for those goods
and services

The Cornmittee considered
managernent’s approach to the
changes to revenue recogmition, the
assumpuons and esumates, and the
impact on the Group’s revenue They
also reviewed the appraach of the
external auditor to the design of audit
procedures to support the avoidance
of the musstaternent of reveniue

The Committee constdered the
Judgements made by management
regarding the wnpact of IFRS 15 for the
year ended 31 December 2018 The
external auditor confirmed to the
Commuttee dunng the year that it had
audited the accountmg treatment
adopted by management in respect

of IFRS 15

Review of goodwill and intangible assets for impairment

Management assessed the carrying value of its
cash-generating units, includng detal'ed value-in-
use Caleulations, to ensure that the carnpng values
recogrised were supported by future forecast
discounted cash flows Concept Life Sciences’
perfarmance following acquisiton has been below
expectations durning 2018 As part of the annual
impayrment review process, it was determimed that
for this cash-generating unit, a reasonably possible
change in assumptions could tead to an imparment
n the future Further detalled disclosure around
the sensiivities 1s set out m Note 11 1o the
Financial Statements

The Commuttee reviewed and
chaflenged assumptions made by
management in thew assessment of
the valuation of goodwi!! and
intangible assets and considered the
challenge from the external auditor on
the assumptions underpinning
management's estimates The
Committee then agreed with
management an increased levef of
disclosure to support therr assessment

For all cash-generating units, except
Concept Life Sciences, management
did not consider there to be any
reasonably possible scenanos that
could arse in the next 12 menths that
would result in an impairment charge
being recognised Following the
assessment by rnanagement and the
review and chalfenge of the external
auditor and the Commuttee, it was
confirmed that a reasonably possibie
change in assumption could lead to an
impairment of Concept Life Sciences n
the future

Estimation, uncertainty and judgement

During the year. the Cammittee received reports
and recommendaticns from management 1o
consider the significant accounting issues,
estimates and judgerments apphcable to

the Group's Frnancial Statements and disclosures

The key nisks of estimation disclosed in the
Group's 2018 Frnanaal Statements are the
assurmptions apphed i the calculation of
retirement benefit plan ligbilittes, provsions for
uncertam exposures and tax positions, ang
estmates used in the annual iImpairment review

Further details are set out in Note 1, Nate 8, Note
11 and Note 20 to the Financiat Statements

Management confirrmed to the
Committee that they were not awa‘e
of any matenal or immateral
misstaterments made mtentionally to
achieve 3 particular presentation

The Committee reviewed presentations
by management and questioned
Deloitte to understand whether the
external auditor had, to the
Commuttee’s satsfacuon, fulfiled s
responsibilities with diigence

and professional scepttcism and in

a sufficently robust manner

After reviewrng and challenging the
presentations and reports from
management and consuling, where
necessary, with the external auditor,
the Committee s satisfied that the
Financiat Statements appropnately
address critical Judgements and key
estimales (both in respect of the
amounts reported and the disclosures)

The Comwmittee s also satisfied that
the signihicant assumptions used for
determining the vatue of assets and
hhabdities have been appropriately
scrutnised and chatlenged and are
sufficentty robust
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AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE REPORT continued

fiole of the Committee

The Committee supports the Board 1n fulfilling its responsibilibes 1n respect of overseeing the Company's financial reporting processes;
reviewing, challenging and approving signficant accounting judgements propased by management, reviewing and momtonng the way
n which management ensures and oversees the adequacy of financiatl, nsk management and comphance conirols, the appointment,
remuneration, independence and performance of the Group's external auditor, and the independence and performance of internal audit

Oetails of the wark carried out by the Committee in accardance with its terms of reference and in addressing sigruficant issues are reported
1o the Board as a matter of cowrse by the Chairman of the Commuttee and are described in this report The terms of reference for the

Comimittee can be found at www spectris com

Principal areas of responsibitity

» Accounting Standards

» Financal S s L

» Viability Staterments Accounting,

g gomg Cmg?"\ tax and financat

» Corporate Governance (ode | |

+ Drsclosure Controks and eporung
Procedures

External Audit Approach __‘
& Scope

Auditor Appointment & fees
External Audit Finghings
Non-Audit Fees

Assessing the effeciveness
of the extemal audtor

External auditor

Activities of the Committee during 2018

The Commuttee has an annual forward agenda developed from its
terms of reference with standing iterns considered at each meeting
n addition 1o any specific matters ansing and topical business or
financial nems on which the Commuttee has chosen 1o focus

The work of the Commuittee » 2018 pnncipally tell into three

main areas

[ 1. Accounting, tax and finandial reporting

]

v reviewing the integnty of the half-year and annual Financal
Statements and the associated significant financial reporting
judgements, estimates and disclosures,

considenng the kquidity risk and the basis for prepanng the
haif-year and annual financial Statements on a going concern
basis, and reviewang the related disclosures in the Annual Report
and Accounts,

» considenng the provisians of the Code regarding going concern
and viahility statements and reviewing emerging practice and
nvestor comment as well as the Group's Viability Statement,
reviewing updates on accounting matters including the new
accounting standard on leases {IFRS 16}, and

réneanng the processes Lo assure the integnty of the Aanuel
Report and Accounts, as well as rewewing

> the management representation letter o the external auditor;
the findings and opimons of the external auditor,

the disclosures in relation 10 nternat controls and the work

of the Commutiee,

» that the nformaton presented m the Annual Report and
Accounts, when taken as a whole, s farr, balanced and
uaderstandable and contains ali relevant informatian necessary
for shareholders to assess the Company’s performance,
business model and strategy and the processes undertaken
to support the disclosure of that informaton,

v+ the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures
designed to ensyre that the Annual Report and Accounts
comphes with all relevant legal and regulatory requirements,

v the process designed to ensure the external audnor 15 aware
of all ‘retevant avdit information’, as requited by sechons 418
and 412 of the Comparies Act 2006, and

» the Directors’ Repont

~

56 Annual Repart and Accounts 2018

Audit
and Risk

Committee

Principal Risks

Resk Management Systems
Internal Controls -
procedures and processes
Business Etcs, Ant-Bribery
Comphance and Fraud
Whistieblowang

internal Audit Reports

Risk management | »
and internal controls

LZ. Risk management and internal controls J

» assessing the effecuveness of the Group’s nsk management and
internal contsol enwronment and making recommendations to
the Board,

considening reports from internal audit,

» considenng the level of algnment between the Company's
prnapal risks and internal audit programme,

reviewmng the adequacy of resources of the internal audit
funchion and considenng and approving the scope of the internal
audit programme,

considenng the etfectveness of internal audt,

reviewing the Group’s ongoing litigation matters,

rewiewing the control procedures in place to comply with the
Group's pohiaes on busmess ethics, anti-brtsery, comphance and
fraud. including the steps being taken to enhance the Group’s
ethics and comphance programime,

reviewing matters reported Lo the externat whistieblowing
hotline and the status of associated investgations, and

cansidering reports from the external auditor on their assessment
of the control environment.

Further detaits of the Group’s whistieblowing policy and apgproach
to the management of ethical conduct are set out 1n the
Sustainabrity Report on page 39

[ 3. External auditor

> tonsidering the re-appomtment of the external auditor,

v considenng and approving the aucht approach and scope of the
audit undertaken by Defoitte as external auditor and the fees for
the same,

+ ggreeng reparting matenality theesholds,
1+ reviewing feparts an audit findings,

» considenng and approving letters of representation issued ta
Deloutte, and

considenng the independence of Deloitte and ther effectiveness,
taking mto account

» non-audi work undertaken by the external auditor,
) feedback from a survey targeted at vanous stakeholders, and
v the Committee’s own assessment

-



Internal control and risk management systems

The Board 15 responsible for determirming the nature and extent

of the signsficant nsks it 5 wilimg 1o take 1n achieving s particular
objectives and 15 ultimately responsihle for the effectveness of the
nsk management and internal control systerns that sateguard
shareholders’ investments and the Company's assets To ensure
the effectiveness of these systems, at the Board's request, a robust
assessment of the principal nisks facing the Group s undertaken by
the Commutiee

8efore reparting its findings and recommendations to the Board,
the Commyttee

» evaluates and challenges the results and recommendations
of audits undertaken by the internal audit team and the
external auditor,
> reviews reports received on sigruficant control 1ssues to the
Group and considers and chatlenges as necessary the adequacy
of management’s response 10 any matters raised,
appraises the Group's response to mformation secunty and data
protection nsks,
considets the Group's ethics programme and the ant-bnbery and
corruption audit programme,
» considers common control themes identified throughoui the
business. and where themes are identfied, ensures that
subsequent ackon has been taken 1o minimise the nisk,

> 3350555 the Group's responsibiities refating o requlated
exposufes of the Group,

> reviews the annual Audit and Risk Committee agenda, and

-

» has oversight of the governance and risk management
framework, including a defimtion of risk appette by risk category
and principal nsk, put in place thraughout the Group

The effectiveness of nsk management and metigation s reviewed
regularly by the Executive Committee and twice yearly by the Audit
and Risk Committee The Board notes that, as with all such systems,
the Group's ask management and internal control framework 1s
designed to manage, rather than eliminate, nsk of falure to achieve
business objectives, and can provide only reasonable and not
absolute assurance against matenal misstatement o foss

Viability Statement

The Comrmtiee reyrewed the 2018 Viability Staternent in light of
factors affecting the duraton over which the Viability Statement s
made, induding the strategi planning process, the three-year
period over which the potentiat impact and velocity of mateniat risks
are evaluared, the duration of the Group's sources of credit and
future prospects The Committee remains of the view that the
statement made regarding the Company’s viabihty period continues
to be an accurate assessment of the Comipany’s wability as at the
date of the report

The Viability Statement s set out on page 37

Independent assurance

Internat aud:t
The Committee has oversight responsibiities for the internal audit
function, which s led by the Head of Internal Audit

The purpose of the internal audet function s 1o provide
independent, objective assurance to add value and improve the
Group’s operations Its responsibilities nclude assessing the key nsks
of the organisation and examining, evaluating and reporting on the
adequacy and effectivenass of the systems of internal controt and
nsk management in place, and the governance processes in
operation throughout the Group

During the year, the Commuittee conwdered the internal audst
programme for the forthcoming year and reviewed the proposed
audht approach, coverage and aflocation of resources

The Commuittee aiso reviewed the progress updates aganst the
2018 activity of internal audit, received reparts an issues of
sigruficance to the Group and reported to the Board on its
evaluation of these hindings Dunng the year, the Cormrittee
carried aut an assessment of the effectiveness of the internat
audit function Thus assessment incorporated feedback from the
operating company leadership teams and Group functions

The Commuttee discussed the feedback with the Head of Internal
Audit and 1t was agreed that the Groun’s internal audit processes
remained effective

DULUIINGG

External auditor
The Committee 5 responsibie for managing the relationship with
the Group’s external auditor on behalf of the Board

The Company last undertook a tender far external audit services
dunng 2016 which led 1o the appointment of Delostte LLP at the
May 2017 Annual General Meetng (AGM') The lead audit partner
15 Mark Mullins who has hetd the role since May 2017

Dunng the year, the Commuttee carned out an assessment of the
external auditor which focused on their performance dunng the
2017 audit and reporied these findings to the Board To support
this assessment, the Committee imated members ¢f the Group
and operating company finance teams to provide thew feedback
In addtion, the Committee reviewed the Audit Quality Inspection
public report for 2017/18 for Deloitte After taking these reports
into consideration, together with the auditor's report on their
approach to audit quality and wansparency, the Commitiee
concluded that the auditors demonsirated approprate
quahfications and expertise and remaimed independent of the
Group and that the audit process was effective.

The Commuttee reviewed the proposed engagement letter for the
audit of the 2018 Financial Statements and determined the
proposed remuneration of Delotte in accordance wath the authority
given Lo it by shareholders at the 2018 AGM The Commitiee
considered the proposed auditor's remunersation 1o be appropnate

It 1s praposed that Delatte be re-appotnted as auditors of the
Company at the next AGM i May 2019 and, «f so re-appointed,
that they will hold office untdl the condusion of the next general
meeting of the Company at which accounts are laid Further details
are set out 1 the Notice of Meeting, which 15 availlable at

wWwvwW SpECIiTs Comm

The Group will contmue the practice of the rotaton of the audit
engagement partner at least every five years, with all other
partners and serior management required to rotate at least every
seven years The mdependent external auditor’s report to
shareholders 15 set oul on pages 84 10 91 As detalted above,

the Company complied with the Statutory Audr Services Order
2014 throughout 2018

Non-audit fees

The Commitiee believes that non-audi work may only be
undertaken by the external auditor in bmited arcumstances

A cumulative annual cap 15 imposed for non-audt senvices

prowided by our external auditor (save for acquisiion due diigence),
above which all engagements are subject to the Committee’s

prior apgrovaf.

The Comrmuittee’s naon-audit services policy s available at

wiww spectns com Non-audit fees for services prowvided by Deloitte
for the year amounted to £0 1 milton {5% of the audit fee)
Further details are included in Note 5 to the Financial Statements

Performance review

The Committee’s performance was assessed dunng the year

under the stewardship of the Committee Chairman and this review
was fed into the wider Board evaluation process which was led by
the Chawman it was concluded that the Cornmuittee

operated effectively
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COMPUANCE WITH THE UK CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CGDE

The UK Listing Rules stipuiate that hsted companses must include in their annual report a statement of whether they have
comnphed with alt the relevant provisions of the 2016 UK Corporate Governance Code ('the Code’), which can be found

at wwaw, frc org uk.

During 2018, Spectns complied fully wath the Code The nates below are intended to assist with the evaluation
of Spectris’ complance durng 2018 and the processes put in place 1O Support the continuation of best

governance pnncples .

A. Leadership

B. Effectiveness continuad

A.1 The role of the Board

The Board s collectvety responsible for promaoting the success of Spectas and the
operahon of effective governance arvangerments with a wew to the eation

of strong, sustainatie financat performance and long-term sharehoider vatue
Tre sieps the Baard takes to facktate thrs are outlined in the Gowvernance Report
set out on pages 44 10 83

The Board hekd seven scheduled meetings i 2018 1t ocder 1o review the
Company’s performance and strategy agarit set objectives Oetak of Board and
Board Comimittee atteirdance tor 2018 ace set out on page 45

The Board has adopted a dear schedute of maners reserved for its speaific
approval, incuding a framework for those deasons which can be delegated to
comwnittees or otherwse A full st of matters reserved {0 the Board is avalable
at WAy SOClITS Com

Al Drrectors are covered by 4 dveciors’ and officers’ insurance poficy

A_2 Division of respansibilities

The roles of Charman and (e Executive are separate, with both hawng
disnnct ang chearly defied responsibrhiies wiich are esiablshed in watten
temms of reference that have been agreed by the Baard and which are available
at wwaw spectrs com  The Charman s responsiie for the leaderstwp and
effectveness of the Board, and the Chiel Executive is responsibie for leading the
day-to~day management of the Comgany wthun the srategy set by the Board

A.3 The Chairman
The Charman sets the agenda for meetngs, manages ine meeung hmetatie and
{acinates open and constructive drlogue dunng the meetings

The Chawman was mdependent an appantment

A.4 Non-executive Directors

The Chairman promoles an open and CONStrUCUve snvirGoment in the bodedroom
and actively invites the Non-exeQytve Cirectors’ wews 1o heip develop proposals
on sirategy and scrutruse the performance of management againsl set goats

and obyectves They should satrsfy thermsetves on the integrity of fmancial
informaton and that financial controls and systerns of risk management are
ratnsst and defensibie

Russel King 1s the Senior Independent Non-axecutve DreCtor and 15 avatable

10 meet with shareholders f required The Chasman meets wath Non-executive
Owrectons in the atisence of the Executve Directors at regular intervals dunng the
year. and the Serwor independent ton-executve Drector leads a meeting with the
Nori-executve Drectars wathout the Charmman present at keast once 3 year

Ounng the year, the Directors had no unresohved concerns aboul the nunning
of the Company o any proposed action

B. Effectiveness

B.1 The composition of the Board
There are curtently six Non-executve Diractors in additon 1o the Charman and
two Executive Directors on the Board

The compossion of 1he Board o reviewed regularly by the Neminabon Commutiee
10 ensure that there s an approp mm of skolls, experence, o y pnchucing
gender), independence and knowledge on the Board Board members
Brographies are provided on pages 46 and 47, which dentfy the expenernce each
Dwector bnngs to the Board The 2018 Board evalustion determned that the
Board contimued ¢ be efectve and that the cumrent Directors’ backgrounds
provaded a good rmix 1o meet current and future needs
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The Board determines, thiough the Normanavon Comumitiee, the independence
of is members The Board consders all of its Non-executive Dvectors 1o be
mdependant and free of any business refationships that could comprormise the
exercse of mdependent and objecuve judgement Conflicts of miterest are
reqularly monitored

8.2 Appointments to the Board

The Nomunauon Committee leads alt appoiniments of new Directots Lo the Board,
3pplying a ngorous and transparent process mindful of ment, objectmty and
Snversty Dewals of s acivities undenaken dunng the yea, induding tne search
and sedection process that fed to the appointment of the new Chief Executve,
successu planming and talent management, can be found in the Nomination
Committes report on pages 52 and 53

Detaks of the Company's dversity polky are sel out on page 49

The temns of reference for the Nomenauon Commttae are avalzble al
WA SDECTS Com

B.3 Commitment .

The Norminauan Commitae considers on aopointrment and aniualy the ime
needed 10 filhd the soley of Chawman, Serwor indepantent Director and
Non-executve Direcior and ensures that the Non-execuing Dinectors will
have sutficent tire 1o futd thew duties

On apparitment, and as at the date of this repart, the Chamman's sigadfocant
hsted company wnterests are a5 charrenan of impenal Brands pk and seruor
wndependent non-execylve duector of National Gnd pie The Board has formally
reviewed (he Charman's other commitments and ncted the announcement on
11 February 20%9 1hat Mark Wilharnson will step down & charman of impenal
Brands plc when a witable successor has been found Notwithstanding the
change, the Board confirms thal it Dekeves that the Chawman's obligations 10 the
Compary are propery fulfilled indeed, the Board 15 apprecative of the addisonat
skifls and experience the Chairman bnngs to the Board arising from these
directorsivps

Chve Watson has been a non-executive directar of Spurax-Sarco Engineenng pc
snce 2009 and the senior ndependent non-executive director since May 2018

B.4 Development

New Direciorns tecene 2 full, formal and tadored induction on jomwng and the
Chairman reveews and agrees subsequent raming and development needs with
the Board on 4t least an annual basrs

I Aprl 2018, the Board warted Senrnex end i October 2018, the Baard visited
ow Milbrook faclity 10 SLppOrt 15 famlianty with the Group's cperatons Further
details are 42t out on page 49

B.5 Information and support

The Chairman 5 responsible for the dehvery of accurate, timely and dear
infermation ta the Drectors, with suppon from the General Counsel and
Company Secretary

Drrectors are abte 1o sobot mdependent professional advice at the Company's
expense whete speailic experise 1 required in the course of discharging their
dulies All Direclors have access to the General Counsel and Company
Secretary, who & responsible for ensuring comphance with appropnate siatutes
and regulanons

8.6 Evaluation

The Board and the Board Commitiees underioak an intemal evakuation in

2018 which was led by the Chairman and the Committee Chainmen and induded
a review of Commutiee membersiup, a review of Non-executive Directors whose
tength of service was more than six years, the external commitments of all
Dwectors 3nd a review of the skilfs of each of the Oirectors Further detads are set
out on page 49
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B. Effectiveness continued

D. Remuneration

B.7 Election/re-election

Each Directar s subjéct 1o elacuon at the first AGM followang therr appontment,
and re-elechion at each subsequent AGM I determeing whether a Director
should be praposed tor re-election at the 2019 AGM, the Board took into account
the Nomuinauon Comsmtiee's advice based on the results of a peer Qroup revieww
of each Director's contnbuiion 10 the Board's eFectivenass, which formed part

of the mternal Board evaluation Thrs reviewy confirmed that all Directors continue
to be effective 2nd demonstrate commitment 10 therr roles and the Commitiee
accordingly recomended theu re-appomntment

C. Accountability

C.1 Financial and business reporting

A statement of the Dwrectors’ responsiblibes regarding the Financial Staternents,
including the status of the Group as a gong concern, 1s et out o0 page 83, with
an explanation of the Graup's strategy and busess model, together with refevand
nisks and pedtormance mewncs, which are set out on pages 1 to 36

A lurther statement 15 prowded on page 83, confirmeng that the Board considers
that the 2018 Annual Repont and Accounts, taken as a whole, s faw, balanced
and understandab’ ard prowdes the mlormarnon necessary lor shareholders

10 assess the Company's positon, performande, business modd and strategy

The externa auditor has provided a report 1o the shareholders on therr reporing
responsitrives on pages 84 o 9t

C.2 Risk management and internal control

The Company Mmaintans its system of nsk management and mtemal control with
awew 10 safequarding shareholders’ investment and the Company’s assets

The Board has carned out a robust assessment of the panapal asks facing the
Company, inctudng an assessment of the prospects of the Group Further detals
¢an be found on pages 3210 36

The Cuectors have assessed thai the apprapnate penod of longer-term wabshty
for the Group 15 three years, as disclosed « the Viabity Staternent on page 37
The Viabeity Statement mcludes an expiaraton of how the Directors hawe
assessed the prospects of the Company, over what penod they have done 3o and
why they consider that penod to be appropnate It also indludes a staternent that
the Drreciors have a reasonable expectabion that the Group can continue n
operation over the thrae-year longer-term viabikty penod

The Board delemmunes the Campany's sk appelite and has established nsk
management and nternal contrad systerms. At least annually the Boarc
undertakes a review aof thewr effectveness. Further delails are set out on pages 31
and 57

The Company operates a robust internal contral framework winich 5 rounnely
monitored through & cominnanen of cerification, self-assessment and internal
audit revews, complemented by a sound sk management process This process
1§ overseen by the Aulit and Rk Comrrttee

C.3 Audit committee and auditor

The Audrt and Risk Committee Report on pages 54 1o 57 sets out deals of the
corrpositon of the Committee, inciuchng the expertise of members, and outines
how the Commuttee has discharged s responmbilities dunng 2018

The Board hes delegated a number of responsibibtses to the Audit and Risk
Committee, ndhuding finane of and nareateve reporting, management of the
exernal and mternal aucht processes, miternal control, and nsk managerment
systems Full detars are set out vt the terms of reference tor the Committee
pubished at wwwy specins com

D.1 The level and components of remuneration
The Remuneraton Report on pages 60 1o 78 outhnes the implemeniation
of remuneraton dunng 2018, incfuding salary, bonus and share awards

Delats of John O'Higgins rermuneratron rédatng 10 his non-execulve direCtor
role at Johnson Matthey dunng the penod of his dreciorshy and Clive Watson s
remuneration refatng to his non-exaculive duector role at Sprax-3arco are set out
on page 77

The Board beleves that the cusrent Remuneration Pohicy as approved by
shareholders at the 2017 AGM, remains appropnate and it for purpose The
Board conwders that Execuirve Direcior rernuneration s an appropnate balance
between fued and performance related, immadiate and deferred remuneration,
wath the latter beng subject to demanding performance conditians alrgned with
the Group's strategic objectives, ncuding appropndte crcumstances lor Spectns
to recover surns pard or 1o withhold payment of sums

0.2 Procedure

Dunrg 2018, the Remuneration Commitlee compnsed four Non-executrve
Drrectors and has delegated authority for setung the remuneraton of the
Executve Duectors and the Charman The aes payable to the Non-executive
Drectors are determmiad by the Board Full details of responsibrhities are set out
in the teqrrs of relerence for the Commuttee, avadable at weaw spectns com

Ounng 2018, PrcewaterhouseCoopers LLP acted as the mdependen
remuneration adwiser to the Remuneration Committee

Dunng 2018, no ndmciual was present when thesr o remunaration was
being dscussed

E. Relations with shareholders

£.1 Dialogue with shareholders

The Board recogrises that mearingful engagement wih institutonal and retadt
shareholders 15 integral to the contumang success of the Company  Throughout
the year, the Board has sought 10 actvely engage wath sharehokders on a number
of occasons through meetings and roadshows

Shareholders representing n excess 0f 2 5% of the Company's sswed share
capsial recene a standing wvitabon to meet vath the Chairman, the Seruor
Independent Drector or Nor-executive Dectors Such meetings supplement
but de Aot replace the regular meetings wath the Chref Executie and the Group
Finarce Director The Board 15 kept nformad of the views, needs, expectations,
majpr ssues and concerns of sharehwoiders through penoth reports Nduding,
but not imited to market feedback on mwvestor relabons sharehoiding analyss
and consensus

£.2 Constructive use of general meetings

The next AGM will be held on 24 May 2019 and 1 an opportumty for
sharehoiders O vote on certan aspects of Group business, in gerson and have
the opportunity 10 meet and questicn the Chairman and Board members

The resuits of proxy votes are avallable a1 the AGM These are then publisheg
on the Corpany’s website

At the AGM m 2018, there were no sgnificant voles against any ¢f the
resolution; put befoe shareholders
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OIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT

On behalf of the Board, 1 am pleased to present the Group’s 2018
Remuneration Report The Report covers the required requlatory
mformation, balanced aganst commerai2l sensitivibies, and akso
prowdes further context and nsight into our Executive pay
arrangements The fuli Remuneration Polcy can be viewed on the
Group's website A sumimary overview of the Directors’ annuai
remuneration framework i provided on pages 62 to §5

To better tughlight the remunerabon structures apphcable to

the Executive Directors, and therr relative payrnents under those
structures for the year ended 31 Decernber 2018, a detalled
dlustration of actual payments, set against the maxmum amounts
permissible under the Pohcy, 15 set out on the opposite page

Executive remuneration

The Committee was dosely involved with the remuneration
arrangements in relation to the departure of john O'Higgins and
the recruitment of Andrew Heath as Chief Executive Detads of the
{eaving arrangements for John can be found on page 70 of this
Report and on the Group's website and a summary of Andrew’s
remuneraton 5 set out on the oppostie page | am pleased that we
not only secured the employment of Andrew wathin the framework
of our exrsting Remuneration Pohcy, but that we were able to
better align Andrew’s overalt rernuneration to the wader workforce
by setting his annual pension contnbution at 20% (John O'Higgins
received a 25% contribution)

i January 2019, the Group announced that Derek Karding would
join the Board of Spectnis as Chief fmancal Officer Oesignate on

1 March 2018 flollowing the decision by Clive Watson 1o retire
Derek’s rernunetation will also be within the framework of our
existing Remunerauon Policy with a base salary of £475,000 and
an annual pension cantnbution of 15% {(Clive Watson receved

8 25% contnbution) All other terms are on the same bass as the
incumbent Derek’s salary was set with reference 1o his prewious
remuneration, external benchmarking and reflects his level of
experignce and the enhanced role that he will take in the Group's
strategic review He will also be taking on broader responsitilites
as we realign the role of the centte with the new strategy Full
drsciosure of Derek’s remuneraton wall be prowided i the 2019
Buectors’ Remunerahon Report

44 | am pleased that we secured the
employment of Andrew Heath
and Derek Harding within the
framework of our existing
Remuneration Policy.

In our reflections on making these arrangements, the Committee
agrees that our Remuneration Policy continues 1o provide
appropriate flexibility, while also ensunng that any payments rmade
n the implementation of the Policy are n the best interests of both
the Group and our shareholders

The Group's performance in 2018 was good with increases in both
tike-for-ike sales and profit The Group actueved a 3% increase in
adjusted profit before tax and a 7% increase in adjusted earnings
per share (see Note 2 to the Financial Statements for details of the
basrs of adpsstment) This comtnbuted 1o bonus outcomes for 2018
of 59 7%, 53 7% and 60 9% of maxmum bonus opporturaty for
Andrew Heath, John O'Higgns and Chve Watson, respectively

Corporate governance developments

The Committee has closely monitared external gavernance
developrments dunng 2018 and, in particular, has rewewed the
requirements of the 2018 UK Corporate Governance Code and
The Companies (Miscetlaneous Reporting} Regulations 2018

The Commutiee agreed new terms of reference in Decernber 2018
together with a revised workplan and will report in detail on s
wark to comply with the new reguirements in the 2019 Annual
Report and Accounts

Durng 2019, we wall reflect further on the suitabiity of the current
Remuneralion PohCy based on the Group’s evohang strategy and
structure, wider workforce rermuneration and related pofkies and
the abgnment of the Graup's appraach to remuneration wath ts
culture These reflections will form the base of a proposal to be
put to shareholders at the 2020 Annual General Meeting for the
approvai of the Group’s Remuneration Policy

This Directors’ Remuneration Report wall be subject to an adwisory
vole at the AGM on 24 May 2019 and we Jock forward to
recening your continued support Together with the rest of the
Board, 1 alse look forward 1o heanng your views on our
remureration arrangements and we wall be avaiable to answer
any questions yau may have

Russell King
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
19 February 2018

This Directors’ Rernuneration Report for the year ended 31 Decernber 2018 comphies wath the requirements of the Listing Rules of the
UK usting Authonity, Schedule 8 of the Large and Medum-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations
(Amendment) Regulations 2013 and the prowisions of the 2016 UK Corporate Governance Code
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REMUNERATION AT A GLANCE

[n

. . Q

Executive Director single total figures of remuneration 2018 Bonus actual vs, policy maximum 5
The table below summarses each Executwe Dector's sngle tota fgure of remuneration The charss below show the 2078 actual bonus eamed and potential Maximum GEPOMUNTy 3
for 2018 Full detanls are drclosed on pages 66 10 69 o respect of each Executive Drrector based on thew base salary {pro-rated on 3 vme served g
[a]

m

hass i respect of Andrew Heath and John ('HiIggins}

‘The fixed elements of pay sndude base salary penson, benehils i king, tavabie expenses
ang all-employee share plan parvapation The stated higures n respec of Andrew Heath
and John O Hggirs are pro~ated 10 rellect me served as a Drectof dunng 2018 The
figures in respect of the Performance Share Plan relate to awards granted in 2016 wihich
are due 10 mature an 23 February 201% and are, m part. based On esurnated vesting levels

| 1\ |

Remuneration outcomes in different performance scenarios
The chars betow lustrate the pvo-rated remunerabion outiurns a2 target and mammurn opportuny in respect of each Executve Dmector for 2018 For coMpanson purposes
the annuaised figures 1 respect of each Cheef Executive who served dunng 2018 dre aiso lustrated below

2018

2018 Annualised

Note Each coloured bar shows the percentage of the tetal
compnsed by each of the pans

2018 Qutcomes - incentive Plans
The charts below show the percentage of maumum honus opportuzity earmed by the Executwe Orectors, pro-rated on a wme served base, 1n respect of the 2018 finanaal yeas 10gether
with the estimated vesung outcomes of the PSP awaids granted in 2016, axpressad as 3 percentage of 1012 award Fusther delars are set out on pages 66 to &9
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DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT continued

Summary of Remuneration Policy and 2019 implementation

Qur Remuneration Polcy was approved by sharehalders at the AGM on 26 May 2017 and took effect from that date tn kne with current
reguiations, this palicy may operate for the next three years at which point it will be reviewed and shareholder approval of a new

remuneration pohcy will be sought at the 2020 AGM at the latest A summary of the key features of the Remuneration Policy, along wath
its unplementation for 2019, are detaled in the tables helow

Remuneration Policy summary

Element

Base salary/fees

Annual bonus

Performance Share Plan ('PSP’)

Purpose
and {ink to
strategy

H

Compentive fixed

remuneration that enables

Speciris 1o aitract and
retan key executives

>

Drwes short-term profit performance
Incentvises Executve Directors

10 achieve speafic pre-deternmined
stretching objectives relating

to Spectris and the indradual's
persanal responsibilires

+ Drives the dehvery of sustained
compound annual growth wn
earnings per share ('EPS’),
relative out-performance in total
shareholder return UTSR') and
mcrease iy economic profit ('EP')

Operation

Normalfy

reviewed annually
Benchmarked trienmally
agamst relevant
comparators

v

- -

-

-

Bonus potential set at a market-
competitive rate

Payable 1n cash

Bonus based on annual

performance targets

Bonus payments in excess of 60%

of salary must be used 10 acquire
shares in Spectris until the mummum
required sharehoiding (300% of base
salary) 15 achieved

Nao further bonus deferral
arrangements are currently

N operation

Clawback provisions enable varable
remuneration 1o be reclaimed under
exceptional arcumstances in the event
of any miscalcutation of entitlement,
misstaternent of accounts or inadence
of fraud

Awards made annually with
performance conditions based
over 3 three-year penod
Two-year holding penod for

2\l new awards

s Post-tax benefit of any vested
PSP awards must be applied 1o
the acquisttion of shares until the
required level ot shareholding

1s achieved

Clawhack prowisions enable the
Committee to recoup the value
of previously vested awards from
an mdivigual wathin three years
of the end of the relevant
performance penod +f it considers
it appropiriate in the event of

2 matenal correction of financial
results previously used 1o assess

a performance condition or if
performance was otherwise
shown 10 be matenally worse than
was believed when a performance
condition was assessed

Maximum
oppartunity

Increases limited to the
average mcrease for
general UK wage inflation
The Committee retains
the discretion to award
increasesfreductions in
excess ofoelow this o,
and where, # deems
appropriate

Performance
metric

Reflects the role and the
Director's skills,
periormance and
expernence, referenced to
3 level at or moderately
below the comparator
group’s median

Maximumn apportunity 1s based

on base salary

» 150% Chiet Executive

» 125% Group Finance Director
Bonus starts accruing from threshold
levels of perormance

» 200% of base salary

-

The Commttee may deterrmine
appropriale performance measures,
which are assessed annually

A minimurn {threshold) level of
performance vall resylt i a bohus
of 1% of base salary At target,

the bonus teve! for each Executive
Director is 60% of base salary

The Committee may determine
appropriate performance
measures and vesting levels

for awards

s 20% of award shares vest on
achievernent of mimimum
perfarmance and 100% for
maumum performance
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Full details of the Policy are set out on pages 76 to 82 of the Campany's Annual Report and Accounts 2016, a copy of which 15 available
on the Company’s website wavw spectas com or, upon request, from the Company Secretary at the Company’s registered office address

Benefits in kind

Pension and other
benefits in kind

All-employee share plans

Sharehoiding
ownership guidelines

» Market-competitive
benefits in kind
enabling Spectris
to attract and retan
key execunves

» Market-competitive
defined contribution
pension, enabing
Spectrs to attract and
retain key execulives

+ The Spectns all-employee share plans
are operated to encaurage share
ownership by employees, allowing
them to share in the long-term
success of the Group and algn therr
interests with those of sharehoiders

» To encourage share
ownership by the
Execunve Directors and
ensure that thewr \nterests
are aligned with those
of shareholders,

» Benefits in kind include
COMpany cars or
allowances, private
fuel, medical
msurance and life and
disabilaty insurance,
and are benchmarked
penodically

> Pensions are
benchmarked
periodically

» Executive Directors are able to
partuipate in the Group's
afi-employee share plans on the same
terms as other Group UK employees

» Currently, the Group operates an
all-employee Share Incentive Plan
('SP whereby an employee may
purchase Spectris shares at market
pnce, using gross salary up to
a maximum of the level allowed
by HMRC For every five shares
purchased by an employee under the
SIP, the Company will award one free
Matching share Matching shares
are subect ta forfeiture if the
employee leaves the SIP within
three years

» The SIP replaced the Spectns Savings
Related Share Opution Scheme ((SAYE
Scheme’}

» Each Executve Director
is required to budid
a retained shareholding
tn Spectnis of at least three
times base salary i value
within five years of being
appownted to the Board

» Post-tax benefit of any
vested PSP awards or any
bonus payment exceeding
60% of base salary must
be apphked t0 the
acquisition of shares until
the required level of
shareholding s acheved

» Total benefits hrmited
0 £30,000p 2

A departing gift may be
provided up to a value
of £2,500 per Director
(applies 1o both
Executive and
Non-executve
Directors)

» Maximum 25% of base
salary as taxable cash
allowance i heu of
peENsSION CONtNbutions
» 20% Chief Executive
» 25% Group Finance

Director (untl
1 April 2019)
» 15% Chief Financial
Offices {from
1 March 2019}

» HMRC lirmt £150 per month and
one free Matching share for every
five shares purchased

None apphcable

None applicable

None apphcable

None applicable

None apphcable

Spectns pic
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CIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT contnued

impiementation of the Remuneration Policy for 2019

Element Base salary/fees Annual bonus Performance Share Plan {'PSP")
Executive + Salares are reviewed with » 2019 maximum bonus and pecformance > Award fevel 200%
Directors effect from 1 April and no weightings of base salary
increases will be made 1o > Chief Executive 150% of salary of which  » Three-year
Executive Director salanes » 125% 15 based on adjusted PBT performance penod
n 29 v 25% 15 based on personal objectives » Two-year holding period
» Chief Financial Officer > Group Finance Director 125% of satary after initial three-year
Designate recrurted at of which performance period
annual base salary ot » 100% 15 based on adjusted PBY » Performance measures
£475,000 with next » 25% s based on personal objectves remain unchanged with
expected salary review » The perfarmance thresholds and one-third weightings to each
based on market rate to corresponding percentage of of growth i adjusted EPS,
take place in Apni 2020 maximum bonus payable for 2018 TSR and EP
are determined by the Commutiee > Performance metrics will be
» A minimum {threshold) level of the same as those stated for
performance will result in a bonus of 1% 2018 awards as detailed on
of base salary At target, the bonus level page 75
15 60% of base salary comprising 50% » No buy-out awards were
based on PBT and 10% based on granted n respect of the
personal chjectives appontment of either the
1 Clawback provisions enable variable Chief Executive or Chief
remuneration 10 be reclaimed under Financial Officer
exceplionat circumstances in the event v Dividends are accrued and
of any miscalculation of entitiernent, pard n shares
misstatement of accounts or incidence
of fraud
Non- No increase in fees or None applcable None applicable
executive changes 10 the fee structure
Directars fee arrangements will be

reviewed 1n Decernber 2019

Recruitment remuneration

The Company's policy on the recnatment of Executive Directors 1s 10 pay a fair rermunerabion package for the role being undertaken and
the experience of the Executive Director The Remuneration Commuttee will determine base salary in hne with the current Remuneration
Policy andg having regard to the parameters and iimuts set out in the future implementauon table Incoming Executive Directars wall be
entitled to pension, benefit and incentve arrangements, which are the same as provided (0 existing Executive Directors although the
Committee may exercise its discretion to vary those efernents of remuneration wathin the manmum levels set On that basis, mcentve
awards would not exceed the maxwmum levels of 350% of base salary in the case of 2 newly appointed Chief Executive and 325%

of base salary 1n the case of a Group Finance Director

Where an existtng emplayee 1s appomnted as an Executive Director, any vanable pay element awarded i respect of the prror role may either
continue on its original 1eims or be adjusted to reflect the new appointment

The Commuttee may also agree that the Campany will meet certain relocation expenses as it considers agproprate

in recognition of the fact that a new Executive Director may have to forfeit sizeable cash bonuses and share awards if they choose to leave
thewr former employer 1a jon Spectrs, the Comenittee has the abitly to compensate incoming Executne Directors for incentive awards they
gwe up on Joining Spectris. The Remuneration Commuttee will use its judgement in determsnung any such compensation, will only provide
compensation which 1s no more beneficial than thal given up and will seek 10 rephicate forfeited share awards using Spectns incentive plans
ar through reliance on Rule 9 4 2 of the Listing Rules

Termination arrangements

The Company's policy regarding termimation payments 1o departing Executive Drectors is to imit severance payments to pre-established
contractual arrangements The contracts permit the Committee 10 imake payment in respect of base salary, pensions ang benefits on a
monthiy basis with payments reducing or ceasing If the departing indwvidual finds another position dunng the notice penod However,

the Committee reserves the power 10 negotiate a single lump-sum an termination If it considers that to be in the interests of the Company
and wifl have full regard to the duty to mitigate if it does so in some circumnstances, addivonal benefits may become payable to cover
gutplacement fras and legal fees.
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g
3
Pension and other Sharehoiding §
Benefits in kind benefits in kind All-employee share plans ownership guidelines 32
[
» No change to benefits » Percentage of base » The Executive Directors have the » 300% of base salary
11 kind provided salary as taxable cash opportunity to participate in the wathin five years of date
allowance :n heu of all-emplayee SIP, as approved by of appointment
pensian contributions shareholders at the 2018 AGM,
v 20% Chief Executive on the same terms as othear
» 25% Group Finance Group UK employees
Director {until 1 Apnl  » No further grants will be made under
2019 3t the latest) the SAYE Scheme

y 15% Chief Financial
Officer (from
1 March 2019}

None apphtable None applicable None applicable None apphcable

Ordinanly, no bonus payments would be made and alt share awasds would lapse following termination However, under certan
arcumstances, such as good leaver provisions covenng retirement and IEl health, bonus entitierment may be payable, calculated to the
date of tlermination Additionally, awards made under the PSP will remain exercisable subject to time pro-rating and the appiication of

the performance conditions at the measurement date The Committee retans discretion 1o vary or disapply time pro-rating for PSP awards
for good leavers where It considers it {air and reasonable to do so or to allow good leavers’ PSP awards to vest at the date of termination
(subject to tme pro-rating and the apphication of the performance measures) in exceptional cases Likewnse, on a change of contral,

PSP awvards may vest in accordance with the rules of the plan and subject to tme-pro-rating and performance conditions

Vested PSP awards which are subject 10 a holding penod will not normally be forfeted on termination (except in the case of gross
misconduct) and the holding pericd will continue to apply The Committee has the discretion to release awards early from the holding
penod In appropnate cases such as death or il health

The Remuneration Committee retains discretion to alter these prowisions on a case-by-case basis following a review of arcumstances and
to ensure fairness for both shareholders and Executive Directors

Details of an out-going Executive Director's remuneration arrangements wall be published on the Company’s website around the time
of leaving

Consideration of remuneration conditions elsewhere in the Group

The Comenittee considers the remuneration and employment condiians elsewhere in the Group together with cutrent market practice
when determining remuneration for the Executive Directors in addition to the UX comparator group set out on page 70, the levels of
remuneration, annual bonus and PSP awarded to the Presidents of each of the Group's operating companies are taken into consideration,
notwithstanding that these reflect such businesses’ particular trading positions and the geographical and technical employment markets
n which they operate However, the Committee does not consult specifically with employees on the Reruneration Policy

Consideration of shareholders’ views

The Committee takes Into account the views of the Company’s shareholders and best practice guidelines set by sharehoider representative
bodies whern determining remuneration {or Executive Directors The proposals for the 2020 Remuneration Policy will be the subject of
consultation with the Company's sigirficant institut:anal sharehotders and thesr representative badies and their feedback will be
incerporated into the final palicy submitted for shareholder approval at the 2020 AGM

Details of the votes received an our Remuneration Policy at the 2017 AGM and 2017 Directors’ Remuneration Report at the 2018 AGM
are provided on page 77
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DIRECTORS" REMUNERATION REPORT continued

This section of the Report sets gut the details of the implementation of the Remuneration Policy dunng the 2018 financial year Details of
how the Committee intends to implerment the Policy dunng 2019 are summarised in the table on pages 64 and 65 This part of the Report,
together with the Committee Chairman's Statement, Summary of Remuneration Policy and 2019 implementation, and the mformation on
the Remuneration Cormmitiee, form the Annual Report on Remuneration which 15 subject to an advisory shareholder vote at the 2019
Annual General Meeting and contains both unaudited and audited information The audited sections of this report are clearly identified

Executive Directors’ remuneration

Single total figure of remuneration {audited)
The single total figure of remuneration of each Executive Director who served duning the year is a5 follows

£ Pension- F AN

B Taxable refated employee
£000 A Base solary benelits C Bonus D PSP benefus share plans Toal
Andrew Healh' 2013 203 6 182 - 41 - 432
2017 - - - - - - -
John O'Higgins® 2018 457 14 368 1,012 114 - 1,965
2017 597 19 718 151 149 il 1,643
Clive Watson 2018 386 17 294 643 a7 8 1,445
2017 378 16 359 96 35 — 944

Angdrew Heath was appoinied 10 the Board on 3 September 2018 His remunerauon & pro-raled from that date

Sohn O'Hggins stepped down from the Board on 28 September 2018 His remuneradton is pio-rated o that date

Includes restated 2017 figures to reflect actual westing of 2015 awards and estmated vesung for the 2016 awards due 10 mature in February 2019 Further detarls
are set cut an pages 68 and 69

[ -

Notes to single total figure of remuneration:

A. Salary (audited)

John G'Higgins and Clive Watson received a salary increase of 2% with effect from 1 January 2018 {consistent with average UK wage
inflaton) and Andrew Heath was appointed on an annual base salary of £610,000, 1n line wath the current Remuneration Policy

B. Taxable benefits

Taxable benefits included in the above single total figure of remuneration for each Executive Director are company cars, prvate fuel,
allowances pard n hew of company cars and private fuel, medical expenses msurance {including family cover) and life and disability cover
Details of the total value fo; 2018 are set out in the table below

MedcaV

Car and fuel healthcare
allowances cover Total
Executve Duector £ £
Andrew Heath* 5,055 613 5,668
John O'Higgins? 12,765 1,498 14,263
Clive Watson 15,287 1,612 16,899
Total 33,107 3,723 36,830

1 Taxable benefits pro-rated from date of appontment on 3 Septernber 2018

2 Taxable benefits pro-rated to date of siepping down from the Board on 28 September 2018

C. 2018 Annual bonus outcome (audited)

The maximum bonus opportunity for the Chief Executive remains unchanged at 150% of base salary, of which 125% 15 based on adjusted
profit before tax and 25% s based on personal objecuve performance measures The maximum bonus opportunity for the Group Finance
Director also remained unchanged at $25% of base salary. of which 100% 15 based on adjusted peofit before tax and 25% 15 based on
personal objectve performance measures The on-target bonus for each Execulive Director 15 60% of base salary, compnsing 50% based
on adjusted profit before tax and 10% based on personal objectives No bonus deferral 1s currently in operation other than the
requirernent to effectively defer bonus payments in excess of §0% of base salary into shares to satisty shareholding requirements The table
below sets out the annuat bonus earned by the Executive Directors in respect of the 2018 finantial year ncluding the financial tngger
points used 1 determining the leve! of bonus payabie

Actuat Group
perdormance/assessment Percentage
Bonus Elements of banus of perscnal objeciive Payout  of maximum
CpROumty Opparunmity On-1argel Maximum perigrmance f bonus
Andrew Heath' 150%  Group adjusied PBT 50% 125% 66 6% 135,420 44 4%
Persanal objectwes 10% 25% 230% 46,767 15 3%
Total 89.6% 182,187 538.7%
John @ Hggins? 150%  Group adjusted PBT 50% 125% 66 5% 304,166 44 4%
Personal objectives 10% 25% 14 0% 63,935 93%
Total 80.6% 368,105 53.7%
Chve Watson 125%  Group adjusted PBT 50% 100% 61 1% 235,888 48 9%
Personal objecives 10% 25% 15 0% 57,911 12 0%
Total 76.1% 293,800 60 9%

1 Andrew Heath's bonus 1s pro-rated from date of appointment an 3 September 2018,
2 John O'Higgins stepped down from the 8card on 28 September 2078 His bonus 1s pro-rated 1o that date His total 2018 bonus for the full year was £490,.806
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The adjusted profit before tax bonus range estabished by the Committee for 2018 was as follows
Bonus level {as percentage of maximum for this elemeny) 0% 50% 100/125% Actual

Adjusted profit before tax £213.9m £229.7m £2527m  £234 Bm'

1 Includes adiustments (o reflect the impact of 2018 share buyback programme and Progect Uphift costs Further details are set out below

For bonus purposes, the Committee believes that the Group adjusted profit before 1ax 15 2 more reflectve measure of performance,
rernoving certain lems from statutory profit before tax that may give a distorted wiew of performance  Adjustrnents 10 Adjusted profit
beifore tax are made to reflect the original target

The above adjusted profit before tax figure has been determined as follows

£m

Adjusted profit before tax' 241 4
Project Uplift costs? (10 B)
Adjustrments relating to the EMS Bruel & Kjar joint venture? 35
Additional interest due to share buyback® 07

Adusted prohit before tax for bonus purposes 234 8

1 Reconciled in Note 2 to the F.nancal Statements on page 108

2 Peoject Uphft costs were included in the targets

31 These sems adyust for the dsposal of EMS Brie! & Kjaer which was not envisaged i the targets

4 This tem adds back the addional mterest payable on loans due to the share buyback which was not envisaged n targets

The 2018 personal objectives for the Chief Executve and Group Finance Director covered a range of areas These objectives, and the
weightings accorded to each, are detafed below

Chief Executive ~ Andrew Heath
2018 Objectives Weighting Quicome

in supporl of the re-setting of the Group's stralegy 25% 23%

-

inthiated and led the Group strategic review,

Dewised and led a new profit impraovement programme,

Defined and agreed the core operational structure of the Group and the key management team required
to deliver on the Group’s strategy,

Led the Group’s coordinated approach to health and safety management, and

Provided clear emphasis on the importance of ethics and strong endorsement to the launch of the Group’s
Ethics and Comphance Enhancement Programme

-

-

Farmer Cruef Executive ~ John Q'Higgins
2018 Objecuves Weighling Quicome

Led the Group in 25% 14%

» The integration and delivery of investment plans far key acquisitions,

The continuation of the building of acquisition pipelines to grow the Solutions and Industnal business
platforms.,

Recruiting, driving and promoting the necessary talent for the delivery of the Group’s strategy,

The conunued focus of the Group's operational model, and

Ensunng broad and deep support for the Spectns Code of Business Ethics

-

Group Finance Director
2018 Objectives Weighting OCulcome

in support of the continued execution of the Group's strategy, the Group Finance Oirector 25% 15%

Strengthened the processes that support the financial disciphne of the Group.

Provided leadership and direction as the sponsor of Project Uphft, including overseeing the governance
of the project to achieve key milestones and projected costs and benefits,

Progressed the talent development strategy of the huigh potenual talent identufied within the Group's
finance community, and

Develfoped the Group's IT Function in¢luding the successful recruitment of a Group Chief

information Officer

-
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT continued

D. Pertarmance Share Plan {'PSP) (audited}

PSP awards 10 the Executive Directors are curmently structured 5o that one-third of the award 1s subject 1o an EPS target, one-thed 15 subject
to a TSR target and one-third s subject to an Economic Profit (EP°) target Each condition operates over a fixed three-year penod (keing the
three finankial years commenaing with the financiat year in which an award 15 made in respect of the EPS and EP conditons; and three
years from the date of grant w respect of the TSR condition) with no opportunity for re-testing The TSR pedformance condition 1s
measured independently by Aon Hewatt {Acn’)

PSP awards granted during 2018 (audited)

The table below details share opions granted 10 Executwe Directors, in hine with the Remuneration Policy, under the PSP scheme during
2018 The maximnum level of grant remains at 200% of base salary, caiculated according to the average of the dlosing share price over the
five days immediately prior to the date of grant The awards 10 john O'Higgins and Clve Watson were granted on 16 March 2018 Due to
Andrew Heath jowrung the Board part way through the annual share plan award cycle, his award was granted on 3 September 2018 and
pro-rated on the basrs of 5/12 of 200% of base safary A holding penod of two years apphes to all awards followsng vesting Full detaits

of the performance conditions are set out on page 75

Amounl vesting

Number of Threshold Maximum
8aus on shares performance  opportunity
Exercre whuch award under  Face value of shares Parformance (% of face (% of face financialperformance
Dvector price made option  at date of grant {f}  conditan apphed value) value) pencd
Andrew  Sp 5/12 of 21,372 5083127 Compound b 66% 3333% 1 Janyary 2018 to
Heath 200% of _growth in EPS 31 December 2020
base £P b 66% 3333%
safary TSR 6 66% 3333% 3 Septernber 2018 to
2 September 2021
Total 20% 100%
John 5p 200% of 44,600' 1,194,031 Compound 6 66% 3333% 1 January 2018 to
O Higgins base growth in EPS 31 December 2020
salary P 6.66%  3333%
TSR 6 66% 3333% 16 March 2018 to
15 March 2021
Tatal 20% 100%

Clwe Sp 200% of 18.280' 757,122 Compound 6 66% 3333% 1 January 2018 10
Watson base growth in EPS 31 December 2020
salary EP 6 66% 33.33%

TSR 6 66% 3333% 36 March 2018 1o
15 March 2021
Total 20% 100%

U These PSP awards are Iinked 10 a grant of market value share options known as Linked PSP awards No additonal gross value can be defivered from the exercrse
of the Linked PSP awards

2 Fate value based on the average of the dosing share pnce aver the five days immedialely pnor to the date of grant of 2,378 4 pence

3 Face value based on the average of the doang share prce over the five days immediately pror 1o the date of gran of 2,677 2 pence

PSP awards vested during 2018 (audited)

PSP awards granted in 2015 which matured in March 2018 vested 10 part on the TSR performance resuits to S March 2018 but did not

vest on the EPS and EP performance measures for the three financial years to 31 December 2017 The final outcome was 10 4% of the

total award vested on 6 March 2018 and the balance of award lapsed in full (see tables below) The singie total remuneration figure for

2077 has been restated to reflect this final outcome

Percenta
Performance weighted pedotman%: Percentage of
condinon Weighting Thiashold Actua) condiL.on vested 1013l award vesied
EPS One-third CPi+5%cpa CPl+36%cpa 0% 0%
TSR One-thud Median 31 6% {Median 28 1%)' 3120% 10 4%
£P One-third £250 milhon £3163 2 million 0% 0%
Total 10 4%
¥ TSR outcome based on the final TSR perormance results on 5 March 2038 Details of the comparator group are set out on page 71.
Tola number of
shares subrect 10 Face value a1 Vesti Vesin Renvested  Tolal vesting  Share price on
PSP aption at date of grant  percentage of nuner of dedend number o vesting date  Vesing value
£xecuiive Direcior date of grant £ 10tal award shares shares shares 6 March 2018 |3
John O'Higging 51.830" §.138.8097 10 4% 5,390 396 5,786 2,620p 151.324
Chve Watson 32,930' 7235387 10 4% 3,424 251 3.675 2.620p 96,114

I These PSP awards were hnked 10 3 grant of market value share 0pbans known as Linked PSP awards No additonat gross value was delvered from the execase of the
Linked PSP awards
2 The face value & based on the average of the dosng share pnce over the five days immediately pror 1o the date of grant of 2,197 2 pence
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PSP awards vesting in February 2019 (audited)

PSP awards granted i 2016 and maturing in February 2019 are subject to EPS, TSR and EP performance conditions The £PS and P
threshald targets in respect of the three financial years to 31 December 2018 were exceeded and, as a result, part of the award {(up to a
maamum of two-thirds will vest Based on the intenm TSR performante results provided by Aon as at 31 December 2018, the remaining
one-third of the award which is subject to the performance of TSR for the three-year performance pencd ending on 22 February 2019 may
vest subject to the final assessment of TSR on 25 February 2019 (see tables below)

ActualEstimated

perceniage weighted Actual/Estimated

Perfonimance performance condiuon  pescentage of total award

condition Weighung Threshoid Manmum Actual/Estimaze vested vested
CPl+ 5% CPt+ 13% CPl+ 875%

EPS One-third cpa C.pa or above cpa' 57 5% 19 2%
Upper quintite 41 9%

TSR One-third Median or above (Median. 14 8%F 804% 26 8%

£145 £275 milon
EP One-thied milli:on or above £196.8 million 51 5% 17 3%
Estimated total 63.3%

The EPS outcame figure has been calculated on a conwstent basts wath the EPS calculation in place on grant A full reconciiation from thes £PS outcome figure to the
Adjusied EPS higure (set out i Note 2 to the Financial Statements on page 109) s set out below

pence

Adjusted EPS {reported) 1649
Deduc Project Uplift cost net of tax 68)
Adusted EPS (after Project Uphtt costs) 1581
Net impact of share buyback

impact of share buyback - inarce charge [ )

Impact of share buyback - reduciian in shares (2 4) a9
Adjusted EPS (for PSP vesking purposes) 156 2

2 The TSR figures are estimates based on the intenm TSR perfarmance resuns as at 31 Decembier 2018 Delais of the comparator group ace et out on page 71

The vesung estmates included in the single total hgure of remuneration for 2018 are detailed in the table below

Total number

of shares Esumated Three-menth

subject o PSP veshn% Esumated Estmated Estmated 1013l average share
option 2t date  Face value 2t percenlage of vasting number reinvested  vesting number price a1 year Estimated
Executive Directot of grant  date of grant total award of shares  dwndend shares of shares eng  vesting value
John O Higgins 67,460 £1,155,995' 63 3% 42,674 3,148 45,823 2,21391p  £1,012,348
Clive Watson 42,860  £734,449" 63 3% 27,112 2,000 29,113 2.21391p £643,181

1 The Iace value is based on the average cosing share price over the five days immediately pror to the date of grant of 1,713 6 pence
Details of the performance conditions are set out on page 75

Vested awards are satishied n shares (normally treasury shares) with sufhoemt shares being sold to meet income tax and national msurance
contributions due on exercse, at the Director’s discretion, and the net balance of shares transferred to the indivdual Awards lapse if they
do not vest an the third anniversary of their award

E. Retirement benefits (audited)

Executwe Directors are entitled to a defined contrnbution pensian contabution fohn O'Higgins and Clive Watson receive 25% of base
salary and Andrew Heath receives 20% of base salary in hght of the pension hfetime allowance of £1 03 miilion and the maximum
annual pension contrtbution allowance of £40,000, the Executive Directors are entitied, at their option, 10 a taxable salary supplement
lieu of some or ali of such pension contrbutions All Executive Directors have chosen this option and each receves a cash payment in lieu
of participation in a Specins pension scherme No Executive Divector partiipated in a defined benefit pension plan duning the year,

nor cutrently participates in a defined benefit plan

f. All-employee share plans {audited)

Options granted to Clive Watson on 22 September 2015 under the Spectns Savings Related Share Option Scheme ("SAYE Scheme'}
vested on 1 December 2018 and were exercised on 3 December 2018 to acquire 1,036 ordinary shares at an option price of 1,737 pence
per share giving a total exercise value of £17 995 The option price was set at the ume of grant based on the cdosing mid-market price

of the Company's shares on 24 August 2015, being the last business day prior to the grant date Although the SAYE Scheme rules pesmit
the aption price to be discounted up to a maxmum of 20% of the market price at the time of grant, no discount was appled to the
opuan price The exercise price therefore reflects far value as at the date of grant The ciosing markel prce on 3 December 2018,

was 2,495 pence per share produCing a total gain on exeraise of £7 852 88
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT continued

Payments for loss of office or to past Directors {audited)

John O’Higgins

Under the terms of his service contract and n fine with the Remuneration Poficy, John O’Higgins 1s subject to a 12-month notice period
that commenced on 24 May 2018 following him stepping down from the Board on 28 September 2018, he remained an employee of
the Group and will remain an employee until 23 May 2019, during which time he will work to facilitate a smooth handover Dunng this
period, John wll continue o be pard an amount each month in respect of his salary, pension and benefits. The value of these payments
for that perad are salary £392,722 17, 25% cash pension contnbutions £38, 180 54, and car atlowance. £9,780 33 John 15 also entrtled
to hus contractual non-cash benefits of medical insurance and death in sennce benefit and eligible for a payment under the annual bonus
plan which will be subject to the performance conditions set, pro-rated 1o the date he ceases to be an employee and subject to malus

and clawback

John will not participate in the 2019 Performance Share Plan (PSP} award PSP awards made to him in 2016, 2017 and 2018 wall vest
on the onginal vesting date 1o the extent that the relevant performance conditions are met The number of shares under each award 15
reduced on a time pro-rata basss 1o reflect length of service up 10 cessation of employment with any dividend accruals calculated on
the final vesting amount and paid In shares All awards are subjact to the dlawback provisions set out in the relevant rules of the Plan
On vesting, the 2017 and 2018 PSP awards will alsa be subyect to a two-year holding period

Clive Watson

Under the terms of his service contract and 1n ine with the Remuneration Pohcy, following hus revrernent from the Board on 1 Apri 2018,
Chve Watson will remain an employee of the Group until 31 July 2019, during which time he wili facitate a smooth handover Dunng this
period, Clive wall continue to be paid an amount 1n respect of salary totalling £128,690, 25% cash pension contnbutions armounting to
£32,172 52, and car allowance ameunung 1o £5.055 He will also be entitied 10 receve his contractual non-cash benefits and be ehgible
for a payment under the 2019 annual bonus plan subject to meeting the apphcable performance conditions and pro-rated on a tme
served basis

Clive will not partipate in the 2019 PSP award His 2016 PSP wall vest in line with ardinary performance conditions in late February 2019,
PSP awands made to him i 2017 and 2018 will vest on the onginal vesting date te the extent that the relevant performance condiions
are met The number of shares under each award 1s reduced on a time pro-rata basis 10 reflect the length of sernice up 10 cessation of
employment with any dwidend accruals calculated on the final vesting amount and paid in shares All awards are subyect 1o the clawback
provisions set out in the relevant rufes of the Plan and the awards will be subject 1o a two-year holding penod.

Percentage change in the remuneration of the Chief Exetutive

The table below shows the percentage change in the salary and henefits of the Chief Executive compared wath the change in the
Executve team {excluting the Chief Executive) and in the Group's UK-based employees between the year ended 31 December 2017

and 31 December 2018 The Group-wide 2018 annual bonus outcomes and payments will be confirmed in March 2019 and therefore
estimated figures for UK-based employees have been used in the companson The Committee has sefected this comparator group on the
basis that the Chief Executve is UK-based and this provides a local market reference and a sufficiemly large comparatot group based on
a similar Incentive structure 10 the Chief Executive, and reduces any distormon ansing from currency and cost of ving differences in other
geographies in which Spectns operates For comparison purposes, the annualised figures for lohn Q'Higgins have been used

% change 2017-2018

Base salary Benefits Annual bonus
Chief Executive 2 0% 0 9% {31 6)%
Execuive team 17% 18 4% {21 %
Spectris UK-based employees . 4 6% © 30% {1 )%

Relative importance of spend on pay
The table below shows the relative expenditure of the Group on the pay of its employees in comparnison to adjusted profit before tax
and distributions to shareholders by way of dvidend payments and share buyback between the years ended 31 December 2017 and
31 Decernber 2018 Total employee pay 1s the total pay costs for all Group employees Adjusted profit before tax has been used as
3 companson as this 1s a key financial metnc which the Board considers when assessing the Group's financial performance

2018 2017

fm Em % change
Total employee pay 6317 600 & 6%
Dvidends paid during the year 68 2 632 8%
Share buyback 1005 - -%
Adjusted profit before tax’ 241 4 2342 3%

| Adjusted profit before tax s calculated a3 bewng the statutosy profit before tax 3s adjusted to exclude certam iters defined n Note 2 1o the Financiai Statements on
Page 108
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Total shareholder returmn performance
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This graph shows the value, by 31 December 2018, of £100 invested i Spectrs on 31 December 2008, compared with the value of £100
invested in the FTSE 250 Index {excluding investment trusts) on the same date This index has been chosen because it 5 a widely-recogrused
performance benchmark for large companies in the UK

The other points plotted are the values at interverung finarcial year ends

Historical Chief Executive remuneration

The table below shows the total remuneration figure for the Chief Executive for the current year and over the previous nine years The total
rerauneration figure Includes the annual bonus and PSP awards that vested based on performance in those years The annual bonus and
PSP percentages show the pay-out for each year as a percentage of the potential maximum

2009 2000 2011 2012 2043 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2018
John Andrew
Q'Higgsns Heath
Single total figure of
remuneration (£'000) 849 1,104 1,481 2995 2,172 1,122 729 1,388 1,611 1,965? 324}
Annual bonus
{% of maximum) 0% 95% 100% 70% 20% 18% 0%' 90% B0% 54% 60%
PSP vesting
(% of maximum) 33% 89% 100% 100% 100% 28% 0% 0%  10%? 63%* NIA

Bonus enutlement warved

Restated figure 10 reflect actual vesung of 2015 award

Pro-rated figures based on ume served as Chief Executve dunng 2018 ane months 1o 28 September 2018 for John O'Higgins and three months from 1 October
2018 for Andrew Heath

Estrnated vestng of 2016 award

[P

o~
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT continued

Non-executive Divectors’ remuneration

Chairman and Non-executive Directors’ fees
The fee structure for the Non-executive Girectors remaned unchanged for 2018 as set out below

2018 2017
£000 £000
Chairman (all-inciysive fee) 220 220
Non-executive Director basic fee 55 55
Sensor Independent Director fee 10 10
Charman of the Audit and Risk Committee 10 10
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee 10 13
Annual travel supplement to be pard to overseas-based Non-executive Direciors 15 15
Non-executive Directors’ single total figure of remuneration (audited)
The single total figure of remuneration for each Non-executive Director who served during the year s as follows
Basic fees Addional fees Taxable expenses Total
Direttor £000 £°000 £000 £000
Mark Wilhamson' 2018 220 - - 220
2017 132 - - 132
Russell Ksng 2018 55 20 - 75
2017 55 20 ~ 75
Kanm Bitar? . 2018 55 - ~ 55
2017 28! - ~ 28!
ulf Quellmann 2018 55 6* - 61
2017 55 - ~ 55
8¢l Seeger 2018 55 25 - 80
2007 55 254 105 90
Kjerst wiklund® . 2018 55 - - 55
2017 52 - - 52
Martha Wyrsch 2018 55 15¢ - 70
2017 55 15¢ - 70
t Mark Wilkamson jained the Board as Non-executive Charman on 26 May 2017 His 2017 fee « pro-rated from that date and 15 all-inclusve
2 Kanm fitar poined the fioard on 1 Suly 2017 His 2017 fee 15 pro-rated from that date and has been restated 1o reflect an overpayment cotrection
3 Kperst Wiklund joned the Board on 19 January 2017 Her 2017 lee 15 pro-tated brom that date
4 Bl Seeger and Manha Wyrsch {both based gverseas) recewved an addibonal annual travel supplement of £15,000 for the 2018 financial year (2017 £15.000)

included in thew respectwve additonal lees figures UIF Quelimann became ehigible 10 recerve this annual travel supplement with effect from 1 August 2018 and
he recenved a pro-rated travel supplement of £6.250 for the 2018 fnancal year

S BNl Seeger was rembursed for certain Iravel expenses dunng the 2016/2017 tax year amounting to £5,566 which HMRC subsequently deemed to be subject to UK
wrcane 3x producing a gross figure of £9,614 This tax babifity amountad to £4,048 and was part by Spectrs on his behall durng 2617 There was no tax labrdity
on reanbursed expenses dunng 2017/18 1ax year
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Additional notes to the Non-executive Directors’ single total figure of remuneration table

Membership of Board Committees
Details of each Non-executive Director's Board Comrmittee membershup and, where relevant, Committee Chairmanship, held dunng 2018,
and reflected in the addtional fee figures for the financial year, are outhined in the table below.

Non-executive Director

Mark Wilhamson Non-executive Chairman

Russell King Senior Independent Director and Chairman of the Remuneration Commitiee
Karim Bitar Member of the Audit and Risk and Rermmuneration Comrnittees

UIf Quelimann Member of the Audit and Risk and Remuneration Commitiees

Bill Seeger Chairman of the Audit and Risk Commuttee

Kjerst Wiklund Member of the Remuneration Commuttee

Martha Wyrsch Member of the Audit and Risk Committee

At the date of this report, all Non-executive Directors served on the Normnatiors Commuttee, for winch there was no addiwonal payment

Directors’ shareholdings and share interests (audited)

Directors’ sharehotding requirements

Each Executive Director s, subject to personat circumstances, required to build a retained shareholding in Spectnis ple of at least three
umes base salary in value within five years of appomtment and s required to apply the post-tax benefit of any vested PSP awards

or any bonus payments exceeding 50% of base salary to the acquisiuon of shares until this required level of shareholding s achueved
Andrew Heath was appointed on 3 September 2018 ang is m the process of building his shareholding Both John O'Higgins and

Clive Watson each have a holdng n excess of this requirement For companson purposes, annualised 2018 base salaries in respect of
Andrew Heath and John O'Higgins have been used to calculate ther respective required leve! of retained shareholding There 15 no such
requirement in respect of the Chairman or Non-executive Directors, who have discreticn as to whether to hold the Company’s shares
or not

Executive Directors’ interests in shares
The beneficial nterest of each Executive Director (including their closely associated persons) in the shares of the Company. as at
31 December 2018, 15 as follows

Shares held as at interesis s share plans
3t December 2018 No of shares to be Percentage of Total interests in
Director of leaving date' relaned’  requirement achweved’ pser SiP shares
Andrew Heath 21,500 80,298 27% 21,372 22 42,894
lohn O'Higgins 290,613 80,158 363% 157,440 - 448,053
Clive Watson 133.579 50,820 264% 99,910 38 233,927

Notes

1 John O'Higgms stepped down from the Board on 28 September 2018

2 Based on unrestncied shares held and the Company's dosmng share pnce on 31 December 2018, the last rading date of 2018 of 2.279 perce

3 PSPs are nominal cost share opbons of 5 pence Performance condimons apply. detaits of which are set out in the following sectons

4 Includes shares purchasad through, and Matching shares held in, the Company's all-employee Share incenuve Plan ('S1P) The Matching shares may be subject
10 forferture withun three years of awarg

Between 1 January 2019 and 19 February 2019, Andrew Heath purchased 13 Parinership shares and receved 3 free Matching shares
and Clwe Watson purchased 12 Partnership shares and receved 2 free Matching shares through the Company’s SIP
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT contimued

Executive Directors’ interests in share plans

P5P and SAYE
No of
Market shares No of shares
Perfarmance vaiue per subject to subject to
penod end Exercise share al  Face value a1 options at  Granted  Exercised Lapsed options at
Share  Date date/date Expney price date of date of grant 1 janua dunng during durng 31 December
Lirector_plan granted exercisable  date {oenced award {£} 201 the year  theyear  lthe yra/ 2018
Andrew Sept  Sept Sept
Heath PSP 2018 2021¢ 2028 5 23784 508312 - 21,372¢ - - 21,372
Total PSP - 1,31 - - 21,372
Jonn Mar  Mar Mar
O'Higgins PSP 2015 2018 2025 5 2,972 1,138,809 51,830% 396° 5,786 46,440 -
feb  feb Feb
2016 2019 2026 5 11,7136 1,155,995 67,460 - - - 57,460
Jun Jun Jun
2017 2020° 2027 5 2,6308 1.193.857 45,380 - ~ - 45,380
Mar  Mar Mar
2018 2023 2028 5 26772 1,19403 - 44 6004 - - 44,600
Total PSP 164,670 44,996 5,786 46,440 157,440
Chve Mar  Mar Mar
Watson PSP 2015 2018 2025 5 21972 723,538 32,930 251% 3,675 29,506 ~
Feb Feb Feb
2016 2019 2026 5 17136 734,449 42.860 - - - 42,860
Jun Jun Jun
2017 2020° 2027 S 2,6308 756,881 28,770 - - -~ 28,770
Mar  Mar Mar
2018 2021 2028 5 28772 757,112 ~ 28.280° ~ - 28,280
Total PSP 104,560 28,531 3,675 29,506 93,910
Sept  Dec n
SAYE 2015 2018 2009 1,737 11,7320 17,995 1,036 - 1,036 - -
Notes to the interestsin share plans table
Perfarmance Share Plan {PSP)

-

Sharehaidars approved the rules of the Spectns Performance Share Plan 2017 at the AGM held on 24 May 2017

2 The PSP awards are condiional nghts to acquie shares and are nominal cost options The exerase prce s the nominal value of 3 Spectns ordinary share, which i
5 pence

3 PSP awards 1o the Executnve Direciors are currently structured so that one-thurd of the award i subject to an EPS targel, one-third s subject to 3 TSR target and

one-third 1 subject o an Econarac Proht { EP) larget Eath condilion operates over a fued three-year penod {being the three financial years commencing with the

financial year n which an award 15 made i respect of the £PS and EP conditions, 2nd three years from the date of grant in respect of the TSR condition) wath no

opportunity fof re-lesting

PSP awards granied in 2017 and 2018 are subject 10 an addibonal two-year holding penod followang the rutial three-vear pertormance penod These PSP awards

will become available 1o exercrse at the end of the hakiing penod (which will be the fifth anniversary of the date of grant)

Under the termy of the PSP, addwonat divdend equivalent shares are awarded on e date the PSP award becomes exercrsable thereby icreasing the number of

award shares granted The value of these shares is equvalent 10 the Company’s dradends that would have been pawd (between the date of grant and the date the

PSP award becomes exercisable) on the vested shares under the PSP award These additonal award shares are structured as nibk Cost 0puons 5o the exerase phce 1s nit

& The PSP aweards granted 1o the Executive Directons i 2015 and 2018 are linked ta a grant of market value share optons {Linked PSP awards’} Such tinked PSP
awards are granted up to the HMRC's it of an aggregate value of £30,000, and have the same performance and vesting conditions 25 the PSP awards Lo which
they are nked No addibonal gross value was/can be dehvered from the exercise of the Linked PSP awards Further detads are 6t out in Note 23 10 the Financiat
Statements

7 The number of shares under option shown in the Tinal cotumn tor khn O'Higgins 15 35 at 28 Seplember 2018, which 15 the date he ceased 1© be a Director

Savings Related Share Option Scheme {'SAYE Scheme')

1 The Spectns Savings Related Share Option Scheme 2007 expred on 25 May 2017 and was replaced by a new SAYE scheme, on substantally the same terms,
on 26 May 2017 Thns Schemne 1s 3 HMRC tax-favoured sanngs-related share oplion scheme open (o all employees

2 No performance condiions ase attached 10 SAYE ophions other than contmuous Service No grants have been made under the SAYE Schesme since 2016

3 The face value of SAYE awands 15 caicutated usmg the exercree pece which s set at the date ol grant based on the dlosing rid-market share price on the day
immediately before the rvitation date Afthaugh the SAYE Scheme rules perma the option prce to be discounted up to a manmum of 20% of the market prce
at the ume of grant, no such discount was apphed 1o the opuon prce

v b

Share Incentive Plan ('SIP) 5
o1al No of shares held

No of shares held No of Partnership shares Ne of Matching shares within the SIP as at
at 1 fanuary 2018 purchased dunng the year awarded during the year 31 December 2018
Anglrew Heath - 19 3 22
Chve Watson — 32 [ 38

Motes

1 The Spectis Share Incenive Plan ('SIP') was approved by shargholders 21 the 2018 AGM Thrs schere 5 3 HMRC 1ax-favoured share purchase scheme open to a2 UK
employees The Executve Directons have the Opportunsty Lo parbicipate in the SIP on the same terms a5 other Group UK emplayees John O'Higgins did ot participate
1n this SIP

Under the SIF, Partnershis shares may be purchased each month at market value using gross salary up W 3 maximurn monthly value sel by HMAC {currently £ 150 per
month) For avery five Partnership shares purchased, the Company will award one free Matching share Al shares are held in trust by the SIP Trustees The Matehung
shares are subyect Lo forfeture withan three years of the date of award

~
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PSP performance conditions

The performance crteria for the awards granted in 2018 and 2017 are summansed as follows

Pertormance meltn¢

Perfarmance condition 2018

Percentage of award that vests
{expressed as a percentage of
one-thard of the 10tal number
of shares subjece 1o an award)

IUBUIZADD)

Earrings per share ('EPS") CPl+ 1% cpa

CPl+ 11% cpa

100%

Between (Pl + 5% and 1%

Between CP1 + 5% and 1%

Pro rata on 3 straight-line basis

cpa between 20% and 100%
CPl+5%cpa CPl+5%cpa 20%
Less than CPl + 5% c p a. Less than CPl+ 5% cpa 0%

Total Shareholder Return (TSR’ Upper quintiie or above Upper quintile or above 100%

Relative to the FTSE 250 Between mechan and upper Between median and upper Pro rata on a straight-hine basis
(excluding investment trusts) quintile between 20% and 100%
Median 20%
Below median 0%
Economic Profit {'EP°) £300 mthon or more £280 mithion or more 100%
Aggregate economi profit Between £ 180 milion and Between £150 million and Pro rata on a straght-line basis

over the financal performance  £300 milion

between 20% and 100%

penod £18Q million

20%

Less than £180 milhon

Less than £150 milhon

0%

The performance cntena for the awards granted in 2016 and 2015 are summansed as follows

Performance metnc

Pertprmance condition 2016

Percentage of award that vests
{expressed as 3 percentage of
one-thwd of the toral number
of shares subject to an award}

EPS CPl+13%cpa

CPl+13%cpa

100%

Between (Pl + 5% and 13%

Between CP1 + 5% and 13%

Pro rata on a straight-hne basis

cpa. between 20% and 100%
CPl+5%cCpa CPl+5%<¢pa 20%
less than CPl+ 5% cp a Less than CPI+ 5% c p a. 0%

TSR Upper quintile or above Upper quintle ar above 100%

Relauve to the FTSE 250 Between median and upper Between median and upper Pro rata on a straight-ine basis

(excluding investment trusts)  quintile

between 20% and 100%

Median 20%
Balaw median 0%
£8 £275 million or more £370 mullon or more 100%
Aggregate econormic profit Between £145 mithon and Between £250 million and Pro rata on a straight-hne basis

over the hnancial performance  £275 million

between 20% and 100%

pengd E145 milkon

20%

Less than £145 million

Less than £250 milhon

0%

Econgmic profiz s defined as adjusted operating profit (after Project Uphft costs) less average sronthly capal emmpioyed cultsphed by the Caompany’s weighted average
€ost of capital (WACC'), which was sat at 1% for the awards granted snce 2015 The WACC rate apphed 10 subsequent acquisitions incraases over the first three
years of ownership 10 11% Any imparment of goodwall and amorisanon of acquired intangible assets over a performance period wil be added back to capual
employed The TSR pedormance conditon s measured wdependently by Acn The EPS figure s obtamed trom the audited Binannial Slatements and the calkeuiation

of achievernent agamst growth condition is presented 10 and approved by the Committee The Committee will also monitor outcornes for the EP measure to ensure
that thay achweve the onginal objectves and may adiust the vesting accordingly Any exercise of drscretion will be justified in the next Owectors’ Remuneration Report
Simularty, the Commutiee must satsty nself that the Company's retatve TS perfomance is reflective of 1t undedlying financial performance
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT continued

Dilution limits

In ine with best practice, the use of new or treasury shares to satisfy the vesting of awards made under all of the Company’s share plans
(PSP and SAYE combimed) 15 restricted to 10% i any ten-year roling penod A further restiction apphes ta the PSP plan of 5% over the
same period of which 3 39% has been utiised

Chairman and Non-executive Directors’ interests in shares

The Charman and Non-executive Directors are not permitted to participate in any of the Company’s incentive schemes nor are they
required to build and retain a minmum shareholding n the Company They have discretion as to whether to hold the Company’s shares
or not The table below sets out the benefical interests in the ordinary shares of the Company of each cutrent Non-executve Director
(including therr closely assocated persons) during the year ended 31 December 2048

Shares held at

1 January 2018 (or
dete of appomntment Shares hetd at
Current Noa-enecutive Dyector ifiater) 31 December 2018
Mark Williamson 16,753 16,753
Russell King 3,000 3,000
Kanm Bitar - 1,330
Uif Quellmann 1,500 1,994
Bill Seeger 3,000 3,000
Kjerstt Wiklund - -
Martha Wyrsch 3,000 3,000

There has been no change 1n the inlerests in shares of the Chairman and Non-execuive Directors between 1 January 2019 and
19 February 2019

Share price
At 31 December 2018, the last trading day of 2018, 1the mid-market closing share price on the London Stock Exchange was 2,273 pence
per share The highest rmid-market closing share price in theyear was 2,308 pence per share and the lowest was 1,966 5 pence per share

Directors’ service contracts and letters of appointment

The Executve Directors have roling contracts subjedt to 12 menths’ notice of termnation by enther party, or 10 summary notice in
the event of senous breach of the Director's obligations, dishonesty, serious misconduct or other conduct bnnging the Company
nto disrepute

The contract of employment in respect of Andrew Heath provides for payment in hieu of notice on termination eguivalent to base salary,
pension and benefits but excludes any compensation for loss of bonus and 1 1n full and final settlement of all employment-related clams
Such payment may be paid in monthly mstalments for the duration of the notice period or as a lump sum and 15 subject to mitrgation

if alternatve employment 1s found dunng the notice period

The contract of employment in respect of Clive Watson contains an option, at the sole discretion of the Board, for the contract

1o be terminated by way of payments 1n hev of notice equivalent 10 1.4 tires monthly base salary for the outstanding months of the
notice penod Such payment accounts for the 25% employer pension contribution, company car, Insurance and fuel benefits; iife,
disabiity and medical expenses msurances, and settlement of any statutory emplayment darmns that may arise Upon termination,

but excludes any element of compensatan for loss of bonus and 15 n full and final settlement of all employment-related claims

All letters of appomtment in respect of the Non-executive Directors are renewable at each AGM. subject to review prior to proposal for
re-glection, and prowide for a notice penod of six months Ordinardly, appomntments do not continue beyond nine years after fust elecbon,
at which time Non-executve Directors cease to be presumed independent under the UK Corporate Governance Code
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The table below sumrmarises the current Directors’ service contracts or terms of appointment
Lenglh of service at

Date of contract Expiry date Notice perad 19 February 2019
Executive Directors
Andrew Heath 3 Sept 2018 Rolling contract with no 12 months 5 months

tixed expiry date

Clive Watson 1 Oct 2006 4 feb 2023 12 months 12 years 4 months
Non-executive Directors
Mark Wilhamson 26 May 2017 Renewable at each AGM 6 months 1 year 9 months
Russell King 12 Ot 2010 Renewable at each AGM 6 months 8 years 4 months
Kanm Biar 1 July 2017 Renewable at each AGM 6 months 1 year 7 maonths
Ul Quellmann 1 jan 2015 Renewable at each AGM 6 months 4 years 1 manth
Bilt Seeger 1 Jan 2015 Renewable at each AGM 6 months 4 years 1 month
Kjerst Wiklund 19 Jan 2017 Renewable at each AGM 6 manths 2 years 1 month
Martha Wyrsch ¥ lun 2012 Renewable at each AGM & months 6 years 8 months

External appointments - Executive Directors

E£xecutve Directors may retam any payrments received in respect of external non-executive appaintments held Such appointments are
normally hmited to one per Director al any time and ate subject 1o the approval of the 8oard Andrew Heath did not hold any external
Aon-executive appointments during 2018 Details of the payments receved by John O'Higgins (pro-rated 1o 28 September 2018 being
the date he stepped down from the Spectas Board) and Chve Watson for external non-executive appointrents held dunng 2018 are set
out In the table below

{omgany name Fee retained
John O'Higgins Johnson Matthey f47 467
Clive Watson Sprrax-Sarco Engineenng plc £66,595

Summary of shareholder voting on Directors’ remuneration
At the AGM held on 25 May 2017, shareholders approved the 2017 Directors’ Remuneration Pohcy by 98 46% of the votes cast and the
2017 Dwectors” Remuneration Report was approved at the 2018 AGM by 99 17% of the votes ¢ast, as detaded in the table below

Vores for Votes against Votes withheld
Number % Number % Number
2017 AGM Directors’ Remuneration Policy 93,190,031 9B 46% 1,445,329 153% 517,033
2018 AGM 2017 Directors’ Remuneration Report S8,570,343 99 7% 821,763 0 83% 43,894

Directors’ interests in contracts
No Director had during the year or at the end of the year any matenal interest 1n any contract of significance 1o the Group's business

Loans to Directors
During the year, there were ng outstanding loans to any Dwector
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DIRECTORS” REMUNERATION REPCORT continued

Role of Remuneration Committee

The Committee is responsible for recommending (¢ the 8oard the
Group’s Remuneration Policy, inclucing the remuneration
arrangements for the Chairman, the ExeCutive Directors, the
Company Secretary and members of the Executive Commuttee and
for the practcal operation of the Policy h reguiary reviews the
balance between fixed and vanable pay and the performance
conditions that attach to both short-term and long-term incentives
Environment, social and governance (ESG) factors are also
considered by the Commuttee when assessing the personal element
of Executive Directors’ performance The Commuttee also monitors
the level and structure of remuneration for operating company
Presidents and Managung Directors and takes into account
workforce remuneration and related policies and the alignment of
incentives and rewards with the Group's culture The remuneration
of Non-executive Directors 1s a matter reserved to the Board The
full terms of reference for the Remuneration Commitiee are
reviewed annyally and are available at www spectns com

Committee members and attendees
All members of the Comemittee are independent Non-executive
Owrectors During 2018, the members were

» Russell King (Chairman)
» Kanm Bitar

» UIf Quelimann

» Kyerst Wiklund

The Committee met fve times duning 2018 and detads of each
member’s attendance are disclosed on page 45 Only members of
the Commuttee have the nght 10 atiend meetings but other
individuats and externat advisers may attend by irmtation The
Chairman is invited to attend all meetings of the Committee
During the year, the Commuitiee also imted the Chief Executive and
Group Human Resources Dwector to attend meetings to prowvide
adwice to the Commuittee to alfow it to make nformed deciwons
The Deputy Company Secretary attends all meebngs as Secretary to
the Committee

No individual was present when their awn remuneration was being
discussed

The Committee also rmeets wathout management present and
received independent remuneration advice during the year from
PricewaterhouseCooper LLP (PwC') and independent infarmation
fram Aon Hewitt Limited (‘Aon’}

Advisers 1o the Committee

PwC was appointed as independent remuneration adwiser on 1
January 2018 ard prowded advisory support to the Commuttee on
vanous aspects of the Owrectors’ remuneration induding fee
benchmarking for the Non-executive Directors Duning 2018, PwC
provided certain project advisory senvices to the Company

Agn separately supports the Company in compiiing IFRS 2
share-based payment reporting on the Company's share plans and
TSR performance calculations in relabon to the Comparny’s PSP

Aon does not prowde any other seraces to the Comgpany Total fees
paid dunng the financal year 1o these advisers were. PwC £53,667
(2017 £ni¥) and Apn £12,300 (2017: £35,352) These fees were
charged on the basss of each firm's standard terms of business

Both PwC and Aon are members of the Remuneration Consultants
Group and adhere to #s Code of Conduct

The Committee is satisfied that the aclvice it received from these
firms dunng 2018 was objective and independent
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Activities in 2018
The key ssues considered by the Committee dunng the year
included

» 2018 Directors’ Remuneration Report
» Considering and finabising the remuneration arrangerments

» Executive Directors’ 2018 banus arrangements, target
performance measures and personal objectves

Review and approval of 2018 PSP grant levels and target range
for parfarmance measures

Reviewing the impact of the in-year share buy-back and also the
change in calculation of adjusted operating profit on the Group's
EPS metric to remave any enhancement

Reviewing ESG nisks i determirung Director remuneration and
agreeing that the current design of the Group’s incentive
arrangements did not pose undue ESG nsk

> Reviewing changes to the UK Corporate Governance Code and
agreeing a revised workpian to ensure that the Group remains
compliant with the Code

Annual performance evaluation

The Chairman of the Committee fed the annual evaluation of the
performance of the Commuttee for 2018, wath the results being
discussed by the Committee ang forrming part of the wader Board
and Committee evaluation discussion led by the Chairman,

The Committee was considered to have operated effectively during
the year

-

2019 Remuneration Committee Workplan
The planned facus for the Commuttee during 2015 wall be

» reviewang wader workforce remuneration framework and key
palices;

3 reviewang wider UK workforce pension arrangements,

+ reviewing CEQ average pay compared to UK workforce average

pay.

reviewing the relevance and appropriateness of the Group's

long-term incentive structure against the Group's strategic review

and market practice,

+ reviewing the Group's existing Remuneration Policy against the

Group'’s strategy, market practice, changes in the external

governance enwironment and investor guidance and

recommending any changes to the Board, and

developing and undentaking a proportionate investor

engagement programme in respect of the proposed .

Remuneraton Policy ahead of it heing put betore sharehoiders

for approval in 2020

On behalf of the Board

Russell Xing
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
19 February 2019

-
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DIRECTORS” REPORY

Overview of the information required to be disclosed

This section sets out the information required to be disclosed by the Company and the Group In the Directars’ Report in compliance with
the Companies Act 2006 (‘Companies Act'), the bisting Rules of the UK Listng Authonty ('Listing Rules’) and the Disclosure Guidance and
Transparency Rules ('DTR’) Certain matters that would otherwse be disclosed in this Directors’ Report have been reported elsewhere in
this Annual Report This report should therefore be read in conjunction with the Strategic Repart on pages 1 10 43 and pages 44 1o 78 of
the Corporate Governance Report which are incorparated by reference inta this Directors’ Report The Strategue Report and this Directors’
Report, together with other sections of this Annual Report and Accounts including the Corporate Governance Report on pages 44 (o 78
Incorporated py reference, when taken as a whale, form the Management Report as required under Rute 4 1 5R of the DTR

Disclosure Reported n Page relerence
Acquisitions and disposals Strategic Report 11, 28 and 29
Amendment 1o Artictes of Assocation Directors’ Report 80
Annual General Meetng Directors’ Report 80
Appointment and removal of Directors Directors’ Report 80
Authorty to affot shares Directors’ Report 81
Business mode! Strategic Report 6-7
Change of control Directors’ Report 80
Community and chantable giving Strategic Report 43
Corporate governance Caorporate Governance Report 44-83
Directors” conflicts of mterest Directors’ Report 81
Directors’ details Corporate Governance Report 46-47
Directors’ indemnity Dwectors’ Report 81
Drrectors’ responsibility statement Dhrectors’ Report 83
Disclosure of information to auditor Directors’ Report 82
Deversity, equality and inclusion Strategi Report 40
Employee engagement Corporate Governance Report 40, 50 and 51
Ernployee equal opportunities Strategic Report a0
Emnployee share plans Directors’ Repart 81
Employees with disabdities Strategic Report 490
Financial tnstruments Directors’ Report a1
Future developments and strategic prionties Strategic Repornt 14-15
Going concern Directors’ Repaort 81
Greenhouse gas emissions Strategic Report 42
Ongang drector trairung and development Corporate Governance Report 49
Polibical donations Direciors’ Report 81
Powers of Directors Directors’ Report 81
Principal nisks and risk management Strategic Report 31-36
Research and development actrnties Strategic Repoit 6 and 26
Restechions on transfer of shares Dhwrectors” Report 81
Restnclions on voting nghts Directors’ Report 3
Results and dwidends StrategiC Report 4
Rights and obligations attaching to shares Duectors’ Report 81
Share buyback Directors’ Report 81
Share capnai Directors’ Report 81
Substantial share interests Directors’ Report 82
Viability Statement Strategrc Report 37
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DIRECTORS” REPORT conuinued

Non-financial information statement and index

This staternent 1s made 1n compliance with the Companies Act 2006 and s intended 1o provide an understanding of our development,
performance and position on key non-financial matters The table below sets out where information relating to non-financial matters

can be located
Some of our relevant Page
Reporting requirement pohcies and standards ‘Whare to find oul more information reference
Anti-bribery and Code of Business Ethics  Ethucs and values standards 4 and 33
corrupuon Culture, integrity and commitment 10 our values 4 and 39
Ethics hothne 39
Ethical leadership 39
Prncipal nisk ~ Comphance with laws and regulations 33
Business model Our business model 6-7
Enwvironmental manters  Environmental policy Envirpnmental management 42-43
150 14001 Energy performance 42
Greenhouse gas emissions (GHG) 42
KPI - Energy efficiency 17
Employees Code of Business Ethics  Fair employment and diversity 40
Health and safety policy  Board diversity 49
QOHSAS 130013 Ermployee engagement and Workiorce Engagernent Director 50-51
SA 8000 Health, safety and wellbeing at work 41-42
KPI - Acdent incrdence rate 17
Principal nsks - Comphance with laws and regulations 33
- Pegple 33
Human nghts Human Rights policy Legal and reguiatoty compliance 41
Code of Business Ethics  Risk — Comphance with laws and requlation 33
Noa-financial KPls Energy efficiency i7
Acadent incident rate 17
Social matters Commurity mvolvement 43

Results and dividends

The results for the year are set out on pages 92 to 162
Adjusted operating profit for the year amounts to £248 3 rmilhon
(2017 £239 3 mithon}

An intenm doadend of 20 5 pence per share was pad on

9 November 2018 in respect of the half year ended 30 June 2018
The Board 1s recommending a final dwidend of 40.5 pence per
share, making the total dvdend for the year of 61 Q pence per
share {2017 56 5 pence per share) Dnadend details are gwen

n Note 9 to the Financial Statements Subject to approval

of shareholders at the 2019 Annual General Meeting, the final
didend will be paid on 28 June 2019 10 thase sharehotders

on the reqsier at 24 May 2018

Articles of Association {'Articles’)

The Company's Articles contain spectfic prowsions and restncions
regarding the Campany’s power 1o borrow money Powers relating
to pre-emptive nghis; the allotment of shares, and share buybacks
of the Company’s shares are also mcluded in the Artictes and such
authonues are renewed by shareholders each year at the Annuat
General Meeting The Arucies also give power to the Board 10
appoint and remove Directors and require Directors (o subrmit
themsalves for election at the fust Annual General Meeting
following their appointment and for annual re-election at
subsequent AGMSs. The Articles may be amended by specal
resolution of the shareholders The Company's Arudies are
available on the Company’s website. www spectris.com

Annual General Meeting {"AGM")

The AGM will be held at 12 30pm on Fnday 24 May 2019
at Great Fosters, Stroude Road, Egham, Surrey TW2(0 9UR
The notice of the AGM accompanies this Annual Report
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Auditor's re-appointment and remuneration

In accordance with section 483 of the Comparves Act, a resalution
for the re-appointment of Deloitte LLP as the Company's auditor 15
1o be proposed at the forthcommg 2012 AGM, A further resolution
15 10 be proposed at that meeting to authonse the Dwectors to
agree the remuneration of the auditor

Branches

Spectns Group, through varous subsidianes, has estabiished
branches in a number of different countries in which the
business operates

Change of control

There are a number of agreements that take effect, alter or
terminate upon & change of control of the Group following

a takeover, such as bank loan agreements and Company share
plans None of these are deermed to be significant in terms of
their potential iImpact on the business of the Group as a whole
It & also possible that funding arrangemenits for the Group's
defined benefit pension arrangements would need 1o be
enhanced fallowing a change of contral if that resulted in

a weakening of the employer covenant

The Company does not have any agreements with any Director
that wauld prowde for enhanced compensation for loss of office
or employment following a takeover bid

Directors

Details of the Dwectors who served during the year are set out

on pages 46 and 47, other than John O'Higgins who retred from
the Board on 28 September 2018 Diractors are appointed and
replaced in accorddance with the Articies, Companies Act, and the
UK Corporate Governance Code 2016 The powers of the Directors
are set out in the Articles and the Companies Act



Directors’ conflicts of interest

The Board has an established process to review at least annually,
and, if appropnate, authonse conflict or potenta! conflict of
interests Any transactional conflicts are reviewed as they arise
Directors are asked to review and confirm reported conflicts

of interest as part of the year-end process

Directors’ remuneration and interests

Detads of Directors’ remuneration and their interest i the
Company’s shares can be found in the Directors’ Remuneration
Report on pages 60 to 78

Directors’ and officers’ indemnities and insurance

The Spectns Group mamtains kability insurance for 1ts Directors
and officers The Directors, Company Secretary and members

of the Execuive Commuttee have aiso been granted a third-party
indernnity, under the Companies Act, which remains in force
Neither the Company’s ndemnity nor insurance provides cover

in the event that an indemnified ndwidual 1s proved to have acted
fraudulently or dishonestly

Directors’ powers

Subject to the Company’s Articles, UK tegislation and any
directions given by special resolution, the business of the
Company 15 managed by the Board, which may exercise
all the powers of the Company

Borrowing powaers
The Directors may exerqse all the powers of the Company
to borrow money

Pre-emptive nghts and new 1ssues

Subject to the Articles and apphcable laws and requlations, the
Directors may allot, grant options over, offer or otherwise deal with
or dispose of shares of the Company to such persons at such temes
and generally on such terms and conditions as they may deterrmine

Purchase of own shares and share buybacks

The Company was authorsed by shareholders at the 2018 AGM
to purchase in the market up to 10% of the Company’s issued
share captal, as permutted under the Company's Arucies

This standard authority 1s renewable annualiy, the Directors walt
seek 10 renew this authonty at the 2019 AGM

Following the sate of Microscan in October 2017, which

produced post-tax cash proceeds of £91 9 milion in March 2018,
the Directors commeniced a £100 mullion on-market share buyback
programme The Board considers the buyback process to be

a flexible distrnbution methed which prowdes shareholders with the
choie as to whether to participate The programme was completed
on 13 August 2018 and the tota number of ordinary shares

of 5 pence each purchased amounted to 3,825,802 shares
{representing 3 31% of the issued share capita {excluding treasury
shares) as at 31 December 2018} at an average price of £24 83 per
share All purchased shares were duly cancelled Details of the
impact of the share buyback on relevant performance metrics
related 1o the Perfarmance Share Plan and Annual Bonus Plar are
set out in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 67 and 69

Employee share plans

Details of employee share plans are set out in the Remuneration
Pohicy summary table on pages 62 and 63 and in Note 23 to the
Financial Statements on page 133

Financial instruments

Information on the Group's finanaal nsk management objectives
and pohoes, s exposure to foreign currency aisk, interest rate nisk,
hquidity nsk, crednt nsk and capital management 15 contained m
Nate 28 to the Fmanaial Statements on pages 144 to 146

BUBLUINOG

Going concern and Viability statements

Having reviewed the Group’s plans and available finanaal faciitres,
the Board has a reasonable expectatian that the Group has
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for at least
12 months foliowing the signing of the accounts For this reason,

1t continues o adopt the going concern basis In preparing the
Group's accounts, The Company's Viability Statement can be found
on page 37

Related party transactions

Related party transactions are set out in Note 32 to the Financal
Statements on page 147

Political donations

The Group’s pohicy 5 not to make any political donations and none
were made during the financial year 2017 nil)

Post balance sheet events
There were na post balance sheet events

Share capital

The share capital of the Company comprises ordinary shares

of 5 pence each, each share carries the nght to one vote at generat
meelings of the Company The authonsed and issued share capitat
of the Company, 1ogether with movements in the Company's
rssued share capital dunng the year, 15 shown i Note 22 to the
Financaial Statements on page 132 The Articles, available on the
Company's website, contan provisions governing the ownership
and transfer of shares

Shareholders’ rights and obligations attaching to
shares

Restrictions on shareholders’ rights

Al of the ssued and outstanding ordinary shares of the Company
have equal voting nghts, with one vote per share There are

no special cantrol nghts ataching to them

Aiteration of share capital and variation of nights

The Compary may reduce or vary the nghts attaching to its
share capital by special resolution Such matters are subject to
the relevant provisions of the Arucles and applicable laws and
regulations Further details in relation to nghts and restnctions
applying to the Company’s shares are set out tn the Articles

Transfer of shares

There are no restncions on the transfer of shares beyond those
required py apphicable law under the Articies or under any
applicable share dealing policy

Voting

Subject to any specal nghts or restnctions, every sharehaolder on
the Register not kess than 48 hours (excluding non-waorking days)
before the time fixed for a general meeting, will have one vote for
avery fully-paid share that they hold Shareholders may cast votes
either personally or by proxy. and a proxy need not be a
shareholcer Details relating to the appontment of proxies and
registration of votng mstructions for the 2019 AGM are set out

in the Natice of AGM accompanying this Annual Repart
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT continued

Substantial share interests

As 31 31 December 2018, the Company had receved formal notifications of the fallewing holdings in its ordinary shares in accordance
with DTRS

Shareholding in Percentage of ssued share
Spectns shares Date of notficabon  capital at date of noblcaton
Massachusetis Financial Serwces Company 12,754,748 12 Ot 2008 31 04%
Figebty Management & Research Company 6,403.655 23 Nov 2016 537%
Oppenhewmer Funds, Inc 5.720,217 15 Jun 2018 4 83%

No changes in disciosable holdings under DTRS have been notffied to the Company between 31 Oecerber 2018 and 19 February 2019
An updated list of the Company's major shareholders 1s available on page 163

Treasury shares
Shares held by the Company in lreasury do not have voung rights and are not eligible to recewve dwidends

Disclosures required under UK Listing Rule 9.8.4

There are na disclosures required to be made ynder UK Listing Rule 9 8 4 other than in respect of long-term incentive schemes, details
of which are set out in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 60 o 78

Disclosure of infarmation to auditor

The Dirgctors who held office at the date of approval of the Directars’ Report confirm that

» sa far as they are each aware, there is no relevant audit information, which would be needed by the Company’s auditor in connection
wath prepanng its aydit repart, of whuch the Company's auditor 1§ unaware, and

s each Director has taken ali steps that they ought 10 have taken as a Director in order 1o make themselves aware of any relevant audrt
information and to establish that the Company's auditor 15 aware of that information

By order of the Board

Mark Serféed
General Counsel and Company Secretary
19 February 2019
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in respect of
the Annual Report and the Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report,
Directors’ Remuneration Report and the Group and Company
Financiat Statements in accordance wath applhcable taw

and regulations

Under the Comparues Adt, the Directors are required to prepare
the Group and Company Financial Statements in accordance wath
International financial Reporting Standards (IFRS’) as adopted by
the European Unvon ('EU’) and Article 4 of the 1AS regufation and
have akso elecied 1o prepare the Company Finanaal Statements
1 accordance with UK Accounting Standards, including FRS 101
Reduced Disclosure Framework

Under company law, the Directors are required to prepare such
Finangiat Staternents for each financial year and must not approve
the Financial Statements unless they are satishied that they gve 3
true and far view of the state of affairs of the Group and Company
and of their profit or loss for that penod

in prepanng each of the Group and Company financial Statements,
the Directors are required 1o

» select accounting polices and then apply them consistently,

» make yudgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable
and prudent,

+ for the Group Financial Statements, state whether they have
been prepared in accordance with RS as adopted by the EU,

» for the Company Financial Statements, state whether applicable
UK Accounting Standards have been foflowed. subtect to any
matenal departures disclosed and explained in the Company
Financiat Statements, and

» prepare the Financial Staterments on the going concern basis
unless t1s inapproprate to presume that the Group and
Company wail continue in business

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting
recards that are sufficient to show and explain the Company's
transactions and disclose weth reasonable accuracy at any time the
finanoial position of the Company and enabie them to ensure that
s Finangial Statements comply wath the Companies Act 2006 They
have general responsibthty for taking such steps as are reasonably
open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent
and detect fraud and other regularites

Under apphcable law and requiations, the Direclors are aiso
responsible for prepanng a Strateg Report, Directors’ Report,
Drectars” Remuneration Report and Corporate Governance
Staternert that comply with that law and those regulations

The Dwrectars are responsible for the mamtenance and integnty of
the corporate and financial information included on the Company's
website Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and
dissermination of financial statements may differ from legislation

in other junsdictions

Directors’ responsibility statement
We canfirm that to the best of cur knowledge

» the Financial Statements, prepared in accordance wath the
apphcable set of accounting standards, give a true and fair wiew
of the assets, habilties, finanaial position and profa or loss of the
Company and the undertakings included in the consobdation
taken as a whole,

» the Strategic Report on pages 1 to 43 and the Direciors’ Repon
on pages 44 to B3 include a far review of the development and
perfarmance of the business and the position of the Group and
the undertakings included n the consolidation taken as a whole,
together wath a description of the principal nisks and uncertainties
that they face, and

» the Annual Report and Accounts taken as a whole, is farr,
balanced and understandable, and provides the information
necessary for shareholders to assess the Group's performance,
business madel and strategy

The Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report were approved

by the Board on 19 February 2019

By order of the Board

Clive Watson
Group Fyfance Diretor,

Andrew Heath
Chief Executive
19 February 2019
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INDEPENDENT AUDITQR'S REPORT TQ THE MEMBERS OF SPECTRIS PLC

Opinion
In our opinion:

the Financial $tatements of Spectris plc (the ‘Company’) and its subsidiaries {the ‘Group’) give a true and fair view of the
state of the Group's and of the Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2018 and of the Group's profit for the year then ended;
the Consolidated Finantial Statements have been properly prepared in accordance with international Financial Reporting
Standards {"WFRS’) as adopted by the Furopean Union;

the Company financial Statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice, including Financial Reporting Standard 101 ‘Reduced Disdasure Framework’; and

the Company Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006
and, as regards the Consofidated Financial Statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation,

We have audited the Financial Statements which compnse

H

H

H

*

the Consolidated Income Statement,

the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensve tncome,

the Consolidated and Company Statements of Changes in Equity,
the Consolidated and Company Statement of Financial Positon,

the Consohdated Statement of Cash Flows, and

the related Consoldated Notes 1 1o 34 and Company Notes 1 to 15

The hnangal reparting framework that has been applied m the preparation of the Caonschdated Financial Statements s apphicable law
and iFRS as adopted by the European Unian The financial reporting frarmewoark that has been apphed in the preparatian of the Company
financial Statements 15 apphcable faw and United Kingdom Accounting Standacds, ncudnig FRS 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework”
(United Kingdom Generally Accepled Accounting Practice)

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Intemiational Standards on Auditing (LK) {15As (UK)'} and apglicable law Our responsibiities
under those standards are further descnbed in the auditor's responstbilrties far the audit of the Financial Statements section of our report
We are independent of the Group and the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the UK, ncluding the Finanaal Reporting Councal’s {the 'FRC's’) Ethwcal Standard as applied to bsted pubkc interest
entities, andd we have fulfilied our other ethical sesponsibiliies sn accardance wath these requirements We confirm that the non-audit
servces prohibited by the FRC's Ethical Standard were not prowded to the Group or the Company

W believe that the audit emdence we have obtained 5 sufficient and appropnate 10 prowde a basis for our opinion
Summary of cur audit approach

Key audit matters The key audit matters that we identified in the current year were

s impawment of the carmyng value of goodwal! and other ntangible assets in two of the Group’s cash
generating units Concep! bife Soences (*C15") and Millbrook, and

» Recognmon and valuation of customer relationships mtangrle assets i the CLS acquisition

Materiality The materiality that we used in the Consohdated Financial Statements was £12 0 miliion which was
deterrmined on the basis of 5% of adjusted profit before tax
Scoping fFull scope audit work was completed on 47 components and speaified audit procedures were

undertaken on a further 20 components Our full scope and speafied audit procedures covered 70%
{2017 74%) of total Group revenue and 93% (201 7. 91%) of Group statutory profit before tax

Significant changes in A signuficant proportion of the Group’s matenal components are dassified as Tull audd scope

our approach components consistent with the previous year
Followeng changes in the Group structure, sk profile and ather qualitative factors we brought two
flew companents into scape for the year ended 31 December 2018 These new components were (LS,
which was acquired 1 January 2018, and Bruel & Kjaar EMS, which 15 a new jowtt venture entered nto
n May 2018
Another significant change 1s the removal of two key audit matters disclosed in our opinion in the year
ended 31 December 2017 These were
» Overnde in the appiication of the Group inventory provision accounting policy for obsclete, excess and

slow-toving inventory iterns, and

» Accuracy of provisions Tor taxation in respect of drndends receved from EU based companies

Thesa are no longer key audit matters as we do not expect that a reasonable probable movement in
these provisions 15 likely to have a matenial impact i the financal statements.
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Conclusions relating to going concern, principal risks and Viability Statement

Going concemn

We have reviewed the Directors’ statement on page 83 10 the
Financial Statements about whether they considered it appropuiate
to adopt the going concern basss of accounting in prepanng them
and thew denpfication of any matenal uncertainties to the
Group's and Company’s ability to continue to do so over a penod
of at least twelve months from the date of approval of the
Fmanaal Statements

We considered as part of cur ask assessment the nature of the
Group, its business model and related nsks including where
refevant the impact of Brexit, the requirements of the applcable
financial reporting framework and the system of internal control
We evaluated the Directors’ assessment of the Group's ability to
conbinue as a going concern, including challenging the underlying
data and key assumptions used to make the assessment, and
evaluated the Directors' plans for future actions in relation to their
going concern assessment

We are requited to state whether we have anything matenal to
add or draw attenttan to in relation (o that statement required

by Listing Rule 9 § 6R(3} and report o the staternent is materally
inconsistent wath our knowledge cbtained in the audit

We confirm that we have nothing material to report, add or
draw attention to in respect of these matters.

Principal risks and Viability Statement

Based solely on reading the Directors’ statements and considenng

whether they were congistent with the knowledge we obtained in

the course of the audht, Including the knowledge ohtained in the
evaluaton of the Directors’ assessment of the Group's and the

Company's ability to continue as a going concern, we are reqlsred

10 state whether we have anything matenal 10 add o draw

attenuon to i relation to

> the disclosures on pages 32 to 36 that descnbe the princpal risks
and explaim how they are being managed or mitigated,

» the Directors’ confwmation on page 37 that they have carmed
out a robust assessment of the panaipal risks facing the Group,
including thase that would threaten sts business maodel, future
performance, solvency or hiquidity, or

» the Dwectors” explanation on page 37 as to how they have
assessed the prospects of the Group, over what penoad they have
done so and why they consider that penod to be appropaate, and
their staternent as to whether they have a reasonable expectation
that the Group will be able to continue n operation and meet s
liabilities as they fall due over the penod of ther assessment,
induding any refated disclosures drawang attention 10 any
necessary quahfications or assumpuiens

We are also required to report whether the Directors’ statement

relating 1o the prospects of the Group required by Listing Rule

9 8 6R(3) 15 materally inconsistent with our knowledge obtained

m the audit

We confirm that we have nothing material to report,
add or draw attention to in respect of these matters.

Spectrs plc 85

SIUBWBIELS [BOURLIY



INDEPENDENT AUGITOR'S REPCRT TO THE MEMBERS OF SPECTRIS PLC continued

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are thase marters that, in our profesonal judgerment, were of most significance n ur gudit ot the FRancial Staternents
of the current pennd and nclude the Most sigrificant assessed rsks af matena! misstatement {whether or not due 12 Traud) that we
wenpiied These matrers mcluded thase whkch had the greatest effect on the overall audht strategy, the alocalion of resturces in the audit,
and direcing the etforts of the engagement team

These matiers were addressed in the context of our audhl of the Fiiancyal Statements as a who, and in forming our opinion thereon, and
we o not provide o sepacale OpIvon on these matters

Imparment of the tarrying value of goodwill and other intangible assets

Key audit matter
descnpion

@

Total goodwad and mtangible 2ssels at 31 Decernber 2018 were £766 3 milbon {2017 £627 5 milon} and
£263 3 relion (2017 £209 9 million) respecuvely We focused our impanment of gooowall and other intangible
assets testing on the goadwll In twa cash-generating units ('CGUS'S. bewng LS ({105 5 mefion) and Milbrook
{£58 1 mAhon}, hased on growth assumpuions and kevels of headroom

Thets 1 & ask surrounding the recoverabedily of these balances, as assessed annually by management as part

ol their goodwall mpairhent revew using discounted Gash icws on a value n use basrs

The key judgements i assessng goodwal and sitangible assets for impairment are the distount rate, the kng-
term growth rate, and the short-terms propected cash frows The value in use model (s sersitve 1o changes n
these estimates, aft of which must reflect a long termn wew ol undertying growth in the respective BConomaes
wnthin which these busnesses operate and the reasonableness bf projecied cash fiaws Speafitally we have
pinpanted this sgndicant nsk 10 the discount rate and short-term future cash flows 10 the two CGUs above and
matenal udgements contaned therew This i where the fughest degree of sensitivty exists 1o determining the
value m use

Ve Note that estmating a vaiue in use 1§ inhevenlly wdgemental, and a range of assumplions ¢an reasonsbly
be applied in determirung the s5tenales mentoned above

In respect of (LS, our challenge resulied n changes 16 Management s ihal imipairtnent model where

certanm Cash fiow AsumBnons were not deemed 10 e reasonable from an impainent model perspectve

Our thakenge was based on hustoncal CLS cash flows achieved, performance in FY' 18 bang adverse 10
managerment's expactations and external market and peer data

The Autht Committes Report on page 55 refers 10 imparment ¢f goochusl and other miangibles as an aréa
conigered by the Audt Commuttee wote 1 ta the Consoldated FinanGal Staterents sets oul the Group’s
Fccounting poley for tesing of ool andd mtangubies for impanrent The bass for the #DRTENt reviews &
outlined in Wote 11 to the Consohdated Frnancal Statements, inchucing getads of the discount rates and kng-
term growmah rates used Note 11 1o the Consolidated Finanual Statements aiso inciudes detads of The extent fo
which the CGLE 10 whch the guodwill and other Intangible assets are alacaled are senuine to changes in the
key npuls We draw aifentron o the disciosure mdluded wietwn this note of reasonable possible changes that
could result 1n an impament

How the scope of
our audit responded
o the key audit
matter

®

Qur procedures tor chalh g H y and W focused on both cash-generating

wrts drscussed above and rciuded

s assessmy) the Gesign and smplermentahon of e CONFEES 1 e IMPBITABNL fewew Process,

» valdating the mtagrily of ranagement's impairment model through testing of the mechanial accuracy andl
werifyng the appwabion of the INput assumpuons,

v understangng the underyng progess used 1o determine the nsk adjusted cash flow profectons,

+ evaluatng 1he process management undertook 10 prepave the cash Tipw forecasts n s imagicment model
withuding agreerment wath he latest Board approved plans ang management approved forecasts.

» challenging the cash Row projections Through assessing the accuracy of historcal budgehing by companhg
them with actual performance and independent evdence to suppon any sgrficant expecied future changes
10 1he business,

+ conudered a range of avaiable market data and performid a peer benchmarang exercise 10 assess and
thallenge the growth rates forecasted by management 0 revenus and margins,

» considerer the potential Meact 6/ Bréws on the cash flow projections,

» considered reasonatie possible Changes 1n assumpuons 1 challenge the appropnateness of management’s
assessment of reasonatle possble change scenangs and

s our chaltenge was mhormed Dy input from certain of our internal Valuatans specialists, uihsing their
knawtedge and expertise m relation ta the discount rate ad the market n which Ci§ operates

Key cbservations

@

Baset! on the work periormed 25 outhined above we consder the key assurnphons taken by management to be
reasonable and supportable and therefore we are satisfied that no wmparment exsts

In relation to CLS, we were satistied wath management ¢ revsed impaiment Mode which shows that the value
1 use 15 In hne with the carang value Thes waas on the basis that the assumplians apphied, when Laken in
aggregate, are wiihin our acceplable range
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Valuation of the customer relationship intangible asset in the acquisition of Contept Life Sciences

Key audit matter
description

@

During the year Spectns plk acquired Concept Life Sciences ('CLS') for gross consideration of £166 9 mulion

In accordanice wath IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’, management has recognised the wentifiable assets and the
labikties at therr acquisition date faw values

We have identified a key audit matter specifically in relation to the assurnptions applied in respect of the
Purchase Price Allocation ('PPA’) exercise Thus includes identifying where mntangible assets anse and the
relevant Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC") and forecast cash flow assumptions used in valuing these
intangible assets
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The pnmary intangible asset :dentified 15 customer relationships of £36 8m and we pinpomnted the nsk to the key

assumptrons in forecast revenue growth, gross profit margin growth, discount rate and customer attntion rates

The associated disclosure i1s included i Note 11 The Audit Commuttee has included thewr assessment of this nisk

on page 55 and it is included within the key sources of estimation uncertamty i Note 1 For specifics of the
Group's accounting policy please see page 100

How the scope of
our audit responded
to the key audit
matter

Qur procedures for challenging management’s key assurnptions in relatcn to the CLS acquisitron included

> assessing the design and implementation of the controls 10 address the key audit matter,

» evaluating the acquisition balance sheet and farr value adjustments including challenging management
with regards to the idenbfication and valuation of intangible assets,

chaflenging management’s assessrent of vseful econormic irfe of the customer relationship asset, the
reasonableness of the forecast upon which this asset 1s based and profitability pertaining to this intangible
through the use of valuation experts and benchmarking,

asset,

incorporating valuation speoalists Into our team to assess the valuation methodology and certain key
assumptions including the discount rate, and

revievang post acguisition trading in conjunchion with the nsk of impairment as noted i Key Audit Matter
descrption

assessing the methodology used in the excess earnings method used by management to value the iIntangibie

Key observations

Based on the work parformed as outhined above, we are satisfied that the acquission of CLS, and in particular
the valuation of the customer relationship mtangible asset, has been appropnately accounted for in accordance
with IFRS 3 'Business Combinations’
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF SPECTRIS PLC continued

Our application of materiality

We define matenality as the magnitude of misstatement in the Financial Staternents that makes 1t probable that the economic deasians of a
reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced We use matenality both in planning the scope of our autht work and in
evaluating the results of gur work

Based on our professional judgement, we determingd matenaiity for the finanaal Statements as a whole as foliows

Consolidated Financal Statements Company F IS 3+
Materiality £12 0 muliton 2017 £9 0 rullign) £4 0 mubon (2017 £3 6 million)
Basis for determining We have used 5% (2017 5%) of adjusted profit Company matenality was set at approxmately
materiality before tax as the benchmark for determining 35% (2017 40%) of Group matenalty and
matenality equates to 0 5% of the Company's net assets
Rationale for the Adjusted proht before tax s a key performance Net assets are considered an appropnate
benchmark applied measure for management, investors and the berchmark for the Cornpany given that it is manly

analyst community This metrnc s important to the  a holding company
users of the Finanaial Staterments (investors and

analysts being the key users for a fisted entity)

because # portrays the performance of the

business and hence 1ts ability to pay a return on

investment to the investors Likewse, this metnc

takes Into account the acquisitive nature of the

Group which resufts n adjusting stems needing to

be considered when determining the performance

of the business

Materiality

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we wouid report to the Comenttee all audit differences in excess of £0 5 million
{2017 £0 a5 milhon], as weil as differences befow that threshold that, in our view, warranied reporting on gualitative grounds
We also report 1o the Audrt Committee on disclosure matters that we idenufied when assessing the gverall presentation of the
Financial Staterments
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An overview of the scope of our audit

The Group operates in more than 30 countnes spread across five continents wath the largest footpont being in North Amerka, Asia and
Europe Our Group audit was scoped by obtarung an understanding of the Group and s envronment, including Group-wide controls,
and assessing the nsks of matenal misstatement at the Group and component level Based on that assessment, we focused our Group
audit scope pnmanly on the audit work at the four segments, managed via 14 operating companies located and controlled across different
geographical regions, and the Group head office function These 14 operating companies are composed of many individual components,
which are the lowest level at which management prepares financial information that is included in the Consolidated Financial Statements
The Company is focated m the UK and 15 audited directly by the Group audit team

We have considered compenents on the basis of thew contribution to Group revenue, and operating profit, as well as those that require
Tocal statutory audits in thewr junsdiction Full scope audit work was completed on 47 components and specafied audit procedures were
undertaken on a further 20 components Our full scope and specified audn procedures covered 70% (2017 74%) of total Group revenue
and 93% (2017 91%} of Group operating profit

Each component in scope was subject to an audit matenahty level between £3.5 million and £4 0 milion This audht work on all components
was performed by Deloitte Touche Tohmatse Limided member firms under the direction and supervision of the Group audit team Further
work was performed at a Group level over the consolidation and components not i scope
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We communicated the resuits of our nisk assessment exercse 10 the component auditors and nsyucted them an the areas of significant

risk, the procedures to be performed and the form and tming of ther reporting to us We alsc provided direction on enquines made by

the component auditors through online and telephane conversations All the findings noted were discussed with the component auditor
t detail and further procedures to be performed were issued where relevant

The Group audit team followed a programme of planned visits that has been designed so that on a rotat:onal basis the Senior Statuiory
Audttor, of a semor member of the Group audit team, visits each of the pnmary operaung companies where the Group audit scope was
focused 1 addition to the work performed at the Group head office In refation to the current year audit the Serior Statutory Auditor,

or a senor member of the audit team, visited South Korea, China, Denrmark, Germany, Netherlands, USA and vanous Yocations in the UK

Other information

The Directors are responsible for the other information The other information compnises the information nduded We have nothing

0 the Annual Report, other than the Financial Statements and our Auditor’s Report thereon to report in
Our opinion on the Financial Statements does not cover the other informatron and, except to the extent otherwise respect of these
explicitly stated «n our report, we da not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon matters.

In connectran with our audit of the Financial Statements, our responsibility 1s to read the other information and,
in doing 50, consider whether the other nformation 1s matenially inconsistent with the Financiat Statements or our
knowledge obtamned in the audit or otherwise appears 1o be matenally misstated

If we wdentify such matenal Inconsistencies or apparent matenal rmusstatements, we are required to determine
whether there 15 a matenal misstatement in the Financial Statements or 3 matenal misstatement of the other
informanon i, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is 8 matenal misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact

in this context, matters that we are specifically required to report to you as uncorrected material misstatements
of the other information include where we conclude that

Fair, balanced and understandable - the statement given by the Directors that they cansider the Annual Report
and Financial Statements taken as a whole is far, balanced and understandable and provides the tnfarmation
necessary for shareholders to assess the Group's position and performance, business model and strategy, s
matenally inconsistent wath our knowiedge obtamned m the audi, or

Audit Commuttee reporting - the section descnbing the work of the Audit Comimittee does not appropnately
agdress matters communicated by us 1o the Audil Commuttee, or

Directors” staternent of complhiance with the UK Corporate Govemance Code — the parts of the Directors’
statement required under the Listing Rules relabing to the Company’s comphance with the UK Corporate
Gavernance Code contarung provisions specified for review by the auditor in accordance with Listing Rule

9 8 10R(2) do not properly disclose a departure from a relevant prowision of the UK Corporate Govemance Code
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF SPECTRIS PLC continued

Responsibilities of Directors
As explained mare fully in the Directors’ Responsibiities statement, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of the Financial

Statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair wew, and for such internal control as the Directors determine 1s necessary
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from matenal misstatement, whether due o fraud or ermor

In prepanng the Finanoal Statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group's and the Company's ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing as appheable, matters related 10 going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the Directors enther intend 1o hquidate the Group or the Company or to cease operations, of have no realistic alternative but to do so
Auditor’'s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Finandial Statements 25 a whole are free from matenal misstaternent,
whether due 10 fraud or efror, and 10 1ssue an Auditor's Report that indludes our opimion  Reasonable assurance 1s a fugh levet of assurance,
but 15 not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 1SAs (UK) will always detect a matenal misstatement when it exists
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material f, ndmdually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic deaisions of users taken on the basis of these Financial Statements.

Details of the extert to whwch the audit was considered capable of detecting iregularites, including fraud are set out below

A further descniption of our responsibihties for the audit of the Financial Statements is located on the FRC's website at

www fre org ui/audiorsresponsiblives This description forms part of cur Authlor's Repon

Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

We dentify and assess the nisks of matenal misstatement of the Financal Statements, whether due to fraud or error, and then design and

perform audit procedures responsive to those nsks, including obtaining audit ewdence that s sufficient and appropriate 1o provide a basis

for gur gpinion,

Identifying and assessing potential risks related to irregularities

In identifying and assessing nsks of matertal misstaternent in respect of wregulanies, including fraud and non-comphance with laws and

regulations, our procedures included the following

+ enguinng of management, intemal audit and the Audit Commuttee, including cbtaiming and rewewing supporting documentation,
concerning the Group’s policies and procedures relating to
» entfying, evaluating and complying with laws and regulations and whether they were aware of any instances of non-compliance,
> detecting and responding to the nsks of fraud and whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud,

» theinternal controks establshed to mitigate nsks related to fraud or hon<Complance with laws and regulations,

» discussing among the engagement team induding significant component audit teams and invohang relevant internal specialists, induding
tax, valuations, penstons, IT and indusiry speoaahists regarding how and where fraud might occur 1n the financial statements and any
potential indscators of fraud As part of this discussion, we identfied potential for fraud in the foliowing areas
» Impairment of the valuation of goodwill and other tntangible assets in two of the Group's cash generating units LS and Mitibrock,

» Valuation of the customer relationship intangible asset n the acquisibion of Concept Life Saences, and
» Revenue recognition through mappropnate cyt-off

+ obtamng an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework that the Group operates i, focusing on those laws and regulavons
that had a direct effect on the Financial Statements or that had a fundamental effect on the operations of the Group The key laws and
reguiations we considered i this context included the UK Companies Act, Listing Rules, pensions legrslation and tax fegistation

Audit response to risks identified

As a result of performing the above, we enufied impairment of the valuaton of goodwall and other intangible assets n two of the

Group's cash generating umits CLS and Millbrook’, and ‘valuation of the customer relationship intangible asset 1n the acquisition of Concept

Life Sciences’ as key audit matters The key audit matters section of our report explains the matters In more Getail and describes the speaific

procedures we performed in response to those key audit matters. More specifically in relation to the revenue recogrition nsk we performed

the following procedures

» assessed the design, implernentation and in some cases the operating effectiveness of the contrals to address the signicant nisk,

traced a sample of revenue recogrused over a penod in December 2018 {0 supporting ewidence to assess whether appropriate cut-off was

applied and that performance obligations have been satisfied;

considered matenal contracts with multiple performance obligations and assessed the identification of separate performance obligations,

the tming of revenue recognition and the evidence of the performance obhgations beng satisfied,

challenged the appropnateness of accrued ncome recogrised by tracing a sample 16 supporting ewidence of work performed, and

obtained a schedute of adjusting and manual jpumals posted in December 2018 with a credhit impact on revenue and traced a sample to
appropnate evidence in suppaort of the adjustment
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In addition to the abave, our procedures to respond to nsks identified included the follovaing.

» reviewing the Financial Statement disclosures and testing to supporung documentation to gssess compliance with relevant faws and
regulations discussed above,

» enquinng of management, the Audn Commatee and in-house legal counsel concerning actual and potential Iigation and daims;

» performing analytical procedures to identity any tnusual or unexpected refationstups that may indicate nsks of matenal rmssiatement
due 1o fraud;

v reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance, reviewing internal audit reports and reviewing correspondence wath
HMRC: and ’

i addressing the risk of fraud through management overnde of controls, testing the appropniatengss of journal entries and other
adustments; assessing whether the judgements made in making accounting estimates are indicatve of 3 potential bias: and evaluating
the business 1ationale of any significant ransactions that are unusual of outside the normal course of business

SIUDIBRIG JeyIuBUL

We also communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all engagement team members including
nternal specialists ang sigraficant component audit teams, and remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-compliance wath laws and
regutations throughout the audit

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
in our opinion the par of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared n accordance with the Comparnigs
Act 2006
in our opron, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit
1 the information grven in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the Financiat Statements are
prepared 55 consistent with the Financal Statements: and
+ the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report have been prepared m accordance wath applicable legal requiremeants
In the hght of the kntiwwdedge and understanding of the Group and of the Company and ther environment obtained in the course of the
audit, we have not identified any material missiatements in the Strategic Report or the Directors’ Repont
Matters on which we gre required to report by excaption
Adequacy of explanations received and accounting records We have nothing to report
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required (o report 10 you if, in our opinion in respect of these matters.
» we have not received a4 the informauon and explanations we require for our audtt, or
» adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Company, or returns adequate for aur
audil have not been received from branches not wated by us, or

v the Company Financial Statements are not 1n agreement with the accounting records
and returns

Directors’ remuneration We have nathing to report in
Under the Comparuas Act 2006 we are also required to reportif in our opimon certam discosures Tespect of these matters.

of Dwectors’ remuneration have not been made o the pan of the Direciors’ Remunesation Report

lo be audited is nol in agreement wath the accounung records and retums

Other matters

Auditor tenure

followang the recommendation of the Audit Committee, we were appeiried by the Board on 28 July 2016 to audit the Financial Statements
for the year ending 31 December 201 7and subsequent fimancial penods The period of total uninterrupted engagement ncluding previous
renewals and reapposntments of the firm is two years, covenng the years ending 31 December 2017 to 31 December 2018,

Consistency of the Audit Report with the additional report to the Audit Committee
Our audn opinion is cansistent with the additional report 10 the Autht Commutiee we are required to provide in accordance with ISAs (UK}

Use of our repory

This repact 1s made salely to the Company’s members, as a bady. in accordance wath Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might slate to the company’s mermbers those matiers we are required to state to them in
an Audior's Report and for no other purpose To the fullest extenl permitled by law, we do not accept of assume responsibility to anyone
other 1han the Company and Ihe Company's members as a body, for our audn work, for this repont, or for the opimions we have (ormed

Nef (bl

Mark Mulling FCA

Senior Statutory Auditor

for and on behalf of Delaitte LLP
Statutory Auditor

London, UK

1§ February 2019
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
for the year ended 31 Decernber 2018

2018 2017
hote £mn £m
Continuing operattons
Revenue 134 1,6042 1,5256
Cost of salas (696 8) (658 1)
Gross profit 907.4 867.5
indirect producuon and engineenng expenses (106.8) (1168)
Sales and marketing expenses {352 1) {336 9)
Adrministrative expenses 272.1) {231 9)
Adjusted operating profit 2 248.3 2393
Restructuning costs 2 {15 6) {15 8)
Net acquisitson-related costs and far value adjustments 2 12.2) (04)
Depreciation of acqusition-related fair value adjustments to property, plant and equipment 2 {0.8) [ J))]
Amortsation and imparment of acquisition-related intangible assets 2 (43.3) @19
Bargain purchase on acquisition 2 - 19
Qperating profit 235 176 4 182 4
Share of post-tax results of jont venture 13 (1.2 -
Profit on disposal of businesses Z5 56.3 1005
Financial ncome 7 25 19
Finance costs 7 (16.0) {6 4)
Profit before tax 2180 278 4
Taxation charge 8 (32 8) (43 6}
Profit for the year from continuing operations attributable to owners of the Company 185.2 2348
Basic earnngs per share 10 157 6p 197 Op
Difuted earmings pef share 10 156.9p 196 1p
Intenm dvidends paid and final dividends proposed for the year (per share) 9 61.0p 56 5p
Dividends paid dunng the year {per share) 9 S8.0p 53 0p
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2018

2018 2007
Noie £m £m
Profit for the year antributable to owners of the Company 1852 2348
Other comprehensive income
Items that wiil not be reclassified to the Consolidated income Statement
Re-measurement of net defined benefit obligation, net of foreign exchange 20 5.4 ]
Tax charge on items above 8 {14) (14)
4.0 45
Itemns that are or may be reclassified subsequently to the Consolidated Income Statement:
Net {lossigain on effective portion of changes i fair value of forward exchange contracts on
cash flow hedges (2 4) a0
Foreign exchange movements on translation of overseas operations 279 (44 7)
Currency translaton differences transferred to profit on disposal of business 25 {5.1) 44
Tax creditf(charge) on items above 8 0.5 07
209 (45 8)
Total other comprehensive income 249 {41 3)
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to owners of the Company 2101 1935
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CONSOUIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQLITY
for the year ended 31 Decernber 2018

Capital
Share Share Retained Translauon  Hedging Merger redemap'?:o‘:l Total
capital premium  earnings reserve reserve resefve feserve equity
im £m £m | Em £m Em £m Em
At 1January 2018 6.2 2214 8208 1443 (2.0) 31 0.3 1.2041
Adoption of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 - - {18.6) - - ~ ~ {18.6)
At 1 January 2018 (restated) 6.2 2314 802.2 144.3 (20) 31 0.3 11855
Profit for the year - - 1852 - - - ~ 185.2
Qther comprehensive income - - 4.0 228 (1.9) ~ - 248
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 189.2 28 1.9 - - 2101
Transactions with owners recorded directly
In equity
Equity dandends pad by the Company - - {63 2) - - - - {68.2)
Own shares acquired for share buyback
programme (0.2) - {100 5) - - - 0.2 (100.5)
Share-based payments, net of tax - - 51 - - - - 51
Utiisation of treasury shares - - 0.9 - ~ - - 09
At 31 December 2018 6.0 231.4 8287 167.1 (3.9) 31 05 12329
Caputal
Share Share Retained  Transtation Hedging Merger  redemption Total
capital  premum earnings Teserve reserve reserve reserve equity
£m im im £m £m fm £m £m
At 1 January 2017 62 2314 638 3 1934 (5 3} ER! a3 10674
Profit for the year - - 2348 - - - - 2348
Other comptehensve InCome - - 45 (49 1) 33 - - (413)
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 2393 (49 1) 33 - - 1935
Transactions with gwners recorded directy
n equity
Equity dividends paid by the Company - - ©32) - - - - 632)
Share-based payments, net of tax - - 59 - - - - 59
Uuhsation of treasury shares - - 05 - - - - 05
At 31 Oecember 2017 52 2371 4 8208 144 3 20 ER 03 1,204 i

99 Annual Report and Accounts 2018



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2018

2018 2017
Note im £
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Intangible assets.
Goodwill 11 766.3 6275
Other intangible assets 11 2633 2099 |
1,029.6 8374
Property, plant and equipment 12 3315 2758
Investment in joint venture 13 50 -
Other recenable - ot venture 15 389 -
Deferred tax assets 21 113 165
1,416 3 11237
Current assets
inventories 14 2164 176 0
Current tax assets 1.6 5
Trade and othes recewables 15 3815 3239
Denvatve tmanoal nstruments 28 04 14
Cash and cash equivalents 16 73.1 1379
Assets held for sale 25 38 325
6769 6752
Total assets 2,093.2 1,7989
LIABILITIES
Currert liabilities
Borrowings i7 (23.7) (13
Denvative financial instruments 28 {2.2) {05
Trade and other payables 18 (344 1) (272 5)
Current tax habihiuies (22 5} (23 6)
Prowsions 19 (316} (25 2)
Liabhities directly associated with the assets held for sale - {4 8)
424 1) (3279
Net current assets 2528 347 3
Non-current habilities
Borrowings 17 (346 5) {187 2)
Other payables 18 {27.4) {207
Retrernent benefit obligatons 20 {32.1) (340)
Delerred tax habilives 21 (30 2} {25 0)
{436 2) (266 9)
Total liabilities {860.3) {594 8)
Net assets 1,2329 1,204 1
EQUITY
Share capital 22 6.0 62
Share prermium 231.4 2314
Relaned earmings 8287 8208
Translation reserve 22 167 1 , 1443
Hedging reserve 22 39 (20)
Merger reserve 22 31 31
Capital redernplion reserve 22 05 03
Total equrty attributable to owners of the Company 1,2329 1,204 1

by the Board of Directors on 19 February 2019 and were signed cn #s behalf by

Company Registration No 2025003
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 Decermber 2018

2018 2017
Note £m im
Cash generated fram operations 26 2158 2376
Net income taxes paid (372.7) (47.0)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 178.1 1906
Cash fiows used in investing actvities
Purchase of property, plant and equiprent and intangible assets {97.0) (74 3)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment and software 56 Q5
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired 24 (196.4) {36 5)
Proceeds from disposat of businesses, net of tax paid of £0 6m {2017 £19 Om) 25 438 919
Loans to jont venture 09 -
Proceeds from government grants 239 V2
interest recerved 0.6 (V2]
Met cash flows used i nvesting activities (241.4) (16 6)
Cash Hows used in finanang activities
interest paid (94} @4 n
Dwadends pad g (68 2} 632}
Share buyback purchase of shares (100.5) -
Proceeds from exerase of share options o7 05
Proceeds from borrovangs 1755 -
Repayment of borrowings - 810
Net cash flows used in finanang activities {1.9) (108 4)
Net {decrease)increase in cash and cash equiwvalents (65.2) 656
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 1367 712
Effect of foregn exchange rate changes {42) o
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 16 673 1367
Reconahiation of changes in cash and cash equivalents to movements in net debt Note me'rg Zocln;;
Net (decreaseMincrease in cash and cash equivalents {652) 656
Proceeds from borrowings {175.5) -
Repayment of borrowings - 410
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes {5.9) {62)
Moverment in net debt {246 .6} 1004
Net debt at beginring of year {50.5) (150 %)
Net debt at end of year 2 (297.1) {50 5)
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

1. Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies

a) Basis of preparation

Basis of accounting

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for tems that are required by IFRS to be
measured at far vatue, principally certan financial mstruments  The Consohdated Finanaal Staterments have been prepared i accordance
with IFRS as issued by the Internationa!l Accounting Standards Board (1ASE') and interpretations 1ssued by the international Financal
Reporting iInterpretations Committee of the IASB, as adopted by the European Union ('IFRS’), and in accordance wath the provisions

of the Companies Act 2006

The Financial Statemends set out on pages 92 1o 147 have been prepared using consistent accounting pohcies, except for the adoption of
new accounting standards and interpretations noted beiow Details of the apphcation of new and rewised Intermational Financial Reporting
Standards that became applicable in 2018 are set aut below

SIUWIILIS |enURLILY

These Financial Statements are presented in mithons of Sterling rounded to the nearest one decimat place

Basis of consolidation
The Cansohdated Financial Statements set out the Group's financial position as at 31 December 2018 and the Group's financal
performance for the year ended 31 December 2018, which incorporate the Financial Staternents of Spectris plc and 1ts subsichanes

Subsichanies are those entiies controlied by the Group Control exssts when the Group has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern
the financal and operating policies of an entity 5o as ta obtain benelits from sts actvities Subsidianes are consolidated from the date on
winch control s transferred to the Group and cease to be consoldated from the date on which control is transferred out of the Group

Joint ventures are contractual arrangements which the Group has entered into with one of more parties to undertake an economic activity
that 15 subject to joint control Joint control 1s the contractually agreed shanng of control over an economic actmity and exists only when
decisions relating to the relevant actwities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharning the control The Group has assessed the
nature of its joint arrangements and determined them to be jont ventures Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method,
under which the investment in a joint venture 15 iibally recognised in the Consohdated Statement of Financial Position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the jomt verdure When the Group's
share of the losses of a joint venture exceeds the Group's interest in that joint venture the Group discontinues recogrising 1ts share of
further losses

All inter-company balances and transactions, including unrealised profits ansing from intra-group transactions, have been eliminated
Unrealised losses are ehimuinated in the same way as unrealised gains except that they are only eliminated ta the extent that there s no
evidence of impairment

Going concern

The Group's business actmties, together with factors likely to affect its future developrment, performance and financial position, are set out
in the Strategic Report on pages 1 to 43 The hnancal postion of the Group, 1ts cash flows, liquidity pesition and borrawing faciies are
described m the Financal Review on pages 26 to 30 [n addition, Note 27 to the Finanaal Statements includes the Group’s objeciives,
pohoes and processes for managing its capial, its financial nsk management objectives, detalls of its financial instruments and hedging
actmities, and 1ts exposure 10 credit risk and fiquichty risk

The Group’s net debt balance at 31 December 2018 was £297 1m (2017 £50 5m), with avallable undrawn committed borrowing fachues
of £467 9m (2017 £406 5m)

The Board has reviewed a sensitmty analysis on the Group's forecasts to 31 March 2020, the matunty profile of 1ts finanaal facibties and
labilites {Notes 17 and 28) and the abiity of the Group to re-finance these obligations as they fall due The pnncipal iquedity nisk s
mitigated through its financal nsk management policies {(Note 27) For the foreseeable future, the Board has a high level of confidence that
the Group will have the necessary hquid rescurces to meet its hiabilives as they fall due and wall be able 1o sustam its business madel, strategy
and operattons and remarn solvent, including the smpact of reasonably possible adverse scenanos For this reason, it continues to adopt the
going concern basis In prepanng the Group Financial Statements There are no key sensitvities identified in refation to this conclusion
Further information on the going concern of the Group can be found on page 37 in the Viabiliy Statement

New standards and interpretations adopted
In the current year the Group has applied a number of new standards and amendments to IFRSs issued by the Intemational Accounting
Standards Board Detals of the new standards that have had a matenal ympact on the Group's Staterment of Finanaal Position are set out below

IFRS 15 "Revenue from Contracts with Customers”

The Group has adopted IFRS 15 'Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ using the modified retrospective approach, wihich means that
the cumulatve impact on adoption has been recogrised in retained earmings as of 1 January 2018 Comparatives have not been restated
IFRS 15 prowvides a single, principles-based, five-step model to be applied to all sales contracts, based on the transfer of control of goods and
services 10 cusiomers, and it replaced the separate modet for goods and services of IAS 18 "Revenue’

Management camed out a comprehensive smpact assessment which included scoping the Group's revenues to idenufy different revenue
straams and perforrmng sampfe contract reviews Lo deterrmmne the appropnate revenue recognition treatment under IFRS 15 To ensure @
consistent approach across the Group, the exercise was supported centrally through settmg the approach to transition and prowiding the
appropnate tools and guidance Revenue s derived from a single performance cbhigation which is either the sale of goods or the prowsion
of services

Detalls of the Group's revenue recognition accounting policy are provided in Mote 1 section b, "“Summary of sigrificant accounting pohices’
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS continued

1. Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting polities continued
The guerall impact on transibon on 1 January 2018 for the Group is as follows

Decrease in current

Decrease in ncrease in increase in and deferred tax

retained earmings deferred income nventories net habihties

£m fm £m Em

Group (210) (38 2) 109 6.3

The £6 3m decrease in net current and deferred tax habilities consists of 2 £0 2m increase i current tax assets, a £4 4m decrease In deferred
tax habwhties and a £1 7m increase in deferred tax assets

i IFRS 15 had not been adopted the revenue for the year ending 31 December 2018 would have increased by £1 7m, aperating profit
would have increased by £0 2m and profit after tax increased by £0 2m

IFRS 9 'Financial Instrumernits’

The date of nrtial apphcauon (e the date on wivch the Group has assessed ts exsung finanaial assets and financial habdities in terms

of the requirements of IFRS 9} s 1 janwary 2018 There 15 no requirement to restate comparatives

IFRS 9 provides a new impawment model for financial assets, which requires the recogniion of imparment provisions based on expected
credit kosses rather than incurred credit losses as is the case under 1AS 39 This requires the Group to record expected credit fosses on all of
1ts trade recevables, erther on a 12-month or lifetime basis The Group 15 applyng the simplified approach and records hfetime expected
losses on all trade recervables

A1 Y January 2018, the Group rewewed and assessed the amounts due from customers for the above changes, which resulted in the
foliowng overall impact on transition on 1 January 2018

Increase in trade  Increase 10 current

Increase in and other and deferred 1ax
retained earrungs receivables net hiabilities
£m Em £m
Group 24 2.9 ¢S

The E0 Sm increase in current and deferred tax net habiities consists of a £O 3m increase in deferred tax habifities and a £0.2m increase in
current tax ablities

Adoption of IFRS 9 did not have any other matenal impact on the Group's statement of financal posiion
There are no other standards adopted dunng 2018 that have 2 matenal smpact on the Group

New accounting standards and intespretations not yet adopted
There are a number of new standards. amendments 10 standards and interpretations that are not et effective for the year ended
3t December 2018 which, therefore, have not been applied in prepanng these Consolidated finanaal Statements

IFRS 16 "Leases’

Transiton to IFRS 16 for the Group wall take effect from 1 January 2019 wath the half-year results for june 2019 being IFRS 16 comphant,
and the first Annual Repont published in accordance with RS 16 being for the year ended 31 December 2019 IFRS 16 prowdes a single
model for lessees which recognises a aight-of-use asset and tease hability for all teases, wath exceptions available for short-term and low-value
leases The impact of IFRS 16 will be to recognise a lease tiabiity and a corresponding asset in the Staternent of Financial Position for leases
currently dassified as operating leases The most significant impact wall be that the Group’s land, bulding and car leases will be recogmised
on the balance sheet

The Group plans to appiy IFRS 16 retrospecively with the curnutauve effect of initally appiying the standard recogmised at the date of initral
applicatuon of 1 January 2019 Right-of-use assets for all leases will be measured on transition as if IFRS 16 had atways been applied

The averall impact on transition on 1 January 2019 for the Group 15 estmated 10 be as follows

increase in
Decrease in property. plant increase in fease Decrease in trade Increase in
retained earnings and equipment fiabilities and other payables deferred tax assets
£m fm fm m fm
Group [C)] 66 (72) 1 1

In 2019, the Group estimates that it expects to Incur a finance charge of between £2m to £4m, reflecting the unwinding of the discount

on the lease ilabilities wath depreciation on nght-of-use assets of approxmately £13m to £15m. These two terns effectively replace the
operating lease rentals prewiously charged to profit before taxation under IAS 17 “teases’ In addition, the Group expects that operating cash
flows wail increase and finanaing cash flows decrease by appraximately £18m to £20m as repayment of the pnnapal portion of the lease
liabihtves wall be classified as cash flows from financing activibies

The Group’s actimtes as a lessor are not matenal and hence the Group does net expect any significant impact on the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The Group mtends to apply the exemptions avalable in IFRS 16 for excluding fow-value assets and short-term leases from the requirements
of the standard.

Further assessment of IFRS 16 55 ongaing From the review work camed out 5o far, the Group has identified the key judgements in applyng
IFRS 16 to be selectian of ar appropnate discount rate and determuning whether lease extension and terminaton options included in the
contract are reasonably certain 1o be exerased
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The Group's future lease commitments for non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 December 2018 are £79 Om (see Note 30) Thisis
higher than the estimated increase in lease habthties on adoption of FRS 16, predominaniy due to the impact of discounting on lease
hiabilwies and the exclusion of low-value assets and short-term leases from IFRS 16

There are no ather standards that are not yet effectwe and that would be expected 1o have a matenal /mpact on the entity in the current
or future reporting penods and on foreseeable future transactions

Significant accounting judgements and estimates

In determining and applying accounting pohaies, judgement is often required where the chotce of specific pokcy, assumption or accounting
estimate to be followed could materally affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, Income and expenses, should 1t iater be
determined that a different choice be more appropriate Estmates and assurnplions are reviewed on an ongoing basis and are based

on historical expenence and vanous other factars that are believed to be reascnable under the arcumstances.

In the course of prepanng these Financial Statements in accordance with the Group's accounting pohicies, no judgements that have
a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the Financial Statements have been made, other than those involving estimation
Management considers the following 1o be key areas of uncertainty for the Group due to the possibility of matenal change in the next year

In prepanng these Financiai Statements, no areas of cntical accounting judgement or key sources of estimation uncertainty have been
identified in relation to Brexit

Key sources of esimation uncenamnty

i} Taxavon

The Group operates n a number of countries and 1s subject 10 taxes in numerous junsdictions Sigruficant esurmation 1s required In
determining the prowision for taxes as the tax treatment is often by its nature complex and cannot be finally deterrmned until a formal
resciution has been reached with the relevant tax authorty which may take several years to concdude Amounts prowided are accrued based
on management's interpretation of country-specific tax laws and the hkelihood of settiernent Actual habilities could differ from the amaunt
prowded whaich could have a consequent adverse impact on the results and net posttion ¢i the Group The assumptions and estimates
which have been apphed in the determination of taxation are detaded i Note 8 Details of the accounting policies apphed in respect of
taxation are set oul on page 10

1i) Retirement benefit plans

Accounting for retirerment benefit plans under IAS 19 (revised) requires an assessrnent of the future benefits payable in accordance with
actuanal assumptions The discount rate and rate of retall price inflatron {'RPI") assumptions applied in the calculation of plan kabutes, which
are set out In Note 20, represent a key source of estimation uncertanty for the Group Details of the accounting policies apphed in respect
of retrement benefit plans are set out on page 103

W) Imparrment reviews

Goodwili ansing on business combinations 15 allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit {CGU) Imparrment reviews in respect of the
relevant CGUs are performed at least annually or more regularly if events indicate that this 1s necessary mpawment reviews are based on a
value in use model with future cash fiows discounted using the wesghted average cost of captal for the relevant CGU wath terrminal vakses
caicutated applying a long-term growth rate The future ¢ash flows, which are based on operating company forecasts, the fong-term
growth rates and the discount rates used are dependent upon management estimates Future events could cause the assumptions used

i impairment reviews 1o change with a consequential adverse impact on the results and net position of the Group A reasonably possible
change i assumplions used in the impairment review for the Concept Life Sciences CGU over the next 12 months could resultn a matenal
impairment of up to £30 Om to the goodwill carrying value of £105 Sm Details of this sensitwity and the assumptions used in the
)mpairment review are set out In Note 11 Details of the accounting poiicies applied in respect of goodwall are set out on page 100
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS continued

1. Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies continued

b) Summary of significant accounting polities
The accounting polices setl oul below have been applied consistently by Group entiies to all years presented in these Financial Statements

Business combinations and goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the fair value of the purchase consideration for the interests in subsidiary undertakings over the net fair value to
the Group of the dentifiable assets, labifites and contingent iiabiities acquired Where the farr value of the Group's share of dentfiable net assets
acquired exceeds the fair vaiue of the consideration, the difference s recognised immediatety in the Consolidated income Statement Contingent
conmderaton is intbially recognised as a habdity with changes 10 estmates of contingent consideration reflected in operating profit unless they occur
dunng the 12-month measurement penad, in which stuation the amount of goodwall recogrised on the acquistion 1s adjusted  Adjustments to
contingent consideration are treated as an adjusting riem: for the purposes of altemative performance measures (see Note 2)

Transaction costs on a business combination are expensed as incurred in the Consokdaled Income Statement and treated as an adjusting
itern for the purposes of alternative performance measures (see Note 2}

Goodwali arising on the acquisibon of a business s 1esied annually for impairment Goodwall s not amortised, and any iImpairment losses

are not subsequently reversed The net book vatue of goodwall at the date of transiton 16 IFRS has been treated as deemed cost On the
subsequent disposal or discontinuance of a previously-acquired business, the relevant goodwill s dealt with in the Consohdated Incorme
Statement except for the goodwall already charged to reserves From 1 january 2004, goodwill 1s allocated on acquisihon to CGUs that are
anticipated 10 benefit from the combination Goodwill s tested for impawrment by assessing the recoverable amount of the CGU to which
the goadwill relates and companng it against the nat ook value This estimate of recaverable amount 1s determined annualty and
additionally when there 1s an inchcation that a CGU may be impaired The Group's idenufied CGUs are smaller than the reportable operating
segments m Note 3

The esumate of recoverable amount requires sgnificant assumptions to be made and & based on a number of factars such as the near-term
business outlook for the cash-generating unit, including both its operating proiit and operanng cash flow performance Where the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating urit is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss 1s recogrised i the Consolidated
Income Statement Where goodwali foems pan of a cash-generaung urut and pasnt of the operation within that unt s disposed of, the
goodhwll associated wath the operaton disposed of 1s included in the carrying amount of the operauon when determining the gain or loss
on disposal Goodwall disposed of in this circurstance s measured an the hasis of the relative values of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained

Intangible assets and amortisation
The cost of acquinng sofiware (including associated implementation costs where applicable) that s not specific to an ern of property,
plant and equipment 15 dassified as an intangible asset

Self-funded research anc development costs are charged to the Consolidated Income Staternent in the year in which they are incurred unless
development expenditure meets certain strict cnteria for capialisaton These cntena include demonstration of the techrucal feasibility, inment of
completing a new intangible asset that s separabie anxt that the asset will generate probabile future aconomx: berefits From the point where
expenditure meets the amena, developrment costs are capralsed and amortised over the usetul economic fives of the assets to which they relate

Intangible assets ansing from a business comitxnation that are separable from goodwnll are recogrused snitially at fawr value at the date of
acquisition. Other acquired intangible assets (including software nat speafic to an tem of praperty, plant and equipment) are iniially
recogrused at cost (plus any asscaated implementation costs where applicable)

Subsequent expenditure 1s capitalised only when 11 increases the future econormic benefizs, otherwise 1t 1s expensed as incurred

Amonsation of intangible assets s charged to adrmnisiratve expenses in the Consokdated Income Statement on a straight-hne basss over the shorter
of the estimated useful economuc ife (determined on an asset-by-asset basis) or underlying contractual Ife The estimated wuseful ives are as follows

» Software - 310 5 years

» Patents, contractual nghts and technology - up to 10 years, dependent upon the nature of the undertying contractual right,

» Customer-related ang trade names - 3 to 20 years, dependent upon the underlying contractual arrangements and specffic circumstances
such as customer retention expenence

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, pfant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated deprecistion and impairment losses. The cost compnses the purchase pnce
pad and any costs directly attnbutable to bnnging it into working condition for its intended use Tangible assets ansing from a business
combination are recogrised mtafly at fair value at the date of acqusition

Depreciation i3 recognised  the Consolidated Income Statement on a straight-line basis to write off the cost, less the estimated resdual
vaiue {which 1s reviewed annually) of property, plant and equipment over its estmated useful econormic ife Depreciation commences on
the date the assets are avatable for use wathin the business and the asset carrying values are reviewed for impairment when there is an
ndication that they may be impaired The depreciation charge 1s revised where useful lives are different from those prewiously estimated,
or where technically obsolete assets are required to be written down. Where parts of an item of plant and equipment have separate les,
they are accounted for and depreciated as sepasate tems Land s not depreciated Estmated useful ives are as follows

» Freehold and fong leasehold property and automotive testag tracks - 20 to 40 years

» Shon leasehold property — over the penad of the lease

y Plant and equipment - 3 to 20 years

Borrowing costs directly attnbutable to the acquisiton, construction or production of qualifying assets that take a substantiat period of time
to get ready for their intended use are capitakised as part of the cost of the respective asset
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Inventories

Inventones and work In progress are carmed at the lower of cost and net reahisable value inventory acquired as part of business
combinations 15 valued at farr value less cost to sell Cost represents direct costs incurred and, where approprate, production or comwersion
costs and other costs to bring the invertory to 11s exsting location and condition In the case of manufactunng inventory and work n
progress, cost ncludes an appropriate share of production overheads based on normal operating capacity inventory is accounted foron a
first-in, first-out basis or, i some cases, a weighted-average basis, If deemed more appropnate for the business Provisions are made to write
down stow-moving, excess and obsolete fems 10 net realisable value, based on an assessment of technological and market developments
and on an analysss of histoncal and projected usage with regard {0 quantities on hand

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other recewables are carried at onginal Invorce amount {which 1s consdered a reasonable proxy for faw value) and are
subsequently held at amortised cost fess prowision for impairment The prowvision for imparrment of receivables is based on ifetime expected
credi losses Lrfetime expected credst lasses are calculated by assessing historic credit loss expenence, adjusted for factors specthic to the
recewable and operating company The movement in the prowssion ss recogrised in the Consolidated income Statement

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents compnse cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits heid on call or with maturnities of less than three
months at inception  Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash management are
inciuded as a component of cash equivalents for the purposes of the Consohdated Statement of Cash Flows

Assets and liabilities held for sale
Assets, habilitres and disposal groups classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount and far value less costs to sell

Assets, habilities and disposal groups are dassified as held for sale «f thewr carnying amount will be recovered prnapally through a safe
transaction rather than contmuing use This condition 15 regarded as met onty when the sale 1s wghly probable and the asset {or disposal
group) 1s avallable for immediate sale in its present condition and when management Js committed to the safe which 1s expected to qualfy
for recogmuion as 2 completed sale wathin one year from the date of classification

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are recogrised at the amounts expected to be paid to counterparties and subsequently held at amortised cost

Provisions

A provision is recognised in the Consohdated Statement of Financia! Posstion when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation
as a result of 3 past event and it 15 probable that an outflow of resources, that can be relably measured, will be required to settle the
obligation In respect of warranties, a provision 1s recogrised when the underkying products or senaces are sold Prowisions. are recogrised

at an amount equal 1o the best esurnate of the expenditure required 10 settle the Group’s labifity A contingent habifity s disclosed where
the exsstence of the obligaton will aniy be confirmed by future events or where the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with
reasonable relability Contingent assets are rot recognised but are disclosed where an inflow of economic benefit 1s probable Obliganons
ansing from restructuring plans are recognised when detailed formal plans have been established and when there 15 a valid expectation that
such a ptan will be carned out

Leasing

Rentals payable under operating leases ase charged to the Consohidated Income Statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease Benefits receved and recevable as an incentive 1o enter into an operating lease are also spread on a straight-lne basis over
the lease term

Taxation

Tax on the profit or loss for the year compnses both current and deferred tax Tax s recogrused in the Consolidated Income Statement
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised either in other comprehensive mcome or directly in equety, in which case tax s
recognised in the Consohdated Statement of Comprehensive Income of the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, respectively

Cuirent tax rs the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
Statement of Financial Position date, and any adjustments to tax payable in respect of prior years Tax posttions are reviewed to assess
whether a provsion should be made based on prevaiing cvcumstances Tax prowisions are included wathin current taxation habibties

Deferred taxation 1s provided on taxable temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and habilites in the Financial
Statements and ther corresponding tax bases Mo provisian s made for deferred tax wimch would become payable on the distnbution of
retained profils by overseas subsidianes where the timing of the reversat of the temporary difference can be controlled and 1t1s probable
that the ternporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future Deferred tax 1s measured using the tax rates expected 10 apply when
the asset 15 realised, or the habikty setiled based on tax rates enacted or substantvely enacted at the Statement of Financial Position date

Deferred tax 1s not prowided on the mihal recognition of goodwall, nar on the inimal recognition of an asset or lrability unless the related
transaction 15 a busmess combination or affects tax or accounting profit

A deferred tax asset s recogrused only {o the extent that it s probable that future taxable profits wall be avallable aganst which the asse
can be utiised Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that «¢ 1s no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realsed

Deferred tax assets and habihies are offset if a legally enforceable nght exists 1o set off current tax assets against current tax habilities and
the deferred 1axes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority

Addriional income taxes that anse from the distnbution of intra-group dividends are recognised at the same time as the habihty to pay the
related dividend
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS continued

1. Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies continued

Foreign currency translation

The functional currency for each entity 1In the Group s determined with refarence to the currency of the pamary economic environment 1n
which it operates Transactrons mn currencies other than the functional currency are initrally recorded at the functronat currency rate ruling at
the date of the transaction Monetary assets and habities denamnated n forewgn urrencies are retranslated at the rate of exchange rubing
at the Statement of Finanaal Position date £xchange gams and losses on settlement of foreign currency transactions are detérmined using
the rate prevaling at the date of the transactions, or the transiation of monetary assets and liabibies 21 penod end exchange fates, and are
charged/credited to the Consolidated income Statement Nan-manetary assets and habilities genommated in foreign currencies that are
stated at hustonical cost are transiated 10 the functicnal currency at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the ransaction

On consohidation, the income Statement tems of subsidianes are translated into Sterling at average rates of exchange Statement of
Financial Positson items are translated mto Sterkng a1 year-end exchange rates Exchange differences on the retranslation are taken to the
translatian reserve within equity Exchange ditferences on foreign currency borrawings designated as a hedge of the netinvestment m a
foreign operaton are reporied in the Consohdated Statement of Comprehensive income  All other exchange differences are charged ar
¢rediled to the Consohdated Income Statement in the year in which they anse On disposal of an overseas subsiciary, any cumnulative
exchange movements relating 1o that subsidiary held m the translation reserve are transferred to the Consolidated income Statement

Denvauve financial nstruments may be purchased ta hedge the Group’s exposure to changes in foreign exchange rates The accounting
potcies apphed i these arcumstances are descnbed below

Interest-bearng borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recogrused mimally at the fair value of consideration received less directly attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to mibial recognition, interest-beanng borrowings are measured al amortised cost with any difference between cost and
redemption value being recogrised in the Consolidated income Statement over the penod of the borrowangs on an effectve-mnterest basis

Finanaal instruments

Recognition

The Group recogrises finanaal assets and kabilities ot its Consolidated Statement of Financal Position when o becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the mstroment

Financial assets and habiiies are offset, and the net amount 1s reported in the Consolidated Staternent of Financiat Position when there 1s a
fegally enforceable righvt to set off the recognised amounts and there 15 an Intention to settie on a net bass or realise the asset and settle the
hability smultangously

Measurement

When financal assets and habiiities are inbially recogrised, they are measured at farr value, being the consideration gwven or received plus

dectly attributable transaciion costs In determining estimated fair value, imvestments are valued at quoted bid pnces on the trade date '
When quoted pnces on an acive market are not avallable, fair value 15 determuned by reference 1o prce quotations for similar

instruments traded

Onginated loans and recevables are imually recognised in accordance wath the policy stated abave and subsequently re-measured at
amoartised cost using the eHectve-interest method Allowance for impairment is estimated on a case-by-case basis

The Group uses denvative financial Instruments such as forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge risks associated wath foreign exchange
fluctuations These are designated as cash flow hedges At the inception of the hedge retavonship, the Group documents the relationship
between the hedging instrument and the hedged item, along wath its risk management obyectives and 41 strategy for undertaksng vanous
hedge transactions Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group documents whether the hedging
instrument that 1s used 1n a hedging relationshio 15 highly effective in offseting changes in cash flows of the hedged 1tem

The effective portian of changes in the fair value of denvatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges 1s deferred n equity
The gan or loss relating to the ineffective porton 15 recognised immediately in the Consobdated income Statement

Amounts deferred i equity are redasafied to the Consolidated Income Statement In the penods when the hedged ttem 15 recognised in the
Conscldated Income Staterment, in the same line of the Consohdated Income Statement as the recogrised hedged em However, when
the forecast transaction that 1s hedged resuits in the recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-finandial hability, the gains and losses
previously deferred in equity are transterred from equity and included in the initial measurement of the cost of the asset or hability

Hedge accounting 15 discontinued when the Group revokes the hedging relationship, the hedging instrument experes or 15 sold, terminated,
ar exercised, o no lenger qualifies for hedge accaunting Any curmudative gain or loss deferred m equity at that time remains i equety and
15 recognised when the forecast transaction is ultmately recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement When a forecast transaction

1s no longer expected to occur, the cumutative gain or foss that was deferred in equity s recognsed rmmediately in the Consagtidated
Income Statement

Derecogrwion !
A financial asset 15 derecognised when the Group loses contro! over the contractual nghts to the cash flows from the asset This occurs

when the nghts are realised, expire of are surrendered A financial lability 1s derecagrised when the obligaton specified n the contract

15 discharged, cancelled of expired Oniginated loans and recewvabiles are derecognised on the date they are transferred by the Group
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Imparment of finanoal assets

The Group assesses at each Consolidated Statement of Financial Position reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a
financial asset, or group of finanaal assets, 15 mpaired A financial asset, or group of financal assets. 15 deemed to be impaired if. and only
if, there 5 objective evidence of imparrment as a result of ane or more events that has occurred after the inttial recognition of the asset (an
mcurred ‘loss event'} and that loss event has an impact on the estmated future cash flows of the finandial asset or group of financal assets
that can be relably estmated For trade recevables the Group recogmises imparment prawisions based on lifetime expected credit losses

SJUBWIILYS [BDUCLI4

Netinvestment hedge accounting

The Group uses Eure-denominated borrowings as 2 hedge against the translation exposure on the GIoup’s net Investment in overseas
compane; To the extent that the hedge 1s effectve at hedgng the vanabiity n the net assets of such companies, caused by changes
in foreign exchange rates, the changes m the valye of the borrgwings are recognised in the Consohdated Statement of Comprehensive
Income The meffective part of any change in vatue caused by changes n foreign exchange rates 1s recognised in the Consokdated
Income Statement

Employee benefits
The Group operates defined benefit post-retirement benefit plans and defined contnbution pension plans

Defined benefit plans

The Group's net obligation recognised in the Consohdated Staterment of Finangial Position in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated
separately for each plan as the present value of the plan’s iabiliies less the fair value of the plan's assets The operating and financing costs
of defined benefit plans are recognised separately in the Consolidated Income Staternent Qperating costs compnse the current service cost,
plan administratve expense, any gains or losses on settiement or curtalments, and past service costs where benefits have vested Finance
items compnse the unwinding of the discount on the net asset surplusdefiat Actuanal gains or losses compnsing changes in plans’ habilives
due ta expenence and changes in actuanal assumptions are recogrised n the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensie Income

The amount of any pension fund asset recognised in the Consoliciated Statement of Financial Position 15 imited 1o any future refunds from
the plan Gr the present value of reductions in future contnibutions to the plan

Defined cantribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contnbulions inlo a separate enpty and
will have no legal or constructive obligation 10 pay further amounts Obligations far contributions o defined contnbution pension plans
are recogrised in the Consohidated income Statement in the penads dunng which sennces are rendered by employees

In certain countries, the Group participates in Industry-wide defined benefit-type pension arrangements In such arcumstances, it 1s not
possible to determine the amount of any surplus or deficit attnbutable to the Group and the pension ¢osts are accounted for as if the
arrangements were defined contnbution plans These are not matenal to the Group and, accordingly, no additional disclosures are prowded

Short-term bhenefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service 1s prowded

A hability 15 recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-termn cash bonus or profit-shanng plans if the Group has a present
tegal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a resuft of past sennce prowded by the employee, and the obligation can be
estimated rehably

Share-based payments

Certain employees of the Group recetve part of therr remuneratton in the form of share-based payment transactions, whereby employees
render servces in exchange for shares or rights over shares (equity-settled transacuons) The cost of equity-settted transactions with
employees 1s measured at fair value at the date at which they are granted The fair value of share awards with market-related vesting
condrtions is determined by an external consuttant and the faw vatue at the grant date is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period based on the Group's estimate of shares that wiil eventually vest The estimate of the number of awards likely to vest is reviewed at
each Consolidated Statement of Finanaal Posiion reporting date up to the vesting date, at which pont the estimate 1s adjusted to reflect
the actual outcome of awards which have vested No adjustment 1s made to the fair value after the vesting date even if the awards are
farfeited or not exercised

Where it 15 not possible Lo incentwmse managers of the Group's operating comparnies with equity-settled options, they are 1ssued with cash-
settled options The charge for these awards 1s adjusted 1o reflect the expected and actual levels of options that vest, and the fair value 1s
hased on either the share price at date of exercise or the share price at the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position date if sooner

Owvni shares

Own equity instruments which are re-acquired {own shares) are recogrised at cost and deducted from equity No gain or loss 1s recognised
in the Consolidated Income Statement on the purchase, sale, ssue or cancelation of the Group’s own equity instruments Any difference
between the carrying amount and the consideration pard to acquire such eguity instruments 15 recogmised wathun eqguity

Dwidends
Dwvidends are recognised as a habiity in the penod in which they are approved by shareholders
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS continued

1. Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies continued

Revenue

Revenue 15 measured based on the far value of the consideration specfied in a contract with a customer, net of returns and discounts, and
exdudes amounts coltected on behalf of third parties, value added 1ax and other sales-related taxes The Group recogrises revenue when it
transfers control of a product or service to a customer.

The Group's major revenue sireams are the same as s reportable operating segments (Matenals Analysrs, Test and Measurement, In-line
Instrumentation and Industnal Controls)

The foliowing table provides further details on the nature of each of the major revenue streams The table shows where each revenue factor
farms more than 10% of the operating segment’s total revenue

Revenue derwved from

% of 1013l Group Prowsion of Sale of goods  Sale of goods with  Sale of goods with
Revenue stream safes 2018 services  wathout installation simple installauon  complex instakation
Matenals Analysis 34% v v v v
Test and Measurement 33% v v
n-kine Instrumentation 19% v v
industnat Controls 14% v

Further details of the nature of each major revenue stream I1s provided below

Matenals Analysis
Revenue from the provision of serwices, incdluding angoing suppon, senvicing and maintenance, 1s recognised 1 ine with the delvery of the
senvice, either at a point i tme or, for some onQoINg sernces, over tme

Revenue from the sale of goods, where the goods are not required to be installed. 1 recognised at a point in time when legal itle transfers
to the customer, usually on delivery

When the sale of goads s combined with installation, revenue fecognition depends upon the nature of the instaliaton Simple instafiations
are those that the customer perceives as a separate performance obligation withir the overall contract 1o delver §oods, whereas complex
nstakauons are those for which the installation 1 an integeal part of the delvery of the goods

Revenue 15 recogrised for smple instaflations separately from the delvery of goods, and only at a point i tme when the instaliation
has occurred

For complex installations, revenue s normally deferred untl instaliation 1s complete For a small number of complex installations, revenue
is recogrised before installation when a) a significant period of tme has elapsed since completion of the product, b} an mnstaliation date
has not been agreed despite muitiple attempis to arrange, and ¢j payment has been receved from the customer Sigruficant judgement
15 required for these instaliabons  Revenue from these arrangemenis represents approxmately 1% of the segment’s total sales.

Occasionally, the imibial contract covers both the supply of goods and ongoing support, servicing and mantenance For such contracts,
revenue 15 allocated acrass each of the indmdual components in ine vath therr relatve price and value of the performance obligation and
each element s accounted for as descnbed above

Payrnent i1s normally due immediately at the point that the perfarmance obbgaton s completed For some of the segment’s business the
customer may make partal payment in advance Such payments are recognised as contract liabiitbes until the performance obligation has
been satsfed

Sales-related warranties associated with the products cannot be purchased separately and they serve as an assurance that the products soid
comply with agreed-upen speafications.

Test and Measurement
Revenue from the provision of sennces, including ongong support, servicing and maintenance, 1s recognised n ine wath the delivery of the
service, either at a pontin ime or, for some ongoing senaces, aver time

Revenue from the salie of goods, where the goods are not required 10 be installed, 15 recogrised at a point in ime when legal ttle transfers
10 the customer on delivery,

Occasionally, the nitial contract covers both the supply of goods and ongoing support. servicing and manmtenance For such contracts
revenue 15 allocated across each of the indmdual components in fine with ther relative price and vaiue of the performance obfigation and
each elernent 15 accounted for as descnbed above

Payment is normally due immediately at the pomnt that the performance obligation is cornpleted For some of the segment's business the
custorer may make partial payment in advance Such payments are recognised as contract liabshies until the performance obligation has
been satisfied

Sales-refated warranties associated with the products cannot be purchased sepatately and they serve as an assurance that the producs
sold comply with agreed-upon specifications
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In-hine tnstrumentation
Revenue from the sale of goods, where the goods are not required ta be installed, 15 recogrised at a pointin time when legal ttle transfers
to the customer, usually on dehvery

Simple instaltations are those that the customer percewves as a separate performance obhgation within the overall contract 1o deliver
goods Revenue Is recagnised for simple installations separately from the delvery of goods. and only at a point in time when the nstallation
has occurred

Payment is normally due immediately at the point that the performance obhgation 1s completed For some of the segment’s business the
customer may make partial payment in advance Such payments are recognised as contract habiliies untl the performance obligation has
been satisfied

Industriat Controis
The segment selis products direct to the custormer and 1o the wholesale market (distnibutors)

For sale of products ta retail customers and distributors, revenue is recognised when control of the goods has transferred, being when the
goods have been shipped to the customer or wholesaler’s location

Sales-related warranties associated wath the products cannot be purchased separately and they serve as an assurance that the products soid
comply with agreed-upon-specfications

Payment s normally due immediately at the point that the perfermance obligation is completed For some of the segment’s business the
customer may make partial payment in advance Such payments are recognised as contract habibtes untd the performance obligation has
been satisfied

Interest payable and receivable

Interest payabie comprises the mterest payable on borrowings calculated using the effective interest method and the unwinding of the
discount factor on deferred or contingent consideration Interest recetvable comprises interest income on cash and invested funds, together
wath interest incame fram the (ont venture, and is recogrised in the Consolidated Income Stalement as 1t accrues

2. Alternative performance measures

Policy

Spectns uses adjusted figures as key performance measures in addition to those reported under IFRS, as management belreves these
measures enable management and stakeholders to better assess the underlying trading performance of the businesses as they exclude
certain items that are considered to be significant in nature and/or gquantum, foreegn exchange movements and the impact of acquisitions
and disposals

The alternative performance measures {"APMs’) are consistent with how the businesses’ performance is planned and reported within the
internal management reporting 1o the Board and Operating Committees Some of these measures are used for the purpose of setting
remuneration targets The key APMs that the Group uses inciude lke-for-kke {'LFL') organi performance measures and adjusted measures
for the incame statement together with adpusted finanaial posibion and ¢ash flow measures  Explanations of how they are calculated and
how they are reconaled 1o an IFRS statutory measure are set out below

Adjusted measures

The Group's policy 15 to exclude iterns that are considered to be sigrificant in nature andfor quantum and where treatrment as an adjusted
em prowdes stakeholders with additienal useful information to better assess the perrod-on-penod trading performance of the Group
The Group excludes certain Hems, which management have defined as

» restructunng Costs,

v amorysation and impairment of acquission-related goodwill and other intangible assets,

»  bargan purchase on acquisition,

v depraciation of acquistion-related fair value adjustments to property, plant and equipment,

> acquisiion-related costs, deferred and contingent consideration fair vaiue adusiments,

v profits or losses on termination or disposal of businesses;

» unwinding of the discount factor on deferred and contingent consideration,

+ urrealised changes it the fair value of financial iInstruments,

> gamns or losses on retransiaton of short-term inter-company loan balances, and

+ related tax effects on the above and cther tax items which dg not form part of the undertying tax rate (see Note 8)

in Novemper 2018, the Group announced the implementation of a Group-wade profil improvernent programime  The total costs

of implemertation of this programme are considered to be signihicant in both nature and amount On this basis the costs of the
implementation of this programme are excluded from adjusted operatng profit Adjusted operating profit including on a LFL basis)
15 therefore presented before the impact of Project Uphft and profit smproverent programme costs, which have been combined as

restructunng for presentation pusposes Adjusted operating profit after Project Uphft costs has been presented for ease of comparability
between 2017 and 2018
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NOTES TO YHE ACCOUNTS continued

2. Alternative performance measures continued

LFL measures
The Board reviews and compares current and prior year segmental sales and adjusted operating profit at constant exchange rates and
excludes the impact of acguisitions and disposals dunng the year

The constant exchange rate Companson uses the current year segmental information, stated 1n each entity’s funchional currency, and
translates the results into 1t presentaton currency using the prior year's monthly exchange rates, wrespective of the underlying
transactional currency

Within the In-line Instrumentatian segrient, the BTG busmess has large functianal currency mismatches against Hs underlyng transaction
currencies which distort LFL comparison at times of sigrificant currency movements Accordingly, we have modified the basis on which
BTG’s LFL results are translated nto Steriing by using the actual underlying transaction currency rmix for determining transactional
gainsfosses 10 provide more accurate and rehable information on BTG's underying performance

The incremental impact of business acqursitions 15 excluded for the first 12 months of ownershup from the month of purchase For business
disposals, comparative figures for segmental sales and adjusted operating profit are adiusted to refliect the comparable penods of
ownership The EMS business was dispased of on 21 May 2018 {see Note 25) and the segmental LFL adjusted sales and agjusted operating
profit for 2017 exclude the trading results for the last seven months of 2017

The LFL. measure 1 presented as 2 means of elmunating the effects of exchange rate fluctuations on the period-on-penod statutory results as
well as aflowing the Board to assess the underlying trading performance of the businesses on a LFL basis for both sates and operating profit

Based on the above policy, the adjusted performance measures are denved from the statutory figures as follows

Intome statement measures
a) LFL adjusted sales by segment

Materials Test and in-line Industrial 2018

Analysis  Measurement [nstrumentation Controls Total

2018 sales by segment fm fm £m im £m
Sales 5411 5226 3122 2283 1,604.2
Constant exchange rate adjustment 7.6 36 4.0 73 225
ACUISIIONS {44.5) {25.9) 0N - {72.1)
LFL adjusted sales 504 2 500.3 3145 2356 1,554.6
Matenals Test and In-hne Industrial 2017

Anatyss Measurernent  Insifumentation Controls Total

2017 sales by segraent fm tm £m fm Em
Sales 464 9 4873 3109 2625 1,525 6
Disposal of businesses - (15 6) - (329 (48 5)

LFL adyusted sales 464 9 4717 3109 2296 1,477 1
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b) Adjusted operating profit, operating margin and adjusted EBITDA

Matenals Test and in-ime Industrial 2018
Analysis  Measurement instrumentation Controls Total
2018 adjusted operating profit £m £€m Em €m fm
Statutory operating profit 721 428 322 293 176 .4
Restructunng costs 44 5.2 Edv) 30 156
Net acquisition-retated costs and farr value adpustments 1.4 64 4.2 0.2 12.2
Depreciation of acqusition-redated far value adjustments to
property, plant and equipment 0.2 0.6 - - 0.8
Amortisation and imparment of acquisition-related
intangible assets 17.3 122 3.2 10.6 433
Adjusted operating profit 954 67.2 4286 431 2483
Constant exchange rate adjustrment 02 0.7) 7 13 0.1
Acquisitions 1.2 (2.7) 03 - (1.2)
LFL adjusted operating profit 96.8 638 422 44 4 247.2
Matenals Test and In-line tndusinal 2017
Analysis  Measurement  Instrumentation Convols Totai
2017 adjusted aperanng prodi fm £m tm £m fm
Statutory operating profit 686 556 295 287 1824
Restructunng costs 42 53 28 35 158
Net acqursition-related costs and farr vatue adustments 18 ©on 04 an 04
Depreciation of acquistion-related faw valye adjustments 1o
property, plant and equiprnent - 0.7 - - 07
Amortisauon of acquistion-related intangibie assets 127 146 33 13 419
Bargan purchase on acqusifion - (19) - - (19
Adjusted operanng profit 873 742 360 418 2393
Disposais - 42 - {45} 87
LFL adjusted operating profit 873 700 360 373 2306
Matenals Test and In-hne Industnal 2018
Analysis  Measurement [nstrumentatron Controls Total
2018 operating margin % % % % %
Statutory Operating margin 13.3 8.2 103 12.8 110
Adjusted operating margin 17.6 12.9 13.6 18.9 155
LFL adjusied operating margin 19.2 128 134 18.8 15.9
Malenals Test angd In-kne Indusiniat 2017
Analyss  Measurement  instrumentation Contrqls Total
2047 operating margin % % % % %%
Statutory operating margin 148 114 as 169 120
Adjusted operating margin 188 152 116 159 157
LFL adjusted operabing margin 188 148 116 162 156
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NOTES TO THE ACCQUNTS continued

2. Alternative performance measures continued

2018 2017
Adyusted operaung profit after Project Uplift costs £m £m
Adysied operating profit 248.3 2283
Prorect Uphfi costs . (10.8) 158
Adpsted operanng profit after Project Uphht costs 237.% 2235
2018 2017
Restructuring costs fm £m
Profit inprovement programene 4.8 -
Project Upkft costs 108 158
Restrucnng costs 156 158
2018 2017
Adjusted EBITDA Nate Im £m
Statutory operating profit 176.4 1824
Oepreciation 12 303 256
Amartsation and impawrment of intangible assets 1B 431 475
EBITDA 2558 2555
Restructunng costs 156 158
Net acquisibon-related costs and farr value adjustrments 122 04
Bargain purchase on acquisiion - (1.9)
Adpusted EBITDA 283.6 269.8
EBITDA s calcuiated as statutory operating profit before depreciauon and amortsaton and imparment of intangible assets Adusted
EBITDA 15 calculated as EBITDA exduding other adjusting tems as defined previously This measure 15 used for the purpose of assessing
capital management and covenant compliance and 15 reported to the Group Executive Commttee
¢} Adjusted net finance Costs
018 2017
Note Em £m
Statutory net finance costs 7 ($3.5) 45)
Net lossAgamn} on retranslation of short-term inter<company foan balances 7 7.2 (131
Unwanding of discount factor on deferred and contingent consideration 7 0.6 o7
Adjusted net finance costs (57} (51
d) Adjusted profit before taxation
2018 207
. Note fm Em
Adjusted operating profit 2b 2483 2393
Share of post-tax results of |aint ventyre 13 (12) -
Adjusted net finance costs 2C (5.7 51
Adjusted profit before taxaton 2414 2342
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&) Adjusted earnings per share

2018 017
Adjusted earnings Note Em Em
Statutory profit after tax 185.2 2348
Adjusted for
Restructunng costs 156 158
Net acquisimon-related costs and far value adjustments 122 ca
Deprecation of acqursiion-related fair value adjustments to property, plant and equipment 12 08 07
Amorisation and imparrment of acquisiton-related intangible assets 433 419
Bargain purchase on acguisition - {19
Profit on disposal of businesses {(56.3) {100 5}
Net loss{gain} on retranslation of shart-term inter-company loan batances 7 7.2 (13
Unwinding of discount factor on deferred and contingent consideration 06 67
Tax ettect of the above and other non-recurnng tems 8 (14.8) (6 3)
Adjusted earnings 193.8 1843
Adjusted earrings per share Nete 2018 2017
Weighted average number of shares outstanding (milions) 10 11725 1192
Adjusted earnings per share {pence) 164.9 1546
BasiC earrings per share in accordance with 1AS 33 ‘Earnings Per Share’ are disclosed in Note 10
Financial postion measures
f) Net debt

2018 2007

Note Em Em

Bank gverdrafts 17 S8 13
Bank laans unsecured 17 364.4 1872
Total borrowings 370.2 188 5
Cash and cash equivalents induding heid for sale 16 (73.1) {138 Q)
Net debt 297.1 505
Cash flow measures
g} Adjusted operating cash flow

2018 2017
) £m £m
Nel cash inflow from operating activities 1781 190 6
Acquisition-related costs paid 10.8 28
Restructuning cash outflow 86 16 8
Net income taxes pad 377 470
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets {97.0) (74 3)
Proceeds from government grants 29 12
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment and software 56 as
Adjursted operating cash flow 146 7 B4 6
Adjusted cperating tash flow conversion' 59% 77%

1 Adusted operaung cash flow conversion s calculated as adusied operatng cash flow 25 2 proportien of adiusted operating profit

Net acquisition-related costs and faw value adjustments compnse acquisiion costs of £7 4m (2017 £3 4my) that have been recogrised in the
Cansaldated income Statement under IFRS 3 {Revised) 'Business Combinations’ and other fair value adjustments relating o deferred and
cantingent consideration comprising a charge of £4 8m (2017 credit of £3 0m) Net acquistion-related costs and fair value adjustrents are
ncluded wathun administrative expenses Acquisition-related costs have been excluded from the adjusied operating profit and acquisition

costs paid of £10 8m (2017 £2 8m}) have been exciuded from the adjusted operating cash flow
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS continued

3. Operating segments

The Group has four reportable segrments, as desanbed below, which are the Group's strategic business units These units offer different
applications, assist companies at vanious stages of the production cycle and are focused towards specific ndustnes  These segments reffect
the internal reporting prowded to the Chief Operating Deasion Maker {considered to be the Board) on 2 reguiar basis to assist in making
decisions on capital allocated to each segment and to assess performance The segment resubs include an allocation of head office
expenses The following summary descnbes the operations in each of the Group's reportable segments

Matenals Analysis provides products and senaces that enable customers to determine structure, composttion, guantity and quahty of
partictes and matenals dunng thewr research and product development processes, when assessing materials before production, or dunng
the manufactunng process The operating companies in this segment are Concept Life Saences, Malvern Panafytical and Partcle
Measunng Systems

» Test and Measurerment supphes test, measurement and analysis equipment, software and sernces for product design optimisatian,
rmanufacturing control, microsersrmuc mornitonng and environmental noise monitonng  The operating companies in this segment are
Bruel & Kjaer Sound & Vibraton, ESG Solutions, HBM, Millbrook and Vi-grade

inhne Instrumentation prowdes process analytical measusement, asset monttonng and online controls as well as associated consumables
and services for both pnmary processing and the converting industaes The operating comparues i this segrment are Bruel & Kjaer Vibro,

BTG, NDC Technologies and Servomex

» Industral Controls prowdes products and solutions that measure, monitor, control, inform, track and trace dunng the production process
The operating companies In this segment ate Omega Engneenng, Red Lion Controls and Microscan (dsposed 2 October 2017}

Further details of the nature of these segments and the products and services they provide are contained in the Strategic Report on pages
2to3and 1810 25

Matenals Test and in-line tndustrial 2018

Analysis  Measurement Instrumentation Controls Total

Infarmation about reportable regments £m £m Em £m £m
Segment revenues 5414 524 2 3124 2284 1,606 4
Inter-segment revenue (0.3) {1.6) (0.2} (0.1) {2.2)
External revenue 5411 522.6 3122 2283 1,604.2
Operating profit 121 428 322 2913 176 4
Share of post-tax results of joint venture' (12
Profit on disposal of businesses' 563
Financial income”' 25
Finance ¢osts’ (16 0)
Profit before tax 2180
Jaxavon charge' (32 8)
Profit after tax 185.2

1 Not allocated 1o repontable segments

Matenals Test and in-hne industriat 2017

Anafysis Measurement  InsStrumentatidn Controfs Totat

£m fm Em £m Em

Segment revenues 465 2 4875 EAND 629 15267
Inter-segrent revenue 03) 02 02 0 4) a1

External revenue 464 9 487 3 3109 262 5 1,5256

Operating profit 686 556 295 287 1824

Profit on disposal of busmesses’ 1005

finanaal income’ 19
Finance costs' {64}

Profit before tax 2784
Taxation charge' _ 136}

Profit after tax 2348

1 Not allocated to reponabie segments
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Reportable segment profit 15 consistent with that presented 1o 1he Chiet Operating Decision Maker Inter-segment revenue reflects the
movements In internal cash flow hedges with inter-segment pricing on an arm’s length basis Segments are presented on the basis of actuat

inter-seqgment charges made

Carrying amount of
segment assets

Ca
!

rrysng amount of
egment habilities

2018 2037 2018 2017

£m £m £m £m
Materials Analysis 628.3 408 4 {167 0} (117 4}
Test and Measurement 7259 644 4 {146 9) (123 2)
In-line Instrumentation 279.5 2709 (59 6) {54 4}
industral Controls 329.2 3214 (29 6) (27 4)
Total segrnent assets and hab:i:es 19629 1,645 1 (403.1) {322 4)
Cash and borrowings 731 1380 {370.2) {188 5)
Dervative financial instrurments 04 14 (22) 05
Other receivable - joint venture 389 - - -~
Investment In joint venture 50 - - -
Retiremnent benefit habiities - - {32.1) (34 0)
Taxation 129 144 (527 (49.4)
Consohdated total assets and liabileies 2,093.2 1,7989 (860.3) {594 8)

Segment assets compnse goodwall, other intangible assets, property, plant and equipment, inventonies and trade and other recewables
Segment latuliies comprise tade and other payables, provsions and other payabies, which can be reasonably attnbuted to the reported
operating segments Unallocated stems represent all companents of net debt, dernvative financial instruments, other recervable - joint

venlure, investment in joint venture, defined benefit plan habilities and current and deferred taxation balances

Additons to Deprecaation, amortsation
non-current asseats and impawrment

2018 20t7 2018 2017

£m f£m £m £m

Matenals Analysis 186 6 151 268 196

Test and Measurement 98.7 750 284 280

In-hne Instrumentation 7.0 140 9.5 96

Industnal Controls 13.0 99 147 159

Total segments 3053 114.0 79.4 731
Other recevable - jont venture 389 -
Investment in joint venture 50 -

Consolidated total s 349 2 1140 -
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS continued

3. Operating segments continued

Geographical segments

The Group's operating segments are each located in several geographical locatons and sell on to externat customers in all parts of the
world No indmdual country amounts to more than 3% of revenue, other than thase noted befow The following 1s an analysis of reveriue

by geographical desunaton

M:r!\l;;«as!: Measzsz:nae':\‘: lnsvumenlgt'tlgf\ Irvccz;lns‘t:g; ‘?gt‘ag

Em £Em £m Em Em

UK 509 693 6.6 64 133.2
Germany 295 911 236 72 151 4
France ‘ 1.7 233 78 2.4 512
Rest of Europe 773 76.5 49 8 83 2119
UsA 1021 1033 858 156.5 447 7
Rest of North Amenca 16.6 121 1.4 123 52.4
Japan 32.9 8 144 33 824
China B19 696 552 14.8 2215
South Korea 255 108 0o a9 512
Rest of Asia 684 209 291 89 127.3
Rest of the worid 383 139 185 33 740
541.1 522.6 3122 22813 1,604 2

Materals Test and in-hne tndustaal 2087

Analyss Measurement instrumentation Controls Total

fm £m fm Em fm

UK . 146 620 75 76 97z
Germany 247 825 254 113 1439
France 151 206 74 31 46 2
Rest of Eurape 732 765 514 12 123
USA 976 892 893 1690 445 1
Rest of North Amenca 136 nz 126 133 512
lapan 337 283 154 33 807
China 728 634 436 PAR -] 201 6
Sauth Korea 2y 7 140 79 67 503
Rest of Asia 615 243 291 113 1262
Rest of the world 364 148 213 39 764
464 9 487 3 3109 2625 15256

NOon-cufrent assets

2018 2007

£m £m

UK 439.4 207 4
Germany 933 681
France 16 01
Rest of Europe’ 3731 3584
Usa 444 4 4345
Rest of North Amenca 264 232
Japan 5.2 [¢3)
Ching 108 87
South Korea 23 ER
Rest of Asia 43 46
Rest of the world 37 46
1,405.0 111322

Deferred tax assets’ 11.3 105
Total non-current assets 14163 1,8237

1 Prnapally :n Denmark and Swazedand
2 Not allgcated ta reportable geographee area in reportng ta the el Operatng Deasion Maker
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4. Revenue

Disaggregation of revenue
The Group denves its revenue from the prowsion of goods and sesvices both at a point in ime and over time

IFRS 15 paragraph 114 requires an entity to disaggregate revenue recognised from contracts with custorners inte categones that demict how
the nature, amaunt, tring and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows are atfected by economic factors This disaggregation will depend

on the entity's indwvidual facts and circumstances The Group has assessed that the disaggregation of reveriue by operating segments s
appropriate in meeting this disclosure requirernent as this 1s the information regularly revewed by the Chief Operating Deaision Maker in
order to evaluate the financial performance of the entsty The Group afso believes that presenting a disaggregation of revenue based on the
tming of transter of goods or services provides users of the Financial Statements with useful nformatian as to the nature and urming of
revenue from contracts wath customners

Timing of revenue recognition:

2018
tm
At a point in time
Matenals Analyss 4805
Test and Measurement 446 ¢
In-line instrumentation 298.8
Industrial Controls 228 3
1,4545
Over time
Matenals Anglyses 60.6
Test and Measurement 75.7
In-hne instrurnentation 134
industnal Controls -
149 7
Revenue 1,604 2

The Group's matenal revenue streams have an expected duration of one year or less The Group has therefore apphed the pracucal
expedient in IFRS 15 paragraph 121 1o not disdlose informatian about 1ts remaming performance obiigations

No indwidual customer accounted for more than 2% of external revenue in either 2018 or 2017
Total revenue for the Group, after including fimancat ncome of £2 5m (2017 £1 9m) (see Note 7, was £1,606 7m (2017 £1,527 Sm}
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS continued

5. Operating profit
Operating profit s stated after charging/crediting)

2018 2017
Nate £m £m
Net foreign exchange (gainsiiosses 2.1 21
Research and development expense 96,2 1051
Amortisation of intangible assets ] 471 475
Impairment of ntangible assets 1 2.0 -
Bargain purchase on acquisiion - (19
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 12 303 256
Operating lease rental payments 201 189
Cost of nventanes recogrised as expense 402.4 3819
(Profititoss on disposal of propenty. plant and equipment and software {19} o}
2018 2617
Auditor's temuneration L im
Fees payable to the Company's auditor for audn of the Company's annual accounts 05 0%
fees payable to the Company's auditor for the audn of the Company's subsidianes, pursuant
10 legsiaton 14 12
Total audn-related fees 1.9 17
Fees payable to the Company's auditor for other senaces
» audi-related assurance services' 01 01
20 18
1 Revwew af the half-year Fnancial Staiemrents
6. Employee costs and other information
Employee costs, including Directors’ remuneration, cormprise
2018 2017
Note im £m
Wages and salanes 5188 43940
SoCiat security Costs 86.2 826
Defined benefit pension plans
s cuirent service cost 0 20 22
» past service costcredit) 20 27 On
Defined contribution pension plans 20 178 153
Equity-settied share-based payment expense 5.1 54
Cash-settled share-based payment expense 11 2.8
633.7 8006
2018 2017
Birectors’ remuneration £m £m
Short-term benefits 28 30
Equaty-settled share-based paymemnt expense 07 07
35 37
Further detais of Directors’ remuneration and share options are given in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 60 ta 78
Average number of employees Nurigle Nur%\%z
Production and engineering 3814 3,748
Sales, marketing and service 4,706 4,118
Administrative 947 849
9,547 8713
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7. Finantial income and finance costs

2018 2017
Finanaal income fm £m
Interest receivable {0.5) (0 6)
Income on recewvable from joint venture 20) -
Net gain an setranslation of short-term inter-company loan balances - {13)

{25) 09

2018 2017
Finarce costs £m £m
interest payable on loans and overdrafts . 73 49
Net 1055 oh retransiation ot short-term inter-company loan balances 72 -
Unwinding of discount factor on deferred and contingent consideration 06 a7
Net interest cost on pension plan obhigations . te o7
Other finance costs 0.3 o1

16.0 64
Net finance costs 135 a5
Net interest costs of £6 8m (2017 £4 3m} for the purposes of the calculation of interest cover compnse interest recevable of £0 5m
(2017 £6 6m) and interest payable on lpans and overdrafis of £7 3m (2017 £4 9m)
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS continued

8. Taxation
2018 2017
UK Overseas Total UK Overseas Total
£tm £m £m £m Em fm
Current tax charge 39 37 410 63 583 646
Adjustments in respect of current tax of pnor years (0 1) (20) 2 1) a0 (4 8) 58)
Deferred tax - ongmation and reversal of ternporary
differences (Note 21) {33) (19 {(52) [A1RY] (53) (6 4)
Deferred tax — changes in US tax rate (Note 21) - 09) 0.9 - (88 (8 8)
Taxatien charge 0.5 323 328 a2 394 436

The standard rate of corporation tax for the year, based on the weighted average of tax rates appiied to the Group's profits, 1s 26 (%

(2017 28.6%). The tax charge for the year xs lower (201 7: fower) than the standard rate of corparation tax for the reasons set out in the

following reconcihation

znz 1:13 zoﬁinz
Profit before taxation 2189 2784
Corporation tax charge at standard rate of 26 0% (2017 28 6% 567 96
Profit on disposal of business taxed at lower rate (16 Q) {27 n
Net impact of US tax reform measures (0.9) (8.0)
Effect of ntra-group finanang (4.9) (5 4)
Other non-deductble expenditure 38 38
Movements on unrecogrised deferred tax assets 04 -~
Tax credits and mncentves 4.1) (50
Change n tax rates {excluding US) 03 -
Adpstments to pnor year current and deferred tax charges (2.5) 4 3)
Taxaton charge 328 436

‘Net irmpact of US tax reform rmeasures’ ahove refers to the impact of the US Tax Cuts and Jebs Act of 2017 In 2017, this comprised 2 credit
of £8 8m arsing from the re-measurement of net US deferred tax habilities on the balance sheet at 31 December 2017 at the lower US tax
rate, net of a one-oH charge of £0.8m on accumulated foreign profits of the Group's US subsidianes In 2018, this compnises a Credit of

£0 9m anting as a pnor year adjustment in respect of re-measuring the pnor year net defemed tax habiltes

Tax credits and incentives' above refers principally 10 research and development tax credits and other reliefs for innovation such as the UK
Patent Box regime and Dutch innovation Box regime

Factors that may affect the future tax charge

The Group's tax charge in future years 1s hkely to be affected by the proportion of profits ansing, and the effective tax rates, in the vanous
terntones i wiich the Group operates, as well as changes i tax law affecing future penods Such law changes may affect the future
availability or amount of exsting tax reliefs or incentives Furthermore, the resolution of tax or other legal cases or Investgations such as
those mentioned below In respect of the UK's dmidend taxation regime or the EU's State Aid investigatron into aspects of UK tax legislatian
may result In a re-assessment of the Group's tax habirties in respect of prior years

Tax on items recogrised directly in the Consohdated Statement of Comprenhensive Income

Tax (creditycharge on net (loss¥gain on effective portion of changes in farr value of forward exchange contracts

Tax charge on re-measurement of net defined benefit obhgations, net of foreign exchange

Aggregate current and deferred tax charge relating 1o items recognised directly in the Consohidated Statement of
Comprehensive income

Tax an nems recogrused directly in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Tax credil in relation 1o share-based payments

Aggregate current and deferred tax credit on items recogrised directly in the Consolidated Staternent of Changes

n Equity

2018 2017
£m (4,4]
(0.5) 07
14 14
09 2.1
2018 2017
£m fm
(0.1} (05)
[UR)) 0.5)
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The followang tax {crecitsycharges relate to items of income and expense that are excluded from the Group's adjusted performance %"
measures z
a
2018 2017 @
Tax on items of Income and expense that are excluded from the Group's adjusted profit before tax £m £m §
Tax credrt on amortisation and imparrment of acquision-related intangible assets (9.6) (12 8) g
Tax credit an deprecation of acqusiton-related far value adjustments to property, plant and equipment (0.1} on 3
Tax credit ansing from net impact of U3 tax reform measures [1}-)] 80 )
Tax credit on net acquisition-related costs and far value adjustments (0.6) en
Tax {credit¥charge on retransiation of short-term inter-company loan balances [0.5) Cc3
Tax charge on profit on disposal of busmnesses 04 190
Tax credit ON restructunng costs (35) {49
Total tax credit {14.8) 6 3)
The effective adjusted tax rate for the year was 12 7% (2017 21 3%) as set out in the reconciliation below
2018 2017
Reconcihation of the statutory taxation charge to the adjusted taxation charge £m Em
Statutory taxation charge 328 436
Tax credit on items of income and expense that are excluded fram the Group's adjusted prafit before tax 14.8 63
Adjusted taxation charge 476 499

Management Judgement 1s applied to deterrmine the level of provisions required m respect of both direct and mdirect taxes The Group 1s
potentially subject to 1ax audits in many junisdictions By their nature these are often complex and could take a significant peniod of tme to
be agreed with the tax authonties judgement is therefore applied based on the mnterpretation of country-specific tax legistation and the
Iikelhood of settiement The Group estimates and accrues taxes that will ultimately be payabile when reviews or audits by tax authonties
of tax returns are completed These estimates include judgements about the position expected to be 1aken by each tax authonty

The Group apphes judgement sn respect of possible 1ax audit adjustments pnmarily In respect of transfer pnang as well as in respect of
financing arrangements and tax credits and incentives In respact of transfer prang. the level of prowision 15 determined by reference ta
management judgements of the adjustments that would anse in the event that certain intra-group transactions are successfully challenged
as not being at arm’s length

Management estimates of the level of nsk ansing from tax audit may change in the next year as  result of changes in legistation or tax
authonty practice or carrespondence wath tax authorties during a specihic tax audit 1 is not possible 1o quantfy the impact that such
future developments may have on the Group’'s tax positions Actual outcormes and setilements may differ significantly from the estimates
recorded i these Consoligated Financial Statements Further detal 15 provided below in relation ta tax provsions that are known to be
potentrally matenal

Judgement 15 also applied relating to the recogmition of deferred tax assets which are dependent on an assessment of the generavon of
future taxabie incame i the countries concerned in which temparary differences become deducuble or i which tax fosses can be utthsed
These estimates may change in the next year If there are changes in the forecast profitatality of the relevant company

The UK's dividend taxation fregune prior to July 2009 1s the subject of long-running litigation between HMRC and other taxpayers in relation
to the tax charge on dwmdends received from Eli-based comparnies The outcome of this dispute s iikely to be relevant to the Group in
respect of certan dwidends receved by UK Group comparies before that date Pending resolution in the courts an amount of £8 8m

{2017 £8 8m} continues to be held as a current tax liabihty for the potential tax iabiities ansing 1f the final decision 15 in HMRC's favour

An amount of £5 4m {2017 £5 1m) relating to accrued nterest on the potential 1ax habilities 1s also held as a tax-related proviston (see
Note 19), and an amount of £1 3m (2017 £1 3m) s held as a deferred 1ax asset in respect of future tax reitef on the accrued interest

The deferred tax asset in respect of future 1ax relief on the accrized interest has been reclassified from current rax dunng the current year

in October 2017, the EU Commussion opened a formal State Aid investigation into an exemption within the UK's current Controtled Foreign
Company (CFC) reqime (introduced in 201 3) for certam finance income The investigation 15 ongong, but f the Commussion ulimately
concludes that the provisions do constitute State Ard then they would require the UK to recover any such aid from affected parties

The Group has claimed the benefit of this exemption, and therefore may be adversely affected by the outcome of the mvestrgation If the
Commission were to conclude that the finance exemption with the UK’s CFC regime constitutes State Aid and no other exemptions were
avarlable to the Group then, as at 31 Decemnber 2018, an additional habihty of £18 0m (2017 £14 Om) in respect of tax and £0 5m (2017
£0 3m}in respect of interest would anse unless such a decsion could be successfully chalienged in the EU courts However, no provsion
has been made In respect of this Investigation since we believe that it 1s more likely than not that no additronal tax will utimately he due
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS continued

9. Dividends

Amounts recognised and pard a5 distributions 10 owners of the Company in the year 2(:‘E'lrrag 20£1n?\
Final dvidend for the year ended 31 Decernber 2617 of 37 5p (2016 34 0p) per share 445 405
Intenm dwdend for the year ended 31 December 2018 of 20 Sp {2017 19 Op) per share 237 227

68 2 632
Amounts arising in respect of the year 2an‘rg 20(1"‘.:
Intenm drmdend for the year ended 31 Decernber 2018 of 20 Sp (2017 19 Op) per share 237 227
Progosed final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2018 of 40 5p (2017 37 Sp) per share 468 447

70.5 674

The proposed final dvidend 15 subject 1o approval by shareholders at the AGM on 24 May 2019 and has not been included as 2 labifity

these Finanaat Statements

10. Earnings per share

Basic earmngs per share amounts are calculated by dmding net profit for the year attributable to ordinary sharehoiders by the weighted

average number of ordnary shares outstanding dunng the year {excluding treasury shares)

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net proft attributable to orchnary shareholders by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding dunng the year but adjusted for the effects of dilutive options The key features of the Company’s

share ophion schemes 2re described in Note 23

Basic earnmings per share 2018 207
Prafit after tax (Em) 185.2 2348
Waeighted average number of shares outstanding {rmillions) 17.5 119 2
Basic earrungs per share {peace) 157.6 197 6
Dituted earnings per share 2018 2017
Profit after tax {£m) 185.2 2348
Bauc weighted average number of shares outstanding {mihons) 175 192
Weighted average number of dilutive S5p ordinary shares under option (milhons) 06 s3]
Weighted average number of Sp ordinary shares that would have been issued at average market value from

proceeds of dilutive share options (rihons) {0.1) (0.4)
Diiuted weighted average number of shares outstanding {mulllons) 118.0 1197
Diluted earnings per share (pence) 156 9 1961
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11. Goodwill and other ir\ttangible assets

Patents.
o G

Goodwil rechnology trade names Software Total
Cost Mote Em £m fm £m Em
At 1 January 2017 8059 22t 4 2513 597 1.338 3
Additons - separately acquired - -~ - 27 127
Addirons - business combrnations 24 168 56 103 - 327
Transfers to assets held for sale {222) (62) B9 - {375}
Disposals - - - 12 (1.2
Dispasat of business 25 (a1} (6 3) (3 - (1t
Foreign exchange difference {24 5} (125 (153) amn {53 4)
At 31 December 2017 rEA ] 2018 2361 701 1,279 9
Additions - separately acquired - 26 - 15.4 180
Additions - internal development - 47 - - 47
Additions - business combinations 24 1218 188 532 - 1938
Reclassification - 73) 7.3 - -
Disposals - - - (17} .n
foresgn exchange difference 214 72 9.4 2.1 40.1
At 31 December 2018 9151 2278 306.0 859 1,534 8
Accumulated amortsation and impairment
AL January 2017 151 6 131 8 1143 411 4388
Charge for the year - 223 196 56 475
Transfers to assets held for sale - {57) (78 - (13.5)
Dusposals - - - 12 02
Disposal of business 25 - (57 05 - 62)
Foreign exchange differerce R (7 6) (7N (04 (229)
At 37 December 2017 144 4 1351 1179 45.1 4425
Charge for the year - 178 237 56 a7
Imparrment - 20 - - 20
Reclasssfication - {6 0} 6.0 - -
Dispasals - - - (. an
Foreignt exchange difference a4 4.7 5.1 1.1 15.3
At 21 December 2018 148.8 1536 1527 501 5052
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2018 766 3 742 153.3 358 1,0296
At 31 Decemnber 2017 627.5 66.7 1182 2590 8374

Goodwill 15 allocated to the cash-generating units that are anticipated to benefit from the acquisitron

The Group's identifred cash-generating unts are smaller than the four reportable segrments, being the 14 operating companies Goodwall

ansing on a bolt-on acquisition 15 combined with the goodwall in the existing Group company and 15 not considered separately for
mparment purpoeses, since such acqusilions are quickly integrated
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS continued

11. Goodwilt and other intangible assets continued
The mast significant amaunts of goodwill are as follows

2018 2017

- Pre-tax Pre-1ax

Goodwili  discount rate Goodwill  discaunt rate

e Em %___ £m %

Malvern Panalytical 140 1 115 1392 107

Omega Engineering 1153 155 109.0 128

HBM 106.1 11.7 103 4 118

Concept Life Saences 105.5 134 - -

BTG 695 135 &8 1 1

Bruel & Kjger Sound & Vibraton 664 117 650 112

Milirook 581 127 541 121

Red Lion Controls 416 158 396 138

Servomex 254 13.2 248 123

Other 383 12.9-179 243 131-138
7663 6275

induded wathin “Cther are four (2017 three) cash-generating units, in which none of the goadwall balances are considered to be
ndmadually signiicant

Goodwall 15 not amortsed but is tested for impakment annually or whenever there 15 an indication that the asset may be impawed As part
of the annual Impairment review, the carrying amount of goodwill has been assessed with reference 10 s recoverable amount determined
based on value in use In assessing value m use, the forecast projected cash flows of each cash-generating unit, which are based on actual
operating results, the most recent budget for the next finanaat year as approved by the Board, detailed strategic rewew projections and an
assumead long-term growth rate 1o perpetuity, are dscounted to thewr present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects the time value
of money and the nsks speafic 1o the cash-generating unit

The key assumptions on wiwch the value in wse caiculations are based on relate to future business performance over the forecast penod (fve
years), projected long-term growth rates and the discount rates applied The forecast cash flows indude management’s latest esbmates on
sales volumes and priaing, production and other costs The key estimates applied in the impairment review are the forecast level of revenue,
operating margins and the propertion of operating profit converted to cash in each year A long-term growth rate of 2 0% (2017 2 0%)
has been consistently applied in the impatrment rewiew for all cash-generating umts based on current forecast global industnal production
growth rates, and long-term GDP growth rates for the Group’s pnmary markets The cash flow projections have been discounted using
cash-generating unit specific pre-tax discount rates of between 11 5% and 17 9% (2017 10 7% and 13 8%) These rates have been
determined by taking into account the size of business, specfic geographical and ndustry nsk factors, as well as the penod of ownerstup by
the Group. As a resuit of the annual impairment review, no goodwall imparment charge has been recognsed within operating profit in the
Consolidated Income Statement {2017 rul}

Sensitivity analysis

For ait cash-generating units, except Concept Life Sciences (‘CLS"), the Directors do not consider that there are any reasonably possible
sensitvities for the business that could anse in the next 12 months that could result In an Impairment charge being recognised

Performance at CLS was below expectations due 10 a range of factors nduding a reduction in project work from two major chients, delays
n gamng new (aboratory and manufactunng accrecitations (GLP and GMP], as well as a period of sub-optmal performance at one of its
analytcal laboratones These internal 1ssues largely reflected the state of the business on acquisition, which was in the process of integrating
Previous acquisitions INta two densians, as well as distraction and disruption caused to the commescal organsation tnggered by the
acquisition Remedia! acton to improve operational effectveness is already having an impact, the preparatory work for the manufactunng
accreditanons has progressed well and the funnel of opportunities across the business has developed strongly Management befieves that
the end markets for CLS are still very strong as customers continue to look to outsource analytical servces and pharmaceutical development
wark Due to the undec-performance, and as a resuit of s recent addition to the Group, the vatue in use approumates to the carnying vake
This means that any change in the key assumptions in isolation, assurming unchanged values for the other assumptions, would cause an
impairment loss 10 be recognised i respect of the CLS cash-generating unit

The key assumptions are

» 2019 CLS operating performance includes revenue growth of 25% compared to 2018 (on a 12-month comparable basis) with a gross
margin improvement of 9pp compared to 2018 {6pp compared to the recent run-rate in grass margin achieved by the business),

» ovel the penod 2020 to 2023, annual growth in arganic revenue s assumed to be 12%, gross margin increases Ly 3pp,

v long-term growth rate of 2%, and

» pre-tax discount rate of 13 4% which includes 3pp speafic company nsk prerium

120 Annual Report and Accounts 2018



The followang tabie represents the impact of changes in the key assumptions noted above 3
Imparrment =

loss a3}

Change i key assumption fm -
wh

Revenue growth and gross margin fower than expected (see below) Upto 300 &
A 1pp increase in the pre-tax discount rate from 13 4% to 14 4% 190 S
T

A 1pp reduction In the long-term growth rate from 2% to 1% 180 a

Forecast cash flows for CLS are dependent upon an smprovement i gross margin for the operating company over

the five-year forecast penod reflecting double digit revenue growth over the same perrod Whilst performance in 2018 has been behind
expectabons, management considers that the improvement in the gross margin 1s anticipated to be 12 percentage points over the five-year
penad, supported by the recovery of performance in 2019 and the change i mix as the business moves towards higher value integrated
drug discovery and development services, which yield a higher gross margin

On the assumption that 2019 performance 1s detvered as forecast, and the pre-tax discount rate and long-term growth rate are maintained
at 13 4% and 2%, respectively, from the value in use model, management considers the following represents a reasonably possible srange
of performance outcome, based on market and peer data combined with histonc perfarmance information

» annual oIganic revenue growth over the 2020 to 2023 penad coukd reduce by up to 3pp per annum from 12% 10 9%.
» gross margin dechines by 2pp

The above reasanably possible change i assumptions relating to forecast cash flows would lead to animpairment of up to £30 0 milhon
including the consequential effect of the containment of overhead costs followang tower revenue growth

Other intangible assets
Of the total amortisation charge of £47 1m (2017 £47 5m), the amount attrbutable to the amortisation of acquisition-related intangible
assets was £41 3m (2017 £41 9m)

internally generated assets ansing from the capitalisation of qualifying development expenditure typically have a finite expected useful hfe of
four to ten years Capitalised development expenditure 15 armortised on 3 straight-ine basis Al amortisation charges for the year have been

charged against operating profit The Group has capiahsed £4 7m of intemally-generated intangible assets from development expenditure

in 2018 {2017 £r)

The trade names and technology assets recognised on the acquisition of Omega Engsneenng in 2011, and included wathwn the tndustnal
Controls reportable segment, are considered significant by the Directors as they represent 32% {2017 43%) of total cusiomer-related and
trade names, and 14% (2017 19%) of total patents, contractual nghts and technology, respectively The campng amount of customer-
related and trade hame intangible assets at 31 December 201815 £49 3m (2017 £50 3m} and is being amortsed over 20 years with the
remaning amortisation penod beng 13 years The carrying amount of patents, contractval nghts and technology intangible assets a1

31 December 201815 £10 tm (2017 £12 4m} and 15 being amortised over ten years with the remaiing amortisation penod being

three years

The customer-related and technology assets recogrised on the acquisition of CLS in 2018, and indluded wathin the Matertals Analysrs
reportable segment, are considered significant by the Directors as they represent 24% of total customer-related and trade names, and 14%
of total patents, contractual nghts and technology, respectively The carring amount of customer-related and trade name intangibie assets
at 31 December 2018 is £36 8 ang 15 being amortised over 15 years with the remarming amortisation penod being 14 years The carmang
amount of patents, contractual rights and technology intangible assets at 31 December 201815 £10 2m and 15 being amorused over ten
years, with the remairing amortisation period being nine years
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NOTES TO THE ACCTOUNTS continued

12. Property, ptant and equipment

freehold Leasehoid Plant ang

property praperty equipment Tatal
Cost Note £m fm £on £m
At 1 fgnuary 2017 2035 164 2219 4418
Additions - separately acqurred 101 21 533 655
Additions - business combinations 24 - - 31 31
Transfer to assets held for sale {1 6) on 33 (50
Disposals - {04 ®87 @n
Disposal of business 25 - ©on {51) (52)
Foreign exchange difference (11} {0 8} (39 (58)
At 31 Oecember 2017 2169 7.t 257.3 485.3
Additions - separately acquired 302 15 456 733
Additions — business cambinations 24 29 05 121 15.%
Redclassifications 6.9 03 {7.2 -
Transfer o assets held for sale (45) - - @5s)
Drsposals (2.5) 0.9) {11.3) (147}
Adjustrnents to assets held for sale 0.5 - (0 6) {0.1)
Foreign exchange difference 35 04 319 78
At 31 Deacember 2018 2479 18.9 295.8 562.6
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 Janyary 2017 533 114 1383 2030
Charge for the year 56 13 18.7 256
Transfer to assets held for sale an -~ (25) 38
Disposals - ©.4) 31 85
Dispasal of business 25 - on a3 4 4)
Foreign exchange difference a3 {0 5} (2 &} (2 6}
At 31 December 2017 s81 117 1397 2095
Charge for the year 6.2 1.4 227 303
Reclassfications (0.2} 02 - -
Transfer to assets held tfor sate (0.6) - - {0.6)
Disposals ~ (1.0 {10.0} (t1.0)
Adjustments 10 assets held for sale 03 - (0.5) (02}
Foreign exchange difference 04 0.2 25 31
At 31 December 2018 642 12.5 154.4 2311
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2018 183.7 6.4 ta1.4 3315
At 31 December 2017 152 8 54 1176 2758

The amaunt included i the cost of plant and equipment of assets i the course of construction was £47 Sm (2017 £38 8m)
No borrowsng costs were capitabsed dunng either year

Of the total deprecabon charge of £30 3m (2017 £25 6m), the amount attnbutable to the depreciation on farr value adustments to
acquiston-related property, plant and equipment was £0 8m (2017 £07m)

Additions are net of £2 9m (2017 £1 2m) relaung to the receipt of government grants
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13. Investment in joint venture

The Group has one joint venture st 31 December 2018, Bruel & Kyaer EMS Pty Ltd {'EMS B&K'} The Group has an effective 45%
ownership interest in EMS B&K EMS B&K's place of incorparation and panaipal place of business 15 Australia and its principat actvity
15 environmental monitonng

2018

£m

AL 1 January 2018 -
Addition (see Note 25) 6.0
Share of post-tax results {12)
Foresgn exchange difference 0.2
At 31 December 2018 5.0

The Group did not recewe dradends from is jont venture duning the year

Summansed financial information 10 respect of the Group's joint venture s set out below Yhe summarsed informavon below has been
presented on a 100% basis in accordance with IFRS (after adjustments by the Group for equity accounting purposes and 1o comply wath the
Group's 2ccounting policies)

2018
£m
Current assets 109
Non-current assets 175
Current liabilizies 67)
Non-current habilities including 5% preference shares of £70 8m) {71.8)
Net habilives of joint venture {50.1)
Income statement informaten 1 june 2018 to 31 December 2018
Revenue 161
Loss fram contnuing operations 27

Recancihation of the above summansed financal nformaton to the carmang amount of the interest recogrused m the Consolidated Financal
Statements

2018
£m
Net habiives of joint venture {50.1)
Proporiion of the Group's ownership mterest in the joint venture (45%) (22.5)
Goodwall 27.5
Carrying amount of the Group's interest In the jeint venture 50
The Group does not have any other joint ventures or associates
14. Inventories
2018 2017
£Em fm
Raw matenals 782 66 4
Work in progress 538 394
Fimshed goods and goods held for resale 844 702
216.4 176 0

In the ordinary course of buéness, the Group makes prowision for slow-mowving, excess and obsolete inventory to wnte it down to its net
reafisable value based on an assessment of technological and market developments specific to the relevant business, and an analysis of
historical and progected usage on an individual tem or product line basis

Expenses relaing to inventornes wntten down dunng the year totalled £7 4m (2017 £9 9m)
Finished goods and guods held for resaie expected 1o be utised after 12 months amounted to £1 5m (2017 £3 Tri)
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS continued

15. Trade and other receivables

o
Current
Trade recewvables 3118 269.2
Prepayments 20.7 42
VAT and stmiar taxes recenable 11.8 a7
Other receivables 215 245
Contract assets {accrued revenue) 15.7 53
3815 3239
Non-current
Other receivable - joint venture 38.9 -

Trade receivables are non-miterest beanng Standard credit terms provided to customers differ according to business and country, and are
typically between 30 and 60 days Trade recevables are stated after the prowvision for impairment of £4 6m (2017 £7 Om)

The far value of rade and other recenvables approximates to 1S carmpng amount due 1o the short-term matunbes assocated with these
items. There 1s no iImpawment nsk identified with regards to other recevables where no amounts are past due The non-current other
recenable — joint venture arose on the formation of the joint venture and 13 held at amortised cost

The maxmuim exposure 1o credit risk for trade recewables at 31 December by geographic regron was

2018 2017

im £m

UK 235 156
Germany 277 227
France 135 120
Rest of Europe 533 529
USA 836 684
Rest of North Amenca 139 66
Japan 175 142
China 299 230
South Korea 83 71
Rest of Asia 251 211
Rest of the world 155 156
311.8 2692

Expected ¢redit losses

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade recevables at an amount equal to ifetime expected credrt losses ('ECL’) The ECL on trade
recevables are estimated using a provision matrix by reference to past default expenence of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s
current financiat posmon, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtor, general economi conditions of the industry in which the
debrtor operates and an assessment of both the current as well as the farecast drection of conditions at the reporting date

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumnptions made dunng the curent reporting perod

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe financal difficufty and there s no
reahsuic prospect of recovery, e g when the debtor has been placed under iquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings

The ageing of trade recevables and related provisions for impairment at 31 December was

2018 2017

Gross Impairment Gross Impairment

fm fm fm fm

Not past due 199.7 0.2 1884 03
One month past due 55.4 ot 473 -
Two months past due 21.5 0.1 %8 01
Three months past due 12.7 0.1 82 -
Four months past due 7.2 01 43 -
More than four months past due 19.9 4.0 112 6.6
3164 456 2762 70
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The movement in the provision for impairment in eespect of trade recewables dunng the year was as foliows

2018 2017
£ £m
At 1 january 70 132
Adoption of IFRS 9 {2.9) -
At 1 January (restated) 41 132
Provision for impairment of recenvables 1.1 (4 5)
impairment loss utlised 0.7 (08)
Disposal of business - (0.4)
Foreign exchange difference 0.1 {09)
At 31 December 46 70
All of the above wnpairment losses relate to recenables arsing from contracts wath customers
16. Cash and cash equivalents
2018 2617
hote Em £m
Cash and cash equivalents included in current assets 731 1379
Cash and cash equivalents included in assets held for sate - 01
Bank overdrafts wxcluded in current borrowings i7 {58) (1.3)
Cash and cash equivalents in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Fiaws 673 1367

The Group's exposure to interest rate nsk and a sensitiaty analysis for finanoal assets and habities 1s disclosed in Note 28

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 Decernber 2017 included £2 4m of restricted cash which was held in esCrow relating to the acquisiion of

Millorook 1n 2016 This was paid dunng the year

17. Borrowings

2018 2017
Current interest rate Repayable date £m Em
Bank overdrafts on demand 58 13
Bank loans unsecured - £20 Om uncommitted faciity Relevant LIBOR +50bps on demand 179 -
Total current borrowings 237 13

2018 2017
Non-current Interest rate Maturity date Em £m
Bank loans unsecured - €94 8m Fixed 2 56% 14 Qctober 2020 848 841
Bank loans unsecured - €116 2m Fixed 1 15% 9 September 2022 104.0 103 ¢
8ank loans unsecured - $800 Om revolving credit faciity Retevant LIBOR +55bps 3% July 2023 157.7 -
Total non-cuirent borrowings 3465 187 2
Total current and non-current bofrowings 370.2 1885
Total unsecured borrowings 3644 187 2

At 31 December 2018, the Group had available £467 9m of undrawn comrnitted borrowing facilitres in respect of its US Doflar $800m

revolving credit facity (2017 £406 S5m of $550m), of which all conditrons precedent had been met
Movements in total unsecured borrowings are reconcited as follows

2018 2017
£Em fm
At 1 January 187 2 2221
Proceeds from borrowings 1755 -
Repayment of borrowings - {41 0y
Effecl of foreign exchange rates 17 61
At 31 December 3644 1872
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NOTES TO THE ACCCUNTS continued

18. Trade and other payables

2018 2017
Current £m £m
Trade payables 705 597
Accruals 106.4 1056
Customer advances 271 ita
Contract abilites 749 387
Deferred and contingent consideration on acquisitions and disposals g7 63
VAT and similar taxes payable 111 123
Other payables 444 28.5
3441 272%
2018 2017
Non-current fm fm
Contract habrhnies 28 23
Deferred and contingent considerahion on acqusiions and disposals 8.1 438
Other payables 15.5 136
274 207
The {ar value of trade and other payables approxmates 1o ther carying amount due 10 the short-term maturities assoctated with
these ilemns
Tota! contract iabilities relate to the following product groups
2(;:
Materials Analysis 469
Test and Measurement 26.1
In-kne instrumentation 45
Industnal Controls 0.2
7?7

Significant changes in contract liabilities during the year

The Group recogrased £3B 2m of addhuonal deferred income as & result of adopting IFRS 15 at 1 January 2018 (see Note 1 for further

details), bringing the total contract hability balance 10 £79 2m  Of this balance, £78 ?m has been recognised as revenue dunng 2018

The contract liability balance at 31 December 2018 includes £6.0m arsing from businesses acquired dunng 2018 (business combinations),

of which £2 Bm & i Matenats Analyas and £3 2rmn Test and Measurement
There were no other sigrficant changes in contract hiabrdity balances dunng the year

19. Provisions

Product cm(r::tgua;i

Rearganuation warranty and ather Total

£m £m Em £Em

At 1 Sanuary 2018 20 1.7 1.5 25.2
Prowsion dunng the year 5.6 8.1 3.9 18.6
Recogrised on acquistons - 04 c4 08
Unlised dunng the year {19 {74} {14) {10.7)
Released during the year {0.3) . an {26)
Foreign exchange difference - 0.2 01 03
At 31 December 2018 5.4 12.8 134 316

Prowisions are afl presented as current liabdites

Reorganisation

Reorgamsation provisions relate to committed restructuning plans in place within the business Caosts are expected ta be incurred within one

year and there s ittle judgement in determining the amaunt

Product warranty

Product warranty Provisions reflect commetments made to customers on the sale of goods N the ordinary course of business and induded
within the Group's standard terms and condiions. Warranty commitments typically apply for a 12-month penod, but can extend to 36

months These extended warranties are not sigruficant
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Legal, contractual and other

Legal, contractual and other prowsions mainly compnse amounts provided agamst open legal and contractual disputes ansing i the normat
course of business The Company has on occasion been required to take legal or other actions to protect its intellectual property nghts, to
enforce commercial contracts or othenwase and similasly to defend ntself aganst proceedings brought by other parties Prowisions are made
for the expected costs associated with such matters, based on past experience of similar items and other known facters, taking into account
professional advice feceved, and represent management's best estimate of the most likely outcome The tming of utiisatron of these
provisions s frequently uncertain, reflecing the complexty of ssues and the outcome of varnous court proceedings and negotiations
Contractuat and other provisions represent the Directors' best estimate of the cost of settling current obhgations Other prowsions includes
iterest related to tax pravistons of £5 4m (2017 £5 tm)

No prowvision i made for proceedings which have been or might be brought by other parties against Group comparies untess management,
taking into account protessional advice recenved, assesses that it 1s probable that such proceedings may be successful Contingent liabilities
assocated with such proceedings have been identfied, but the Directors are of the opinion that any assocated clams that rmight be
brought can be defeated successfully and, therefore, the possibiity of any matenal outflow 1n settlernent 15 assessed as remote

SIBWAR]SG [eDUBUIY

20. Retirement benefit plans

The Group operates funded defined benefit and defined contribution pension plans for the Group's quaiifying employees in the UK In
addition, 14 overseas subsidhanes (2017 14) in three overseas countnes provide defined benefit plans Other UK and overseas subsidianes
have their own defined contribution plans invested in independent funds

Defined benefit plans

The U¥, German, Dutch and Swass plans provide pensions m retvement, death in senice and i some cases disability benefits to members
The pension bengfit 15 inked to members’ final salary at retirernent and ther service ife Since 31 December 2009, the UK plan has been
closed to all service accruals The German and Dutceh plans are cfosed to new members

The UK plan is adrinistered by a pension fund, but the Swass and Dutch plans are held by insurance comparies that are legally

separate from the Group The maponty of the overseas plan assets are insurance policies held 1 the Swiss plans, which are not matching
i nature The UK plan 1s managed by a Board of Trustees that represents both employees and employer, who are required to act in the
best interest of the plan’s partcipants and are responsible for setting certain pohcies {e g investment, contnbution and indexaticn pohcies)
of the varous funds

The plans expose the Group to actuanal nisks, such as longevity nsk, currendcy nisk, nterest rate nsk and market (investrment) sk
Inflation and interest rate hedges are taken out to mitigate agamst nsks ansing on the UK plan and some rensurance exists In respect of
the overseas plans

The overseas plans are funded by the Group’s overseas subsidianes, and the UK plan has been funded :n the past by both the Group’s UK
subsidianes and the Company The assets of the UK plan are invested in accordance with Section 40 of the Pensions Act 1995 Although the
Act permits 5% of the plan’s assets 1o be invested in "employer-related investments’, the Trustees have elected that none of the plan assets
are to be wnvested directly in Specins pic shares The Trustees also hold interest rate and inflation swaps to help protect agamst the impact of
changes in prevailing interest rates and pnce inflation, which, i coryunction with the carporate bond partiolio, aims to fully hedge against
nterest and inflation rate nsks an the bass used by the Trustee to fund the plan Trustee iInvestment in denvatsves 1s only made in so far as
they contribute 1o the reduction of investment nsks or faclitate efficient portfolio management and are managed such as to avoid excessve
risk exposyre to 3 single counterparty or other dervatove aperations

The funding requirements are based on the indwidual funds’ actuanal measurement framework set cut in the funding policies of
the vanous plans

The Group has deterrmned that, in accordance with the lerms and condit:ons of the defined benefit plans, and in accordance wath statutory
requrements (including minkmum funding requirements) of the plans of the respective junsdictions, the present value of the refunds or
reducuons in future contnbutions 1s not lower than the balance of the total farr value of the plan assets less the total present value of
obligaticns This determination has been made on a plan-by-plan basis As such, no decrease n the defined benefit asset was necessary

at 31 December 2018

The last full actuanal valuauon for the UX plan was 31 December 2017, and for the overseas plans was 31 December 2018 Where
apphcable, the valuations were updated to 31 December 2018 for IAS 19 (Revised) ‘Employee Benefits’ purpases by qualified
ndependent actuarnes

The Group's contributions to overseas defined benefit plans duning the year ended 31 December 2018 were £2 2m {2017 £2 2m}
Contrbutions far 2019 are expected to be £2 3m for the overseas plans

Contributions 10 the Specins Pension Plan {(UK) ceased from 1 July 2012 The contribution rates are subject to rewsew at future valuations
and penod:c certfications of the schedule of contrbutions
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NQTES TO THE ACCOUNTS continued

20. Retirement benefit plans continued

The assurmptrons used by the actuary to value the kabivties of the defined benefit plans were

2018 2017

UK plan Ove:l::: UK plan CNea::i

%pa % p.a %pa %pa

Discouny, rate 27 095-21 24 07-20

Salary increases nfa 19-30 na 10-30

Pension increases in payment 22-37 00-20 21-37 00-20
Pension increases m deferment 24-33 23-32

inflation assumption 24-33 10-20 23-32 10-20

interest credit rate 0.0-1.0 00-10

The waighted average duration of the defined benefit obhgation at 31 December 2018 was approximately 14 years (2017 17 years) for the
UK plan and 18 3 years (2017 18 6 years) for the overseas plans

Pensioner life expectancy assumed in the 33 December 2018 valuation 1 based on the following tables

UK plan

long-term rate of improvemnent of 1 25% per annum and a smoathing parameter of 8

German plans
Dutch plans
Swaiss plan

Dr K Heubeck pension tables 2018 G
AG Prognosetafel 2018 \ables
BVG 2015 - CMI 1.50%

G2% SIPMAMIG% ST1PFA centred in 2006, future improvernents in fine with CMIL_2017 with g

Sarnples of the ages that pensioners are assurned to Ive o are as follows

Male female

Pensioners aged 6510 2018 851-871 88.1-830
Persioners aged 65 1in 2028 865-878 B93-899
UK plan Qverseas plans Total

Amounts recognised in the 2018 2017 W18 007 28 2017
Consolidated Income 3tatement £m im fm tm £m fm
Current senace cost - - 20 22 20 22
Net interest cost 03 04 03 03 Q.6 o7
Admunistrative cost 0.3 Q3 o 14 o4 05
Past senace cost/{cred:t) 25 - 0.2 (1.7) 2.7 (17
31 Q7 25 10 57 T?

The current service cost and past senice costcredit) are recogmsed in administrative expenses in the Consohdated Income Statement The
net interest cost on the net defined benefit obliigation is recognised 1n finance costs in the Consakdated Income Statement Actuanal gains
and losses are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive income

During the year, insurance premiums for death-in-service benefits amountng to £0 3m 2017 £0.3m) were paid

There was 3 negative 1otal retum on plan assets in the year of £4 4m 2017 a positve return of £7 7m)

UK plan QOverseas plans Totat

Amounts reco?ni;ed n the 2018 2017 208 2017 2018 2017
Consclidated Statement of Comprehensive Income £m £m m Em £m £m
Actuanai gains 39 29 21 26 6.0 55
Foreign exchange losses - - {0.6) 04 {0.6) o4
Net gains 39 29 1.5 30 5.4 59
UK planr Overseas plans Tatal

Amounts recnogrised in the 2018 2017 2018 Fio) ¥ 2018 2007
Consolidated Statement of Financal Position fm £m £m fm im £m
Present value of defined benefit cbhgations {125.7) {137 4) {57.4) (54 7) {183 1) (192 1)
Fair value of plan assets 113.2 1241 318 340 151.0 158 1
Retrernent benefil obligations {12.5) (133) (19 86) 207) (32.1) {340}
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UK plan Qverseas pians Total
Reconcliation of movement in 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
retirement benefit obligations £m £m £m £m £m Em
At 1 January (13.3) {155} (2.7} (24 8} (34.0} 4o 3)
Cureent sarvice ost - - {2.0) 22) {2.0) (22;
Net interest cost {0.3) [(OF-}] 0.3 3 (0.6) on
Plan adnenistrative cost (0.3) {03) 01 02 (0.4) {05)
Past service (costYcrediy {25) - {0.2) 17 2.7) 17
Contributions from sponsonng company and
pfan members - - 16 15 1.6 ¥5
Benefits pard - - 06 06 06 06
Actuanal gains 39 29 21 26 60 55
Foreign exchange difference - - (0.5) 04 (0.6) G4
At 31 December {12.5) (13 3) {19.6) (207) (32.1) (34 0)
UK plan Querseas pians Total
Analysis of movement in the present 2018 2017 208 2017 2018 2007
value of the defined benefit obiigation £m fm £m £m [ £m
At 1 January 1374 1384 54.7 592 1821 976
Current service Cost - - 20 22 20 22
Interest cost 32 35 07 06 39 41
Past service costicredit) 2.5 - 0.2 (17 27 an
Contnbutions from plan members - - i.2 13 1.2 13
Actuanal (gainsosses - financial an 06 (18) 7 (549) 01}
Actuanal (gainsiiosses - demagraphic (86) - o1 (13 (8.5) a3
Actuanal (gansphasses — expenence o7 ©3) - 05 0.7 02
Benefits paid {5 4) (4 8) (1.6} a0} 7.0 88
Foresgn exchange difference - - 1.9 (14) 1.9 {14)
At 31 December 125.7 1374 574 547 183.1 1921
Analysed as.
Present value of unfunded defined benefit obligation - - 76 79 76 79
Present value of funded defined benefit obligaton 125.7 1374 498 46 8 1755 184 2
UK plan Overseas plans Total
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Reconaliation of movement i fair value of plan assets £m £m £m £m £m £m
At T January 1241 1229 340 344 1581 157 3
Interest ncome on assets 29 31 04 03 33 34
Plan admimnistration cost {03) ©3) {01) ¢ 2) {0 4) (Q 5)
Contnbutions from sponsoring company - - 133 16 16 16
Contnbutions from plan members - - 12 12 1.2 12
Actuanal (lossesygams {8.1) 32 o4 11 .7 43
Benefits paid 54 48 (1.0) (34) (6.4) (82)
Foreign exchange difference - - 13 (10) 1.3 {10}
At 31 December 1132 1241 378 340 151.0 158 1
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NOTES TG TRE ACCOUNTS cantinued

20. Retirement benefit plans continued

UK plan Overseas plans Total

Fan value of assets 202"8‘ 2051"7\ z?ms 20£l"7‘ mil'rg 20{1::
Equity instruments 53 89 - - 5.3 89
Corporate bonds 93.0 106.4 - - 94 0 106 4
Government bonds 103 66 - - 10.3 66
Cash and finangal denvatives (et} 36 22 - - 36 27
Insurance pohcies - - 378 34.0 378 340
113.2 1241 378 340 1510 158 1

The UK plan assets are invested in active rarkets which have a quoted market pnce The overseas plan assets are invested in insurance polines

Sensitivity analysis

The table below shows the sensitvity of the Consolidated Statement of Financia) Posiion to changes i the sigrificant pension assumptions

based on a reasonably expected change gven current market condiions

tmpact on retivemeat bengfit obligations
as at 31 December 2018

Change n assumption UK plan
Discount rate Increase by 1% Decrease by £16 7m
Rate of prce nilation (RPY increase by 1% Increase by £11 6m
Assumed life expectancy at age 65 increase by 1 year increase by £4 1m

Overseas plans

Decrease by £8 Tm
Increase by £2 1m
increase by £1 5m

Defined contribution plans

The total cost of the defined contrbution plans for the year was £17 8m (2017 £15 3m} There were no outstanding or prepad

contributions 1o these plans as at 31 December 2018 or 31 December 2017

21. Deferred tax
The movement in the net deferred tax hiabiityAasset) 1s shown below

2018 2017
Note £m fm
At 1 January 145 278
Adapuion of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 (5.8} -
At 1 January (restated) 8.7 278
foresgn exchange difference 0.1 Q24
Agqusition of subsittary undertakings 24 138 03
Disposai of businesses 1.0 20
Reclassifried as assets heid for sale - 04
Deferred 1ax on changes in far value of forward exchange contracts recogmised i the Consalidated
Statement of Comprehensive income 1) 03
Deferred tax on re-measurement of net defined benefit hability recogrised n the Consoidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income 14 14
Deferred tax on share-based payments recognised in equity 0.t o1
Credited 1o the Consolidated income Statement 8 {61) {152}
At 31 December 89 145
Compnsing
Deferred tax habhtes 302 250
Deferred 1ax assets (11.3) (105)
18.9 145
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The moverments in deferred tax assets and liabilties dunng the year are shown below Deferred tax assets and habilities are only offset where
there & a legally enforceable nght of offset and they refate 10 income taxes levied by the same taxation authonty.

Unrealised Goodwili
Accelerated profit on and other
tax Accruals and Tax inter-company  Pension intangble 2018
deprecation provisians losses transactions plans assets Other Total
Net deferred tax {assets)y/habilities £m £m £m fm £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2018 37 (119 22} {53) an 362 0.8 145
Adoption of IFRS 9 and 1FRS 15 - (5.8} - - - - - (5.8)
At 1 january 2018 {restated} 37 {16 8} (2.2} (5.3} .n 362 08 8.7
Foreign exchange difference - - - (0.6) - 07 - 01
Acqusition of subsidiary undertakings - - - - - 138 - 138
Dsposal of hustness - - - - - 1.0 - 10
Deferred tax on changes in fair value
of forward exchange tontracts
recogrused n the Consoldated
Statement of Comprehensive Income - - - - - - (LR} oy
Deferred Lax on re-measurement of
net defined benefit obhgation
recognised in the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income - - - - 14 - - 1.4
Deferred tax on share-based payments
recognised in equity - - - - - - 01 01
Charged/(credited) to the
Consohdated Income Statement 06 36 11 (2 4) c7) 6.5 {1.8) 1)
At 31 December 2018 43 {13.2) {1.1) {83) (7.0} 45.2 {1.0) 189
tinreahsed Goodwilt
Accelerated profit on and ather
tax  Acgruals and Jax  nter-company Pension intangble 2017
depreciation prowvisIon losses transactions ptans assets Other Total
Net deferred tax {assetsyhiabilities fm fm £m fm fm £mn £m £m
At 1 January 2007 51 (19 6) (2 4) (57) {93} 589 o8 278
Foreign exchange difference - - - - - (24) - 2a
Acquisiion of subsidiary undertakings - - - - - 032 - 03
Disposal of business - - - - - 06 i4 20
Transfer to assets held for sale - 06 - - - 02 - 04

Deferred tax on changes in far value

of forward exchange contracts

recognised :n the Consohdated

Staternent of Comprehensive Income - - - - - - Q.3 03

Deferred tax on re-measurement of
net defined benefit obligation
recognised in the Consolidated

Statement of Cornprehensive income - - - - 14 - - 14
Deferred tax on share-based payments

recognised in equity - - - - - - ©cn on
(Creditedycharged 10 the

{onschdated Incorne Staternent (14) 80 02 04 02 210 {16) {152)
At 31 December 2017 37 (11 O 22) (53) (77 3612 08 145
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS continued

21. Deferred tax continued

Unrecognised temporary differences

Deferred tax assets have nat been recagnised an the following temporary differences due ta the degree of uncertainty over both the
amount and utisation of the underlying tax losses and deductions in certamn junsdictions  £1 7m wilt expire between 2026 and 2028
There s no expiry date associated with the remaming tax losses of £46 5m

2018 2017
£m £m

Tax losses 48.2 480
Other temporary differences 11 0.4
49.3 484

Phased reductions in the UK corporation tax rate 1o 19% effective from 1 Apnl 2017 and 17% from ¥ Apnl 2020 were substantively
enacted in the UK Finance (No 2) Act 2015 and UK Finance Act 2016, respectively

it 15 hkely that the unremitied earmings of overseas subsidianes would qualfy for the UK dwdend exemption such that no UK tax would be
due upon remitting these eamings to the UK However, £67 5m (2017 £54 7m) of those earnings may still result in a tax hability, pancipally
as a result of the didend wathholding taxes levied by the overseas tax junsdictions in which those subsidianes operate These tax habiiiies
are not expected to exceed £3 8m (2017 £3 2m), of which only £1.9m (2017 £1 4m) has been prowided for as the Group s able to control
the trrung of the dmdends It s not expected that further amounts will crystallise in the foreseeable future

22. Share capital and reserves

2618 2017
Number of Number of
shares shares
miliions £m milhons fm
issued and fully paid {ordinary shares of Sp each)
Al 1 January and 31 Decermnber 1212 6.0 1250 62

No ordinary shares were 1ssued upon exeraise under share option schemes dunng the year (2017 ni)

Dunng the year, 3,825,802 ordinary shares were repurchased and cancelled by the Group (2017 ni) as part of the share buyback
programme announced on S March 2018, which concluded on 13 August 2018

At 31 December 2018, the Group held 5,636,153 treasury shares (2017 5,747,360) Dunng the year, 113,207 (2017 93,153) of these
shares were ssued 10 satisfy options exercised by, and SIP matching shares awarded to, employees which were granted under the Group's
share schemes

In July 2018, the Group established an employee benefit trust (EBT) to operate the Spectnis Share Incentive Plan (SIP) to alf eligible

UK-based employees The EBT holds shares in Spectris pic for the purposes of the SIP, further details of which are disclosed in the Cirectors’
Remuneration Report At 31 December 2018, the EBT held 11,353 shares which were purchased from the market during the year The costs
of funding and administenng the plan are charged to the income Statement In the peniod to which they relate

Other reserves

Maovemnents in reserves are set out in the Consohdated Statemert of Changes in Equity The retained earrings reserve also includes
awn shares purchased by the Company and treated as treasury shares The nature and purpose of other reserves forming part of equity
are as follows

Translation reserve
The foreign Currency translation reserve 15 used to record exchange differences ansing from the translation of the finanaial Statements
of foreign subsidianes, mcluding gains or 1osses ansmg on net nvestment hedges

Hedging reserve
This reserve records the cumulatve net change in the fawr value of forward exchange contracts where they are designated as effective
cash flow hedge relatanships.

Merger reserve
This reserve arose on the acquision of Servomex Limited m 1999, a purchase satisfied substantially by the issue of share capital and
therefore eligible for merger relief under the provisians of Section 612 of the Companies Act 2006

Capital redemption reserve
This reserve records the histoncal repurchase of the Company's own shares Dunng the year, as a result of the share buyback programme,
the capital redernphion reserve increased by £0 2m, reflecting the nomunal value of the carcelled ardinary shares
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23. Share-based payments

Spectris Performance Share Plan ('PS#)

The PSP 15 used to grant share awards to semior executives and key employees that are settled i ether equity of cash Equity-settled PSP
awards are granted in the form of norminal share options Some PSP awards granted to UK employees are linked to a grant of market value
share options under the terms of HMRC s tax-advantaged Company Share Option Plan (Linked {tax-advantaged) awards’)

Linked {tax-advantaged) awards are granied up 10 an aggregate value of £30,000, which 1s HMRC’s it The Linked {tax-advantaged)
awards have the same performance and vesting condibons as the PSP awards 10 which they are hnked

SIUIWILRIS [R1dURUIY

When an employee chooses 10 exercse a PSP award which is linked to a Linked (tax-advantaged) award, both parts are also automatically
exercised at the same time Should there be a gain on exerase from the Linked (tax-advantaged) award part, then a proportion of the PSP
award will lapse to ensure that the overall gross value recened from the combined exercse of these awards 1s no more than would have
been delivered from a stand-alone equivalent PSP award Should there be no gain on exercise from the Linked (tax-advantaged) award part,
then this part s forferted and there is no reducuion in the remaimng PSP award

Both cash and equity-settled PSP awards are expected to vest, subject to their performance canditions, after three years Vested equity-
settled awards must be exeraised within the next seven years, whereas vested cash-settled awards are paid out on or shortly after the vesting
date From 2017 onwards. all PSP awards granted to Executive Cirectors are subject to an additional two-year holding period These PSP
awards vest after five years (three-year performance penod pius two-year holding peniod) and equity-settled awards must be exercised
wathin the next five years

Subject to the PSP awards vesting, participants receve additional dvidend shares on the vested shares under the PSP award For PSP awards
granted In or after 2014, the dwdend shares are of equivalent value to the Company’s dividends paid between the date of grant and the
vesting date For PSP awards granted before 2014, diwdend shares were of equivalent value to Company's dwidends paid between the date
of grant and the date of exercise

PSP performance conditions

Outstanding PSP awards granted (o Fxecutve Birectors are subject to the followang performance condiions one-thurd subject to an
adjusted earnings per share growth target (EPS’). one-thurd subject to an economic profit ('EP') target, and one-third subject to a Total
Shareholder Return target (TSR}

PSP awards granted to other members of the Executive Commitiee were subject to the same performance condihons up 10 2016 For 2017
onwards, PSP awards to the Executive Committee are subject to the following performance condiions. one-third subject to the same EPS
target, one-third subject 1o the same EP target, and one-third solely subject to coniinuous employment over the three-year vesung perod

PSP awards granted to other senior head office managers were, until 2016, 50% subject 1o EPS and 50% subject to TSR From 2017
onwards, senior head office management have two-thirds of their PSP awards sutyect 1o EPS and the remaining one-third solely subject to
continuous emplayment over the three-year vesting penod

PSP awards granted 10 executves and senior managers of the Group's operating companies it 2008 and 2009 were subject to an operatng
company profit target (50%) and £PS (50%) PSP awards granted between 2010 and 2016 had two-thirds subject to an operating cormpany
profit target and one-thwd subject to EPS For 2017 onwards. the performance conditions have been two-thirds operating company profit
targets and one-third continuous employment over the three-year vesting penod

Normally, PSP awards granted to part:cpants who leave employment pnar to vesting wall be forferted In the event a partiipant leaves due
10 a qualifying reason, they receive a brme pro-rated entitlement

Restricted Shares Plan {("RSP')

RSP 1s used to grant cash-settled share awards to selected key employees within the Spectnis Group RSP awards, which have been granted
from 2014 onwards, are subject to the same rules as the PSP but give flexibibity as to whether any performance conditions apply RSP awards
cannot be granted 1o an Executive Director of Spectns pic

Spectris Savings Related Share Option Scheme (‘SAYE'}

The SAYE 15 a UK tax-advantaged all empioyee share option scheme UK emplayees could choose to save up to £500 per month over three
years and then can use their savings 16 exerase ophions to purchase ordinary shares in the Company during a six-month window following
the SAYE maturity date

The exercise pnce of the SAYE optrons, which have no performance conditions attached to them, 15 set as the mid-market closing share
price on the day before the SAYE invitation date Ng SAYE inwitation has been made since September 2016

Spectris Share Incentive Plan ('StP)

The SIP, a UK tax-advantaged share matching plan, was launched after 1t was approved by sharehalders at the May 2018 AGM UK
employees can nvest up 10 £150 per month to buy ordinasy shares in the Company ("Partnership shares’) 1ax efficiently and for every five
Partnership shares purchased, the Company will gift one free ordinary share ("Matching share’) Maiching shares need 1o be held in the SIP
Trust for at least three years otherwise these shares are potentally subject to forfeiture The Company incurs a charge on any Matching
shares awarded under the SIP although the charge in 2018 was less than £0 1m
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS continued

23. Share-based payments continued
The number of outstanding share incentives are summansed below

2018 2007
Number Number
Incentive plan thousands thousands
Equity-settled
Performance Share Plan 1,615 1,576
Perfarmance Share Plan {Linked tax-advantaged) 113 g7
SAYE 45 86
Total equity-settied 1,773 1,759
Cash-settled Performance Share Plan (Phantom allocations) and Restncted Share Plan 374 370
Total outstanding 2,147 2.129
Share aptions outstanding at the end of the year (equity-settied}
2018 2m7
Weighted Weighted
Performance Share Plan con;:cT:‘;T:}g Number exerclas:e:lgg Number exerc:'.:‘e ;;:%:
Year of gramt of aptions thousands £ thousands £
2008 - - - 1 opa
2009 1 year 13 0.04 20 oo4
2010 2 years 27 o0 33 004
2011 3 years 31 0.04 42 004
2012 4 years 2 004 3 Q04
2013 S years 2 0.04 2 005
2014 6 years 2 0.05 005
2015 7 years 16 Q.05 an Q05
2016 8 years 531 0.05 569 0.05
2017 9 years 441 005 482 005
2018 10 years 550 005 - -
1,615 0.05 1,576 005
The weighted average remaining contractual ife of the PSP awards s B 68 years (2017 8 67 years)
2018 017
Weighted Weighted
Weighted  average fair Weghted verage T
average vilue at average  vaiue at grant
Number exercise price grant date Number  exercise price date
Performance Share Plan (share options) thousands £ { thousands i 3
At 1 Janvary 1,576 005 1,653 005
Granted 580 0.05 2474 493 005 2528
Addition of reinvested dmdends 8 0.00 1 000
Exercised (68) ¢.05 (66) 0.04
Forfeited (481) 0.05 {505) 005
At 31 December 1,615 0.05 1,576 0.05
Exercsable at 31 December 94 0.04 103 0.04
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2018 a7
Weighted weighted
Remamlng average average
Performance Share Plan (Linked tax-advantaged) cantractuat fe Number exercite price Number  exercise price
Year of gramt of oplions thousands £ thousands £
201 3 years t 11.30 2 1Y 30
2012 4 years 2 17.3% 2 17 31
2013 S years - 24.10 - 2410
2005 7 years 5 2197 34 2194
2016 B years 16 17.29 20 17 27
2017 9 years 36 2600 39 2602
2018 10 years 53 2663 - -
113 24 61 97 223N
The weighted average remaining contractuai Ife of the PSP (Linked tax-advantaged) awards 15 9 11 years (2017 8 B4 years)
2018 2007
Weighted weighted
Weighted  average fair Weighted average fair
average value a1 average  value at grant
Numbes exercise price grant date Number  exeiCise prce date
Performance Share Plan (Linked tax-advantaged} thousands £ thousands £ £
At 1 January 97 22.31 86 2044
Granted 57 26.64 3.95 39 2602 361
Exerased (5) 191 - -
Forfeited {36) 22 37 (28) 2182
At 3t December 113 2461 97 2231
Exercisable at 31 December 8 19.83 4 1465
2018 2017
Exesc E ted
SAYE le;‘;r:g rema.:ﬁfgchfe Number Number
Year of grant of options thousands thousands
2014 2015 - - 6
2015 1737 t year 19 52
2016 19 38 2 years 26 28
45 86
The weighted average remaining contractual life of the SAYE options 1s 1 57 years (2017 2 26 years)
2018 27
Weighted Weighted
average average
Number exercse price Numpber  exercse pnice
SAYE thousands £ thousands £
At 1 )anuary 86 18 22 126 i893
Exercised {38) 1782 {26) 2061
Forfeited {5} 18.44 (14) 2008
At 31 December 45 18.51 86 1822
Exeraisable at 31 December 20 1738 7 1993
Share options outstanding at the end of the year {(cash-settled)
_— 7 20618 207
Performance Share Plan {Phantom allocations} and Rema.mng Wf;%’,‘;;‘: W::,%:‘;;g
Restricted Shares Plan contractual life Number exercise price Number  exercrse price
Year of grant of options thousands 3 thousands f
2015 - - - 89 cas
2016 1 year 133 00s 162 1 2035)
2017 2 years 109 005 119 005
2018 3 years 132 005 - -
374 aos 370 0405

The weighted average remairung contractual ife of the PSP/RSP awards 15 2 00 years (2017 2 08 years)
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NOTES TG THE ACCOUNTS continued

23. Share-based payments continued

2018 2017

Weighted ‘Weighted

average fair average fair

value at value a1 grang

Performance Share Plan (Phantom allocations} and Number Exercise prce grant date Number  Execrcise price date

Restricted Shares Plan thousands £ £ thousands £ £
A 1 Sanuary 370 0.05 347 005

Granted 140 0.05 26 45 124 0.05 2610
Addiion of reinvested dwidends 4 0.00 4 000
Exercised (e1) 0.05 (53) 0.05
Forfened {79 0.05 {52) 0.05
At 31 December 374 205 370 aos

Exercsable at 31 December - - - -

Share-based payment expense

Share ophons are valued using the stochastic option pnang model (also known as the Monte Carlo model) in respect of TSR, and the Black-
Scholes model for all other options, with support from an independent remuneration consultant The TSR performance condition was
included n the caltutanion of far value under the PSP For options granted in 2017 and 2018, the faw value of options granted, and the
assumptions used i the calculation, are as follows

Equily-settied Cash-settled
Performance Share Plan (Pﬂ?omgcnzs::;ﬁugzg
Performance Share Plan {Linked tax-advantaged) Shares Plan
2018 2097 2018 017 2018 2017
Weighted average share pnce at date of grant {f) 26.81 2624 26.85 2605 26.50 26 25
Weighted average exercise pnce () 0.05 005 26.64 2605 0.05 005
Expeqied volauhty 24 66% 25 59% 24.65% 2555% 2473% 25 59%
Expected Ide (years) 307 300 304 300 3.00 300
Risk-free rate 086% 009% 0.86% 010% 0.84% 009%
Expected dwidends (expressed as a yield) - - 211% 203% - -
Weighted average fair values at date of grant {£)
TSR condition 15.30 14 847 373 - - -
Profit condition 26 54 2599 3.99 372 2696 26 22
EPS condinon 26.09 2572 3.94 378 2696 2522
Economic profit condition 26.46 2529 400 303 - -
Sernice conditon 26.57 2578 399 355 2696 26 06
Weighted averaqe fasr values at 31 December (£}
TSR condibon (cash-settled) - -
Profit condition {cash-setiled) 2150 2356
EPS condition {cash-settled) 2150 2356
Serwice condiion {cash-settled) 21 46 2356

The expected volatihty 15 based on histonical volatiity over the expected term The expected hfe 5 the average expected penod 1o exercise
The nisk-free rate of return 15 the yield on zero-coupon UK government bonds of a term consistent with the assumed option life

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share opbions exercised under the PSP in 2018 was £26 17 (2017 £2500)
The weighted average fair value of cash-setiled optons outstanding at 31 Decernber 2018 s £21 98 (2017 £24 03) for the EPS condition

The Group recogrised a 1otal share-based payment charge of £6 2m (2017 £8 2m) n the Cansalidated Income Staternent, of which £5 1m
(2017 £5 4m} related to equity-settled share-based payment transactions
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24. Acquisitions

Concept Life Sciences

On 26 Janyary 2018, the Group acquired 100% of Concept Life Scences (Holdings) Limited ('CLS") for a gross consideration of £166 9m
CLS is a UK-based group providing integrated drug discovery, development, analytical testing and environmental consultancy sences,
mainly i1 the pharmaceutical, biotechnology, agrochemical and environmental sectors This acquisition adds to the Group’s capabiliies in
test services in the Materials Analysis segment The excess of the fair value of consideration paid over the fair value of the net tangible assets
acqusted 15 represented by the following ntangible assets customer-related (relauonships), technology and goodwill Goodwill ansing 1s
autnbutable to the acquired workforce, expected future customer refatronships and synergies from cross-sefling instruments and services, as
well as the development of novel analytical methods and assays based on the combination of technical knowhow from CLS and
nstrementation technology from Malvern Panabytical

QOther acquisitions

The Group completed the acquisition of 100% of Revaolutionary Engineenng, Inc on 3 Aprd 2018 for a gross consideration of £8 7m
Revolutionary Engineerng, inc 15 an automotive test system and service prowder based in the USA This acquisition compiements exssting
test capabubities of Mulibrook and s included in the Test and Measurement segment  The provisional fair value of net assets acquired 15

£5 4m, induding £3 8m of intangible assets, which generated provisional goodwall of £3 3m The far value of the net assels i prowisional,
reflecting the tirmang of the acguisition, and 15 expected 1o be finahsed within 12 months of the acquisiton date

The Group completed the acquisiton of 100% of Vi-grade Group on 30 August 2018 for a gross consideration of £28 3m Mi-grade is a
leaching global prowider of vehicle smulation solutions and services, pramardy to automotve qustomers This acquisthan adds to the Group's
capabilies in test services in the Test and Measurernent segment The prowisional far value of net assets acquired 15 £15 5m, including
£15 8m of cuslomer-related and technology intangible assets, which generated provisional goodwill of £12 8m The fair value of the net
assets is prowsional, reflecting the timing of the acquisiion, and 15 expected to be finalised within 12 months of the acquisition date

The farr vaiues mcluded in the table below relate to the acquisitron of Concept Life Saiences and other acquisiions dunng the year The faw
values in respect of Concept bife Sciences are final The fair values i respect of other acquistions are prowsional, reflecting the uming of the
acgusitions, and are expected 1o be finalised withun 12 months of the acguisition date

2018
Concept Life Other Total
Sﬂenﬁns acqulsntu:‘a:rr\‘: tair valft::
intangible assets 52.4 196 720
Property. plant and equipment 130 25 155
Inventores 70 LD B
Trade and other recenables 113 5.5 168
Cash and cash equivalents 15 6.7 82
Trade and other payables {14.6) (9.1} 237)
Prowsions {03 ©05) {0.8)
Deferred tax labives 89) (49) (13.8)
Net assets acquired 614 209 823
Goadwall 105.5 16.1 1216
Gross consideration 166.9 370 2039
Adjustment for cash acquired (15) (6.7) (82)
Net consideration 165.4 303 1957
There are no matenal contingent habrirties recogmsed in accordance wath IFRS 3 (Revised)
Analysis 0f cash outflow in Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows £m
Net consideration 10 respect of 2618 acquisitions 195.7
Deferred and contingent consideration on 2018 acquisitions to be paid in future years (6.0)
Cash pand i 2018 in respect of 2018 acquisitons including delerred consideration in the year 1897
Acquisttions prior to 2018
Cash paid wy 2018 in respect of paor years’ acquistions 6.7
Net cash outflow relating to acquisitions 196 4
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS continued

24, Acguisitions continued

in the Consohdated Income Statement {or the year ended 31 December 2018, sales of £62 9m and operating profit of £1 Sen have been
included for alt acquisitrons i the year Group revenue and operating profit for the year ended 31 December 2018 would have been
£1.619 2m and £177 3m, respectively, had each of these acquisitions taken place on the fwst day of the finanaial year

Where appropnate, a detailed exercise has been undertaken to assess the fair value of assets acquired and habdiilies assumed, supported
by the use of thurd-party experts The valuation of the above mtangible and tangible assets requires the use of assumptions and estimates
Intangible asset assumptions consist of future growth rates, expected mftation and attriiion rates, discount rates used and useful
econonmic lives

The farr value of contingent consideration on the 2018 acquisiions amounts to £6 Om.

The contingent consideration payable on finanaal midestones on 2018 acquisitions could range from £nil to £6 7m, dependent on
incrementat future revenues, and the total contingent consideration 1s sensitve to nsk-adjusted discount rates Deferred and contingent
consideraton included v 2018 purchase consideration 15 not inked to future employment

Due to therr contractual due dates, the fair value of recevables approximates to the gross cantractual amounts recevable The amount
of gross contractual recerables not expected 1o be recovered I1s Immatenal There are no matena! conungent habilites recogrised in
accordance with IFRS 3 (Rewised)

The lollowang 1ables represent the far values relating to the 2017 acguestions

07
Totaf
far valye
fm
Intangible assets 159
Property, plant and equipment kR
Inventones 0.1
Trade and other recenables 19
Cash ang cash equivalents 08
Trade and other payables (8
Deferred tax habiliues (0.3)
Net assets acquired 197
Goadwall 168
Bargan purchase on acquisition (19)
Total consderation in respect of 2017 acqursitions 346
Total consideration 346
Adpustment far cash acquired {0.8)
Total consideration in respect of 2017 acquisitions 338
Analysis of cash outflow in Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Total consideration in respect of 2017 acquisitons 346
Adiustment for net cash acquired on 2017 acqustions 08
Deferred and contingent consideration on 2017 acguisitons to be paid in future years (14)
Cash paid in 2017 1n respect of 2017 acquisitions 324
Acquisitions prior to 2017
Cash paid in 2017 in respect of prior years’ acquisitions 41
Net cash outflow relating to acquisitions 365
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25. Disposal of businesses

a) Profit on disposal of businesses
2018

EMS Briel & ¥jaer

The Group completed the disposal of 100% of its environmental monitonng business, EMS Bruet & Kjaer (EMS B&K') on 31 May 2018 Into
a jomt venture with Macquane Capetal n exchange for cash consideration of £45 1m and a 45% interest in the joint venture This generated
a profit on disposal of £56 3m which sncluded £44 4m anwung as a result of measunng to far value the Group's retained 45% interest in the
EMS B&K business, transaction expenses of £6 Sm and a contingent deferred payment to Macquanie Capital esbrmated a1 £2 9m which s
dependent upan the deivery of certain objectives

SIUBWIIIEIS [RIDURUY

2018
Em
Goodwill and other intangible assets 23.4
Property, plant and equipment 1.4
Net deferred and current tax assets 05
Inventory 17
Trade and other recevables 6.1
Cash and cash equivalents 0.2
Trade and gther payables (4.6
Net assets disposed 289
Consderation recewved, satisfed in cash 451
Consideration recerved, satisfied i equity 10 the jomt venture 60
Consderauon recerved, satistied in other recevabies from the joint venture 384
Conungent deferred payment (2.9)
Transacton costs (6 5)
Net proceeds from disposal of business 801
Net assels disposed of (289)
Currency translation differences transferred from wranslation reserve 5.1
Profit on disposal of business 56.3

The sale of EMS B&K did not meat the defirution of a discontinued operation given i IFRS 5 'Non-Current Assets Held for Sate and
Discontinued Cperations’ and, therefore, no disclosures in relation to discontinued operations were made

The Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows includes £41 8m of net proceeds from the sate of EMS B&K, which consists of £45 1m
of consideration received 1n cash kess £2 5m of transaction fees paid, £0 6m of tax paid on disposal and £0 2m of cash and cash
equivalerts disposed

Microscan
During 2018, £2 Om was receved in respect of deferred considesation for the disposal of Microscan
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS continued

25, Disposal of businesses continued
2017
Microscan

The profit on disposal of business wholly relates 1o the disposal of 100% of Microscan on 2 October 2017, which resulted in a profit on
chsposal of £100 5m

2017
fm
Goodwill and other Intangible assets 55
Property, plant and equipment 08
Deferred tax assets 20
Inventory 59
Trade and other recewables 70
Cash and cash equvalents 04
Trade and other payables (4 0)
Prowisions {01
Net assets disposed 175
Consideration recenved, satisfied sn cash 1146
Cash disposed of (7))
Transact:on expenses 33
Net proceeds from disposal of business 1109
Conungent consigeration 23
Cash disposed of 04
Net assets disposed of 175
Currency translation chfferences transferred from transiation reserve 44
Profit on disposal of business 1005

The sale of Microscan cid not meet the definiion of 3 discontinued operation given In IFRS S ‘Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations’ and, therefore, no disclosures in refation to discontinued operations were made

b) Assets and liabilities held for sale
Assets classified as held for sale at 31 December 2018 include freehold property, winch was sold ny January 2019

The assets and habilimes ciassified as held for sale at 31 December 2017 were compnsed of the assets and habiihes of the EMS Brue! & K)eer
business, which was soid on 31 May 2018
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26. Cash generated from operations é“
. 2018 2017 2
Note fm £m &
Cash flows trom operating activities o
Profit after tax 1852 2348 8
Adjustments for g
Taxation charge 8 328 436
Profit on disposal of businesses (56.3) (100 5}
Share of post-tax resufts of joint venture 1.2 -
Finance costs 7 160 64
Fimancal ncame ? {2 5) 19
Depreciation 12 303 256
Amoriisation and impairment of ntangible assets i1 431 475
8argain purchase on acquisthion 5 - (1 9)
Acquesition-related tair value adjustments 48 30
{Profitloss on disposat of property, plant and equipment and software 5 9 01
Equety-settled share-based payment transactions 6 51 54
Operating cash flow before changes in working capital and provisions 263.8 256 1
Increase in trade and other recevables (30 9) (3a3)
Increase N inventofies (17.4) 06}
(Decrease}increase in trade and other payables {3 6) 175
Increase/(decrease) in provistons and retirement benefits 34 {(t 1}
Cash generated from operations 215.8 2376
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NOTES TC THE ACCOUNTS continued

27. Financial risk management

The Group's multinational operations and debt finanang expose it 10 a vanety of financial nisks In the course of its business, the Group
1s exposed to foreign currency nsk, interest rate risk, hquidity nsk and credi nsk Finanaiaf sk management is an integral part of the way
the Group 1s managed. Financial sk management policies are set by the Board of Directors. These policies are implemented by a central
treasury department that has formal procedures to manage foreign exchange nsk, interest rate nsk and hquidity sk, including, where
appropnate, the use of denivative financial mstruments The Group has clearly defined authority and approval hmits: The central treasury
departiment operates as a service centre 1o the Group and not as a profit centre

In accordance with 1S treasury policy, the Group does not hold or use denvative hinancial instruments for trading or speculative purposes
Such instruments are only used to manage the risks ansing from operating or finanaial assets or habsfities, or highly probable future
transactions The quantitatve analysis of financal nsk is included in Note 28

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk anses both where sale or purchase transactions are undertaken i currencies other than the respective funcuonal
currenaies of Group companies (transactional exposures) and where the results of overseas companies are consolidated into the Group's
reporting currency of Stering (translational expasures) The Group has operatians around the world which record thesr resufts in a vanety

of different local functionat currencies In countnes where the Group does not have operations, it invariably has some customers or supphers
that transact in a foreign currency The Group 15 therefore exposed 1o the changes in foreign currency exchange rates between a number
of different currencres but the Graup's prmary exposures relate to the US Dollar, Euro, Danish Krone. Swass Franc and Japanese Yen

Where appropriate, the Group manages its foreign currency exposures using derwvative finanoal instruments

The Graup's ranstatonal exposures 1o foregn currency nisks can relate both to the Consohdated Income Statement and net assets of
overseas subsidianies The Group’s policy 15 not to hedge the translational exposure that anses on consolidation of the Consolidated income
Statement of overseas subsichanes The Group finances overseas company investments partly through the use of foreign currency
borrawings in order to prowde a natural hedge of foreign currency nsk arsing on translation of the Group's foreign currency subsidiaries
The quantitative analysis of foreign currency nsk s included in Note 28

The Group manages its transactonal exposures 1o foreign currency nsks through the use of forward exchange contracts Forward exchange
contracts are used to hedge heghly prabable transactions which can be forecast to occur typrcally up to 18 months into the future For the
hedges of highly probable forecast sales and purchases, as the crtical terms (1 e the notional amount, ife and the undertying) of the forward
exchange contracts and therr corresponding hedged items are the same, the Group performs a qualitative assessment of effectveness and it
15 experted that the value of the forward contracts and the value of the corresponding hedged items wall systematically change in opposite
directions in response to moverients in the underlying exchange rates

The main potential source of hedge neffectiveness in these hedaing relationships s the effect of the counterparty and the Group's own
credit nsk on the fair value of the forward contracts, which 15 not reflected in the farr vaiue of the hedged item attributable to changes in
foreign exchange rates No other sources of ineffectiveness emerged from these hedging relatonships

The following tables detal the foreign currency forward contracts outstanding at the end of the reporting penod, as weit as information
regarding therr related hedged items. Foreign currency forward contract assets and habilities are presented in the line ‘Denvative financial
nstruments’ (either as assets or habihibes) wathin the Consolidated Statement of Financaial Position

Hedging instruments - outstanding contracts

Change i fan vatue for Carrpng amount of

recagnising h ineffecuveness the hedging mstruments

Cash figw hedges 2018 2017 2018 2017
Currency risk -~ forward exchange contracts €m fm £m fm
Less than 6 months (10 058 0.0 08
510 12 months (0.7) 01 {G.7) 0t
12 1o 18 months (G )] - {0.1) -
(18) 09 (1.8) 09

Hedging instruments - hedged items

Balance n cash flow hedge
reserve [ forewgn currency

C hanae n value used for translaion reserve for

calculaung hedge effectveness contnuing hedges

2008 2017 08 2017

Currency nisk £m fm £m Em

Forecast sales 1.8 09) (3.8) (18}

interest rate risk

Interest rate nsk compnses both the interest rate price nsk that results from bomowang at fixed rates of interest and alsa the interest cash
flow sk that results from barrowing at vanable rates Where appropnale, interest rate swaps are used o manage the Group's interest
rate profile
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Liquidity risk

Liquichty sk represents the risk that the Group wall not be able to meet its financaf obtigations as they fall due The Group's approach

to managing this nisk is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient hquidity to meet 1ts hiabilities when due, under both
narmal and stressed conditions, without Incurnng unacceptable osses or nsking damage to the Group's reputation The Group manages
this aisk through the use of regularly updated cash flow and covenant compliance forecasts and 3 fiqudity headroom analysrs which is used
to determine funding requirements Adequate committed hnes of funding are maintained from tugh-quality nvestment grade lenders

The taciites committed to the Group as at 31 December 2018 are set out in Note 17

Credit risk

Credit nsk anses because a counterparty may fail to perform its obligations The Group 1s exposed 1o credit nsk on financ:al assets such as
cash balances, dervatve finanaal instruments and trade and other recewables

SsIu3WIeIS |eueuly

The Group’s credit nisk 15 pnmardy attrbutable to its trade recewvables The amounts recogrised in the Consolidated Staterment of Financal
Position are net of appropniate allowances for doubtful recenvabies, estimated by the Group's managernent based on whether recewvables
are past due based on contractual terms, paymen history and other avarable evidence of callectabihty. Trade recevables are subject to
credit limits and control and approval procedures in the operating comparies Due to its large geographical base and number of customers,
the Group 1s not exposed 1o matenal concentrations of credit nisk on Hs trade recewables The quantrative analysis of credit rsk relating to
recewvables 15 included in Note 15

Credit nsk assocated wath cash balances and derivative financial instruments is managed centrally by transacting with exisbing refationship
banks wath strong investment grade ratings Accordingly, the Group’s assocated credit risk 15 imited The Group has no sigruficant
concentration of credit nsk

The Group's Maximum exposure 10 credit nsk 1s represented by the carrang amount of each finanaial asset, including dervatve financiat
instruments, as shown in Note 28

Capital management
The Board considers equity shareholders’ funds, together with comenitted debt fachibies, as capstal for the purposes of funding the Group’s
operatons Total managed capital at 31 December 1s

2018 2017

fm £m

Equity shareholders’ funds 1,2329 1,204 1
Commrtted debt fachines 8144 593 7
2,047.3 1,797.8

Ordinary shares are classified as equity Incremental costs directly attnbutable to the ssue of ordinary shares and share options are
recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects

The Board's policy 5 to maintain a strong caprtal base so as to maintamn nvester, creditor and market confidence and 1o sustan the future
development of the business The Board of Directors monitors both the geographic spread of sharehalders and the levet of dnadends to
ordinary shareholders

The Board encourages employees to hold shares i the Company This is carmed out through the Spectns Share incentive Plan in the UK,
as well as Performance and Restncted Share Plans Full details of these schemnes are given in Note 23

The main financial covenants #n the Company's debt facihties are the ratio of net debt to adjusted earnings befare mterest, tax, deprecation
ang amortisation, anc the ratio of finance charges to adjusted eamings before mterest. 13x, amoriisation and impairment Covenant testing
1s completed twace a year based on the half-year and year-end Financial Staternents At 31 December 2018, the Company had, and 15
expected to continue to have, significant headroom under these financial covenant ratios

Frem time to tme the Group purchases its own shares In tha market, the timing of these purchases depends on market prices Buy and selt
decrsians are made on a speaific transaction basis by the Board

During the year, 3.825.802 ordinary shares wece repurchased and cancefied by the Group as part of the share buyback programme
announced on 5 March 2018 (2017 nl) There were no other changes to the Group's approach to camital management duning the year

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries is subject to externally imposed Capital regurements

Spectrisplc 143



NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS continued

28. Financial instruments

The foliowang tables show the far value measurement of linanaial instruments by level followang the fair value heerarchy
» Level 2. 1nputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or habiny, esther drectly e as pnces)

orindirectly it e denved from prices), and

s Level 2 inputs for assets and habihities derved from valuation techriques that include inputs for the asset or habiity that are not based

on observable market data

2018

Level 2 Level 3 Carrying

fair value fair value amauant

Fair value and carrying amoynt of financial instruments fm fm £m
Trade and other recewvables excluding prepayments ang contract assets - - 345
Trade and other payables excluding contract habiliwes and customer advances - (18 8) (266 7)
Other recewvable - joint venture - - 389
Forward exchange contract assets 04 - 04

Cash and cash equwvalents 731 - 7341
Floating rate borrowangs {including tank overdrafts) (181.4} - (181.4)
Fixed rate borrgwings 195.0) - {188.8)
Forward exchange contract liabilites (2.2} - 2.2
(181.6)

2017

Level 2 Levet 3 Camying

faw value tar valye amount

Fair value and carrying amount of financial instruments fm fm £m
Trade and other recewvables excluding prepayments and accrued income - - n83
Trade and other payables excluding deferred income - ) (2220

Forward exchange contracts 14 - 14
Cash and cash equivalents 1380 - 1380
floatng rate borrowngs {induding bank overdrafts) (1 3) - (13)
Fixed rate borrowangs (193.3) - {187 2)
Forward exchange contracts 05) - 0 5)

a6 7

There were no mavements between the different levels of the far value hierarchy in the year

The farr value of cash and cash equivalents including held for sale, recewables and payables approwmates to the carmying armount because

of the short matunty of these instruments

The fair value of floating rate barrowings approximates o the carrying amount because terest rates are at flaating rates where payments

are reset to market rates at intervals of less than one year

The fanr value of fixed rate borrowings is estmated by discounting the future contracted cash flow, usng appropriate yeld curves, to the net

present values

The fair value of forward exchange contracts is determined using discounted cash tiow techruques based on readily avarlable market data
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The farr value of forward exchange contracts outstanding as at 31 December 2018 15 & net liability of £1 8m {2017 net asset of £ 9m), of
which £1 6m has been charged to the hedging reserve (2017 £0 7m credited) and £0 2m charged to the Consolidated income Staternent
{2017 £0.2m credited) These contracts mature over penods typically not exceeding 18 months A summary of the movernents in the
hedging reserve dunng the year 1s presented below Al of the cash flow hedges in 2018 and 2017 were deemed 10 be effectve

2018 2047
Analysis of movements in hedging reserve net of tax Erm Em
At January {2.0) (53
Amounts removed from the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and included in the Consclidated
tncome Statement dunng the year 14 11
Amounts recognised in the Consolidated Siatement of Changes in Equity dunng the year {3.3) 22
At 31 Decerber (3.9) {2 0)

The amount iIncluded in the Conschdated Income Statement 15 spiit between revenue and administrative expenses depending on the nature
of the hedged item

Recanchanon of leval I fair value for deferred and contingent canuderanton payable on acquisitions and disposals 2(:1172 20{:"
At 1 January (1.1 (16 2)
Deferred and contingent consideration ansing from acguisttions payable in future years (6.0 {14
Deterred and contingent consideration payable ansing from disposals {50} -
Oeferred and contingent consideraton pard in the curment year refating to previous years' acquisitions 87 41

Costs charged to the Consolidated Income Staternent

Subsequent adjustments (4.8) 30

Unwinding of discount factor on deferred and contingent consideration (0.6 07
foreign exchange difference - 01

At 31 December {18.8} {11 1)

The faw value of deferred and conungent consderation s determined by considenng the performance expectations of the acquired entity
or the bkefihood of non-financial iIntegrauon milestones whist apphyng the entity-specific dscount rates The uncbservable inputs are the
projected forecast measures that are assessed on an annual basis Changes in the fair value of deferred and contingent consideration
relating to updated projected forecast performance measures are recognised 1n the Consolidated Income Statement in the penod that the
change o<curs

Deferred and contingent consideration relates to financal (2018 £7 1m, 2017 £4 6m) and non-financial {2018 £11 7m, 2017 £65m)
milestones on current and prior year acquistions and dispasals, as discosed in Note 24 and Note 25 The financial milestanes are mainly
sensitve to nsk-adjusted discount rates and annual future revenue targets

The followang table shows the total cutstanding contractual forward exchange contracts hedging designated transactional exposures split
by currenaies which have been seld back mito the functonal currency of the underlying business These cantraqs typically mature iy the next
18 months and, therefore, the cash fiows and resulting effect on the Consolidated income Staternent are expected to occur wathin thrs

ume perod

forward exchange tontracts at 31 December 2018 2047
Foreign currency sale amount (£m} 154 6 1546
Perceritage of total

us Dellar 31% 44%
Euro 26% 23%
Japanese Yen 21% 19%
Qther 22% 14%

A matunty profite of the gross cash flows related to financal habihties s

2018 017
Bank lcans Bank loans

and Unsecured and Unsecured
averdrafts loans Totat averdrafis loans Tota!
Maturity af financial habilities £m £m £m fm £m £m
Due wathin one year S8 231 289 1.3 33 46
Due between ane and two years - 90.2 S0.2 - 33 33
Due between two and five years - 267.5 267.5 - 1930 193.0
58 3808 386.6 13 199 6 2009
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS continued

28. Financial instruments continued
Trade and other payables (Note 18) are substantially due within one year

It is not expected that the cash flows described above could occur significantly earlier or at substantially different amounts

Financial assets Financal habihtes

Non- 2018

Fixed Floating interest Fixed Floating Net financial

Interest rate e:rosure of financial rate rate bearing Yotal rate rate Total atsery
assets and liabides by currency £m £m im £Em £m £m £m {lhabilrties}
Sterling 01 10 29 49 - {95.0} {95.0} (310
Euro 05 18 228 251 {188.8) (80.6) {269.4) (244.3)
US Doilar 16 16 106 138 - (0.8) {08 130
Other 12 46 244 302 - (50) (5.0} 252
34 a0 607 731 {188.8} (181.4) {370.2) {297.1)

Financial assets Financ:al habdites

Non- 2017

Fixed Floaung mterest Fixed Floaung Net finangial

iterest rate e re of financal rate rale beasing Total rate rale Total assels’
assets and habilities by currency fm £m fm fm fm fm fm thabihtes)
Sterling 238 - 51 8¢ - - - 89
Euro 03 25 107 135 {187.2) - (187 2) (1737
US Dollar 46 6 204 79 749 - 04 {0 4} 745
Other - 62 145 207 - {09 09) 198
707 291 382 1380 (187 2) (13) (188 5) {50 5)

Sensitivity analysis
The tables below show the Group's sensitivity to forexgn exchange rates and interest rates The US Dollar, Euro, Danish Krone and Swiss Franc
represent the main foreign exchange translational exposures for the Group The Group's borrowings are pnmanly in US Dollars and Euros

2018 2017

Decrease/

Decrease 1n Decrease/ (increase)

Decrease in profit {ncrease} n n profit

equity before tax equity before tax

impact on foreign exchange translationat exposures against Sterling Em Em £m £m

10% weakening in the US Dollar 981 60 96 3 56

10% weakening in the Euro/Danish Krone 708 6.7 550 58

10% weakening in the Swass Franc 35 1.5 35 16
impact of nterest rate movements

1pp increase in interest rates 1.7 1.7 {01) {0.1)

29. Contingent liabilities

in the normal course of business. Group companies have provided bonds and guarantees through local banking arrangements amounting
to £20 3m {2017 £20 Om) Contingent habilities 1n respect of taxauon are disclosed in Note 8

30. Operating leases

2018 2047

Total commitments under non-cancetlable Property Other Total Property Other Touat
operating feases expwing. im £m £m £m Em £m
Within one year 148 55 203 124 48 172
More than one year but less than five years 340 62 402 263 55 318
Greater than five years 18.4 01 18.5 185 -~ 185
67.2 1.8 790 572 103 675

Group comparues are party to @ number of operating teases for plant and machinery, motor vehidles and property rentals The
arrangements do not impose any significant restnctions on the Group

31. Capital commitments

At 31 December 2018, the Group had entered into contractual commitments for the purchase of property, plant and equipment and
software amounting 1o £31 0m (2017 £18 2m) which have not been accrued
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32. Related party transactions

The Group has refated party relationships with Hs subsichanies (a hist of all related undertakings is showrt in Note 16 of the Company Financal
Staternents on pages 158 to 162), with its joint venture {see Note 13) and wath s Executive Directors and members of the Executive
Management Committee

Transactions with key management personnel
The remuneration of key management personnel dunng the year was as follows

R

Shart-term benefit 52 61
Post-emnploymemt benefits 06 06
Equity-settled share-based payment expense 16 18
7.4 BS

n accordance wath (AS 24 'Related Party Disclosures’, key management personnel are those having authority and responsibibty for planning,
directing and controling the actmities of the Group, dwectly or indirectly Key management personnel compnse the Directors and the other
members of the Executive Management Committee

Further details of the Executive Directars’ remunegration are included in the Durectors’ Rermuneraton Report on pages 60 to 78

Transactions With joint venture

2018 017

£m £m

Sales 1.2 -
Income on receivable (see Note 7) {2 0} -
Loan recewable 09 -
Other recewable 389 -
Trade recevables 17 -
Trade payables 2.7 -

There were no Other refated party transactions In either 2018 or 2017

33. Subsidiary undertakings

The table below hsts the Group's principal subsidiary undertakings at 31 Decernber 2018 They operate matnly in the countries of
mncorporatton Al of the subsidanes are involved in {he manulacture and sale of highly-specialised measunng instruments and controls,
together wath the provision of services

Spectrs plc holds 100% of the ordinary share capital of all the subudianes either directly or ndirectly through intermediate holding comparves

Name Country of incorporation
Engineenng Sersmology Group Canada Inc Canada
Bruel & Kjaer Sound & Vibration Measurement A/S Denmark
Concept Ufe Sciences Analytical & Development Services Limited England & Wales
Concept Life Stences Integrated Discovery & Development Services Limited England & Wales
Matvern Panalytical Lirmited England & Wales
Millbrock Proving Ground Limited England & Wales
Servomex Group Lrmited England & Wales
Bruet & Kjer Vibro GmbH Germany
Hottinger Baldwin Messtechruk GmbH Germany
Vi-grade GmbH Germany
BTG Eclépens S A Switzerland
NDC Technologies Inc usA
Omega Engmeenng Ing Usa
Farticle Measunng Systerns inc LISA
Red Fion Controls inc USA

A full hst of subsicharies 15 gven m Note 15 of the Company Financraf Statements on pages 158 to 162

34. Events after the balance sheet date
There were no post balance sheet events
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SPECTRIS PLC STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2018

2018

2017

Note m £m
ASSETS
Non-current assets
intangible assets 4 35 22
Property, plant and equiprment 5 24 25
Investmeants in subsichary undertakings 6 1,070 2 10686
Deferred tax assets 3.9 37
1,080.0 1,0770
Current assets
Cufrent (ax assets 36 48
Other recevables (due after more than ane yeac £417 9m (2017 £334 1m)) 7 785.14 6029
Derivatve financial instruments 28 31
Cash and cash equivalents 20.7 107.5
812.2 7183
Total assets 1,8922 1,795 3
LIABILITIES
Current hiabilities
Borrowings 8 (30.3) {155)
Dervatve financal instruments (2.8) (30
Other payables 9 (52t.9) (501 8}
Provisions 10 (1.2) -
(556.2) (520 3)
Net current assets 256.0 1980
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 8 (346.5) (187 2
Other payables 9 (190.6) {146 6)
Retrement benefrt obligations t2 {12.5) {13 4)
(549.6) {347 2)
Total liabilities (1,105.8) (867 5}
Net assets 786.4 9278
EQUITY
Share capital 1 60 62
Share premwum 2314 2314
Retained eamings 511.3 6527
Merger reserve 11 3.1 3t
Capital redemption reserve " 0s 03
Speaiaf reserve 1t 341 341
Total equity 7864 9278

The Company's profit for the year was £18 5m (2017 £23 1m)

The Financial Statements on pages 148 to 162 were approved by the Board of Directors on 19 February 2019 and were signed on iis behalf
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SPECTRIS PLC STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2018

Capital
Share Share Retained Merger redempﬁ.inn Speaal Total
Capllil premium earmings resenve reserve reserve equity
Note Em £m Em fm fm fm frm
At 1 January 2018 6.2 2314 6527 ER | 0.3 341 278
Profit for the year - - 185 - - - 185
Gther comprehensive income
Re-measurement of net defined benefit
obligations, net of tax - - 3.0 - - - 3.0
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 215 - - - 21.5
Transactions with owners recorded
directly i equity
Own shares acquired for share buyback
programme {0 2) - (100 5) - 02 - (100.5)
Equity dvidends paid 14 - - (68.2} - - - (68 2)
Capital contribution relating to share-
based payments - - 18 - - - 18
Share-based payments, net of tax - - 31 - - - 31
Utiisation of treasury shates - - 0.9 - - - 09
At 31 December 2018 6.0 231.4 5113 31 a5 34.1 786.4
Caputat
Share Share Retained Merger  cedempuion Specal Total
capital premiuen earmngs reserve reserve reserve equity
Note £m im fm £m im im £m
At 1 January 2017 62 2314 684 5 31 a3 341 959 &
Profit for the year - - 231 - - - 231
Other comprehensive (ncome
Re-measurement of net defined benetit
cbligations, net of 1ax - - 23 - - - 23
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 254 - - - 254
Transactions with owners recorded
drectly In equity
Equity dwdends paid 4 - - 63 2) - - - {63 2)
Capdal contnbution relating 1o share-
based payments - - 33 - - - i3
share-based payments, net of tax - - 22 - - - 22
Utilisation of treasury shates - - 0.5 - - - 0.5
At 31 December 2017 62 2314 652 7 31 03 341 927.8
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY ACCOUNTS

1. Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies

The separate Financial Statements of the Company are presented as required by the Compames Act 2006 As permitted by that Act,
the separate Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards in the United Kingdom In
accordance with the exemptian provided by Section 408 of the Companies Act 20086, the Company has not presented is own mcome
staternent or statement of comprehensive income

a) Basis of preparation
These Finanaial Statements were prepared i accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 ‘Reduced Disdosure Framework”

(FRS 101} The Company's shareholders were notified in 2015 of the use of the EU-adopted IFRS disdosure exernptions and there were
no abjections to the adoption of FRS 101

In prepanng these Finanaial Staternents, the Company applies the recognition, measurement and discosure requirements of Intemnational
Financial Reporting Standards a3 adopted by the EU {'tFRS?), but makes amendments where necessary in order to comply with the
Companies Act 2006 and has set out below where advantage of the FRS 101 disclosure exemptions has been taken

The Company has applied the exemptions available under FRS 101 in respect of the following disclosures

» A Cash Flow Statement and related notes

> Comparative penod reconaliations for share caprtal, tangible fixed assets and mtangible assets

» Disclosures in respect of transactioes wath wholly-owned subsichanes

> Disclosures in respect of capital management

» The etfects of new but not yet effective IFRSs

> Disclosures in respect of the compensauon of key management personnet

As the Consolidated Financal Statements of Spectns ple (pages 92 10 147) include the equivalent disdosures, the Company has also taken
the exemptions under FRS 101 available in respect of the following disclosures

+ [FRS 2 “Share Based Payments’ in respect of Group-settied share-based payments

» Certain disclosures requied by IFRS 13 "Fair Value Measurement” and the disclosures required by IFRS 7 'Financial Instrument Qisclosures’
The Financial Statements have been prepared on the histoncal cost basis, except for the revaluation of financial instruments Histoncal cost is
generally based on the far value of the consideration given in exchange for the assets The prinapal accounting policies are set out below
As permitted by 5408 of the Comparues Act 2006, the Company has elecied not to present its own profil and loss account or statement of
comprehensive Income for the year The profit attnbutable to the Company s disclosed i the footnote to the Company's balance sheet

Tre fallowing accounting policies have been appled conssstently in dealing wath iterns winch are considered matenal in relatien to the
Financial Statements

Significant accounting yjudgements and estimates

In determining and applying accounting policies, judgement s often required where the chowce of speaific policy, assumption or accounting
eshimate 1o be folowed could matenally affect the reported amounts of assets, habiities, ncome and expenses, should it later be
determined that a different choice be more appropnate Esumates and assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis and are based

on histonical expenience and various other factors that are believed 1o be reasonable under the circumstances

in the course of prepanng these Financial Statements i accordance with the Group's accounting policies, na judgements that have

a sigmificant effect on the amounts recogmsed i the Financial Statements have been made, other than those involving estmation
Management considers the following to be areas of esumation for the Company due to greater complexity and/or are particularly subject
10 uncertainty.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Retirement benefit plans

Accounting for retirement benefit plans under 1AS 19 {revised) requires an assessment of the future benefits payable in accordance wath
actuanal assumptions. The discount rate and rate of retail price nflation {RPI’) assumptions apphied in the calculation of plan liabilities, which
are set out in Note 20 to the Group Consohdated Financial Staternents, represent a key source of estimation uncertainty for the Company
Details of the accounting polices apphed in respect of retirement benefit plans are set out on page 152
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b) Ssummary of significant accounting policies

intangible assets
Intangible assets purchased by the Company are capitalised at thew cost

intangible assets with finite lves are amortised over the useful economic Wfe and assessed for impairment whenever there 1s an ndication
that the intangible asset may be impawed The estimated useful economic ves are as follows

» Software - 3 to 5 years

SIUBLLBIEIS (EDLBUL

Property, plant and equipmenit
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and imparrment losses The cost comprises the purchase
price paid and any costs directly atinbutable to banging it into working condiion for sts intended use

Deprecation 1s recognised in the Income Statement on a straight-iine basis to wnite off the cost, less the estimated residual value {which s
reviewed annually), of property, plant and ecuapment over its estmated useful economic Ife Depreciation commences on the date the
assets are avalable for use within the business and the asset carrying values are reviewed for impairment when there 15 3n indication that
they may be impared Land 1s not depregated Estimated useful lives are as follows

» Freehold property - 25 years
» Office equspment - 3 to 5 years

Investments
investments in subsidianes are stated at histoncal cost, less prowsion for any impairment in value

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other recevables are carned at onginal nvorce amount (which 15 consdered a reasonable proxy for faw value) and are
subsequently held at amortised <ost less prowision for impairment  The provison for impairment of receivables 1 based on hfetime expecied
credit losses Lifetime expected credit losses are cakculated by assessing histonc credit 1oss experience, adjusted for factors speafic to the
recevable and operating company

Cash and cash equivalents
This comprises cash at bank and in hand and shont-term deposits held on ¢all or with matunties of less than three months at inception

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are recogrised at the amounts expected 10 be paid to counterparties and subsequently held at amortised cost

Provisions

A provision s recognused in the Statement of Financial Posttron when the Company has a present legal or consructive obhigation as a result
of a past event and 1t s probable that an outflow of resources, that can be reliably measured, will be required to settle the cbiigation In
respect of warrantes, a prowision is recogrised when the underlying products or services are sold Provisions are recogrused at an amount
equal 1o the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the Company's kabikty. A contingent kabaitty 1s disclosed where the exsstence
of the obhgation will anly be confirmed by future events or where the amount of the cbiigation cannot be measured with reasonable
rehiabiity Contingent assets are nat recognised but are disclosed where an inflow of economic benefit s probable Obligations arsing from
restructunng plans are recognised when detailed formal pfans have been established and when there is a valid expectation that such a plan
will be carned out

Taxation

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises both current and deferred tax Tax 1s recogrused in the Incorne Statement except 1o the
extent that it relates to tems recogrused erther in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, n which case tax 15 recogmsed in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income or the Statement of Changes in Equity, respectively

Current tax s the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantvely enacted at the Statement
of Financial Position date, and any adjustments to tax payable in respect of pnor years Tax positions are reviewed to assess whether a
provisian should be made based on prevaihng arcumstances Tax prowisions are included within current taxation habhities

Deferred taxatian 1s prowided on taxable temiporary differences between the carrying amounits of assets and liabilitres in the financial
Staternents and therr corresponding tax bases Deferred tax s measured using the tax rates expected 10 apply when the asset is realised or
the habihty settied based on 1ax rates enacted or substantvely enacted at the Statement of Financial Position date

A deferred tax asset 1s recogrssed only to the extent that it s probable that future taxable profits wll be avadable against which the asset can
be utilised or that they will reverse Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that i s no longer probable that the related tax benefit will
be realised

Deferred tax assets and liabihties are offset if a legally enforceable nght exsts to set off current tax assets against current tax hatilities and
the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the sarme taxation authonty
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY ACCOUNTS continued

1. Basis of preparation and summary of significant accounting policies continued

Foreign cusrency transiation

The functional currency of the Company is Sterling and 1s deterrmined wath reference to the currency of the pamary economic environment
n which it operates Transactions in currencies other than the funchional currency are wutally recorded at the functional currency rate ruling
at the date of the ransaction Monetary assets and llabilities denomnated in foreign currencies are retransiated at the rate of exchange
ruling at the balance sheet date Exchange gains and losses on settiement of foreign cutrency transactions are translated at the rate
prevailing at the date of the transactions, or the translation of monetary assets and habhtres at period end exchange rates, ang are
charged/credired 1o the Income Staternent Non-monetary assets and liabihties denominated in foreign currenaes that are stated at histoncal
cost are translated to the functional currency at the foreign exchange rate nuling at the date of the transaction

Fiancial instruments

Recagnition

The Company recogruses fimancial assets and habilites on ns Staterment of Financial Position when it becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the mstrument

Financat assets and iabilities are offset and the net amount s reported In the Balance Sheet when there is 3 legally enforceable right 1o set
oft the recogrised amounts and there 15 an mitention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settie the lability simuitaneously

Measurement
when financal assets and habwiises are imtially recogrised, they are measured at far value, being the consideraton given or received plus
directly attributable transaction costs

Onginated loans and debtors are mitally recognised in accordance with the policy stated above and subsequently re-measured at amortised
cost using the effectve interest method  Allowance for imparrment is estmated on a case-by-case basis

The Company uses dervative financial instruments such as forward fareign exchange contracts to hedge nsks associated with foreign
exchange fluctuations These are designated as cash flow hedges Al the inception of the hedge relatonship, the Company documents
the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item, along with its risk management objectives and 1ts sirategy for
undertaking vanous hedge transactons Furthermore, at the incephion of the hedge and on an angoing basis, the Company documents
whether the hedging instrument that 15 used in a hedging relationship 15 highly effective m offsetting changes in cash fiows of the
hedged tem

The effective porbon of changes in the fair value of denvatives that are designated and qualfy as cash flow hedges are deferred n equity
The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion 1s recognised immediately i the Income Staternent

Amounts deferred in equity are reclassified to the income Statement in the periods when the hedged item 15 recogrised in the Income
Staterment, n the same line of the Income Statement as the recognised hedged nem However, when the forecast transacton that is
hedged results n the recogrition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial hability, the gains and losses previously deferred in equity are
transferred from equity and included in the inibal measurement of the cost of the asset or liabiky.

Hedge accounting i discontinued when the Company revokes the hedging relavonship, the hedging nstrument expires or 1 soid,
terminated, or exerqsed, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting Any cumulative gain or loss deferred in equity at that tme remains
1n equity and 1s recognised when the forecast transaction 1s ultimately recognised in the Income Statement When a forecast transaction 1s
no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was deferred 1n equity is recognised smmechately in the Income Statement

Derecogmton

A financial asset is derecogmised when the Company loses control over the contractual nghts to the cash flows from the asset This occurs
when the nghts are realised, expire or are surrendered A financial hability = derecogrused when the obligation specrfied in the contract 1s
discharged, cancelled or expires Onginated loans and debtors are derecognised on the date they are transferred by the Company

impairment of financial assets

The Company assesses at each Statement of financial Posiion reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset,
or group of financial assets, 15 impared A financial asset, or group of finandial assets, 1s deemed to be impaired #, and only if, there 5
cbjective evidence of impairment as 3 result of one or more events that have occurred after the initial recogrtion of the asset (an incurred
‘foss event’) and that loss even? has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financal asset or group of financial assets that can
be reliably estimateg

Employee benefits
The Company operates a defined benefit post-retrerment benefit plan and a defined contribution pension plan

Defined benefit plan

The Company’s net obhgation recogrised in the Balance Sheet in respect of s defined benefit plan s calculated as the present value of the
plan's tiabilites less the fair value of the plan’s assels The operating and financng costs of defined benefit plan are recogmised separately in
the Income Statement Operating costs comprrse the current sennce cost, plan administrative expense, any gains or losses on settlement or
curtalments, and past senvice costs where benefits have vested Finance items compnse the unwinding of the discount on the net
assevdeficit Actuanal gains or Josses comprising changes in plan iabiities due to expenence and changes in actuanal assumptions are
recogrused n ather comprehensve income

The amount of any pension fund asset recognssed in the Balance Sheet 1s hrmited ta any fulure refunds from the plan or the present value
of reductions i future contnbubions to the pian

Defined contribution plan

A defined contribution plan 15 a post-emplayment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into  separate entity and
will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are
recogrused in the Income Statement In the periods dunng which services are rendered by employees
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Short-term benefity

Short-term ermnployee benefit obligations are rmeasured an an undiscounted hasis and are expensed as the related sennce 1s provided A hability
is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-shaning plans if the Company has a present lega! or
constructive obkgaton 1o pay this amount as a result of past servce provided by the emgployee, and the obhgation can be estimated rehably

Share-based payments

Centain employees of the Company receve part of their remuneration in the form of share-based payment transactions, whereby employees
render services In exchange for shares or nights over shares (equity-settled transactions) The cost of equity-settled transactions with
employees 15 measured at fair value at the date at which they are granted The farr value of share awards with market-related vesung
conditions t5 determined by an external consultant and the fair value at the grant date 15 expensed on a straight-ine basis over the vesting
penod based on the Company's estimate of shares that walt eventually vest. The estimate of the number of awards likely to vest is reviewed
at each Balance Sheet reporting date up tg the vesting date, at which point the estimate 15 adjusted 10 reflect the actual outcorne of awards
which have vested No adjustment 1s made to the fair value after the vesting date even if the awards are forferted or not exercised

Where 1t is not possible 1o incentwise managers of the Company with eguity-settled optrons, they are ssued wath cash-settled options
The charge for these awards 15 adjusted 10 reflect the expected and actual levels of options that vest and the fair value 15 based on either
the share price at date of exercise or the share price at the balance sheet date f sconer

Where the Company grants options over its own shares to the employees of its subsithanes, 1t recognises an increase in the cost of
nvestment 1n its subsidianes equivalent to the equity-settled share-based payment charge recogrised i the subsidiary’s Financial Statements
with the corresponding credit beng recogrised directly in equity In cases where a subsidiary 1s recharged far the share-based payment
expense, no such increase n investment is recognised which may result in a credit in a particular year

Dividends
Divdends are recogrised as a hiability in the period in which they are approved by shareholders

Treasury shares

Shares held in treasury are treated as 3 deduction from equity until the shares are cancelled, reissued or disposed  Where such shares are
subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly attnbutable ncremental costs and related tax effects, is
wcluded n equity atinbutable Lo the Company's equity shareholders

2. Auditor's remuneration

The details regarding the remuneration of the Company’s auditor are included n Note 5 to the Group Consckdated Financial Statements
under ‘Fees payable to the Company's auditor for audit of the Company's annual accounts’

3. Employee costs and other information
Average number of employees on a full-time equivalent basis

2018 7017

Number Nurmber

Administrative 86 67
Employee costs, Inciuding Directors’ remuneration, are as follows

2018 07

£m fm

Wages and salanes 16.6 138

Social securty Costs 26 25

Defined contnbution pension plans 05 04

Equity-settted share-based payment expense 32 22

Cash-settled share-based payment expense 0.1 01

23.0 150

Directors’ remuneration
Further details of Directors’ remuneration and share options are given 1in Note b to the Group Consolidated Fmancaial Statements and in the
Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 60 ta 78.

Tax losses

As at 31 December 2018, the Company had capital tax losses of £16 4m (2017 £16 4m) No provision has been made for deferred tax on
the basis that there s insufficient evidence that suntable taxable profits will anse in the future against which the Josses may be offset and the
asset recovered

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivatents at 31 December 2017 included £2 4m of restricted cash which was held in escrow relating to the acquisiion of
Miltbrook 1n 2016 This was paid dunng the year
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY ACCOUNTS continued

4. Intangible assets

Cont o
At 1 January 2018 5.7
Addiions 18
At 31 December 2018 75
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2018 35
Charge for the year 0.5
At 31 December 2018 40
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2018 35
At 31 Decernber 2017 22
S. Property, plant and equipment

Freehgld Office

property equipment Total
Cost fm fm fm
At 1 January 2018 34 o8 4.2
Additons - (18] o1
Drisposais - (0.1) (0.1}
At 31 December 2018 34 08 42
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 january 2018 1.0 0.7 17
Charge for the year 0.1 01 02
Disposals - (0.1} (0.1}
At 31 December 2018 1.1 Q7 1.8
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2018 23 0.1 24
At 31 December 2007 24 01 25

6. Investments in subsidiary undertakings

Cost and carrying amount

Investments in
subsidiary
undertakings
£m

At t Janyary 2018 1,068.6
Movements relating to share optons granted to subsidiary employees 16
At 31 Decernber 2018 1.0702

Detais of the Company’s subsichanes ace gwven i Note 15
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7. Other receivables

2018 2017

Current fm fm
Amounts owed by Group undertakings 59 65
Loans owed by Group undertakings 357.4 2551
toans owed by ndirectly teld jont venture 0.9 -
Prepayments 2.2 42
Other recevables 0.8 30
367.2 2688

2008 2017

Non-current Em £m
Loans owed by Group undertakings 4158 3337
Prepayments 2.1 G4
417.9 3341

Total cther recenvables 785.1 6029

all loans owed by Group undertakings are in relation to interest-beanng intra-group koans which are formalised arrangements on an arm's
length basis Interestis charged at hixed rates between 2% and 10% Other amounts owed by Group underlakings are non-nterest beanng

and repayable on demand

8. Borrowings

Current nterest rate Repayable date 20{1"81 mf‘nz
Bank overdrafts on demand 124 155
Bank loans unsecured ~ £20 Om uncommitted faciity Relevant LIBOR +50bps on demand 179 -
Total current borrowings 303 155
2018 2007
Non-current Interest rate Maturity date £m Em
Bank loans unsecured -~ €94 8m Fixed 2 56% 14 Oct 2020 84.8 841
Bank loans unsecured - €Y16 2m Freed ¥ 15% 9 Sept 2022 104.0 1031
8ank loans unsecured - $800 Om revolving credit faclity Relevant UBOR +55bps 31 July 2023 157.7 -
Total non-current borrowings 346.5 187 2
Total current and non-current borrowings 376.8 2027
Further details of borrowings are provided i Note 17 10 the Group Consolidated Financal Statements
9. Other payables
2018 2017
Current £m fm
Amounts owed to Group yndertakings 0s 07
Loans owed 10 Group undertakings 5107 4305
Accruals 107 106
5219 5018
2048 2017
Non-current £m Em
Loans owed to Group undertakings 1906 146 6

All loans owed 1o Group undertakings are in relation 1o interest-bearing ntra-group loans which are formalised arrangements on an arm’s
length basis Interest is charged at fixed rates between 0% and 10% Other amounts owed o Group undertakings are non-interest bearing

and repayabie on demand

Spectns ple

155

SIUBLIAE}S [eDULLIY



NOTES TO THE COMPANY ACCOUNTS continued

10. Provisions

Reorgamisation
{m

At 1 January 2018 -
Provision duning the year 1.2
At 31 Decermber 2018 1.2

Prowisions are all presented as current iabiities

Reorgarusation provisions relate to committed restructunng pians in place within the business Costs are expected to be incurred within one
year and there 1s hittle judgement in determining the amount.

11. Share capital and reserves

2018 2017
Number of Number of
shares shares
Allotted, called-up and fully pard ritlions £m milicans Em
fssued and fully paid (ordinary shares of Sp each)
At January and 31 December 1212 6.0 1250 6.2

No ordinary shares were ssued upon exerCise under share option schemes dunng the year (2017 )

Share options have been granted ta subscnbe for ordinary shares of Spectns plc Full details of share options currently m issue, including
those issued dunng the year, together with information regarding the basis of calculation of the share-based payment expense, is contained
in Note 23 to the Group Consolidated Financial Statements

During the year, 3,825,802 ordinary shares were repurchased and cancelled by the Group as part of the share buyback programme
announced on 5 March 2018 (2017 nd)
Al 31 Decernber 2018, the Company held 5,636,153 treasury shares (2017 5,747,360) Dunng the year, 131,207 of these shares were

ssued 1o salisfy optons exerased by, and SIP matchung shares awarded to, employees which were granted under the Group's share
schemes (2017 93,153)

in July 2018, Spectnis plc estabished an employee benefit trust (EBT) to operate the Spectris Share lncentve Plan {(SIP} ta all eligible UK -based
employees The EBT holds shares in Spectris plc for the purpose of the SIP, fucther details of which are disciosed i the Directors’
Remuneration Report At 31 December 2018, the EBT held 11,353 shares which were purchased fram the market duning the year The costs
of funding and administenng the plan are charged 1o the income statement in the penad to which they relate.

Other reserves
Movements in reserves are set out m the Staternent of Changes n Equity The retained earnings reserve also includes own shares purchased
by the Company and treated as treasury shares The nature and purpose of other reserves forming part of equity are as foliows

Merger reserve

This reserve arose on the acquisiion of Servomex Lirted in 1999, a purchase satisfied substantially by the issue of share capitat and
therefore eligible for merger relief under the prowisions of Section 612 of the Companies Act 2006

Capital redemption reserve

This reserve records the histoncal repurchase of the Company’s own shares Dunng the year, as a result of the share buyback programme,
the capital redemption reserve increased by £0 2 miflion, reflecting the norinal value of the cancelled ordinary shares

Specal reserve

The specal reserve was created histoncally followang the cancellaton of an amount of share prermium for the purpose of wnuing off
goadwall The speaial reserve 15 not distibutable

12. Retirement benefit pian

The Company participates in, and is the sponsorning employer of, the UK Group defined benefit plan The plan provides pensions in
tetirement, death in senvice and In some cases disability benefits to members The pension benefit is linked to members’ final salary at
tetrement and their service Wfe Since 31 December 2009, the UK plan has been closed to new members

fn accordance with (AS 19 {Rewised 201 1), there were no Company contnbutions made to the defined benefit plan dunng the year
(2017 mi)

Further detals of the Spectrs Pension Plan (UK), mcluding alt dsciosures required under FRS 101, are contained in Note 20 to the Group
Consclidated Financial Statements
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13. Contingent liabilities
The cross-guaramtee arrangernents 1o suppon trade hnance facihves are included in Note 27 of the Group Conschdaled
Financial Statements

Where the Company enters into financial guarantee contracts to guarantee the indebtedness of other companies wathin its group, the
Company considers these to be insurance arcangements in accordance with the requirerments of IFRS 4 and accounts for them as such

in this respect, the Company treats the guarantee contract as a contingent kability untif such time as it becomes probable that the

Company wili be required 10 make a payment under the guarantee

In the normal course of business, the Company has provided bonds and guarantees through local banking arrangements amounung to

£196m (2017 £19 6m)

14. Dividends

2018 0817
Amounts recognised and paid as distributions e e £m . ,_,E",
Funat dwidend for the year ended 31 December 2017 of 37 5p {2016 34 Op) per share 445 405
Interim dradend for the year ended 31 December 2018 of 20 5p (2017 19 Op) per share 237 227
682 632
2018 2017
Amounts arnsing in respect of the year . Em Em
Interim dwidend for the year ended 31 December 2018 of 20 5p (2017 19 Op) per share 23.7 227
Propased final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2018 of 40 5p (2017 37 5p) per share 468 447
705 674

The proposed final dividend 15 subjedt to approvatl by shareholders at the AGM on 24 May 2019 and has not been included as a lrability in

these Financial Statements
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY ACCOUNTS continued

15. Group companies

In accordance with Section 409 of the Companies Act 2006, detailed below 15 a full bst of related undertakings as at 31 December 2018
All entitres histed below have their registered office in their coyntry of incorporation

Subsidiaries

Al wholly-owned subsichares isted below are owned through ntermediate holding cormpanies, unless othenwise indicated

Shareholdngs are held in the class of ardinary shares, unless otherwise mdicated

Country of
Name Registered address INCOTPOraton
Agenda 1 Analytical Services Limited One St Peter's Square, Manchester, M2 3DE England & Wales
Aquila Bromedical Limited Addieshave Goddard Lip Exchange Tower, 19 Canning Strest, Scotland

Edinburgh, EH3 8EH

BK Vibro America inc 3411 Siverside Road Tatnall Budding #104, Wilmington, 19810 USA
Bruet & Kjaer Espana, S L Calle Terde numero 5, San Sebashan de los Reyes, Madnd Span
Bruel & Kjaer France SAS 46 rue du Champoreux, F-91540 Mennecy, Cedex France
Briel & Kjzer GmbH Linzerstrasse 3, Bremen, D-28359 Germany
Briel & Kjar itakia SRL Viale Mianofion, Strada 4, Palazzo 5, I-20089 Rozzano, Mitano fraly
Bruel & Kjaer North Amerka Inc 2985 Gordy Parkway, 1st Floor, Manetta, 30066 Usa
Bruel & Kjzer PolskaSpzoo ul Goraszewska 12, PL-02-910 Warszawa Poland
Bruel & Kjaer Sound & Vibration Measurement A/S  Skodshorgvey 307, DK-2850, Naerum Denmark
Bruet & Kjaer UK Linnuted (i} Jarman Way, Royston, Hertfordshire, SGB 5BQ England & Wales
Bruel & Kjaer Vibro A/S Skodsborgves 3078, Naerum, 2850 Denmark
Broel & Kjaer Vibro GmbH Leydheckerstrasse 10, D-64293, Darmstagt Germany
Bruel & Kjaer VTS Limited () Jarman Way, Royston, Hertfordshire, SG8 5BQ England & Wales
BTG Amencas Inc 2985 Gordy Parkway, 1st Floar. Maretta, 30066 USA
BTG Eclépens S A Zivillage, 1312 Eclepens Swatzedand
BTG Holding Inc 3411 Siverside Road Tatnall Bulding #104, Wilrmington, 19810 USA
BTG lnstruments AB Box 602, 5-66129 saffle Sweden
BTG Instruments GmbH Argelsretder Feld 10, WeBlng, 82234 Germany
BTG IPHLLC (i) 4650 W Spencer Street, Appleton, 54914 USA
BTG Southern Eurape Sarl 46 Rue de Champoreux, Mennecy, 31540 France
Burnfield Limited Hentage House, Church Road, Egham, Surrey, TW20 9QD England & Wales
Capstone Technology Asia Pte Ltd 51 Godhill Plaza, #15-06, Singapore, 308900 Singapore
Capstone Technology Corporation West 505 Rwerside Avenue #500, Spokare, 99201 USA
CAS Clean-Aur-Serice AG Remluftweg 1, Zunch, CH-9630 Swtzerland
Concept Lde Saences (Discovery) Limited One 5t Peter's Square, Manchester, M2 30t England & Wales
Concept Life Saences (Environmental Consulting) One St Peter’s Square, Manchester, M2 3DE England & Wales
Lirorted
Concept Le Saences (Holdings) Limited (i) Ore §t Peter's Square, Manchester, M2 30E England & Wales
Concept Life Saences (Laboratones) Lirmited One St Peter"s Square, Manchester, M2 3DE England & Wales
Concept Life Saences (Midco) bmited One St Peter's Square, Manchester, M2 3DE England & Wales
Concept Life Soences Analytical & Development One St Peter’s Square. Manchester, M2 3DE England & Wales
Sernces Lirmited
Concept Life Saences Integrated Discovery & One St Peter's Square, Manchester, M2 3DE England & Wales
Development Services Limited
Concept Life Saences Lirnited One St Peter's Square, Manchester, M2 30€ England & Wales
CXR Bosoences Limited 2 jarnes Lindsay Piace, Dundee Technopole, Dundee, CD1 5J) Scotland
DISCOM Elekiromsche Systeme und Kormponenten  Neustadi 10-12, Gottingen, 37073 Germany

GmbH
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Country of
Name Registered address ncorporation
Engineerng Sessmotogy Group Canada inc 20 Hypenion Court, Kingsion, ON, K7K 7K2 Canada
ESG (Beying) Seisrmic Technology Co Ltd Room 1226, Bullding No 1, Yinan, North Erhizhuang No 44, China
Beiyng, Dongcheng Distnct
E£SG USAInC 3411 Siverside Road Tatnall Bulding #104, Wilmington, 19810 Usa
HBM Danmark ApS Nydamsve) 18D, 8362 Horning, Skanderborg Denmark
HBM FiberSensing SA Rua Vasconceios Costa 277, Morerra, Maia Portugat
HBM France SAS 46 Rue du Champoreux, Mennecy, 91540 France
HBM taha SRL Milano (M}, Via Pordenone 8, Milan, 20132 Italy
HBM nCode Federal LLC (1) 3411 Siverside Road Tatnall Bulding #104, Wilmington, 1981C usa
HBM Netherlands 8 v Schutweq 15a, Waahaix, 5145 NP Netherlands
HBM Norge AS Rosenholmveien 25, Troilasen, 1414 Norway
HBM Prensaia In¢ 3260 N Hayden Road #2110, Scottsdale, 85251 UsA
HBM Prenscia Pte Ltd 2 Bulut Merah Central, #14-02, Spnng Singapare, 159835 Singapore
HBM Prenstiasp 200 ul Wronia, nr 45, lok 200, Warsaw 00-870, Warsaw Paland
HBM United Kingdom Limited Technology Centre, Advanced Manufactuning Park, Brunel Way, England & Wales
Catciifte, Rotherham, South Yorkshire, $60 SWG
Hotunger Baldwin (Suzhou) Blectroric Measurernent 106 Henshan Road, Suzhou New Distact, Suzhou, hangsu China
Technology Lid Province, 215009
Hottinger 8aldwin Measurements inc 225 Cedar Hill Straet #200, Mariborough, 01752 USA
Hottnger Baldwin Messtechatk AG /o Simon Berger, Aipenbhickstrasse 57, Uster, 8610 Switzerland
Hottinger Ba'dwan Messtechruk GmbH Im Tiefer: See 45, Darmstadt, D-64293 Germany
Hottinger Baldwin Messtechrik GmbH Lemboeckgasse 63/2, A-1230, Wien, Vienna Austria
Hotunger Baldwin Messtechnik Iberica SL Plaza de la Enoina 10-11, Nudieo 3, 1A, E-28760 Tres Cantos Spain
(Madnd)
Internatonal Applied Reliability Symposium LLC (n) 3260 N Hayden Road #210 . Scottsdale, 85251 UsA
LLC Spectns CIS (n) Building 1, Usacheva Street, Mascow 119048 Russtan
Federation
Malvern instruments Nordic Oy Kurnitehtaankatu, S 04260, Kerava, Asianapotoinmsto QY finland
Malvern Panalytical 8 V Lelyweg t, 7602EA. Almele Netheriands
Malvern Panalytical GmbH Rigipsstrasse 19, 71083 Herrenberg Germany
Malvern Panalyucal Inc 225 Cedar Hilt Street #200, Marlborough, 01752 UsA
Malvern Panalytical Umited Enigma Business Park, Grovewood Road, Malvern, Warcestersture,  England & Waltes
WR14 1X2
Malvern Panalytical Nordic AB Lokkeasveien 224, 3138 Skalestad, 0722 Notteroy Sweden
Maivern Panalytical S A'S 22 Avenue Descartes, BP-45, Umneit-Brevannes, Cedex, 94454 France
Malvern Panalyticat s Via Cadore Z1, Lissone, 20851 Italy
Malvern-Airmil tnstruments Pvt Limited Naimex House, A-8, Mohan Co-operative industnal Estate, Incha
Mathura Road, New Bethi - 110044
Millbrook European Holdings Lirnited Miltrock, Bedford, MK45 241G England & Wales
Millbrook Prowing Ground Limited Milbrook, Bedford, MK4S 2)Q England & Wales
Millbrock Revolutionary Engineenng GrbH Hermann-Kohi-Strasse 7, 28199 Bremen Germany
Millbrook Revolutionary Engineening Inc 28175 Haggerty Road, Nowi, 48377 uUsa
Millbrook Special vehicles Limited Millbrook, Bedford, MKAS 25Q England & Wales
Millbroak US Inc 3411 Siverside Road Tatnali Builcing #104, Wilmington, 19810 USA
MPG Firdand Oy cfo Tihsakut Oy, Kauppakatu 12, Kuopo, 70100 Finland
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY ACCOUNTS continued

15. Group companies continued

Country of

Name Registered address INCAIporation
Nanosight Limited Erugma Business Park, Grovewood Road, Matvern, Worcestershire,  England & Wales

WRI4 1XZ
NDC Technologies GmbH Im Tiefen See 45, Darmstadt, D-64293 Germany
NDC Technologes Limited Bates Road, Maldon, Essex, CM9 S5FA England & Wales
NDC Techncloges S A Rue H Goossens 16, B-4431 Lonain Beigium
NDC Technologes sart 2 Chemin du Mouhin 94450 Limeil-Brévannes France
NDC Technologies SR L Corso Cnstotoro Colombo, 33 Gallarate (VA), CAP 21013 Itaty
NOC Technologes Inc 3411 Siverside Road Tatnall Building #104, Wilnwngton, 19810 UsA
Newport Electronics Limited Gne Omega Drve, Northbank, iHam, Manchester, M44 58D £ngland & Wales
Noble Asbestos Consultancy Limited One St Peter's Square, Manchester, M2 3DE England & Wales
Nobie Health & Safety Traning Linuted One St Peter’'s Square, Manchester, M2 3DE £ngland & Wales
Novisim Lirrited Jarman Way, Royston, Hentfordshure, SG8 58Q England & wWales
Omega Engmneering GmbH Daimlerstrasse 26, Deckenpfronn, 75392 Germany
Omega Engineenng Lirmited {rv) One Omega Dnve, Northbank, ffiam, Manchester, Ma4 580 England & Wales
Omega Engineenng Inc 3411 Siverside Road Tatnall Buliding #104, Wilerungton, 1981Q UsA
Omega Group Inc 6 Landmark Square, 4th Ficor, Stamford, 06901 USA
Omega Technologies Limited {wv) One Omega Dnive, Riverbend Technalogy Centre, Northbank, England & Wales

Idam, Manchester, Ma4 58D
Omegd inc 310K Street #4200, Anchorage, 99501 usA
PANalyucal (Proprietaty) Lieruied Puvate Bag 4015, Ferndale, 2160 South Afnca
PANalytical Lirmited G} Jarman Way, Royston, Hertfordshire, $G8 5BQ £ngland & Wales
Particle Measunng Systems Gerrnany GmbH Im Tiefen See 45, Darmstadt, D-64293 Germany
Particle Measunng Systems Limited (6} {v} Hentage House, Church Road, Egham, Surrey, TW20 30D England & Wales
Parucle Measuning Systems SR L via di Grotte Portella, Frascati, Rome, 34-00044 Italy
Particle Measuring Systems Inc 155 £ Boardwalk #490, fort Collins, 80525 USA
Peakdale Chermistry Services Limited One St Peter’s Square, Manchester, M2 3DE England & Wales
Peakdale inc 3411 Siverside Road Tatnall Budding #104, Wilrington, 19810 Usa
Peakdale Molecular Limited One St Peter's Square, Manchester, M2 3DE England & Wales
Pixirad Imaging Counters S ¢l Via Cadore 21, Lissone, 20857 Iraty
REC Asbestos (South) Lirted One St Peter's Square, Manchester, M2 3DE England & Wales
REC Environmentat Monitonng Lirited One St Peter's Square, Manchester, M2 3DE England & Wales
Red Lion Controls B V. Softwareweq 9, 3821 BN Amersfoon Netheriands
Red Lion Contrals Inc 1001 State Street #1400, Ene, 16501 UsA
ReliasSoft India Private Linited New No 16, Old No 21, Cenotaph 15t Street, Alwarpet, Chenna, Ingia

600 018
Resource & Envranmental Consultants (Asbestos) One St Peter's Square, Manchester, M2 30€ England & Wales

Limited
Resource & Environmental Consultants Limited
Revolutiarnary Engreenng (Shangsad Co Lid

SAL Food Limited

SAL Laboratores Limited

Saenufic Analysis Laboratones Limited
Servomex BV

Servomex { ompany

One St Peter's Square, Manchester, M2 3DE

500 Zhangheng Raad, Zhangpang Hi-Tech Park, Rmal7, Bldg 1,
Shanghar, 201204

One 5t Peter's Square, Manchester, M2 3DE

6943 Kilyrman Street, Moy, Dungannon, BT71 7EA

One 51 Peter’s Square, Marchester, M2 3DE

P QO Box 406, 2700 AK, W Dreeslaan 436, 2729 NK Zoetermeer
3411 Siverside Road Tatnall Building #104, Wilmington, 19810

England & Wales
China

England & Wales
Northeen reland
England & Wales
Netherlands
USA
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Country of
Name Registered address FNCOIPAraton
Servomex GmbH Im Tiefen See 45, Darmstadt, D-64293 Germany
Servomex Group Limited Jarvis Brook, Crowborough, East Sussex, TNG 3F8 England & Wales
Servomex S A 23 Rue de Roule, Paris, 75001 France
Spectrasers Canada Inc 1800, 520 - 3rd Avenue S W, Calgary, AB, T2P OR3 Canada
Spectraseis Inc. 3411 Siverside Road Tatnalt Building #104, Wilmington, 19810 usA
Spectraseis ISM LLC (n) 3411 Silverside Road Tatnall Bullding #104, Wilmungton, 19810 UsAa
Spectns Australia Pty Lid Suite 2, 6-10 Talavera Road, PO Box 349, Narth Ryde, New South Austraha
Wales 2113
Spectns Canada Inc 4985 Levy Street, Montreal, Quebec, H4R 2N9 Canada
Spectns Chuna Lirmited Office A 11/F, Bihon Plaza it, No 10 Cheung Yue Street, Cheung Hong Kong
Sha Wan, Kowloon
Spectns Co, Ltd Tsukasa-machi Bldg, 2-6 Kanda Tsukasa-machs, Chiyoda-ku, Japan
Tokyo, 101-0048
Spectrs Denmark ApS Skodsborgve| 307, Naerum, DK-2850 Denmark
Spectss Do Brasil instrumentos Eletronicos Lida Rua Laguna 276, 5anto Amaro, CEP 04728-000, Sac Paulo SP Braall
Spectrs Finance Ireland Designated Actvity 12 Mernon Square, Dublin 2 Ireland

Company {v}

Spectris finance UK Lirmited

Spectns Funding BV

Spectns Germany GmbH

Spectns Group Holdngs Lirted () (v}

Spectns Holdings In¢

Spectns In¢

Spectns Instrumentation and Systemns Shanghar Ltd

Heritage House, Church Road, Egham, Surrey, TW20 8QD
Lelyweg 1. 7602EA, Almelo

Im Tiefen See 45, Darmstadt, D-64293

Hertage House, Church Road, Egham, Surrey, TW20 900
3411 Siverside Road Tatnail Bulding #104, Wilmington, 19810
341 Siverside Road Tatnall Bullding #104, Wilmington, 19810

Bidg 9.No 88, Lane 2888, HuaNmg Road, MingHang Drstnict,
Shanghai, 201108

England & Wales
Netherlands
Germany
England & Wales

UsSA
USA
China

Spectns Korea Ltd 7th & 8th Fl, SH Energy Bullding, 16-6 Sunae-Dong, Bundang-Gu, Korea. Republic
Seongnam-City Kyeonggr-Do of
Spectns Mexico, S DeRL DeC V Av Pedro Ramirez Vazquez No 200-13, Nivel 1, Col Valle Mexico
Onente, San Pedro Garza Garoa, C P 66269
Spectns Netheriands 8 V Lelyweg 1. 7602 EA Almelo Netheriands
Spectns Netheriands Cooperatief W.A (i) (i) Letyweq 1, 7602 EA Almelo Netherands
Spectns Pension Trustees Lirmuted {} Heritage House, Church Road, Egham, Surrey, TW20 9QD England & Wales
Spectris Ple Ltd 31 Kaki Bukit Road 3, Techlink #04-05/07, 417818 Sngapore
spectns Tanwan Limited 13F-1, No 128, Sec 3, Min Sheng E Road, Taiper Tanvan
Spectns Technologres Private Limited 202 Anarkal: Complex, Jhandelwalan Extension, Opp Videcon Incha
Tower, New Dethi 110 055
Spectns UK Holdings Limited (i) Hevitage House, Church Road, Egham, Surrey, TW20 9QD England & Wales
Spectns US Holdings Limitad Heritage House, Church Road, Egham, Surrey, TW20 9QD England & Wales
Test World Holding Oy Nellimintie 569, valo, 99800 finland
Test World Oy P 167, Nelhrntie 569, lvale, 99801 Firdand
The Omrnucon Group In¢ 15 North M#l Street, Nyack, 10960 usA
vi-grade AG Neustrasse 2, 8590 Romanshom Swatzerland
Vi-grade GmbH Zum Rosenmorgen 1a, 35043 Marburg Germarny
\Wi-grade nc 4540 Adrriralty Way, Sth Floor, Bakersheld, CA 93301 usa
Vi-grade Japan Ltd 3-9-1, Shimuku, Shinjuku-ku, 160-0022 Tokyo fapan
Vi-grade Ltd Brook House, 37 Church Road, Ryton On Dunsrrore, England & Wales
Wanwickshire, CV8 3ET
Spectrisplc  146%
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NOQTES TO THE COMPANY ACCOUNTS continued

15. Group companies continued
Country of

Nane Regisiered address ncorparation
Vi-grade s 7 | Via Galileo Galller 42, 33010 Tavagnacco (Udine) laly
Vi-grade Systems GmbH 2um Rosenmorgen 1a, 35043 Marburg Germany
Viscotek Europe Limited Hentage House, Church Road, Egham, Surrey, TW20 8QD England & Wales
Zhyha Omec Instruments Co , Lid Floor 1-3, No 9 R&D Main Building, Kejl No 1 Road, Scentfic & China
Techmical Innovation Sea Shore, New High Tech Zone, Zuhay,
Guangdong Province

Notes

0 wholly owned by Spectrs pic

{4} all LLC, Cooperatief and other non-equity owned entibes hsted are whaolly owned and cortrotled by Spectns pic direcily o indireclly through intermediate holding
tamparses

() share capital conssts of andinary shares and deferad shares

(v} share capilal consrsis of ordinary shares and redeemable shares

) buscation

Joint venture

Spectns shares jont control of the EMS Bruel & Kjzer yoint venture with Macquane Caprtal under a shareholders’ agreement Voting nterests
N Soundwave Holdings Pty Lid ('EMS’) are shared equally between Spectas and Macquane Capital, and each of Spectns and Macquarie
Captal has equal board representation Specins and Macquane Capial each holds 45% of the ordinary share capitat of EMS wath the
remaning 10% held by third parties The 10% ordinary share capital heid by third parties does not have any voting nights or board
representabon, however does entitle the holder 10 receve dvidends or other distributions.

Country of
Name Registered address incarporation
Soundwave Holdings Ple Ltd Levels 11 & 12, 432 5t Kiida Road, Melbourne, Victona 3004 Australia

UK registered subsidiaries exempt from audit

UK incorporated subsicianes which have taken exemption from audit per section 4794 of the Companies Act 2006 for the year ended

31 December 2018 are listed below Spectns plc will guarantee the debts and liabilities of the companies claimung the statutory audit
exernption at the balance sheet date of £13 7m (2017 £7 8m) in accordance wath section 479C of the Companies Act 2006 The Company
has ascessed the probabulity of loss under the guarantee as remote

Name Company numbe:
Agenda 1 Analytical Seraces Lid 05903736
Aquila Biomedical Limited SC393914
Briiel & Kyaer UK Limited 04066051
Briet & Kjzer VTS Lumuted 01539186
Burnfield Lirmited 01522736
Concept Life Scences (Dscovery) Limited 09046575
Concept Life Soences (Environmental Consulting) Lirmited 09046580
Concept Lie Stiences (Holdings) Limited 09046553
Concept Life Scences (Laboratories) Limited 09046586
Concept Life Soences (Midco) bimited 09046568
CXR Biosciences bimnted S€211745
HBM United Kingd

om Lirmited 01589921
Mitbrook European Holdings Limited 09657741
Nanosight Limited 04599525
NDC Technologies Limited 00630998
Newport Electronics Limited 01457039
Nowsim Ltd 05269664
QOmega Engineerng Limited 02564017
Omega Technologres Limited 02775272
PANalytical Limited 01005071
Resource and Environmental Consultants Limited 03133832
Spectns UK Holdings Linwted 04451903
Spectns US Holdings Limited 04451883
Vl-grade Limited 08245242
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

Financial calendar

Trading update 24 May 2019
AGM 24 May 2019
Record date for 2018 final dwidend 24 May 2019
2018 Qinal didend payable 28 June 2019
2019 half-year results 30 July 2019

Trading update

21 November 2019

2019 full-year resylis

February 2020

Company Secretary
Mark Serfozé

Head of Corporate Affairs

Stobhan Andrews
Emad nvestor relatons@spectns com

Registered offica
Spectns plic

Hertage House

Church Road

Egham

Surrey

TW20 9QD

England

Tei +44 (001784 470470
Emal mfo@spectns com
Company registered in England and Wales, No 2025003

Auditor
Deloitte LLP

solicitors
Slaughter and May

Brokers

Jettenes Hoare Govett
J P Morgan Cazenove

Financial PR advisers
FTI Consulung

Registrars
Egusnit Lirited
Aspect House
Spencer Road
Lancing

West Sussex
8NI9 6DA

The regrstrars prowde a range of shareholder services ondine
at winw shareview co uk
Share price information

The Company’s ordinary shares are listed on the Landan
Stock Exchange The latest share price 15 avalable via the
Company's website at www spectns com

Major shareholders

Percentage of

issued share

capital at

Shareholging In 31 December

Spectnis sharés 2018
MFS Investment Management 13,238,345 11.46
FMR LLC 10,650,622 9.22
Marathon Asset Management LLP 6,256,780 5.42
BlackRock Inc 5,397,210 4.67
Sprucegrove Investment
Management 4,917,950 4.26
Lontrust investment Partners LLP 4,741,296 410
Vanguard Group 4.176,693 3.61
UBS Asset Management 3,676,082 3.18
Royal London Asset Management 3.647,367 316
Schroder Investment Management 3,516,080 304

Email news service

To recewe details of press releases and other announcements
as they are issued, register with the mail alert senvice on the
Company’s website at vwwwy spectris com

Cautionary statement

relate only to histonical or current facts Wathout imitation,
farward-locking statements often use words such as

will, may, should, would, couid or ather words of ssmilar

This Annual Report may contain forward-looking statements
These statements can be dentfred by the fact that they do not

anticipate, target, expect, esbmate, intend, plan, goal, beheve,

meaning These statements may (without limrtation) relate to
the Company’s finandal position, business strategy, plans for
future operations or market trends No assurance can be given
that any particular expectation will be met or proved accurate
and shareholders are cautioned not to place undue rehance on
such statements because, by their very nature, they may be
affected by a number of known and unknown nisks,
uncertainues and other important factors which could cause
actual results to differ matenalty from those currently
anucpated Any forward-fooking statement i3 made on the
basis of mformation avarlable 10 Spectns plc as of the date

of the preparation of this Annual Repont All forward-looking
statements contained i this Annual Report are qualified by
the cautionary statements contained in this sechan Other than
in accordance with 1ts legal and regulatory obligations,

Spectns pic disctarms any cbhigation to update or revise any
forwar d-luuking statement contained i this Annual Report

to reflect any change in circumstances or s expectations
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‘Spectns’ 5 a trademark of Specins pic

and 15 protected by registration in the United
Kingdom and other junsdictions  Other product
names referred to in this Annual Report are
regrstered or unregistered trademarks or
registered names of Spectrs plc or its subsidiary
cornpanies and are sirmilarly protected

O Spectns pic March 2019

FSC

o tac oy

MIX
Pupar Wom
rDONSID SUTCE
FSC* 107262

This report 15 printed on Magrio Satin paper
Manufactured at a mil using matenals from
sustainable sources that are certified by the

Forest Stewardship Counail®

Pnnted by Principal Colour
Designed and produced by Black Sun Pic



